
 

DEPARTMENTS: AREA CODE (707)  

ADMINISTRATION 4 2 1 - 7 3 0 0  ◼  PLANNING 4 2 1 - 7 3 3 5  ◼  BUILDING 4 2 1 - 7 3 1 0  ◼  FINANCE 4 2 1 - 7 3 2 0  

FIRE 4 2 5 - 9 1 3 3  ◼  RECREATION & COMMUNITY SERVICES 4 2 1 - 7 2 0 0  ◼  POLICE 4 2 1 - 7 3 7 3  ◼  PUBLIC WORKS 4 2 1 - 7 3 4 0  

SUCCESSOR AGENCY 4 2 1 - 7 3 0 9  FAX 4 2 1 - 7 3 6 6  

CITY COUNCIL 

Lori Wilson, Mayor 

Wanda Williams, Mayor Pro-Tem 

Anthony Adams 

Jane Day 

Michael A. Segala 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

First and Third Tuesday 

Every Month 

A G E N D A 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE SUISUN CITY COUNCIL 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 17, 2020 

5:15 P.M. 

SUISUN CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS -- 701 CIVIC CENTER BOULEVARD -- SUISUN CITY, CALIFORNIA 

NOTICE 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953, Subdivision (b), and Executive Order released on March 12, 2020, 
the following Council/Successor Agency/Housing Authority meeting includes teleconference participation by: 
Council/Board Members Anthony Adams, Jane Day, Michael A. Segala, and Mayor Pro Tem Wanda Williams. 
Teleconference locations are on file at City Hall, 701 Civic Center Blvd., Suisun City, CA 94585. 

PER CITY POLICY, MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ARE REQUIRED TO WEAR FACE MASKS WHILE IN CITY 
FACILLITIES. IF YOU DO NOT HAVE A FACE MASK, ONE WILL BE PROVIDED FOR YOU.  

DUE TO CORONAVIRUS COVID-19 RESIDENTS ARE ENCOURAGED  
TO ATTEND THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING VIA THE APPLICATION, ZOOM. 

ZOOM MEETING INFORMATION:  

WEBSITE: https://zoom.us/join 
MEETING ID: 893 9625 9380

CALL IN PHONE NUMBER: (707) 438-1720 

TO VIEW TONIGHT’S MEETING ON SUISUN WEBSITE, LIVESTREAM 
(URL: https://www.suisun.com/government/meeting-video/)  

REMOTE PUBLIC COMMENT IS AVAILABLE FOR THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
BY EMAILING CLERK@SUISUN.COM (PRIOR TO 5pm) OR  

VIA WEBSITE OR PHONE APPLICATION, ZOOM. 

ROLL CALL 
Council Members 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
(Request by citizens to discuss any matter under our jurisdiction other than an item posted on this agenda per 
California Government Code §54954.3. Comments are limited to no more than 3 minutes unless allowable by the 
Mayor/Chair. Speaker cards are available on the table near the entry of the meeting room and should be given to the 
City Clerk. By law, no prolonged discussion or action may be taken on any item raised during the public comment 
period, although informational answers to questions may be given and matters may be referred for placement on a 
future agenda.) 

https://zoom.us/join
https://www.suisun.com/government/meeting-video/
mailto:CLERK@SUISUN.COM


November 17, 2020 City Council Page 2 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST NOTIFICATION 
(Any items on this agenda that might be a conflict of interest to any Councilmembers / Boardmembers should be 
identified at this time.) 

CLOSED SESSION 
Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54950 the Suisun City Council will hold a Closed 
Session for the purpose of: 
1. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6 
Agency negotiator:  City Manager  
Employee organizations: 

Unrepresented Employees; 
SCEA (Suisun City Employees’ Association); 
SCMPEA (Suisun City Management and Professional Employees’ Association); 
SCPOA (Suisun City Police Officers Association). 

CONVENE OPEN SESSION 
Announcement of Actions Taken, if any, in Closed Session. 

ADJOURNMENT 

A complete packet of information containing staff reports and exhibits related to each item for the open session of this meeting, 
and provided to the City Council, are available for public review at least 72 hours prior to a Council /Agency/Authority Meeting at 
Suisun City Hall 701 Civic Center Blvd., Suisun City (24 hours prior to a Council /Agency/Authority Meeting). Agenda related 
writings or documents provided to a majority of the Council/Board/Commissioners less than 72 hours prior to a 
Council/Agency/Authority meeting related to an agenda item for the open session of this meeting will be made available for public 
inspection during normal business hours.  An agenda packet is also located at the entrance to the Council Chambers during the 
meeting for public review.  The City may charge photocopying charges for requested copies of such documents.  Assistive listening 
devices may be obtained at the meeting 
PLEASE NOTE: 
1. The City Council/Agency/Authority hopes to conclude its public business by 11:00 P.M.  Ordinarily, no new items will be taken up after the 

11:00 P.M. cutoff and any items remaining will be agendized for the next meeting.  The agendas have been prepared with the hope that all 
items scheduled will be discussed within the time allowed.

2. Suisun City is committed to providing full access to these proceedings; individuals with special needs may call 421-7300. 
3. Agendas are posted at least 72 hours in advance of regular meetings at Suisun City Hall, 701 Civic Center Boulevard, Suisun City, CA. 

Agendas may be posted at other Suisun City locations including the Suisun City Fire Station, 621 Pintail Drive, Suisun City, CA, and the 
Suisun City Senior Center, 318 Merganser Drive, Suisun City, CA.

I, Donna Pock, Deputy City Clerk for the City of Suisun City, declare under penalty of perjury that the above agenda for the meeting 
of November 17, 2020 was posted and available for review, in compliance with the Brown Act. 



DEPARTMENTS: AREA CODE (707)  

ADMINISTRATION 4 2 1 - 7 3 0 0  ◼  PLANNING 4 2 1 - 7 3 3 5  ◼  BUILDING 4 2 1 - 7 3 1 0  ◼  FINANCE 4 2 1 - 7 3 2 0  

FIRE 4 2 5 - 9 1 3 3  ◼  RECREATION & COMMUNITY SERVICES 4 2 1 - 7 2 0 0  ◼  POLICE 4 2 1 - 7 3 7 3  ◼  PUBLIC WORKS 4 2 1 - 7 3 4 0  

SUCCESSOR AGENCY 4 2 1 - 7 3 0 9  FAX 4 2 1 - 7 3 6 6  

CITY COUNCIL 

Lori Wilson, Mayor 

Wanda Williams, Mayor Pro-Tem 

Anthony Adams 

Jane Day 

Michael A. Segala 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

First and Third Tuesday 

Every Month 

 
A G E N D A 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
SUISUN CITY COUNCIL  

SUISUN CITY COUNCIL ACTING AS SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE 
REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY, 

AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 17, 2020 

6:30 P.M. 

SUISUN CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS -- 701 CIVIC CENTER BOULEVARD -- SUISUN CITY, CALIFORNIA 

NOTICE 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953, Subdivision (b), and Executive Order released on March 12, 2020, 
the following Council/Successor Agency/Housing Authority meeting includes teleconference participation by: 
Council/Board Members Anthony Adams, Jane Day, Michael A. Segala, and Mayor Pro Tem Wanda Williams. 
Teleconference locations are on file at City Hall, 701 Civic Center Blvd., Suisun City, CA 94585. 

PER CITY POLICY, MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ARE REQUIRED TO WEAR FACE MASKS WHILE IN CITY 
FACILITIES. IF YOU DO NOT HAVE A FACE MASK, ONE WILL BE PROVIDED FOR YOU.  

DUE TO CORONAVIRUS COVID-19 RESIDENTS ARE ENCOURAGED  
TO ATTEND THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING VIA THE APPLICATION, ZOOM. 

ZOOM MEETING INFORMATION:  
WEBSITE: https://zoom.us/join 
MEETING ID:  828 4373 9266 

CALL IN PHONE NUMBER: (707) 438-1720 

TO VIEW TONIGHT’S MEETING ON SUISUN WEBSITE, LIVESTREAM 
(URL: https://www.suisun.com/government/meeting-video/)  

REMOTE PUBLIC COMMENT IS AVAILABLE FOR THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
BY EMAILING CLERK@SUISUN.COM (PRIOR TO 6pm) OR  

VIA WEBSITE OR PHONE APPLICATION, ZOOM 

(If attending the meeting via phone press *9 to raise your hand and *6 to unmute/mute for public comment.) 

(Next Ord. No. – 777) 
 (Next City Council Res. No. 2020 – 137) 

Next Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency Res. No. SA2020 - 02) 
 (Next Housing Authority Res. No. HA2020 – 02) 

https://zoom.us/join
https://www.suisun.com/government/meeting-video/
mailto:CLERK@SUISUN.COM


November 17, 2020 City Council / Successor Agency / Housing Authority Page 2 

ROLL CALL 
Council / Board Members 
Pledge of Allegiance  
Invocation  

PUBLIC COMMENT 
(Request by citizens to discuss any matter under our jurisdiction other than an item posted on this agenda per 
California Government Code §54954.3. Comments are limited to no more than 3 minutes unless allowable by the 
Mayor/Chair. Speaker cards are available on the table near the entry of the meeting room and should be given to the 
City Clerk. By law, no prolonged discussion or action may be taken on any item raised during the public comment 
period, although informational answers to questions may be given and matters may be referred for placement on a 
future agenda.) 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST NOTIFICATION 
(Any items on this agenda that might be a conflict of interest to any Councilmembers / Boardmembers should be 
identified at this time.) 

REPORTS:  (Informational items only.) 

1. COVID-19 Update – (Folsom: gfolsom@suisun.com).
2. ENGIE Update and Presentation of Check - (Medill:  mmedill@suisun.com)

PRESENTATIONS/APPOINTMENTS 
(Presentations, Awards, Proclamations, Appointments). 

3. Presentation of Retirement Awards to Council Member Michael Segala and City Clerk Linda
Hobson– (Wilson: lwilson@suisun.com).

4. Homeless Outreach Needs Assessment - (Wilson: lwilson@suisun.com)

CONSENT CALENDAR 
Consent calendar items requiring little or no discussion may be acted upon with one motion. 

City Council 
5. Council Adoption of Ordinance No. 775: Repealing and Replacing Section 3.40.050

(Establishment of Benefit Assessment) of Chapter 3.40 (Main Street-Waterfront Business
Improvement District) of Title 3 (Revenue and Finance) of the Suisun City Code (Introduced
and Reading Waived on October 20, 2020) – (Folsom:  gfolsom@suisun.com).

6. Council Adoption of Ordinance No. 776:  Levying Special Tax within City of Suisun City
Community Facilities District No. 2 (Municipal Services), Including Certain Annexation
Territory (Introduced and Reading Waived on October 20, 2020) – (Medill:
mmedill@suisun.com).

7. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-___:  Amending City Administrative Directive 5,
Purchasing Policy for Supplies, Equipment, and Services – (Medill:  mmedill@suisun.com).

8. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-___:  Authorizing the City Manager to Execute a
Professional Services Agreement on the City’s Behalf with Stantec Consulting Services Inc.
to Complete the Necessary Environmental Review and Document for a Residential Project at
the Northeast Corner of Blossom Avenue and Railroad Avenue - (Kearns:
jkearns@suisun.com).

mailto:gfolsom@suisun.com
mailto:mmedill@suisun.com
mailto:lwilson@suisun.com
mailto:lwilson@suisun.com
mailto:gfolsom@suisun.com
mailto:mmedill@suisun.com
mailto:mmedill@suisun.com
mailto:jkearns@suisun.com).


November 17, 2020 City Council / Successor Agency / Housing Authority Page 3 

9. Approve the First Amendment to the Suisun City Police Officers’ Association (SCPOA)
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) Effective December 28, 2018 through December 31,
2020; Approve the Second Amendment to the Suisun City Employees Association (SCEA)
MOU effective December 28, 2018 through December 31, 2020; Approve the Third
Amendment to the Suisun City Management and Professional Employees Association
(SCMPEA) MOU Effective December 28, 2018 through December 31, 2020 - (Folsom:
gfolsom@suisun.com).
a. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-__ :- Approving a First Amendment to the

Suisun City Police Officers’ Association (SCPOA) Memorandum of Understanding
(MOU) Effective December 28, 2018 through December 31, 2020, to Add Critical Staffing
Retention and Recruiting Pay to the MOU

b. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-___:- Approving a Second Amendment to the
Suisun City Employees Association (SCEA) MOU effective December 28, 2018 through
December 31, 2020, to Add Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay to the MOU

c. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-___:- Approving a Third Amendment to the
Suisun City Management and Professional Employees Association (SCMPEA) MOU
Effective December 28, 2018 through December 31, 2020, to Add Critical Staffing
Retention and Recruiting Pay and Fire Duty Chief Standby Pay to the MOU

10. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-___:  Amending Salary Resolutions 2019-87, 2019-
93, 2019-106 and 2020-24 and Adopting a Corrected Salary Schedule dating back to December
27, 2019 – (Folsom:  gfolsom@suisun.com).

Joint City Council / Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency/Housing Authority 
11. Council/Agency/Authority Accept the Investment Report for the Quarter Ending September

30, 2020 – (Deol:  ldeol@suisun.com).
12. Council/Agency/Authority Approval of the Minutes of the Regular and/or Special Meetings of

the Suisun City Council, Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency, and Housing
Authority held on July 7, 2020 and October 6, 2020 – (Hobson: clerk@suisun.com).

Joint City Council / Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency 
13. Council/Agency Approval of October 2020 Payroll Warrants in the Amount of $440,447.28,

and Council/Agency Approval of the October 2020 Accounts Payable Warrants in the Amount
of $1,969,174.47 – (Finance).

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

GENERAL BUSINESS 
City Council 
14. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-__:  Authorizing the City Manager to Utilize Prop

68 Per Capita Funds to Rehabilitate Heritage Park and Replace the Play Structure at Montebello
Vista Park – (Lofthus:  klofthus@suisun.com).

15. Council Discussion and Direction Regarding Selection of Up to Two Storefront Retailers in
Response to the Request for Applications (RFA) – (Kearns:  jkearns@suisun.com).

mailto:gfolsom@suisun.com
mailto:gfolsom@suisun.com
mailto:ldeol@suisun.com
mailto:clerk@suisun.com
mailto:klofthus@suisun.com
mailto:jkearns@suisun.com).


November 17, 2020 City Council / Successor Agency / Housing Authority Page 4 

Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency 
16. Agency Adoption of Resolution No. SA 2020-___:  Authorizing the Executive Director to

execute a Settlement Agreement between the Successor Agency and Developer Main Street
West Partners LLC, and an 18-month extension to the Disposition And Development Agreement
(DDA) between the Developer and Successor Agency, and directing the Executive Director to
forward the executed Settlement Agreement and the DDA Extension to the Solano Consolidated
Oversight Board for approval– (Anthony Taylor, City Attorney).

REPORTS:  (Informational items only.) 
17. a. Council/Boardmembers

b. Mayor/Chair
18. City Manager/Executive Director/Staff

PUBLIC COMMENT 
(Additional time for request by citizens to discuss any matter under our jurisdiction other than an item posted on this 
agenda limited to no more than 3 minutes.) 

ADJOURNMENT 

A complete packet of information containing staff reports and exhibits related to each item for the open session of this meeting, 
and provided to the City Council, are available for public review at least 72 hours prior to a Council /Agency/Authority Meeting at 
Suisun City Hall 701 Civic Center Blvd., Suisun City.  Agenda related writings or documents provided to a majority of the 
Council/Board/Commissioners less than 72 hours prior to a Council/Agency/Authority meeting related to an agenda item for the 
open session of this meeting will be made available for public inspection during normal business hours.  An agenda packet is also 
located at the entrance to the Council Chambers during the meeting for public review.  The City may charge photocopying charges 
for requested copies of such documents.  Assistive listening devices may be obtained at the meeting 

PLEASE NOTE: 
1. The City Council/Agency/Authority hopes to conclude its public business by 10:00 P.M.  Ordinarily, no new items will be

taken up after the 10:00 P.M. cutoff and any items remaining will be agendized for the next meeting.  The agendas have been
prepared with the hope that all items scheduled will be discussed within the time allowed.

2. Suisun City is committed to providing full access to these proceedings; individuals with special needs may call 421-7300.
3. Agendas are posted at least 72 hours in advance of regular meetings at Suisun City Hall, 701 Civic Center Boulevard, Suisun

City, CA.  Agendas may be posted at other Suisun City locations including:
• Suisun City Fire Station, 621 Pintail Drive, Suisun City, CA;
• Suisun City Senior Center, 318 Merganser Drive, Suisun City, CA;
• Joe Nelson Center, 611 Village Drive, Suisun City, CA;
• Harbor Master Office, 800 Kellogg Street, Suisun City, CA.

I, Donna Pock, Deputy City Clerk for the City of Suisun City, declare under penalty of perjury that the above agenda for the meeting 
of November 17, 2020 was posted and available for review, in compliance with the Brown Act. 



APPROVED BY:  Greg Folsom, City Manager 

AGENDA TRANSMITTAL 

MEETING DATE:  November 17, 2020 

AGENDA ITEM:  Council Adoption of Ordinance No. 775:  Repealing and Replacing Section 
3.40.050 (Establishment of Benefit Assessment) of Chapter 3.40 (Main Street-Waterfront 
Business Improvement District) of Title 3 (Revenue and Finance) of the Suisun City Code. 
(Introduced and Reading Waived on October 20, 2020.) 

FISCAL IMPACT:  A minimal amount of City staff time will be incurred by the Finance 
Department administering the collection and disbursement of monies associated with the 
assessment.  

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPACT:  Good Governance 

BACKGROUND:  Per City Ordinance No. 667, enacted April 18, 2003, the Main Street 
Waterfront Business Improvement District, commonly known as the Suisun City Historic 
Waterfront Business Improvement District, (the “District”) was established.  The District is a 
501(c)(3) non-profit organization created at the request of downtown merchants to promote 
improved business conditions and marketing of downtown Suisun City.  Under procedures 
described in the California Street and Highways Code, the City on behalf of the District, levies 
assessments on those businesses within the District area (see attached map) for use in various 
marketing and improvement activities, as determined beneficial by the District board. 

At its October 6, 2020, meeting, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2020-126 approving the 
annual budget.  At the same meeting, Council adopted Resolution No. 2020-127 stating its intention 
to consider renewing the District and the associated levy and setting a public hearing for October 
20, 2020.  The executed resolution was mailed to all businesses located within the District at the 
addresses on record with the City Finance Department, and published as a legal notice in the Daily 
Republic newspaper. 

STAFF REPORT:  As required by law, the City Council held a public hearing on October 20, 
2020 to receive and review any written protests to the proposed re-authorization of the District or 
the assessment levy.  No written protests were received prior to or at the meeting.  After the close of 
the Public Hearing City Attorney Taylor read the title of Ordinance 775 into the record and the 
Ordinance was introduced.   

RECOMMENDATION:  It is recommended that Council Adopt Ordinance No. 775:  Repealing 
and Replacing Section 3.40.050 (Establishment of Benefit Assessment) of Chapter 3.40 (Main 
Street-Waterfront Business Improvement District) of Title 3 (Revenue and Finance) of the 
Suisun City Code.  

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Ordinance No. 775:  Repealing and Replacing Section 3.40.050 (Establishment of Benefit

Assessment) of Chapter 3.40 (Main Street-Waterfront Business Improvement District) of
Title 3 (Revenue and Finance) of the Suisun City Code.

Item 5

1



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

2



Ordinance No. 775 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 1 of 4 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 775 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
REPEALING AND REPLACING SECTION 3.40.050 (ESTABLISHMENT OF 

BENEFIT ASSESSMENT) OF CHAPTER 3.40 (MAIN STREET-WATERFRONT 
BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT) OF TITLE 3 (REVENUE AND 

FINANCE) OF THE SUISUN CITY CODE  

WHEREAS, the California Streets and Highways Code Section 36500 et seq. 
authorizes cities to establish parking and business improvement areas for the purpose of 
promoting economic revitalization and physical maintenance of business districts in order to 
create jobs, attract new business and prevent erosion of the business district; and 

WHEREAS, the Main Street-Waterfront Business Improvement District, commonly 
known as the Suisun City Historic Waterfront Business Improvement District, was formed at 
the request of the Main Street-Waterfront Business Improvement District Formation 
Committee (“the Committee”) by City Council adoption of Ordinance  No. 667 on April 18, 
2003; and 

WHEREAS, at the request of the Committee, Ordinance  No. 667 established an 
annual special assessment on all businesses within the Main Street-Waterfront Business 
Improvement District, commonly known as the Suisun City Historic Waterfront Business 
Improvement District, (the “District”), which assessment must be renewed annually by the 
City Council; and 

WHEREAS, the Main Street-Waterfront Business Improvement District Board of 
Directors (the “Board”) requested that the Suisun City Council renew the special assessment 
on all businesses within the District with amendments; and 

WHEREAS, the Suisun City Council did renew the special assessment on all 
businesses within the District with amendments after City Council conducted a noticed public 
hearing pursuant to the Parking and Business Improvement District Area Law of 1989, Part 6 
(commencing with Section 36500) of Division 18 of the California Streets and Highways 
Code. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY, 
CALIFORNIA, DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS:  

SECTION 1.  RECITALS.  
The recitals set forth herein are all true and correct. 
SECTION 2.  SECTION 3.40.050, “Establishment of benefit assessment” is hereby 

repealed and replaced as follows: 

Item 5 
Atachment 1

3



Ordinance No. 775 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 2 of 4 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

All businesses, trades, and professions located within the district boundaries shown on 
Exhibit “A” shall, commencing on January 1, 2020, pay an annual benefit assessment to the 
district in the following amounts: 

DISTRICT ASSESSMENT FORMULA 

Proposed 2020 Benefit Fee Formula Matrix: 

ZONE A ZONE B ZONE C 

Retailers and $0 $0 $0 

Restaurants 

Service $0 $0 $0 

Businesses 

Lodging $0 per room $0 per room $0 per room 

Professional $0 $0 $0 

Businesses 

Financial $0 $0 $0 

Institutions 

Item 5 
Atachment 1

4



 

Ordinance No. 775 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 3 of 4 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 All businesses, trades, and professions located within the district boundaries shown on 
Exhibit “A” shall, commencing on January 1, 2021, pay an annual benefit assessment to the 
district in the following amounts: 

DISTRICT ASSESSMENT FORMULA 
 Proposed 2021 Benefit Fee Formula Matrix: 

 

Type of Business Assessment Amount 

Retailers and 

Restaurants 

$200 

 

Service and Professional 

Businesses 

$100 

Lodging $10 per room 

Financial 

Institutions 

$500 

 

 
Business Type Definitions: 
 
Retail and Restaurant: Businesses that buy and resell goods, examples are clothing stores, 
shoe stores, office supplies as well as businesses that sell prepared foods and drinks. 
 
Service Businesses: Businesses that sell services. Examples are beauty and barber shops, 
repair shops, most automotive-oriented businesses, entertainment businesses such as theaters, 
etc. 
 
Professional Businesses: Includes architects, engineers, attorneys, dentists, doctors, 
accountants, optometrists, realtors, insurance offices, mortgage brokers and most other 
businesses that require advanced and/or specialized licenses and/or advanced academic 
degrees. 
 
Lodging: Includes renting rooms by the day or week to community visitors. 
 
Financial Institutions: Includes banking and savings and loan institutions as well as credit 
unions, etc. 

 
SECTION 3. EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) 
days after its passage.  

SECTION 4. CERTIFICATION. The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this 
ordinance, and shall cause the same to be posted and codified in the manner required by law.  
 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 

Item 5 
Atachment 1

5



Ordinance No. 775 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 4 of 4 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City 
Council of the City of Suisun City, California, on this ___ day of 2020. 

Lori D. Wilson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Donna Pock, CMC 
Deputy City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
AND LEGAL CONTENT: 

_______________________________ 
Aleshire & Wynder, LLP 

CERTIFICATION 
I, Donna Pock, Deputy City Clerk of the City of Suisun City and ex-officio Clerk of the City 
Council of said City, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing ordinance was 
introduced at a regular meeting of the said City Council held on October 20, 2020 and passed 
and adopted at a regular meeting of said City Council held on __________, 2020, by the 
following vote: 

AYES: Councilmembers: 
NOES: Councilmembers: 
ABSENT: Councilmembers: 
ABSTAIN: Councilmembers: 

WITNESS my hand and the seal of said City this  _______ day of _______ 2020. 

Donna Pock, CMC 
Deputy City Clerk 

Item 5 
Atachment 1

6



EXHIBIT “A” 

Item 5 
Atachment 1

7



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

8



PREPARED BY:  Amanda Dum, Management Analyst I 
REVIEWED BY: Matthew Medill, Public Works Director | City Engineer 
APPROVED BY:  Greg Folsom, City Manager 

AGENDA TRANSMITTAL 

MEETING DATE:  November 17, 2020 

CITY AGENDA ITEM:  Council Adoption of Ordinance No. 776: Levying Special Tax within 
City of Suisun City Community Facilities District No. 2 (Municipal Services), Including Certain 
Annexation Territory. (Introduced and Reading Waived October 20, 2020). 

FISCAL IMPACT:  Community Facilities District (CFD) No. 2 directly funds General Fund Safety 
Services such as Police and Fire. Fiscal Year 2020-21 is projecting $606,300 in revenue from CFD 
#2 (Fund No. 461) and its associated Tax Zones.  

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPACT:  Provide Good Governance, Ensure Public Safety, and Ensure 
Fiscal Solvency. 

BACKGROUND:  The City-wide Community Facilities District (CFD) No. 2 was established in 
Fiscal Year 2005-06 to provide funding to cover the costs associated with additional police and fire 
services necessary as a result of new development.   

STAFF REPORT:   The first step in the proceedings for the annexation of the subject property 
(Holiday Inn Express – Parcel No. 0032-061-440) into CFD No. 2 occurred with the Council’s 
adoption of a Resolution of Intention to Annex Territory at the September 15, 2020 meeting.  The 
second step in the proceedings was completed on October 20, 2020, which required the holding of 
a public hearing, the submission of certain matters to the qualified electors located within the 
territory to be annexed into CFD No. 2, declaring the results of the election, and, announcing if 
the election is successful, introduction of an ordinance levying taxes within CFD No. 2 (including 
the territory to be annexed into the district).  Adoption of the ordinance levying taxes is the final 
step in the annexation process. This will be the eleventh (11th) development annexed into CFD#2. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  It is recommended that the City Council Adopt Ordinance No. 
776:  Levying Special Tax within City of Suisun City Community Facilities District No. 2 
(Municipal Services), Including Certain Annexation Territory. (Introduced and Reading Waived 
October 20, 2020). 

ATTACHMENTS:  
1. Ordinance 776:  Levying Special Tax within City of Suisun City Community Facilities

District No. 2 (Municipal Services), Including Certain Annexation Territory. (Introduced
and Reading Waived October 20, 2020).

2. Exhibit A – Community Facilities District No. 2 Annexation No. 11 (Holiday Inn Express)
3. Exhibit B – Community Facilities District No. 2 Annexation Map No. 11

Item 6

9



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

10



 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 776 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF SUISUN CITY LEVYING SPECIAL TAX WITHIN CITY 
OF SUISUN CITY COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT 
NO. 2 (MUNICIPAL SERVICES), INCLUDING CERTAIN 

ANNEXATION TERRITORY 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Suisun City (the “City”) has conducted proceedings pursuant 
to the Mello-Roos Community Facilities Act, Chapter 2.5 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5, 
commencing with Section 53311, of the California Government Code (the “Act”) to establish 
“City of Suisun City Community Facilities District No. 2 (Municipal Services)” (the “CFD”) 
for the purpose of financing certain municipal services (the “Services) as provided in the Act; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the rate and method of apportionment of special tax for the CFD (the 
“Original Rate and Method”) is set forth in Exhibit A to City Council Resolution 2005-89, 
which was adopted on November 15, 2005 (the “Resolution of Formation”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has conducted proceedings to annex territory into the CFD and, 
in connection therewith, approved supplements to the Original Rate and Method (as 
supplemented, the “Rate and Method”); 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF SUISUN CITY as follows: 
 

SECTION ONE: By the passage of this Ordinance, pursuant to the Act, the Council 
hereby authorizes and levies the Special Tax within the CFD, including all territory annexed 
into the CFD prior to the date hereof, at the rate and in accordance with method set forth in the 
Rate and Method, which rate and method are by this reference incorporated herein.  The Special 
Tax has previously been levied in the original territory of the CFD beginning in fiscal year 
2006-07 pursuant to Ordinance No. 684, passed and adopted by the City Council on December 
6, 2005, and the Special Tax is hereby levied commencing in fiscal year 2015-16 in the territory 
annexed to the CFD subsequent to formation of the CFD, and in each fiscal year thereafter to 
pay for the Services for the CFD and all costs of administering the CFD. 
 
The City Council hereby ratifies the levy of special taxes within the CFD pursuant to the Act, 
at the rate and in accordance with the Rate and Method, in fiscal years 2006-07 through 2020-
21. 
 

SECTION TWO: The City Manager or designee, or an employee or consultant of the 
City, is hereby authorized and directed each fiscal year to determine the specific Special Tax to 
be levied for the next ensuing fiscal year for each parcel of real property within the CFD, 
including all territory annexed to the CFD prior to the date hereof, in the manner and as provided 
in the Rate and Method. 
 

Item 6 
Attachment 1

11



Ordinance No. -776 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 2 of 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

SECTION THREE: Exemptions from the levy of the Special Tax shall be as provided 
in the Resolution of Formation, the Rate and Method and the applicable provisions of the Act.  
In no event shall the Special Tax be levied on any parcel within the CFD in excess of the 
maximum Special Tax specified in the Rate and Method. 

SECTION FOUR: All of the collections of the Special Tax shall be used as provided 
in the Act and in the Resolution of Formation, including, but not limited to, the payment of 
costs of the Services, the payment of the costs of the City in administering the CFD, and the 
costs of collecting and administering the Special Tax. 

SECTION FIVE: The Special Tax shall be collected in the same manner as ordinary 
ad valorem taxes are collected and shall have the same lien priority, and be subject to the same 
penalties and the same procedure and sale in cases of delinquency as provided for ad valorem 
taxes; provided, however, that the Council may provide for other appropriate methods of 
collection by resolution(s) of the Council. The City Manager of the City (or the City Manager’s 
designee) is hereby authorized and directed to provide all necessary information to the 
auditor/tax collector of the County of Solano in order to effect proper billing and collection of 
the Special Tax, so that the Special Tax shall be included on the secured property tax roll of the 
County of Solano for fiscal year 2021-22 and for each fiscal year thereafter, as set forth above, 
until no longer required to pay for the Services or until otherwise terminated by the City. 

SECTION SIX: If for any reason any portion of this Ordinance is found to be invalid, 
or if the Special Tax is found inapplicable to any particular parcel within the CFD, including 
all territory annexed to the CFD prior to the date hereof, by a court of competent jurisdiction, 
the balance of this Ordinance and the application of the Special Tax to the remaining parcels 
within the CFD, including all territory annexed to the CFD prior to the date hereof, shall not be 
affected. 

SECTION SEVEN: The Mayor shall sign this Ordinance and the City Clerk shall cause 
the same to be published immediately after its passage at least once in a newspaper of general 
circulation circulated in the City. 

SECTION EIGHT: This Council affirms the provisions of Ordinance No. 684 except 
to the extent any terms of such Ordinance are inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance, 
in which case the terms of this Ordinance shall govern.  

SECTION NINE: This Ordinance shall become effective (30) days following its 
passage and adoption and shall be published once within fifteen (15) days upon passage and 
adoption in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Suisun City, County of Solano. 

[SIGNATURES OF FOLLOWING PAGE] 

Item 6 
Attachment 1

12



Ordinance No. -776 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 3 of 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council 

of the City of Suisun City, California, on this ___ day of 2020. 

Lori D. Wilson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Donna Pock, CMC 
Deputy City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
AND LEGAL CONTENT: 

_______________________________ 

Aleshire & Wynder, LLP 

CERTIFICATION 
 I, Donna Pock, Deputy City Clerk of the City of Suisun City and ex-officio Clerk of 

the City Council of said City, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing ordinance was 
introduced at a regular meeting of the said City Council held on October 20, 2020 and passed 
and adopted at a regular meeting of said City Council held on __________, 2020, by the 
following vote: 

AYES: Councilmembers: 
NOES: Councilmembers: 
ABSENT: Councilmembers: 
ABSTAIN: Councilmembers: 

WITNESS my hand and the seal of said City this _______ day of _______ 2020. 

Donna Pock, CMC 
Deputy City Clerk 

Item 6 
Attachment 1

13



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

14



EXHIBIT A 

CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
Community Facilities District No. 2 

(Municipal Services) 

Annexation No. 11 (Holiday Inn Express) 

CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
Community Facilities District No. 2 

(Municipal Services) 

RATE AND METHOD OF APPORTIONMENT OF SPECIAL TAX 

A Special Tax applicable to each Assessor’s Parcel in Community Facilities District No. 2 
(Municipal Services) (the “CFD”) shall be levied and collected according to the tax liability determined by 
the City Council, through the application of the appropriate amount or rate for Taxable Property, as 
described below. All of the property in the CFD, unless exempted by law or by the provisions of Section E 
below, shall be taxed for the purposes, to the extent, and in the manner herein provided, including property 
subsequently annexed to the CFD unless a separate Rate and Method of Apportionment of Special Tax is 
adopted for the annexation area. 

A. DEFINITIONS

The terms hereinafter set forth have the following meanings: 

“Acre or Acreage” means the land area of an Assessor’s Parcel as shown on an Assessor’s Parcel 
Map, or if the land area is not shown on an Assessor’s Parcel Map, the land area shown on the applicable 
final subdivision map or other parcel map recorded at the Solano County Recorder’s Office.  

“Act” means the Mello-Roos Community Facilities Act of 1982, as amended, Chapter 2.5 of Part 
1 of Division 2 of Title 5 commencing at Section 53311 of the California Government Code. 

“Administrator” means the individual(s) designated by the City to administer the CFD in 
accordance with the authority and powers granted by the City Council.  

“Assessor’s Parcel” or “Parcel” means a lot or parcel shown on an Assessor’s Parcel Map with 
an assigned Assessor’s Parcel number. 

“Assessor’s Parcel Map” means an official map of the County Assessor of the County of Solano 
designating parcels by Assessor’s Parcel number. 

“Average Increase” means the annual average increase in the Indices that shall be applied to 
escalate the Maximum Special Tax each Fiscal Year.  The Average Increase shall be calculated in January 
of each year by (1) referencing the Bureau of Labor Statistics Data to identify the annual percentage increase 
in each Index as of the end of the prior year, and (2) taking the average of these two percentages.  If either 
Index decreases from one year to the next, the percentage change from the prior year shall be assumed to 
be zero for purposes of calculating the Average Increase. 

Item 6 
Attachment 2

15



"Building Square Footage" means the total gross square footage of the floor area of the buildings 
on any Parcel of Non-Residential Property determined by calculating the combined floor area contained 
within a building's exterior walls including the area of an addition where floor area is increased.  Parking 
areas and exterior walkways shall not be included in the calculation of Building Square Footage.  The 
determination of Building Square Footage shall be made by reference to appropriate records kept by the 
City's Building Department. 

“CFD-Wide Special Tax” means the Maximum Special Tax identified in Section C.1 below that 
shall be levied on all Developed Property within the CFD. 

“CFD-Wide Special Tax Requirement” means the amount necessary in any Fiscal Year to (i) 
pay the cost of authorized police, fire, paramedical, storm drain and City-wide landscaping services, (ii) 
pay administrative expenses of the CFD, and (iii) cure delinquencies in the payment of Special Taxes levied 
in prior Fiscal Years or (based on delinquencies in the payment of Special Taxes which have already taken 
place) are expected to occur in the Fiscal Year in which the tax will be collected. 

“City” means the City of Suisun City. 

“City Council” means the City Council of the City of Suisun City, acting as the legislative body 
of the CFD. 

“Developed Property” means, in any Fiscal Year, all Taxable Property for which a building permit 
for new construction has been issued prior to July 1 of the preceding Fiscal Year. 

“Fiscal Year” means the period starting July 1 and ending on the following June 30. 

“Indices” means the Consumer Price Indexes for the San Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Urban Wage 
Earners and Clerical Workers Category and the U.S. City Average Urban Wage Earners and Clerical 
Workers Category. 

“Live/Work Property” means a Parcel on which all or a portion of a Unit is deed-restricted for 
commercial use, as determined in the sole discretion of the City. 

 “Maximum CFD-Wide Special Tax” means the maximum CFD-Wide Special Tax, determined 
in accordance with Section C.1 below, that can be levied on Taxable Property in any Fiscal Year. 

“Maximum Tax Zone Special Tax” means the maximum Tax Zone Special Tax, determined in 
accordance with Section C.2 below, that can be levied on Taxable Property in any Fiscal Year. 

“Multi-Family Property” means, in any Fiscal Year, all Parcels of Developed Property for which 
a building permit was issued for construction of a residential structure with Units that are offered for rent 
to the general public. 

“Non-Residential Property” means any Taxable Property within the boundaries of the CFD that 
is not Live/Work Property, Single Family Detached Property, Single Family Attached Property or Multi-
Family Property, as defined herein.   

“Public Agency” means the federal government, State of California or other local governments or 
public agencies. 

Item 6 
Attachment 2

16



“RMA” means this Rate and Method of Apportionment of Special Tax. 

“Single Family Attached Property” means, in any Fiscal Year, all Parcels of Developed Property 
for which a building permit was issued for construction of a residential structure consisting of two or more 
Units that share common walls and are offered as for-sale units, including such residential structures that 
meet that statutory definition of a condominium contained in Civil Code Section 1351. 

“Single Family Detached Property” means, in any Fiscal Year, all Parcels of Developed Property 
which meet both of the following criteria: (i) a building permit was issued for construction of a Unit that 
does not share a common wall with another Unit, and (ii) the Parcel has not been designated as Live/Work 
Property.  

“Special Tax” means a special tax levied in any Fiscal Year to pay the CFD-Wide Special Tax 
Requirement or the Tax Zone Special Tax Requirement. 

“Taxable Property” means all Assessor’s Parcels within the boundaries of the CFD which are not 
exempt from the Special Tax pursuant to law or Section E below. 

“Tax Zone” means a mutually exclusive geographic area within which a particular Tax Zone 
Special Tax may be levied pursuant to this RMA.  All of the property within the CFD at the time of the 
CFD formation is within Tax Zone #1; additional Tax Zones may be created when property is annexed into 
the CFD, and a separate Tax Zone Special Tax shall be identified for property within a new Tax Zone at 
the time of such annexation.   

“Tax Zone Special Tax” means a Special Tax that shall be levied within a particular Tax Zone or 
Tax Zones but not necessarily levied at a consistent rate throughout the entire CFD.   

“Tax Zone Special Tax Requirement” means the amount necessary in any Fiscal Year to pay the 
cost of authorized landscaping services within a particular Tax Zone.  A separate Tax Zone Special Tax 
Requirement shall be determined each Fiscal Year for each Tax Zone within which a Tax Zone Special Tax 
is authorized to be levied. 

“Unit” means a residential dwelling unit, including individual single-family detached, duplex, 
triplex, fourplex, townhome, condominium, or apartment units. 

B. DATA FOR ANNUAL ADMINISTRATION OF SPECIAL TAX

After July 1 of each Fiscal Year, the Administrator shall categorize all Parcels of Taxable Property 
in the CFD as Single Family Detached Property, Single Family Attached Property, Multi-Family Property, 
Live/Work Property or Non-Residential Property.  For each Parcel of Single Family Attached Property, 
Live/Work Property and Multi-Family Property, the Administrator shall determine the number of Units on 
the Parcel by referencing the building permit, site plan, condominium plan, apartment plan or other 
development plan for the Parcel. The Administrator shall determine the Building Square Footage for all 
Parcels of Non-Residential Property.  The Administrator shall also determine the Tax Zone within which 
each Parcel of Taxable Property is located. 

Item 6 
Attachment 2

17



 
C. MAXIMUM SPECIAL TAX 

 

1. CFD-Wide Special Tax 

 

Table 1 below identifies the Maximum CFD-Wide Special Taxes.   
 

Table 1 
City of Suisun City 

 Community Facilities District No. 2  
(Municipal Services) 

Maximum CFD-Wide Special Taxes 
 

 
Land Use Category 

Maximum CFD-Wide Special Tax 
Fiscal Year 2005-06 * 

Single Family Detached Property $629.90 per Unit 
Single Family Attached Property $472.43 per Unit 
Multi-Family Property $236.21 per Unit 
Live/Work Property $629.90 per Unit plus $629.90 per 1,000 square 

feet (or portion thereof) of non-residential 
building and ancillary improvements 

Non-Residential Property The greater of $629.90 per parcel or $629.90 
per 1,000 Square Feet (or portion thereof) of 

Building Square Footage  
 
*  Beginning in January 2006 and each January thereafter, this Maximum Special Tax shall be 

adjusted by applying the Average Increase, if any, in the Indices.  Each annual adjustment of the Maximum 
Special Tax shall become effective on the subsequent July 1. 

 

2. Tax Zone #1 Special Tax 

 

Table 2 below identifies the Maximum Tax Zone Special Tax for Tax Zone #1.  A different 
Maximum Tax Zone Special Tax shall be identified for Tax Zones added to the CFD as a result of 
future annexations. 

 

Item 6 
Attachment 2

18



Table 2 
City of Suisun City 

 Community Facilities District No. 2  
(Municipal Services) 

Maximum Tax Zone Special Taxes for Tax Zone #1 

Land Use Category 
Maximum CFD-Wide Special Tax 

Tax Zone #1 
Fiscal Year 2005-06 * 

Single Family Detached Property $386.04 per Unit 
Single Family Attached Property $289.53 per Unit 
Multi-Family Property $144.77 per Unit 
Live/Work Property $386.04 per Unit plus $386.04 per 1,000 square 

feet (or portion thereof) of non-residential 
space 

Non-Residential Property The greater of $386.04 per Parcel or $386.04 
per 1,000 Square Feet (or portion thereof) of 

Building Square Footage 

* Beginning in January 2006 and each January thereafter, this Maximum Special Tax shall be
adjusted by applying the Average Increase, if any, in the Indices.  Each annual adjustment of the Maximum 
Special Tax shall become effective on the subsequent July 1. 

D. METHOD OF LEVY AND COLLECTION OF THE SPECIAL TAX

1. CFD-Wide Special Tax

Each Fiscal Year, the CFD-Wide Special Tax shall be levied on all Parcels of Developed 
Property within the CFD as follows: 

Step 1: Determine the CFD-Wide Special Tax Requirement for the Fiscal Year in which the 
CFD-Wide Special Tax will be collected; 

Step 2: Calculate the total CFD-Wide Special Tax revenues that could be collected from 
Developed Property within the CFD based on application of the Maximum CFD-Wide 
Special Tax rates determined pursuant to Section C.1 above; 

Step 3: If the amount determined in Step 1 is greater than or equal to the amount calculated 
in Step 2, levy the Maximum CFD-Wide Special Tax on all Parcels of Developed 
Property in the CFD.   

Step 4: If the amount determined in Step 1 is less than the amount calculated in Step 2, levy 
the CFD-Wide Special Tax against all Parcels of Developed Property in equal 
percentages up to 100% of the Maximum CFD-Wide Special Tax for each Parcel until 
the amount of the CFD-Wide Special Tax levy equals the CFD-Wide Special Tax 
Requirement for that Fiscal Year. 

2. Tax Zone  Special Tax

Item 6 
Attachment 2

19



Each Fiscal Year, the Tax Zone Special Tax shall be levied on all Parcels of Developed 
Property within each Tax Zone as follows: 

Step 1: Separately for each Tax Zone, determine the Tax Zone Special Tax Requirement for 
the Fiscal Year in which the Tax Zone Special Tax will be collected; 

Step 2: Calculate separately for each Tax Zone the total Tax Zone Special Tax revenues that 
could be collected from Developed Property within the Tax Zone based on application 
of the Maximum Tax Zone Special Tax rates for that Tax Zone; 

Step 3: If the amount determined in Step 1 is greater than or equal to the amount calculated 
in Step 2, levy the Maximum Tax Zone Special Tax on all Parcels of Developed 
Property in the Tax Zone.   

Step 4: If the amount determined in Step 1 is less than the amount calculated in Step 2, levy 
the Tax Zone Special Tax against all Parcels of Developed Property within the Tax 
Zone in equal percentages up to 100% of the Maximum Tax Zone Special Tax for each 
Parcel until the amount of the Tax Zone Special Tax levy equals the Tax Zone Special 
Tax Requirement for that Fiscal Year. 

The CFD-Wide Special Tax and the Tax Zone Special Tax within the CFD shall be collected in the 
same manner and at the same time as ordinary ad valorem property taxes, provided, however, that the CFD 
may (under the authority provided in the Act), in any particular case, bill the taxes directly to the property 
owner off the County tax roll, and the Special Taxes will be equally subject to penalties and foreclosure if 
delinquent. 

E. LIMITATIONS

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Rate and Method of Apportionment of Special Tax, no 
Special Tax shall be levied on land that has been conveyed to a Public Agency, except as otherwise provided 
in Sections 53317.3 and 53317.5 of the Act.   

F. INTERPRETATION OF SPECIAL TAX FORMULA

The City reserves the right to make minor administrative and technical changes to this document 
that do not materially affect the rate and method of apportioning Special Taxes. In addition, the 
interpretation and application of any section of this document shall be left to the City’s discretion.  
Interpretations may be made by the City by ordinance or resolution for purposes of clarifying any vagueness 
or ambiguity in this Rate and Method of Apportionment. 

Item 6 
Attachment 2

20



A
nn

ex
at

io
n 

M
ap

 N
o.

 1
1 

of
 C

ity
 o

f S
ui

su
n 

C
ity

C
om

m
un

ity
 F

ac
ili

tie
s 

D
is

tr
ic

t N
o.

 2
 (M

un
ic

ip
al

 S
er

vi
ce

s)

R
EF

ER
E

N
C

E
 IS

 H
E

R
E

BY
 M

A
D

E
 T

O
 T

H
AT

 C
E

R
TA

IN
 M

A
P 

EN
TI

TL
E

D
 “

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

IE
S

 O
F 

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
SU

IS
U

N
C

IT
Y 

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y 

FA
C

IL
IT

IE
S

 
D

IS
TR

IC
T 

N
O

. 
2 

(M
U

N
IC

IP
A

L 
S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

), 
C

O
U

N
TY

 
O

F 
S

O
LA

N
O

, 
ST

AT
E 

O
F

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
,” 

FI
LE

D
 T

H
E

 2
7T

H
 D

AY
 O

F 
O

C
TO

B
E

R
, 2

00
5,

 A
T 

TH
E

 H
O

U
R

 O
F 

IN
 B

O
O

K
 2

3 
O

F 
M

A
P

S 
O

F 
A

S
SE

S
SM

E
N

T
AN

D
 C

O
M

M
U

N
IT

Y 
FA

C
IL

IT
IE

S
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

AT
 P

A
G

E
 6

0,
 IN

 T
H

E
 O

FF
IC

E 
O

F 
TH

E
 C

O
U

N
TY

 R
EC

O
R

D
ER

 O
F 

TH
E

 C
O

U
N

TY
O

F 
S

O
LA

N
O

, S
TA

TE
 O

F 
C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

, W
H

IC
H

 T
H

IS
 A

N
N

E
XA

TI
O

N
 M

AP
 A

FF
E

C
TS

.

1.
FI

LE
D

 IN
 T

H
E 

O
FF

IC
E 

O
F 

TH
E

 C
IT

Y 
C

LE
R

K
 O

F 
TH

E
 C

IT
Y 

O
F 

S
U

IS
U

N
 C

IT
Y 

TH
IS

 _
__

__
 D

AY
 O

F 
__

__
__

__
__

, 2
0_

_.

C
IT

Y 
C

LE
R

K

2.
I H

ER
E

B
Y 

C
ER

TI
FY

 T
H

AT
 T

H
E

 W
IT

H
IN

 M
A

P 
SH

O
W

IN
G

 P
R

O
PO

S
ED

 B
O

U
N

D
A

R
IE

S
 O

F 
A

N
N

E
XA

TI
O

N
 N

O
. 1

1 
 T

O
 C

IT
Y

O
F 

S
U

IS
U

N
 C

IT
Y 

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y 

FA
C

IL
IT

IE
S

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
N

O
. 2

 (M
U

N
IC

IP
AL

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S)
, C

O
U

N
TY

 O
F 

S
O

LA
N

O
, S

TA
TE

 O
F

C
AL

IF
O

R
N

IA
, W

A
S

 A
PP

R
O

V
E

D
 B

Y 
TH

E 
C

IT
Y 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

 O
F 

TH
E

 C
IT

Y 
O

F 
S

U
IS

U
N

 C
IT

Y,
 A

T 
A 

M
EE

TI
N

G
 T

H
E

R
E

O
F,

 H
EL

D
O

N
 T

H
E

 _
__

__
 D

AY
 O

F 
__

__
__

__
__

, 2
0_

_,
 B

Y 
IT

S
 R

ES
O

LU
TI

O
N

 N
O

. _
__

__
.

C
IT

Y 
C

LE
R

K

3.
FI

LE
D

 T
H

IS
 _

__
__

 D
AY

 O
F 

__
__

__
__

__
, 2

0_
_,

 A
T 

TH
E 

H
O

U
R

 O
F 

__
__

_ 
O

'C
LO

C
K

 _
_.

M
., 

IN
 B

O
O

K
 _

__
__

 O
F 

M
A

PS
 O

F
AS

S
ES

S
M

EN
T 

A
N

D
 C

O
M

M
U

N
IT

Y 
FA

C
IL

IT
IE

S
 D

IS
TR

IC
TS

, A
T 

PA
G

E 
__

__
_ 

IN
 T

H
E

 O
FF

IC
E

 O
F 

TH
E

 C
O

U
N

TY
 R

EC
O

R
D

ER
IN

 T
H

E
 C

O
U

N
TY

 O
F 

S
O

LA
N

O
, S

TA
TE

 O
F 

C
A

LI
FO

R
N

IA
.

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
_

C
O

U
N

TY
 R

E
C

O
R

D
E

R
,

C
O

U
N

TY
 O

F 
S

O
LA

N
O

C
O

U
N

TY
 O

F 
SO

LA
N

O
ST

AT
E 

O
F 

C
A

LI
FO

R
N

IA

Lo
tz 

Wa
y

Main St

Ba
y S

t

Al
ley

 

Al
mo

nd
 St

Civic Center Blvd

Flo
rid

a S
t

Dr
iftw

oo
d D

r

Port St

Harbor Center 

Alder St

Dr
iftw

oo
d D

r

Al
ley

 

Port St

Traffic Circle 

00
32

-06
1-4

40

Sh
ee

t 1
 o

f 1

So
urc

e: 
So

lan
o C

ou
nty

 G
IS

Ge
og

rap
hic

 C
oo

rdi
na

te 
Re

fer
en

ce
: G

CS
 N

ort
h A

me
ric

an
 19

83
Pr

oje
cti

on
: N

AD
 19

83
 St

ate
Pla

ne
 C

ali
for

nia
 II 

FIP
S 0

40
2 F

ee
t

¬ «12

Main St

Sunset Ave

Co
rd

eli
a R

d

Walters Rd

C
IT

Y
 O

F
 S

U
IS

U
N

 C
IT

Y
C

IT
Y

 O
F

 S
U

IS
U

N
 C

IT
Y

AN
N

EX
AT

IO
N

 P
AR

C
EL

PA
R

C
EL

S
0

10
0

20
0

50
Fe

et

O

EX
H

IB
IT

 B

Item 6 
Attachment 3

21



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

22



______________________________________________________________________________ 
PREPARED BY: Matthew Medill, Public Works Director 
REVIEWED BY: Lakhwinder Deol, Finance Director 
APPROVED BY: Greg Folsom, City Manager 

AGENDA TRANSMITTAL 

MEETING DATE:  November 17, 2020 

CITY AGENDA ITEM:  Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-___:  Amending City 
Administrative Directive 5, Purchasing Policy for Supplies, Equipment, and Services. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  There is no fiscal impact to the General Fund.  The new procedural updates 
would streamline the purchasing process and update the spending authorization levels of the City 
Manager and the department heads. The update would also result in a significant savings of staff 
time via the reduced paperwork obligation for low cost purchases which currently takes an 
abundance of staff time to process as currently required. 

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPACT:  Amending Administrative Directive 5 (AD 5) is aligned with 
the Suisun City Strategic Plan and Strategic Plan Goals including Provide Good Governance and 
Ensures Public Safety. 

BACKGROUND:  Administrative Directive 5 (AD 5) was last amended on September 2, 2008 
and is long overdue for an update. AD 5 is the City purchasing policy and authorizes City staff to 
make purchases in accordance with the directive requirements. AD 5 establishes purchasing 
authority levels for Department Heads and the City Manager as well as the procedures to make 
purchases. 

STAFF REPORT:  The City Council has directed staff this year to find ways to increase its 
efficiency and effectiveness in response to current fiscal challenges such that the City can 
achieve its strategic goal to provide good governance. Two of the major challenges at the City 
are staffing and funding. The City staff are currently required to generate significant paperwork 
for purchases greater than $1,000 by the requirement of the creation of a hard copy purchase 
order tracking. Also, the outdated low purchase approval limits require significant paperwork 
processing which takes staff time and often delays priority purchases. Although financial 
controls are necessary to ensure sufficient oversight of purchases, currently staff considers the 
authorization limits restrictively low requiring an imbalanced level of paperwork processing for 
relatively small and routine purchases. As it is the fiduciary responsibility of the City Manager, 
Department Heads and Staff to get the lowest cost possible for purchases, it is also their 
responsibility to provide great service to the City of Suisun and its residents. Staff recommends 
that the City Council amend AD 5 to allow City staff to serve the City of Suisun and its residents 
efficiently and effectively. 

Below please find an executive summary of the most significant changes proposed to AD 5 
(Please see Attachment No. 2 Current AD 5 Purchasing Policy for Supplies, Equipment, and 
Services with Proposed Update Edits Shown for all proposed updates): 

Item 7

23



• In section I. Purpose and Authority, it was noted that AD 5 was expressly inapplicable
to Public Projects, Professional Services, and Specialized Service contracts.

• In section III. General Provisions, it was noted that Department Heads maybe
authorized to make purchases as approved in the budget that are within the City
Manager’s purchasing authority.

• In section IV. Purchasing Procedures based on dollar amounts involved several
authority limits were updated:

o Purchases Made on Open Market by Department Heads authorization limit was
raised to $5,000 from $1,000. This provides higher authority to Department Heads
to make purchases efficiently within their approved budgets. This also elevates
the threshold requirement of purchase order generation from $1,000 to $5,000
which will alleviate a tremendous workload from administrative and finance
department staff.

o Three Written Quotations/City Manager Authorizes authorization limit was
expanded from under $10,000 to a range of $5,000 to $19,999. This updated
range will allow Department Heads to efficiently obtain quotes and bids and take
action to make purchase efficiently.

o Informal Bid/City Manager Authorizes authorization limit was raised from under
$10,000 to a range of $20,000 to $35,000. This new range is consistent with the
updated City Manager authorization limit of $35,000.

o Formal Bid/City Council Approves authorization limit was raised from $25,000 to
$35,000. This increase will alleviate the Department Heads of generating staff
reports and resolutions for purchases under $35,000 if approved by the City
Manager. The Department Heads, and especially the Public Works Director,
spend an exorbitant amount of time generating staff reports, and for purchases
under $35,000, if the AD 5 update is approved the Departments Heads can spend
the time saved from writing staff reports on getting priority work done for the
City and its residents to meet its strategic goals.

• In section VIII. Public Works Contracts a reference was made to the recently adopted
City Ordinance 766 which updated the informal bidding procedures under the California
Uniform Public Construction Cost Accounting Act.

• In section IX. Open Purchase Orders (No dollar amount) authorization limit was
raised from a monthly limit of $1,000 to a monthly limit of $2,500. This will allow for
approval of routine service contracts that exceed $1,000 a month. The total contract
amount is still limited to the City Manager’s proposed purchase authorization limit of
$35,000.

• In section X. Blanket Purchase Orders (When annual costs are known) the not-to-
exceed authorization limit was raised from $10,000 to just below the City Manager’s
authorization limit at $34,999. This will allow the City Manager to authorize blanket
purchase orders.

• In section XII. Sole Source Purchases added an exception authorization limit for
software purchase of up to the proposed City Manger’s authorization limit of $34,999.
This past year staff ran into a challenge when software renewal fees were late and
exceeded the current sole source purchase authority limit, this update should alleviate any
future software renewal issues for the foreseeable future.

• In section XVI. Declaration of Surplus Assets and Disposal of Same an edit was made
to allow for the sale of surplus assets to another governmental jurisdiction or non-profit

Item 7

24



corporation, provided the item would be used for public benefit. Currently this section 
only allows for donation, and staff recommends the authority to get some cost recovery 
on these surplus assets when possible by the authority to sell as an option in addition to 
the donation option. 

Staff has included both a copy of the current AD 5 with all proposed update edits shown as well 
as a copy of the clean version of the proposed AD 5. 

RECOMMENDATION:  It is recommended that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2020-
___:  Amending City Administrative Directive 5, Purchasing Policy for Supplies, Equipment, 
and Services. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Council Resolution No. 2020-___: Amending City Administrative Directive 5, 

Purchasing Policy for Supplies, Equipment, and Services. 
2. Current AD 5 Purchasing Policy for Supplies, Equipment, and Services with Proposed

Update Edits Shown
3. Proposed AD 5 Purchasing Policy for Supplies, Equipment, and Services

Item 7

25



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

26



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-___ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF SUISUN CITY AMENDING CITY ADMINISTRATIVE DIRECTIVE 5, 

PURCHASING POLICY FOR SUPPLIES, EQUIPMENT AND SERVICES 

WHEREAS, the City Council from time to time will establish and/or revise the 
Administrative Directives of the City; and 

WHEREAS, the existing Administrative Directive 5 (AD 5) was last updated on 
September 2, 2008; and 

WHEREAS, it has become necessary to update Administrative Directive 5 to reflect 
more modern, efficient, and effective purchasing limits; and 

WHEREAS, AD 5 includes a section under Section II General Provisions, sub-section F 
which supports regular review of limits and states:  The dollar levels shall be reviewed on a 
regular basis to ensure that they are consistent with current conditions and the practices of 
neighboring cities.  Regular adjustments may be presented to the City Council for their 
consideration and approval. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
DOES HEREBY RESOLVE that it approves amending Administrative Directive 5, Purchasing 
Policy for Supplies, Equipment and Services, and that such revisions shall take effective 
immediately upon adoption. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of said City Council of the City of 
Suisun City duly held on Tuesday, the 17th day of November 2020, by the following vote: 

AYES: Councilmembers: 
NOES: Councilmembers: 
ABSENT: Councilmembers: 
ABSTAIN: Councilmembers: 

WITNESS my hand and the seal of the City of Suisun City this 17th day of November 
2020. 

Donna Pock, CMC 
Deputy City Clerk 

Item 7 
Attachment 1

27



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

28



September 2, 2008November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc Page 1 of 9 

CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
ADMINISTRATIVE DIRECTIVE - AD5 
PURCHASING POLICY FOR SUPPLIES, EQUIPMENT AND SERVICES 

Adopted: September 11, 1996 
Amended: September 2, 2008November 17, 2020 

_________________________________________ 
Distribution: All Departments Greg Folsom, City Manager 

Table of Contents 
I. Purpose and Authority
II. Purchasing Officer Designated
III. General Provisions
IV. Purchasing Procedures based on dollar amounts involved
V. Determination of Lowest Responsible Bidder
VI. Special Purchasing Provisions
VII. Use of Other Governmental Bids in lieu of bidding
VIII. Public Works Contracts, pursuant to State Law
IX. Open Purchase Orders (No dollar amount)
X. Blanket Purchase Orders (When annual costs are known)
XI. Emergency Purchases
XII. Sole Source Purchases
XIII. Purchasing Recycled Products
XIV. Use of Credit Cards and Purchases
XV. City Council’s right to enter into contracts not impaired
XVI. Declaration of Surplus Assets and Disposal of Same

I. Purpose and Authority
A. A purchasing system is hereby adopted to govern purchases of supplies, services

and equipment required by any department of the City, to establish bidding
regulations therefore, and to define the authority for the purchasing function.

B. The purchasing procedures contained in this Directive are expressly inapplicable to
Public Works projectsProjects or to the obtaining of professional services. Public
Project per PCC §§ 22002(c) is defined as:

• (1) Construction, reconstruction, erection, alteration, renovation, improvement,
demolition, and repair work involving any publicly owned, leased, or operated 
facility. 

• (2) Painting or repainting of any publicly owned, leased, or operated facility.

C. The purchasing procedures contained in this Directive are expressly inapplicable to
obtaining professional services. Professional services are occupations in the service 
sector requiring special training in the arts or sciences. Some professional services 

Item 7 
Attachment 2

29



September 2, 2008November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc Page 2 of 9 

require holding professional degrees and licenses and they also require specific 
skills such as architects, accountants, engineers, doctors, lawyers and teachers. 

D. The purchasing procedures contained in this Directive are expressly inapplicable to
Specialized Services contracts.  Specialized Services are defined as services that are 
provided by non-profit agencies and/or governmental agencies and/or an entity that 
provides unique and specialized services that are not widely offered and/or that are 
associated with sole source systems. 

BE. The purpose of these procedures is to maintain financial control over purchases, to 
improve oversight of the purchasing function, and to obtain supplies, materials, 
equipment, and non-professional services at the lowest possible cost and in a 
manner consistent with Suisun City Code §2.08.170 Purchasing, and California 
State Contracting Code §22000 Et Seq. 

II. Purchasing Officer Designated
The City Manager or his/her designated representative will act as the Purchasing Officer
for the City.  The Purchasing Officer is responsible for purchasing and selling supplies,
equipment and services.  The Purchasing Officer can authorize Department Heads to
purchase supplies, equipment and services as such are approved and appropriated in the
annual budget process.

III. General Provisions
A. Department Heads shall be required to file detailed estimates of future requirements

for supplies, services and equipment in the time, manner and form requested by the
Purchasing Officer.  These estimates shall be presented annually in the Annual
Budgets approved by the City Council and respective Boards.

B. Department Heads may be authorized by the Purchasing Officer to purchase or
contract for supplies and equipment as approved and appropriated by the annual
budget process and that are within the City Manager’s authorized purchasing limit
per Section IV.  Reports of such purchases shall be made available to the
Purchasing Officer through the City’s accounting system, or as the Purchasing
Officer shall direct.

C. Unless otherwise indicated in this Directive, purchases of supplies, materials,
equipment, or contracts for services will be made by a Purchase Order issued by the
Purchasing Officer.  The Purchase Order must be written and issued before the
materials or services are ordered.  Unless otherwise indicated in this Directive, Nno
employee of the City shall request any merchant, dealer, supplier, or vendor to
deliver goods to the City except on a Purchase Order issued by the Purchasing
Officer or his/her designated representative per Section IV.

Item 7 
Attachment 2

30



September 2, 2008November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc  Page 3 of 9  

D. The Purchasing Officer shall be responsible for maintaining a Vendor’s List, sorted 
by product category.  Any vendor who wishes to receive a formal or informal bid, 
based on that product category, must submit contact information to the Purchasing 
Officer.  The Purchasing Officer has sole authority to determine the product 
category or categories to which the vendor should be assigned.  Department Heads 
should forward any vendor information they receive to the Purchasing Officer for 
proper filing.  The Vendor List may also be used for soliciting informal quotations. 

E. The Purchasing Officer, the Department Head, or their designate, shall inspect 
supplies and equipment delivered and contractual services performed, to determine 
their conformance with the specifications set forth in the order or contract.  The 
Purchasing Officer shall have authority to require any tests necessary to determine 
the quality and conformance with specifications and shall encourage on-site 
demonstrations of equipment performance when applicable. 

F. The dollar levels shall be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that they are 
consistent with current conditions and the practices of neighboring cities.  Regular 
adjustments may be presented to the City Council for their consideration and 
approval. 

G. The Purchasing Officer shall be responsible for creating or revising any and all 
forms necessary to comply with this Administrative Directive, along with any 
related instructions, guidelines or training. 

IV. Purchasing Procedures based on dollar amounts involved 
A. Under $100 – Petty Cash 

1. One-time purchases of items costing under $100 may be made through petty cash.  
Petty cash procedures should not be used for supplies which are usually stocked or 
purchased in bulk by the City. 

2. Petty cash purchases are made by the following procedures: 
a. The employee will purchase the item, obtain a sales receipt, and return the 

receipt to the Finance office. 
b. The employee will fill out a petty cash form with the date purchased, cost of 

the item (from sales receipt), description of the item purchased, and account 
number.  The form must be signed by the employee. 

c. The Purchasing Officer’s designee shall approve the petty cash request and 
the employee will be refunded the cash advanced. 

B. Under $1000 2,5005,000 – Purchases Made on the Open Market by Department 
Heads 
1. Expenditures and sales of less than $1,0002,500 5,000 may be made on the open 

market without obtaining bids or quotations and are approved by the 
Department Head or designee.  The Vendor’s List may be used to identify 
prospective vendors at the discretion of the Department Head.   

Item 7 
Attachment 2

31



September 2, 2008November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc Page 4 of 9 

2. The account number or job to which the item is to be charged must be included
on any request for payment form.  The delivery location will be to the address
of the ordering department unless otherwise specified.  The Department Head
shall forward any invoices for payment to the Finance Department.

C. Under $2500$2,500 - $4,999 —Three Written Quotations/Department Head
Authorizes

1. Expenditures and sales of greater than or equal to $2,500 and less than
$2,5005,000 may be made by the Department Head, but only after receiving at
least three written quotations.  The Vendor’s List may be used to identify
prospective vendors at the discretion of the Department Head.

2. A Purchase Order Requisition form will be prepared by the Department Head,
with the quotations attached.  The account number or job to which the item is to
be charged must be included on the form.

3. Once a purchase order number has been assigned and funds have been
encumbered, the Department Head may proceed with the purchase.

DC. Under $10,000$5,000 to $19,999 —Three Written Quotations/City Manager
Authorizes
1. Expenditures and sales of greater than or equal to $5,000 and less than

$10,00020,000 may be made only after at least three written quotations have
been received by the Department Head, and the lowest responsive bidder and/or
quote identified.  The Vendor’s List may be used to identify prospective
vendors at the discretion of the Department Head.

The procedures outlined in section C above shall be used to complete the 
purchase, except that the City Manager, and/or his or her designee, must 
approve the purchase in advance. 

2. Purchases in the cost range typically do not require special contracts and can be
procured using the City’s standard purchase order at the discretion of the 
Department Heads and/or City Manager. 

3. Employees will make a good faith effort to obtain three (3) quotes for bids and
quotes by contacting a minimum of three (3) vendors and following up at least 
once with each vendor within ten (10) business days if no response is received 
by the City.  In the event a vendor is contacted and the vendor does not provide 
a bid or quote within ten (10) business days, a note to file included within the 
memorandum that accompanies the purchase order is acceptable in lieu of the 
quote if it is in the City’s best interest to move forward with another vendor bid 
or quote. 

2.4.Specialized Service Contracts are not subject to this process, but the spirit of 
utilizing Specialized Service Contracts is to procure services with the greatest 
benefit to the City and its residents, which shall be based on, but not limited to 

Item 7 
Attachment 2

32



September 2, 2008November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc Page 5 of 9 

price, availability of service, economic equity, diversity, and community 
employment. Specialized Service. 

E. Under $25,000$20,000 - $34,999 – Informal Bid/City Manager Authorizes
Expenditures exceeding equal to or greater than $10,000$20,000 and less than
$2535,000 for supplies, services and equipment shall be by written contract and
authorized by Purchase Order pursuant to the following procedures:

1. A notice inviting bids describing the supplies, services, or equipment to be
purchased, the deadline and location for submitting bids and the location where
bid forms and specifications may be secured shall be solicited from prospective
bidders known to the Purchasing Officer or who have made written requests that
their names be added to the Vendor’s List.  At the discretion of the Purchasing
Officer, a notice inviting bids may be published in a newspaper of general
circulation.

2. When deemed necessary by the Purchasing Officer, bidder’s security may be
prescribed in the notice inviting bids.  Bidders shall be entitled to return of bid
security; provided that a successful bidder shall forfeit his/her bid security upon
refusal or failure to execute the contract within the period specified in the award
of contract, unless the city is responsible for the delay.

3. In his/her sole discretion, the Purchasing Officer may reject any and all bids and
take one of the following actions:

(a) Determine not to proceed with the transaction at that time;
(b) Re-advertise for bids pursuant to the procedure prescribed by this chapter;

or
(c) Determine that the equipment or supplies may be purchased at a lower

price in the open market and proceed with the purchase without further
complying with this chapter.

4. If no bids are received, the Purchasing Officer may proceed with the purchase
without further complying with this section.

5. Contracts shall be awarded by the Purchasing Officer to the lowest responsible
bidder unless it is found that it would be in the public interest to accept other
than the lowest bid due to the differences in quality, materials or services
offered in the bid.  In the case of tie bids, the Purchasing Officer may, in his/her
discretion, accept either bid.

6. The Purchasing Officer may require that a performance bond be provided before
entering into a contract with a successful bidder.  The form and amount of the
bond shall be described in the notice inviting the bids.

F. Over $25,00035,000—Formal Bid/City Council Approves

Item 7 
Attachment 2

33



September 2, 2008November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc  Page 6 of 9  

1. A notice inviting bids describing the supplies, services, or equipment to be 
purchased, the date and location of opening of the bids and the location where 
bid forms and specifications may be secured shall be solicited from prospective 
bidders known to the Purchasing Officer or who have made written requests that 
their names be added to the City’s Vendor List.  The Purchasing Officer shall 
publish a notice inviting bids in a newspaper of general circulation at least once 
and at least 10 days prior to the bid opening date. 

2. When deemed necessary by the Purchasing Officer, bidder’s security may be 
prescribed in the notice inviting bids.  Bidders shall be entitled to return of bid 
security; provided that a successful bidder shall forfeit his/her bid security upon 
refusal or failure to execute the contract within the period specified in the award 
of contract, unless the city is responsible for the delay. 

3. Sealed bids shall be submitted to the city clerk and shall be identified as bids on 
the envelopes.  Bids shall be opened in public as stated in the public notice.  A 
tabulation of all bids shall be conducted by the City Clerk and maintained for 
public review. 

4. In its sole discretion, the City Council may reject any and all bids and take one 
of the following actions: 

a. Determine not to proceed with the transaction at that time; 
b. Re-advertise for bids pursuant to the procedure prescribed by this 

chapter; or 
c. Determine that the equipment or supplies may be purchased at a lower 

price in the open market and proceed with the purchase without further 
complying with this chapter. 

5. If no bids are received, the City Council may authorize the Purchasing Officer 
to proceed with the purchase without further complying with this section. 

6. Contracts shall be awarded by the City Council to the lowest responsible bidder 
unless it is found that it would be in the public interest to accept other than the 
lowest bid due to the differences in quality, materials or services offered in the 
bid.  In the case of tie bids, the City Council may, in its sole discretion, accept 
either bid. 

7. The City Council may require that a performance bond be provided before 
entering into a contract with a successful bidder.  The form and amount of the 
bond shall be described in the notice inviting the bids. 

V. Determination of Lowest Responsible Bidder 
In addition to price, the lowest or highest responsible bidder will be determined after the 
following factors have been considered: 

 
A. The ability, capacity and skill of the bidder to perform the contract or provide the 

service required. 

Item 7 
Attachment 2

34



September 2, 2008November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc Page 7 of 9 

B. Whether the bidder has the facilities and financial ability to perform the contract or
provide the service promptly, or within the time specified, without delay or
interference.

C. The character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience and efficiency of the
bidder.

D. The bidder’s record of performance on previous contracts or services.
E. The previous and existing compliance by the bidder with laws and ordinances relating

to the contract or services.
F. The quality, availability and adaptability of the supplies, equipment or services to the

particular use required.
G. The number and scope of conditions attached to the bid.

VI. Special Purchasing Provisions
Certain items, such as electronic equipment or vehicles, or City-related clothing articles,
should be approved by the City Manager regardless of dollar value.  The City Manager
shall prepare a list of such items, and may add or delete items in his/her sole discretion.

VII. Use of Other Governmental Bids in lieu of bidding
A. For expenditures or sales in excess of $10,000, the City may use a competitive bid

from another governmental jurisdiction in lieu of the established procedures outlined
in this Administrative Directive.  In such cases, the jurisdiction involved and any
other identifying information should be included with the Purchase Order request.

B. Approval for such purchases remains the same as set forth in Section IV above.

VIII. Public Works Contracts
Public Works project purchases of materials or supplies in excess of $5,000 must comply
with California State Contracting Code §22000 et. seq. and with City Ordinance 766.
Ordinance 766 is an Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Suisun City, California,
repealing and replacing Chapter 3.36 of the Suisun City Municipal Code to update the
informal bidding procedures under the California Uniform Public Construction Cost
Accounting Act (Public Contract Code Section 22000 et. seq.).and with City Ordinance
Chapter 3.36, regarding informal bidding procedures. 

IX. Open Purchase Orders (No dollar amount)
A. An open purchase order is a “zero” purchase order generated for the purpose of

establishing a vendor with whom a Department intends to do business.  Purchases
charged against an open purchase order shall not exceed $1,000 2,500 in any 30- day
period.  Open purchase orders are generally used for those vendors where an
undetermined amount of small purchases may be generated or where the specific fund
against which purchases will be charged is not generally known until the purchase is
made.

B. Open Purchase Orders shall be approved by the Purchasing Officer or designated
representative.

Item 7 
Attachment 2

35



September 2, 2008November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc Page 8 of 9 

X. Blanket Purchase Orders (When annual costs are known)
A. A blanket purchase order is similar to an open purchase order, except that it identifies

a “not-to-exceed” purchase amount, and that amount may be encumbered against a
Department’s budget.

B. A Department may generate a blanket Purchase Order for regular purchases.  The
purchase order should be for the projected expenses for a given time period.
Individual purchases may then be charged to this purchase order until the amount
encumbered has been exhausted.

C. Blanket Purchase Orders shall be approved by the Purchasing Officer or designated
representative when the not-to-exceed purchase amount exceeds $10,00034,999.

XI. Emergency Purchases
A. In case of an emergency as defined below, purchases may be made without following

the regular or open purchase procedures.  An emergency is defined as a situation
where the life, health, safety, or convenience of citizens are involved, and where it is
impossible or impractical to follow regular purchase order procedures, or secure prior
approval for such purchases.  Such purchases will usually occur after regular working
hours or on weekends when a Department Head or supervisor may not be
immediately available to approve the purchase.

B. In the event of such an emergency an employee responsible for correcting the
situation may make an emergency purchase of any item costing less than $5,000.  As
soon as possible after the emergency, the department head should be notified of the
purchase and a requisition form forwarded to the Finance Office.

XII. Sole Source Purchases
If an itemA purchase in excess of $5,000 can only be purchased from a single vendor or
source, not applicable to software renewals, then the Department Head may submit a
request for approval from the Purchasing Officer, explaining the circumstances and
reasons for the sole source purchase.  Software renewals can be purchased from a sole
source with support of the Department Head and approval of the City Manager up to the
City Manager’s purchase authority limit of $34,999. If the cost of the item is equal to or
in excess of $25,00035,000, the request must be approved by the City Council.

XIII. Purchasing Recycled Products
It is the goal of the City of Suisun City to utilize recycled products where the product is
available at an equal or lesser value.

XIV. Use of Credit Cards and Purchases
The use of Procurement Cards is allowable under this Directive and shall be further
regulated by the City’s Procurement and Vendor Card Use Policy. Reference
Administrative Directive 3 for further information. As of the adoption of this

Item 7 
Attachment 2

36



September 2, 2008November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc Page 9 of 9 

Administrative Directive, the most current Administrative Directive 3 was approved 
under Resolution No. 2008-107. 

XV. City Council’s right Right to Eenter into cContracts Nnot Iimpaired
Nothing contained in this Directive shall be construed to alter, limit or affect the right of the
City Council to make or execute contracts or purchases as otherwise permitted by law.

XVI. Declaration of Surplus Assets and Disposal of Same
A. All Ddepartments shall submit to the Purchasing Officer, at such times and in such

forms as he/she shall prescribe, reports showing all supplies and equipment that are
no longer used or which have become obsolete or worn out.  It shall be the
Purchasing Officer’s responsibility to declare such items as surplus.

B. The City may dispose of surplus assets in any one of the following methods:
1. Surplus supplies and equipment with no appreciable value, in the opinion of the

Purchasing Officer, may be discarded as junk or recycled.
2. The item may be sold or donated to another governmental jurisdiction or a non-

profit corporation, provided the item would be used for a public benefit.
3. The item may be used as a trade-in on, or an exchange for, the purchase of new

supplies and equipment.
4. The item may be sold at a public auction or by advertised bids.

C. For any item estimated to be under $25,000 in value, the Purchasing Officer may
dispose of the item in the manner specified above.  For any item estimated to be over
$25,000, the City Council must approve the action, based on a recommendation from
the Purchasing Officer.

Item 7 
Attachment 2

37



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

38



November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc Page 1 of 8 

CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
ADMINISTRATIVE DIRECTIVE - AD5 
PURCHASING POLICY FOR SUPPLIES, EQUIPMENT AND SERVICES 

Adopted: September 11, 1996 
Amended: November 17, 2020 

_________________________________________ 
Distribution: All Departments Greg Folsom, City Manager 

Table of Contents 
I. Purpose and Authority
II. Purchasing Officer Designated
III. General Provisions
IV. Purchasing Procedures based on dollar amounts involved
V. Determination of Lowest Responsible Bidder
VI. Special Purchasing Provisions
VII. Use of Other Governmental Bids in lieu of bidding
VIII. Public Works Contracts, pursuant to State Law
IX. Open Purchase Orders (No dollar amount)
X. Blanket Purchase Orders (When annual costs are known)
XI. Emergency Purchases
XII. Sole Source Purchases
XIII. Purchasing Recycled Products
XIV. Use of Credit Cards and Purchases
XV. City Council’s right to enter into contracts not impaired
XVI. Declaration of Surplus Assets and Disposal of Same

I. Purpose and Authority
A. A purchasing system is hereby adopted to govern purchases of supplies, services

and equipment required by any department of the City, to establish bidding
regulations therefore, and to define the authority for the purchasing function.

B. The purchasing procedures contained in this Directive are expressly inapplicable to
Public Projects. Public Project per PCC §§ 22002(c) is defined as:

• (1) Construction, reconstruction, erection, alteration, renovation, improvement,
demolition, and repair work involving any publicly owned, leased, or operated
facility.

• (2) Painting or repainting of any publicly owned, leased, or operated facility.

C. The purchasing procedures contained in this Directive are expressly inapplicable to
obtaining professional services. Professional services are occupations in the service
sector requiring special training in the arts or sciences. Some professional services

Item 7 
Attachment 3

39



November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc Page 2 of 8 

require holding professional degrees and licenses and they also require specific 
skills such as architects, accountants, engineers, doctors, lawyers and teachers. 

D. The purchasing procedures contained in this Directive are expressly inapplicable to
Specialized Services contracts.  Specialized Services are defined as services that are
provided by non-profit agencies and/or governmental agencies and/or an entity that
provides unique and specialized services that are not widely offered and/or that are
associated with sole source systems.

E. The purpose of these procedures is to maintain financial control over purchases, to
improve oversight of the purchasing function, and to obtain supplies, materials,
equipment, and non-professional services at the lowest possible cost and in a
manner consistent with Suisun City Code §2.08.170 Purchasing, and California
State Contracting Code §22000 Et Seq.

II. Purchasing Officer Designated
The City Manager or his/her designated representative will act as the Purchasing Officer
for the City.  The Purchasing Officer is responsible for purchasing and selling supplies,
equipment and services.  The Purchasing Officer can authorize Department Heads to
purchase supplies, equipment and services as such are approved and appropriated in the
annual budget process.

III. General Provisions
A. Department Heads shall be required to file detailed estimates of future requirements

for supplies, services and equipment in the time, manner and form requested by the
Purchasing Officer.  These estimates shall be presented annually in the Annual
Budgets approved by the City Council and respective Boards.

B. Department Heads may be authorized by the Purchasing Officer to purchase or
contract for supplies and equipment as approved and appropriated by the annual
budget process and that are within the City Manager’s authorized purchasing limit
per Section IV.  Reports of such purchases shall be made available to the
Purchasing Officer through the City’s accounting system, or as the Purchasing
Officer shall direct.

C. Unless otherwise indicated in this Directive, purchases of supplies, materials,
equipment, or contracts for services will be made by a Purchase Order issued by the
Purchasing Officer.  The Purchase Order must be written and issued before the
materials or services are ordered.  Unless otherwise indicated in this Directive, no
employee of the City shall request any merchant, dealer, supplier, or vendor to
deliver goods to the City except on a Purchase Order issued by the Purchasing
Officer or his/her designated representative per Section IV.

D. The Purchasing Officer shall be responsible for maintaining a Vendor’s List, sorted
by product category.  Any vendor who wishes to receive a formal or informal bid,

Item 7 
Attachment 3

40



November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc Page 3 of 8 

based on that product category, must submit contact information to the Purchasing 
Officer.  The Purchasing Officer has sole authority to determine the product 
category or categories to which the vendor should be assigned.  Department Heads 
should forward any vendor information they receive to the Purchasing Officer for 
proper filing.  The Vendor List may also be used for soliciting informal quotations. 

E. The Purchasing Officer, the Department Head, or their designate, shall inspect
supplies and equipment delivered and contractual services performed, to determine
their conformance with the specifications set forth in the order or contract.  The
Purchasing Officer shall have authority to require any tests necessary to determine
the quality and conformance with specifications and shall encourage on-site
demonstrations of equipment performance when applicable.

F. The dollar levels shall be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that they are
consistent with current conditions and the practices of neighboring cities.  Regular
adjustments may be presented to the City Council for their consideration and
approval.

G. The Purchasing Officer shall be responsible for creating or revising any and all
forms necessary to comply with this Administrative Directive, along with any
related instructions, guidelines or training.

IV. Purchasing Procedures based on dollar amounts involved
A. Under $100 – Petty Cash

1. One-time purchases of items costing under $100 may be made through petty cash.
Petty cash procedures should not be used for supplies which are usually stocked or
purchased in bulk by the City.

2. Petty cash purchases are made by the following procedures:
a. The employee will purchase the item, obtain a sales receipt, and return the

receipt to the Finance office.
b. The employee will fill out a petty cash form with the date purchased, cost of

the item (from sales receipt), description of the item purchased, and account
number.  The form must be signed by the employee.

c. The Purchasing Officer’s designee shall approve the petty cash request and
the employee will be refunded the cash advanced.

B. Under $5,000 – Purchases Made on the Open Market by Department Heads
1. Expenditures and sales of less than $5,000 may be made on the open market

without obtaining bids or quotations and are approved by the Department Head
or designee.  The Vendor’s List may be used to identify prospective vendors at
the discretion of the Department Head.

2. The account number or job to which the item is to be charged must be included
on any request for payment form.  The delivery location will be to the address
of the ordering department unless otherwise specified.  The Department Head
shall forward any invoices for payment to the Finance Department.

Item 7 
Attachment 3

41



November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc Page 4 of 8 

C. $5,000 to $19,999 —Three Written Quotations/City Manager Authorizes
1. Expenditures and sales of greater than or equal to $5,000 and less than $20,000

may be made only after at least three written quotations have been received by
the Department Head, and the lowest responsive bidder and/or quote identified.
The Vendor’s List may be used to identify prospective vendors at the discretion
of the Department Head.

2. Purchases in the cost range typically do not require special contracts and can be
procured using the City’s standard purchase order at the discretion of the
Department Heads and/or City Manager.

3. Employees will make a good faith effort to obtain three (3) quotes for bids and
quotes by contacting a minimum of three (3) vendors and following up at least
once with each vendor within ten (10) business days if no response is received
by the City.  In the event a vendor is contacted and the vendor does not provide
a bid or quote within ten (10) business days, a note to file included within the
memorandum that accompanies the purchase order is acceptable in lieu of the
quote if it is in the City’s best interest to move forward with another vendor bid
or quote.

4. Specialized Service Contracts are not subject to this process, but the spirit of
utilizing Specialized Service Contracts is to procure services with the greatest
benefit to the City and its residents, which shall be based on, but not limited to
price, availability of service, economic equity, diversity, and community
employment. Specialized Service.

E. $20,000 - $34,999 – Informal Bid/City Manager Authorizes
Expenditures equal to or greater than $$20,000 and less than $35,000 for supplies,
services and equipment shall be by written contract and authorized by Purchase
Order pursuant to the following procedures:

1. A notice inviting bids describing the supplies, services, or equipment to be
purchased, the deadline and location for submitting bids and the location where
bid forms and specifications may be secured shall be solicited from prospective
bidders known to the Purchasing Officer or who have made written requests that
their names be added to the Vendor’s List.  At the discretion of the Purchasing
Officer, a notice inviting bids may be published in a newspaper of general
circulation.

2. When deemed necessary by the Purchasing Officer, bidder’s security may be
prescribed in the notice inviting bids.  Bidders shall be entitled to return of bid
security; provided that a successful bidder shall forfeit his/her bid security upon
refusal or failure to execute the contract within the period specified in the award
of contract, unless the city is responsible for the delay.

3. In his/her sole discretion, the Purchasing Officer may reject any and all bids and
take one of the following actions:

Item 7 
Attachment 3

42



November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc Page 5 of 8 

(a) Determine not to proceed with the transaction at that time;
(b) Re-advertise for bids pursuant to the procedure prescribed by this chapter;

or
(c) Determine that the equipment or supplies may be purchased at a lower

price in the open market and proceed with the purchase without further
complying with this chapter.

4. If no bids are received, the Purchasing Officer may proceed with the purchase
without further complying with this section.

5. Contracts shall be awarded by the Purchasing Officer to the lowest responsible
bidder unless it is found that it would be in the public interest to accept other
than the lowest bid due to the differences in quality, materials or services
offered in the bid.  In the case of tie bids, the Purchasing Officer may, in his/her
discretion, accept either bid.

6. The Purchasing Officer may require that a performance bond be provided before
entering into a contract with a successful bidder.  The form and amount of the
bond shall be described in the notice inviting the bids.

F. Over $35,000—Formal Bid/City Council Approves
1. A notice inviting bids describing the supplies, services, or equipment to be

purchased, the date and location of opening of the bids and the location where
bid forms and specifications may be secured shall be solicited from prospective
bidders known to the Purchasing Officer or who have made written requests that
their names be added to the City’s Vendor List.  The Purchasing Officer shall
publish a notice inviting bids in a newspaper of general circulation at least once
and at least 10 days prior to the bid opening date.

2. When deemed necessary by the Purchasing Officer, bidder’s security may be
prescribed in the notice inviting bids.  Bidders shall be entitled to return of bid
security; provided that a successful bidder shall forfeit his/her bid security upon
refusal or failure to execute the contract within the period specified in the award
of contract, unless the city is responsible for the delay.

3. Sealed bids shall be submitted to the city clerk and shall be identified as bids on
the envelopes.  Bids shall be opened in public as stated in the public notice.  A
tabulation of all bids shall be conducted by the City Clerk and maintained for
public review.

4. In its sole discretion, the City Council may reject any and all bids and take one
of the following actions:

a. Determine not to proceed with the transaction at that time;
b. Re-advertise for bids pursuant to the procedure prescribed by this

chapter; or

Item 7 
Attachment 3

43



November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc Page 6 of 8 

c. Determine that the equipment or supplies may be purchased at a lower
price in the open market and proceed with the purchase without further
complying with this chapter.

5. If no bids are received, the City Council may authorize the Purchasing Officer
to proceed with the purchase without further complying with this section.

6. Contracts shall be awarded by the City Council to the lowest responsible bidder
unless it is found that it would be in the public interest to accept other than the
lowest bid due to the differences in quality, materials or services offered in the
bid.  In the case of tie bids, the City Council may, in its sole discretion, accept
either bid.

7. The City Council may require that a performance bond be provided before
entering into a contract with a successful bidder.  The form and amount of the
bond shall be described in the notice inviting the bids.

V. Determination of Lowest Responsible Bidder
In addition to price, the lowest or highest responsible bidder will be determined after the
following factors have been considered:

A. The ability, capacity and skill of the bidder to perform the contract or provide the
service required.

B. Whether the bidder has the facilities and financial ability to perform the contract or
provide the service promptly, or within the time specified, without delay or
interference.

C. The character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience and efficiency of the
bidder.

D. The bidder’s record of performance on previous contracts or services.
E. The previous and existing compliance by the bidder with laws and ordinances relating

to the contract or services.
F. The quality, availability and adaptability of the supplies, equipment or services to the

particular use required.
G. The number and scope of conditions attached to the bid.

VI. Special Purchasing Provisions
Certain items, such as electronic equipment or vehicles, or City-related clothing articles,
should be approved by the City Manager regardless of dollar value.  The City Manager
shall prepare a list of such items, and may add or delete items in his/her sole discretion.

VII. Use of Other Governmental Bids in lieu of bidding
A. For expenditures or sales in excess of $10,000, the City may use a competitive bid

from another governmental jurisdiction in lieu of the established procedures outlined
in this Administrative Directive.  In such cases, the jurisdiction involved and any
other identifying information should be included with the Purchase Order request.

Item 7 
Attachment 3

44



November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc  Page 7 of 8  

B. Approval for such purchases remains the same as set forth in Section IV above. 
 

VIII. Public Works Contracts 
Public Works project purchases of materials or supplies in excess of $5,000 must comply 
with California State Contracting Code §22000 et. seq. and with City Ordinance 766. 
Ordinance 766 is an Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Suisun City, California, 
repealing and replacing Chapter 3.36 of the Suisun City Municipal Code to update the 
informal bidding procedures under the California Uniform Public Construction Cost 
Accounting Act (Public Contract Code Section 22000 et. seq.). 

IX. Open Purchase Orders (No dollar amount) 
A. An open purchase order is a “zero” purchase order generated for the purpose of 

establishing a vendor with whom a Department intends to do business.  Purchases 
charged against an open purchase order shall not exceed $2,500 in any 30-day period.  
Open purchase orders are generally used for those vendors where an undetermined 
amount of small purchases may be generated or where the specific fund against which 
purchases will be charged is not generally known until the purchase is made. 

 
B. Open Purchase Orders shall be approved by the Purchasing Officer or designated 

representative. 
 
X. Blanket Purchase Orders (When annual costs are known) 

A. A blanket purchase order is similar to an open purchase order, except that it identifies 
a “not-to-exceed” purchase amount, and that amount may be encumbered against a 
Department’s budget. 

B. A Department may generate a blanket Purchase Order for regular purchases.  The 
purchase order should be for the projected expenses for a given time period.  
Individual purchases may then be charged to this purchase order until the amount 
encumbered has been exhausted. 

C. Blanket Purchase Orders shall be approved by the Purchasing Officer or designated 
representative when the not-to-exceed purchase amount exceeds $34,999. 

XI. Emergency Purchases 
A. In case of an emergency as defined below, purchases may be made without following 

the regular or open purchase procedures.  An emergency is defined as a situation 
where the life, health, safety, or convenience of citizens are involved, and where it is 
impossible or impractical to follow regular purchase order procedures, or secure prior 
approval for such purchases.  Such purchases will usually occur after regular working 
hours or on weekends when a Department Head or supervisor may not be 
immediately available to approve the purchase. 

B. In the event of such an emergency an employee responsible for correcting the 
situation may make an emergency purchase of any item costing less than $5,000.  As 
soon as possible after the emergency, the department head should be notified of the 
purchase and a requisition form forwarded to the Finance Office. 

Item 7 
Attachment 3

45



November 17, 2020 – AD 05 Purchasing Equipment Supplies and Services.doc Page 8 of 8 

XII. Sole Source Purchases
A purchase in excess of $5,000 can only be purchased from a single vendor or source,
then the Department Head may submit a request for approval from the Purchasing
Officer, explaining the circumstances and reasons for the sole source purchase.  Software
renewals can be purchased from a sole source with support of the Department Head and
approval of the City Manager up to the City Manager’s purchase authority limit of
$34,999. If the cost of the item is equal to or in excess of $35,000, the request must be
approved by the City Council.

XIII. Purchasing Recycled Products
It is the goal of the City of Suisun City to utilize recycled products where the product is
available at an equal or lesser value.

XIV. Use of Credit Cards and Purchases
The use of Procurement Cards is allowable under this Directive and shall be further
regulated by the City’s Procurement and Vendor Card Use Policy. Reference
Administrative Directive 3 for further information. As of the adoption of this
Administrative Directive, the most current Administrative Directive 3 was approved
under Resolution No. 2008-107.

XV. City Council’s Right to Enter into Contracts Not Impaired
Nothing contained in this Directive shall be construed to alter, limit or affect the right of the
City Council to make or execute contracts or purchases as otherwise permitted by law.

XVI. Declaration of Surplus Assets and Disposal of Same
A. All Departments shall submit to the Purchasing Officer, at such times and in such

forms as he/she shall prescribe, reports showing all supplies and equipment that are
no longer used or which have become obsolete or worn out.  It shall be the
Purchasing Officer’s responsibility to declare such items as surplus.

B. The City may dispose of surplus assets in any one of the following methods:
1. Surplus supplies and equipment with no appreciable value, in the opinion of the

Purchasing Officer, may be discarded as junk or recycled.
2. The item may be sold or donated to another governmental jurisdiction or a non-

profit corporation, provided the item would be used for a public benefit.
3. The item may be used as a trade-in on, or an exchange for, the purchase of new

supplies and equipment.
4. The item may be sold at a public auction or by advertised bids.

C. For any item estimated to be under $25,000 in value, the Purchasing Officer may
dispose of the item in the manner specified above.  For any item estimated to be over
$25,000, the City Council must approve the action, based on a recommendation from
the Purchasing Officer.

Item 7 
Attachment 3

46



______________________________________________________________________________ 
PREPARED BY: John Kearns, Senior Planner 
APPROVED BY:  Greg Folsom, City Manager 

AGENDA TRANSMITTAL 

MEETING DATE:  November 17, 2020 

CITY AGENDA ITEM:  Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-___:  Authorizing the City 
Manager to Execute a Professional Services Agreement on the City’s Behalf with Stantec 
Consulting Services Inc. to Complete the Necessary Environmental Review and Document for a 
Residential Project at the Northeast Corner of Blossom Avenue and Railroad Avenue. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  There would be no impact to the General Fund.  The cost for retaining the 
firm of Stantec Consulting Services inc. to perform the environmental work is $50,591 and is fully 
borne by the developer/applicant. 

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPACT:  Provide Good Governance; Ensure Public Safety; Enhance 
the Environment. 

BACKGROUND:  A Request for Proposals (RFP) was released and due back to city staff for an 
environmental review and document preparation services for a residential project at the northeast 
corner of Blossom Avenue and Railroad Avenue. This consultant would complete the 
environmental document (and associated requirements) while staff processed the project 
entitlements. Five proposals were received including those from: 

• Padre Associate Inc.

• Raney Planning and Management.

• AECOM Technical Services.

• Stantec Consulting Services Inc.

• Analytical Environmental Services.
Proposals were reviewed and any follow-up questions or clarifications were sent to the consultants 
for response. Following complete responses, it was determined that Stantec Consulting Services 
Inc. was determined to be the top-ranking proposer due to their approach and timeliness in 
completing the work. 

STAFF REPORT:   Below is a listing of the five major tasks the consulting will be undertaking 
in completing the work. Details to each of the task can be found in Attachment 2 of this staff 
report: 

• Task 1: Project Initiation and Project Description.

• Task 2: Conduct Field Reconnaissance and Prepare Technical Studies.

• Task 3: Prepare Administrative Draft Modified Initial Study, Screencheck Draft Modified
Initial Study, and Public Draft Modified Initial Study.

• Task 4: MMRP and Response to Comments.

Item 8

47



• Task 5: Project Management, Meetings & Hearings.
As shown in the Proposed Work Schedule of the proposal, the consultant anticipates completing 
the work within 18 weeks of initiation. The consultant will also be in attendance for any 
entitlement meeting where the project is discussed in order to respond to comments and question 
related to the environmental document. 

RECOMMENDATION:  It is recommended that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2020-
___:  Authorizing the City Manager to Execute a Professional Services Agreement on the City’s 
Behalf with Stantec Consulting Services Inc. to Complete the Necessary Environmental Review 
and Document for a Residential Project at the Northeast Corner of Blossom Avenue and Railroad 
Avenue. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Council Resolution No. 2020-___:  Authorizing the City Manager to Execute a

Professional Services Agreement on the City’s Behalf with Stantec Consulting Services
Inc. to Complete the Necessary Environmental Review and Document for a Residential
Project at the Northeast Corner of Blossom Avenue and Railroad Avenue.

2. Stantec Consulting Services Inc. Proposal.

Item 8

48



 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020- 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL 

SERVICES AGREEMENT ON THE CITY’S BEHALF WITH 
STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES INC. TO COMPLETE THE NECESSARY 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW AND DOCUMENT FOR A RESIDENTIAL PROJECT 
AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF BLOSSOM AVENUE AND  

RAILROAD AVENUE. 
 

 WHEREAS, a development application has been received for a residential project at the 

northeast corner of Blossom Avenue and Railroad Avenue that requires environmental review 

consistent with California state law; and  

 

 WHEREAS, it has been determined that it is necessary to hire a firm to complete the 

environment document for the project at the full cost of the applicant; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City solicited a Request for Proposals (RFP) from environmental firms 

to complete the work for the project; and 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Suisun 

City authorizes the City Manager to execute a Professional Services Agreement on the City’s 

behalf with Stantec Consulting Services Inc. to Complete the Necessary Environmental Review 
and Document for a Residential Project at the Northeast Corner of Blossom Avenue and 
Railroad Avenue. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of 
Suisun City held on Tuesday the 17th day of November 2020 by the following vote: 

 
AYES: Council Members:    
NOES: Council Members:    
ABSENT: Council Members:    
ABSTAIN: Council Members:    

 WITNESS my hand and the seal of said City this 17th day of November 2020.  
 

  
 Donna Pock, CMC,  
 Deputy City Clerk 

Item 8 
Attachment 1

49



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

50



Stantec Consulting Services Inc. 

1340 Treat Boulevard, Suite 300, Walnut Creek CA  94597-7966 

October 1, 2020 
Revised October 21, 2020 

John Kearns, Senior Planner 
Suisun City  
Submitted via email: jkearns@suisun.com 

Reference: CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

Dear Mr. Kearns, 

Stantec Consulting Services Inc. (Stantec) is pleased to submit this proposal to the City of Suisun City to 
prepare a Modified Initial Study pursuant to Sections 15168 and 15183 of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines, for the Blossom Avenue Apartments Project (Project) situated at the 
Southeast corner of the intersection of Blossom Avenue and Railroad Avenue, City of Suisun City, 
California, Solano County APN 0037-130-010.  

As members of the community and with Bay Area offices that include the cities of Walnut Creek, 
Sacramento, San Francisco, Los Gatos, Petaluma, and others, we are vested in CEQA compliance in the 
region. Stantec has an exemplary history of producing objective, cost-effective, and timely CEQA 
documents that have withstood rigorous public and legal scrutiny. We have successfully worked with 
diverse teams for multiple apartment and infill housing projects the on recent projects in the Cities of 
Vacaville and Vallejo, California and are currently working on a variety of separate CEQA projects in the 
communities surrounding the City of Suisun City (City) including: residential projects, mixed-use projects, 
Mare Island redevelopment projects, and the 2019 Batman Roller Coaster project at Six Flags. Our 
experience preparing CEQA strategy and documentation for projects within neighboring cities, as well as 
serving as an extension of City Planning staff for those cities allows us an understanding of the issues your 
project will likely face and an edge on preparing a legally defensible document for the Project. 

Based on our understanding of the Project and review of existing technical studies and reports, we propose 
that a Modified Initial Study be prepared to identify and assess the anticipated environmental impacts of the 
Project. The CEQA document would rely, in part, on the approved 2015 City of Suisun City 2035 General 
Plan (General Plan) and its accompanying certified Environmental Impact Report (EIR). The Modified Initial 
Study will be prepared to satisfy CEQA, (Public Resources Code, Section 21000 et seq.) and the State 
CEQA Guidelines (14 CCR 15000 et seq.) with its analysis relying on Sections 15168 and 15183 of the 
CEQA Guidelines, which govern program EIRs and projects consistent with a general plan or community 
plan.  

We understand the City is interested in the streamlining this infill project. Based on the materials provided 
the Modified Initial Study would be the most appropriate streamlining documentation due to considerations 
for other CEQA approaches that have limitations on site size, permitting requirements, and Project location; 
however, we would be happy to explore other options with the City if requested. 

Under Section 15183 of the CEQA Guidelines, where a project is consistent with the use and density 
established for a property under an existing general plan or zoning ordinance for which the city has already 

Item 8 
Attachment 2

51



Page 2 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

certified an EIR, no additional environmental review is required “except as might be necessary to examine 
whether there are project-specific significant effects which are peculiar to the project or its site.”  

If these requirements are met, the examination of environmental effects is limited to those which the agency 
determines, in an initial study or other analysis: 

1) Are peculiar to the project or the parcel on which the project would be located,

2) Were not analyzed as significant effects in a prior EIR on the zoning action, general plan or
community plan with which the project is consistent,

3) Are potentially significant off-site impacts and cumulative impacts which were not discussed in the
prior EIR prepared for the general plan, community plan or zoning action, or

4) Are previously identified significant effects which, as a result of substantial new information which
was not known at the time the EIR was certified, are determined to have a more severe adverse
impact than discussed in the prior EIR. (CEQA Guidelines Section 15183(b).)

Under these sections, the program EIR, in this case the City’s General Plan EIR, serves as a basis for the 
Modified Initial Study to determine if project-specific impacts would occur that are not adequately covered in 
the previously certified EIR. 

The proposed Project’s land use and development assumptions are consistent with the General Plan. 
Therefore, the Lead Agency (City of Suisun City) is not required to examine environmental impacts that 
have already been adequately evaluated in the previously certified General Plan EIR if the Project would 
not lead to new or substantially greater environmental impacts, or to a significant impact that is peculiar to 
the Project or to the Project site. 

The Modified Initial Study is a public document used by the City to determine whether the Project may have 
a significant effect on the environment. If the City finds substantial evidence that any aspect of the Project, 
either individually or cumulatively, may have a significant effect on the environment, regardless of whether 
the overall effect of the Project is adverse or beneficial, the City is required to prepare an EIR. Where the 
City determines that some impacts may be significant while others will not be significant or can clearly be 
mitigated to less-than-significant levels through mitigation measures, the City may prepare an EIR focused 
on the potentially significant impacts. Under this last approach, the City may use an Initial Study to satisfy 
the requirements of CEQA Guidelines section 15168 (c)(4) and section 15128. 

The Modified Initial Study will indicate whether the proposed Project would result in significant impact that: 
(1) is peculiar to the Project or the Project site; (2) was not identified as a significant effect in the General
Plan EIR; or (3) are previously identified significant effects which as a result of substantial new information
that was not known at the time that the General Plan EIR was certified, are determined to have a more
severe adverse impact than discussed in the General Plan EIR. Such impacts, if any, will be evaluated in
an EIR (CEQA Guidelines Section 15183).

Item 8 
Attachment 2

52



Page 3 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

Stantec is committed to providing responsive and highly capable environmental practitioners to assist the 
City with the Project. Our team is experienced in preparing CEQA documentation for both public and private 
agencies and for all types of projects. We are able to provide seamless and flexible consultant services to 
accommodate expedited project processing, expansive public outreach programs, and advanced 
understanding of public infrastructure projects; all will help maintain the Project schedule and stay within 
budget. Stantec looks forward to preparing the Modified Initial Study for the Project and we encourage you 
to reach out if you have any questions or concerns. Our contact information is located at the end of this 
proposal.  

INTRODUCTION 
The City of Suisun City is subject to CEQA which requires that all discretionary decisions made by the City 
Council and City Planning Commission be reviewed for environmental impacts in accordance with CEQA. 
Approval of the proposed Project is considered a discretionary action of the City requiring an appropriate 
CEQA Document. The Project is situated at the Southeast corner of the intersection of Blossom Avenue 
and Railroad Avenue, City of Suisun City, California, Solano County APN 0037-130-010. The purpose of 
the Project is to provide market-rate, work force/entry level housing in a well-positioned in-fill location within 
the City limits of Suisun City to the betterment of increasing the inventory of high density multi-family 
housing that serves the local community of Suisun City. The existing site contains 9.09 acres gross with a 
total resultant density of 180 residential garden-style apartment homes (19.80 units/acre based on 9.09 
acres) of mixed sizes and configurations in 1, 2 & 3 bedroom opportunities. 

Stantec has reviewed the overall site plan. Based on the Project location and nearby land uses, and a 
precursory review of the 2015 General Plan EIR, Stantec assumes that the Project should qualify for a 
Modified Initial Study, which would allow for complete environmental review for successful CEQA 
compliance.  

On behalf of the City, Stantec will prepare a Modified Initial Study compliant with CEQA environmental 
analysis that will include: (1) Project information and project description; (2) overall environmental impacts; 
(3) discussion of significant and cumulative impacts; (4) discussion of mitigation measures necessary to
mitigate any significant impacts; and (5) Notice of Determination for the Initial Study.

Stantec will review and utilize the following information to be provided by the City in the preparation of the 
Modified Initial Study: 

• "Blossom Avenue" FPA APARTMENT HOMES SE Corner of Blossom Avenue and Railroad
Avenue Project Description

• Grading Plan
• Site Plan
• Landscape Plan
• Phase I Environmental Site Assessment
• Limited Agricultural Investigation
• Burrowing Owl Nesting Season Survey Memorandum
• California Tiger Salamander Habitat Assessment

Item 8 
Attachment 2

53



Page 4 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

  

 

• Preliminary Aquatic Resources and Special-Status Species Assessment  
• Limited Agricultural Investigation 
• Aquatic Resources Delineation 
• Noise Technical Study 
• Cultural Resources Technical Report 
• AB 52 Compliance 
• Water Supply Assessment 
• “Skyline Perspectives” Project Elevations 
• Drainage Study 
• Geotechnical Report 
• Sewer and Storm Drain Report 
• Water Master Plan 

Under this Scope of Work, while Stantec will review all City-provided technical documents (this scope of 
word does not include peer-review of the technical documents and assumes that all City/Applicant-provided 
technical documents are adequate for use under CEQA and the CEQA approach), prepare the CEQA 
Project Description, and prepare the Modified Initial Study. Stantec’s documentation will meet CEQA 
requirements in order to withstand public scrutiny, be completed in a timely manner, and will be 
accomplished as efficiently and effectively as possible.  

Summary of Deliverables  

• Draft Project Description: electronic copy (Microsoft Word). 
• Air Quality, Greenhouse Gas Emissions Analysis supporting documentation and modeling: 

appendix to Modified Initial Study. 
• Transportation Assessment with VMT Analysis supporting documentation and modeling: appendix 

to Modified Initial Study. 
• Administrative Draft Modified Initial Study: electronic copy (Microsoft Word). 
• Screencheck Modified Initial Study: electronic copy (Microsoft Word). 
• Public Draft Modified Initial Study to the State Clearinghouse (SCH): electronic submittal. 
• Public Draft Modified Initial Study to the City: five (5) hardcopies and one electronic copy (PDF). 
• Written responses to comments for City Staff Report (Microsoft Word). 
• Mitigation Measure Reporting Program (PDF). 

 

SCOPE OF WORK  

TASK 1: PROJECT INITIATION AND PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Once contract approval between the City and Stantec has been received, Stantec will initiate Project 
activities working closely to ensure a detailed Project Description in compliance with City and State design 
standards. Such objectives include: providing a Project Description that will discuss the project setting, 
background, and objectives in sufficient detail to demonstrate that the Project would not necessitate the 
expansion or development of adjacent land uses; while still allowing the public a meaningful opportunity to 

Item 8 
Attachment 2

54



Page 5 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

provide input at public meetings and provide comments on the environmental consequences of the Project. 
The draft Project Description will be submitted to the City for a single round of review. Revisions to the 
Project Description, in response to City comments, will be included in the Administrative Draft Modified 
Initial Study document. 

The following sections will be included in the Introduction/Project Description of the Modified Initial Study: 
Project Name; Lead Agency Name and Contact Information; Purpose; Project Location; Site History; Land 
Use Designations; Summary of Project; Surrounding Land Uses and Setting; CEQA and Public Agency 
Review; Required Permits and Approvals; Scope of the Study; Document Organization; Project Location; 
Project Characteristics; Project Construction Phasing, Access, Staging, Equipment, and Methods.  

Stantec’s Principal in Charge, Trevor Macenski, and Project Manager, Anna Radonich, shall meet with the 
City to review Stantec's scope of work and the Project Description to be evaluated in the Modified Initial 
Study, including maps and graphics. To maximize efficiency, Stantec also proposes that the kick-off 
meeting agenda include, but not be limited to, the following action items: 

• Introduce and establish lines of communication amongst the project team members and identify
roles and responsibilities.

• Identify, discuss, and revise, as necessary, the scope, methodology, content, approach, and
schedule for completion.

• Review/refine the project objectives (CEQA).
• Discuss the schedule for providing information to Stantec for documents required to prepare the

Modified Initial Study.

Within a week of the kick-off meeting Stantec shall prepare and submit any revisions to the statement of 
work (SOW).  

Deliverable 

• Draft Project Description: electronic copy (Microsoft Word).

TASK 2: CONDUCT FIELD RECONNAISSANCE AND PREPARE TECHNICAL STUDIES 

Field Reconnaissance. Under this task, Stantec staff will visit the project site to photo-document the 
existing conditions and gain an understanding of the site configuration and the proximity of any relevant 
features, such as existing sensitive receptors, so that we may evaluate these issue areas in the Modified 
Initial Study in a manner that is fully compliant with CEQA. 

Additional Technical Analysis. Based on review of the site plans and initial project description, Stantec 
will provide an Air Quality and Greenhouse Gas Assessment and vehicle miles traveled (VMT) Assessment 
to support the Modified Initial Study. The air quality and greenhouse gas (GHG) analyses and VMT analysis 
will be wholly contained within the Air Quality and Greenhouse Gas and the Transportation sections of the 
Modified Initial Study, respectively.  

Item 8 
Attachment 2

55



Page 6 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

All other technical assessments for the Project will be provided to Stantec. During preparation of the 
Modified Initial Study Stantec will review the City-provided technical documents for adequacy of use in the 
CEQA analysis. Should it be determined that additional analysis is required to supplement the technical 
reports, Stantec will prepare a memorandum to communicate the analysis gaps to the City; however, a 
formal peer-review and peer-review memorandum for each technical document received, is not included in 
this scope of work.  

Stantec will use information provided in the technical reports in the CEQA analysis and include the technical 
reports as appendices to the Modified Initial Study. If Stantec is required to supplement the technical report 
with new analysis, a separate cost estimate will be provided upon request. 

TASKS 3: PREPARE ADMINISTRATIVE DRAFT MODIFIED INITIAL STUDY, SCREENCHECK DRAFT 
MODIFIED INITIAL STUDY, AND PUBLIC DRAFT MODIFIED INITIAL STUDY 

Stantec will develop an Administrative Draft Modified Initial Study, Screencheck Draft Modified Initial Study, 
and Public Draft Modified Initial Study including a project description; Applicant proposed avoidance 
measures; General Plan policies and General Plan EIR mitigation measures, if significant impacts are 
identified, which will reduce potentially significant impacts to a less than significant level(s); figures; and 
required resource sections (described below) in accordance with the CEQA Guidelines. The Modified Initial 
Study will evaluate the potential project impacts on the resource areas covered under CEQA following the 
Environmental Checklist, Appendix G of the CEQA Guidelines. These resource areas include:  

• Aesthetics

• Agriculture and Forestry Resources

• Air Quality

• Biological Resources

• Cultural Resources

• Energy

• Geology and Soils

• Greenhouse Gas Emissions

• Hazards and Hazardous Materials

• Hydrology and Water Quality

• Land Use and Planning

• Mineral Resources

• Noise

• Population and Housing

• Public Services

• Recreation

• Transportation

• Tribal Cultural Resources

• Utilities and Service Systems

• Wildfire

• Mandatory Findings of Significance

Our team will compile all sections of the document, including attachments and appendices (if any), and will 
conduct a thorough internal technical peer review, senior review by the Project Manager, QA/QC review, 
and editorial review to ensure an appropriate level of technical content, readability, and consistency prior to 
submittal to the City for review.  

Item 8 
Attachment 2

56



Page 7 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

  

 

The Modified Initial Study serves to evaluate whether the environmental impacts of the proposed Project 
are adequately addressed in the General Plan EIR. This Modified Initial Study indicates whether the 
proposed Project would result in significant impact that: (1) is peculiar to the Project or the Project site; (2) 
was not identified as a significant effect in the General Plan EIR; or (3) are previously identified significant 
effects which as a result of substantial new information that was not known at the time that the General 
Plan EIR was certified, are determined to have a more severe adverse impact than discussed in the 
General Plan EIR. Such impacts, if any, will be evaluated in an EIR (CEQA Guidelines Section 15183). It is 
assumed that potential impacts can be reduced to less than significant level and the development of an EIR 
is not necessary, nor included in this scope.  

The Administrative Draft Modified Initial Study will be prepared for the City. Then Stantec will use the 
Administrative Draft Modified Initial Study to develop the Screencheck Draft and ultimately the Public Draft 
Modified Initial Study. While all resources presented in CEQA Guidelines Appendix G will be analyzed, the 
following discussions highlight those resource considerations that we anticipate being critical to the Project:  

Aesthetics, Light & Glare— This section of the CEQA document will address the visual 
resources in the project vicinity and the potential for visual impacts to occur as a result of 
implementing the Project. The General Plan would be used to determine the local 
significance of the area’s visual character. While the project site is currently an undeveloped 
lot surrounded by commercial and residential uses, the Project will constitute a new land use 
type on the Project site, and thus could potentially affect the aesthetic character or quality of 
the existing visual environment. Stantec will utilize the City-provided photo simulations or 
Project elevations to evaluate the potential visual and aesthetic impacts from the Project. In 
addition, the aesthetics characteristics will be assessed in relation to General Plan policies, 
Zoning Ordinance requirements, and the City’s design standards for industrial park 
developments.  

Air Quality and Greenhouse Gases— The project would entail construction and operation 
activities that would emit criteria air pollutants and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Stantec 
will provide an air quality and GHG assessment to support the CEQA document. Stantec will 
follow guidance presented by the Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD) in its 
CEQA Air Quality Guidelines (May 2017). Stantec will use BAAQMD’s Guidelines as the 
basis for assessing air quality and greenhouse gas emissions impacts, including the 
document’s recommendations for analytical approaches, thresholds, and—if necessary—
mitigation measures. Stantec will document the Project’s components relative to the 
BAAQMD’s screening criteria and thresholds of significance to support the impact 
determinations. 
 

Criteria Pollutants and GHG Estimation. The air quality and GHG assessment will 
include a discussion and evaluation of regional and localized short-term construction 
emissions and long-term operational emissions. Emissions associated with Project 
construction and operation will be evaluated using the current version of the California 
Emissions Estimator Model (CalEEMod) at the time of preparation. Pollutants to be 
assessed include reactive organic gases, oxides of nitrogen, carbon monoxide, particulate 
matter, fine particulate matter, and carbon dioxide equivalents in metric tons (MTCO2e). 
This task includes one round of comprehensive emissions modeling. Responses to the 

Item 8 
Attachment 2

57



Page 8 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

Appendix G checklist questions for air quality will be provided, which will include a 
comparison of regional criteria air pollutants to recommended BAAQMD thresholds and a 
discussion of consistency with the applicable Clean Air Plan. Responses to the Appendix G 
checklist questions for greenhouse gases will be provided. Consistency with applicable 
greenhouse gas reduction plans will be discussed. The GHG impact analysis will address 
the project’s build-out year and a long-term horizon consistent with the City’s 2035 General 
Plan. The analysis will provide a discussion on 2050 emissions and the progress towards 
the Executive Order S-3-05 goal. The City’s Draft Climate Action Plan identified a reduction 
target for 2020 and a significance threshold of 4 metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalents 
(MTCO2e) per capita efficiency standard, however given the post-2020 timeline for 
development of the project, that efficiency metric would not be applicable. The City 
identified its “fair-share” GHG reductions associated with the 2035 buildout, which was 
estimated to be 2.4 MTCO2e per capita per year. The 2035 efficiency metric will be used to 
determine the Project’s GHG significance.  

Health Risk Assessment. As an apartment project the Project would be considered a 
sensitive land use. Construction and operational health risks are a concern given the 
Project’s location to adjacent residences and the Union Pacific railroad line. 

During construction, the Project has the potential to expose adjacent residences to toxic air 
contaminants from construction equipment exhaust in the form of diesel particulate matter. 
The City’s General Plan Program PHS-3.3 requires construction equipment over 50 brake 
horsepower (bhp) used in locations within 300 feet of an existing sensitive receptor to meet 
Tier 4 engine emission standards. Given the adjacent existing residences within this 
boundary, Stantec assumes that the Project will incorporate Tier 4 engine standards and a 
qualitative health risk assessment (HRA) will be provided. Alternatively, Stantec can 
provide a scope of work for a quantitative HRA, if the Project wishes to prepare a site-
specific estimate of diesel particulate matter emissions associated with construction 
activities to demonstrate that applicable BAAQMD-recommended thresholds would not be 
exceeded. 

The General Plan EIR include an evaluation of health risks for residential projects near the 
Union Pacific railroad line. The General Plan modeling determined that land uses located 
further than 10 feet from the railroad line would not be exposed to substantial toxic air 
contaminants that would exceed BAAQMD health risk thresholds of significance. 
Considering this information and the distance between the development and the railroad 
line a qualitative HRA is proposed for project operations. If it is later determined that a 
quantitative HRA is needed Stantec will provide the City with a scope of work for review 
and authorization. 

Emissions Reductions and Significance Findings. If deemed necessary, mitigation 
measures will be identified to reduce significant impacts related to air constituents and 
GHG emissions. Emissions reductions from these measures will be quantified. 

Item 8 
Attachment 2

58



Page 9 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

Assumptions 
• The analysis will be wholly contained within the air quality and greenhouse gas

sections of the CEQA document with supporting documentation and modeling
provided as an appendix, including emissions modeling methodology and
assumptions, as well as model output.

• Stantec will provide the client with the modeling assumptions for review and
comment prior to initiating the comprehensive modeling. The schedule clock will be
paused during the review period and will begin upon receipt of acceptance.

• CalEEMod will be used to estimate criteria air pollutant and GHG emissions.
• If CalEEMod is updated and the update precipitates revised modeling a budget

augment will be warranted.
• The criteria air pollutant/greenhouse gas modeling includes one round of

comprehensive modeling. Based on the Project Description, this scope includes 8
hours of modeling. If the level of effort exceeds the estimated number of hours a
budget augment may be requested.

• A qualitative assessment of CO hotspots will be provided. If it is later determined
that a quantitative assessment of CO is necessary, a budget augment will be
requested.

• Major changes to the project features, design, schedule or other parameters that
precipitate revisions to the emissions modeling may also warrant a budget
augment.

• Changes to the project that occur after completing the analysis that require re-
modeling will be considered additional work that is not covered by this scope of
work.

• A qualitative HRA for construction and operations will be provided under this scope
of work; no dispersion modeling is included in this scope of work.

• The Project is not considered a source of substantial odors. A qualitative
assessment of odors will be provided, which documents the distance to any odor
sources relative to the BAAQMD’s guidance.

Data Needs. The following data would assist in preparation of the analyses. If data is not 
available, Stantec will use default modeling assumptions and may propose timing and 
phasing assumptions for approval.  

• The timing of construction, the type and number of construction equipment
anticipated, and the amount of import or export of soil during construction;

• Sustainability project design features that would reduce greenhouse gas emissions
(i.e., energy efficiency features beyond what is required by law, use of drought
tolerant plants, water reduction features, waste reduction features, etc.).

• Traffic Study with daily, Saturday, and Sunday Trip Generation rates; if a traffic
study is not prepared, default ITE rates may be used.

Schedule. Stantec will provide the methodology and modeling assumptions to the City for 
review within one week of receipt of all information needed to complete the analysis. Upon 
approval of the methodology and assumptions, the air quality/greenhouse gas emissions 

Item 8 
Attachment 2

59



Page 10 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

  

 

assessment will be provided to the City within four weeks. Upon receipt of comments on 
the Administrative Draft CEQA document, the revised assessment will be provided within 5 
business days. 

Biological Resources— The biological resources section of the Modified Initial Study will 
analyze direct and indirect impacts to biological resources as a result of the Project. Stantec 
biological resources staff will draft the biological resources section of the CEQA document 
and reference General Plan policies and General Plan EIR mitigation measures as 
necessary, using the Biological Technical Assessments provided by the City as outlined 
above. 
 
Cultural, Historic, and Tribal Resources— The cultural resources and tribal cultural 
resources sections of the Modified Initial Study will be prepared using the Cultural Resources 
Memorandum provided by the City.  
 
Energy— Consistent with the updated CEQA Guidelines, an energy assessment will be 
provided for the Project’s construction and operational phases. The energy assessment will 
use information derived from the air quality and greenhouse gas modeling to provide fuel and 
energy use estimates for the proposed project. 

Geology and Soils— Stantec will assess the potential geology and soils impacts of the 
Project. Key issues to be evaluated include the seismicity of the local area, the presence of 
any nearby existing fault lines and their potential effect on site development, the erodibility of 
site soils, soil stability characteristics, and the expansive characteristics of site soil. This 
analysis will be based on the existing published information (soil reports and maps, City-
provided geotechnical report, other data). No additional soils or other field geological 
analyses will be conducted.  

Hazards and Hazardous Materials— Stantec will prepare a public health and hazards 
section for the CEQA document. The analysis of toxic air contaminants will be conducted 
under the Air Quality section of the Modified Initial Study. The assessment for this section will 
be based on readily available documentation and plans. Any effect the Project could have on 
the provision of emergency response will also be addressed. The historical uses of the 
project site will be documented for periods for which data is available. Sources of information 
to be researched and incorporated into the hazards section will include previously prepared 
Phase I Environmental Site Assessments, Limited Agricultural Investigation, and background 
data related to the General Plan. Stantec’s analysis will include evaluating any conditions 
which would suggest the previous, use, storage and or disposal of hazardous substances. 
Our analysis of hazards will also include the proposed use of the site. For example, 
construction of the project will involve the transportation of hazardous materials (e.g., fuel, 
paint) to and from the project site. The potential for these materials to be released to the 
environment will be evaluated. The significance of potential impacts will be determined, and 
mitigation measures will be recommended to minimize potential adverse impacts, if 
necessary.  

 

Item 8 
Attachment 2

60



Page 11 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

Hydrology and Water Quality—The Project site is bound by Railroad Avenue to the north, 
Blossom Avenue to the west, residential to the south, and undeveloped space, residential, 
and storage generally to the east. The quality of both nearby surface waters and underlying 
groundwater can be affected by past, current, and proposed land uses within a particular 
watershed. Stantec assumes that the General Plan will provide adequate drainage 
information in conjunction with the City’s utility and engineering departments. The CEQA 
document will qualitatively evaluate the potential hydrologic impacts to both minimize offsite 
flooding and reduce impacts to local stormwater receptors and downstream receiving waters. 
The State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) and the Regional Water Quality Control 
Board (RWQCB) have established water quality standards required by Section 303 of the 
Clean Water Act and the Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act. The hydrology and water 
quality analysis will address the Project’s compliance with the State’s construction stormwater 
regulations. 

Land Use and Planning— The Project would involve development of multifamily residential 
uses on a site designated Medium Density Residential and zoned Medium-Density 
Residential (RM). Therefore, the Project shall be assessed for consistency with the General 
Plan and Zoning Ordinance. Additionally, the proposed uses and associated infrastructure 
improvements shall be assessed in accordance with the development standards set forth in 
the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance. Stantec will describe existing land uses in the 
vicinity based on aerial photographs and one site visit.  

Noise— Stantec incorporate the City-provided noise impact assessment to support the 
CEQA document. City-provided noise impact assessment will be reviewed and incorporated 
for anticipated noise during and post-construction of the Project. The noise section will 
include an analysis of the construction and operational noise expected from the project.  
Major noise sources at the Project site are anticipated to be related to roadways and vehicle 
traffic, especially from Railroad Avenue, Blossom Avenue, Amber Drive, and Southern Pacific 
Railroad. Noise increases associated with traffic as well as construction, stationary sources 
such as HVAC equipment, and general operational activities associated with the Project, will 
be evaluated.  

Public Services and Recreation— The Project would represent an increase in the City’s overall 
residential population and has the potential to increase the use of public services or local and 
regional recreational facilities. Stantec will evaluate the Project’s impacts on Suisun City Police and 
Fire Departments. Since extensive services are already currently provided in the project area, the 
Modified Initial Study will compare the potential expansion of these services with existing standards 
set forth by the respective applicable agency. Stantec will contact and work collaboratively with 
potentially affected City and local agencies to identify relevant existing conditions, possible project 
impacts, and coordination requirements. The public services and recreation analyses will focus on 
physical environmental impacts that would result if the Project resulted in the need for new or 
expanded services. 

Transportation— Stantec will prepare an analysis of the Project’s impact on transportation. The 
analysis will address the recently revised changes to the CEQA Guidelines (Cal. Code Regs., Title 
14, Div. 6, Ch. 3, § 15000 et seq.) regarding the analysis of transportation impacts. Under the 

Item 8 
Attachment 2

61



Page 12 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

revised Guidelines, VMT is recognized as the most appropriate metric to evaluate a project’s 
transportation impacts. The Governor’s Office of Planning and Research (OPR) has provided a 
Technical Advisory (December 2018) that recommends specific VMT significance thresholds that 
may constitute a significant transportation impact and lead agencies have the discretion to set or 
apply their own thresholds of significance. OPR recommends use of a per-capita measurement of 
VMT for CEQA analysis based on average VMT per resident for evaluation of residential 
development and average VMT per employee for evaluation of office development. Consistent with 
the OPR recommendations, in July 2020 the City of Suisun City prepared a draft recommended 
approach and methodology for VMT analysis. 

Using data generated by the City of Fairfield travel demand model, we will document the home-
based VMT data for residents of the Project. The Project’s level of impact will be identified based 
on the methodology and significance thresholds documented in the City’s July 2020 methodology 
memorandum. Additional CEQA checklist items related to transportation, which address conflicts 
with an existing City program, plan, ordinance, or policy, geometric design features that 
substantially increase hazards, and adequacy of emergency access, will be addressed as 
applicable. Should the project exceed a threshold of significance, appropriate VMT reduction 
measures will be identified where feasible.  

The transportation assessment will be wholly contained within the Transportation section of the 
CEQA document, and all relevant data and calculations will be an appendix to the CEQA 
Document.   

 Assumptions 
• The VMT analysis will be based on travel demand model data to be derived using a readily

available version of the City of Fairfield travel demand model as described in the City’s July
2020 methodology memorandum.

Utilities and Service Systems— Stantec will evaluate the Project’s potential impacts on the public 
utility systems. Utilities are available for use at the boundaries of the Project site and the analysis 
will not include the assumption of upgrading these services. In addition, any other available 
infrastructure information prepared by City staff, the Applicant’s project team (including the Water 
Master Plan, if applicable), and utilities and services purveyors will be reviewed and evaluated for 
potential impacts related to water supply and treatment. The Project’s impact on utilities and service 
systems will be evaluated both during construction and during operation of the Project.  

The Administrative Draft Modified Initial Study will comply with CEQA Guidelines and will conform to the 
City’s format and typical thresholds for determining significant effects. Stantec will prepare a Modified Initial 
Study that contains the following elements: 

• Table of Contents.
• Introduction.
• Environmental Review and Approval.

Item 8 
Attachment 2

62



Page 13 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

• Scope of the Modified Initial Study.
• Public and Agency Review.
• Project Information.
• Project Description.
• Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program.
• Consistency with the City’s Plans and Policies.
• Environmental Factors Potentially Affected.
• Determination.
• Discussion of Environmental Setting, Potential Impacts, and General Plan policies and General

Plan EIR mitigation measures. An identification of environmental effects through the use of the
Appendix G checklist along with explanations supporting the entries. Stantec will analyze potential
impacts to those subject areas outlines above in this task.

• Mandatory Findings of Significance.
• References Cited.
• Agencies and Persons Contacted/Consulted.
• Report Preparers.

A detailed analysis of impacts that could occur as a result of implementation of the Project will be 
conducted and presented for each element of the natural and human environment. Baseline conditions will 
be qualitatively and quantitatively described. The boundaries of the affected environment will be established 
by definable geographic units such as airshed, watershed, viewshed, and socio-political boundaries. 
Impacts will be qualitatively and quantitatively assessed and described. Significance of impacts will be 
measured against criteria that have been established by regulation, accepted standards, or other definable 
criteria. Information sources will be cited.   

Administrative Draft and Screencheck Modified Initial Study 

Stantec will prepare and submit one electronic copy (Microsoft Word) of the Administrative Draft Modified 
Initial Study to the City for City review. It is assumed that the City will provide one consolidated and 
reconciled set of comments on the Administrative Draft Modified Initial Study. Upon receipt of the Modified 
Initial Study comments, Stantec will make necessary revisions and prepare and submit one electronic copy 
of the Screencheck Modified Initial Study to the City for City. It is assumed that the City will provide one 
consolidated and reconciled set of comments on the Screencheck Modified Initial Study and that comments 
will be minimal and not require new analysis.  

Deliverables 

• Administrative Draft Modified Initial Study: one electronic copy (Microsoft Word).
• Screencheck Modified Initial Study: one electronic copy (Microsoft Word).

Public Draft Modified Initial Study 

After implementation of Screencheck comments, Stantec will prepare the Public Draft Modified Initial Study. 
This is the version of the document which will circulate around to the public, posted on the City’s website, 
and sent to the State Clearinghouse. Stantec understands that the City will prepare all public notices, 

Item 8 
Attachment 2

63



Page 14 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

newspaper notices, citizen mailings, etc. Stantec will review the Notice of Intent to Adopt (NOA) form and 
submit the following: 

• Electronic submittal of the Modified Initial Study to the State Clearinghouse. It is also assumed that
the City will be responsible for further distribution of the Modified Initial Study as required by law.

• Stantec will provide the City with five (5) bound hard copies and one (1) electronic copy (PDF) of
the public version of the Modified Initial Study.

Deliverable 

• Public Draft Modified Initial Study to the State Clearinghouse: electronic submittal
• Public Draft Modified Initial Study to the City: five (5) hardcopies and one (1) electronic copy (PDF).

TASK 4: MMRP AND RESPONSE TO COMMENTS 

The completion of Task 4 is based upon the assumption that the Project would not be controversial and 
would not require extensive responses to agency and public comment on the Public Draft Modified Initial 
Study.  

After the statutory public comment period has taken place, Stantec will work with the City to respond to all 
comments related to the environmental analysis and provide the City with responses for their Staff Report. 
This task does not include the formal preparation of a response to comments document. To this end, 
Stantec will prepare written responses to comments received during the public review period and submit 
them for City staff review within 15 days of receipt of comments from the City. The responses to comments 
will be prepared based on the requirements of the State CEQA Statutes and Guidelines. We assume the 
City will receive all public comments and compile them for Stantec. Responses that are within this 
proposal’s scope of work and budget consist of explanation, elaboration, or clarification of the data 
contained in the Public Draft Modified Initial Study, with a budgeted effort for technical staff to respond to 10 
individual comments.  

Accordingly, the budget for this task allows for time to finalize the CEQA documentation and prepare a 
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP), which will include revising mitigation measures 
included in the RTC. 

Deliverables 

• Written responses to comments for City Staff Report (Microsoft Word).
• MMRP: electronic copy (PDF).

TASK 5: PROJECT MANAGEMENT, MEETINGS & HEARINGS 

Stantec will coordinate two (2) virtual project meetings with the Stantec team and City personnel. In 
addition, this task includes the internal coordination required to publish the necessary CEQA documentation 
and to prepare the final Modified Initial Study for adoption by the City.  

Item 8 
Attachment 2

64



Page 15 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

This task consists of those management activities that ensure Stantec’s ability to keep the project running 
smoothly, on time, and within budget. As the liaison between Stantec staff and the City staff, Stantec’s 
Project Manager will ensure that information is distributed appropriately, that comments regarding project-
related issues are communicated effectively and efficiently, and that financial performance is tracked 
regularly (i.e., invoices). The cost estimate includes the programed meetings summarized below. 

• Early Consultation Meeting—Stantec’s Principal in Charge, Trevor Macenski, and Project
Manager, Anna Radonich, will attend one (1) one-hour virtual project kick-off meeting with City staff
and project team to review the Project Description, discuss critical project items and identify any
known data or information gaps required to prepare the Modified Initial Study.

• Modified Initial Study Review Meeting— Stantec will review comments of the City before
coordinating a review meeting to address any comments on the Administrative Draft Modified Initial
Study. It is assumed that both Trevor and Anna will attend one one-hour virtual meeting to review
comments on the Administrative Draft Initial Study.

• Public Hearings— Trevor and Anna will attend up to two 2-hour public hearings for the Project
(assumed to likely be one Planning Commission hearing and one City Council hearing).

Additional meetings not discussed in the scope may be attended at a rate of $2,500 per meeting, for both 
Trevor and Anna to attend, with prior approval from the City. 

Item 8 
Attachment 2

65



Page 16 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

PROPOSED WORK SCHEDULE 
The following is the proposed work schedule for the Project in Suisun City. Stantec is committed to meeting 
the schedule outlined below and assumes the City will be able to adhere to the identified review periods to 
meet the Project’s schedule objectives.  

WORK PRODUCT 
ESTIMATED 
COMPLETION 
WEEK * 

Authorization to Proceed  Week 1 

Project Initiation  Week 1 

  Stantec Submits Draft Project Description  Week 2 

  City Reviews Draft Project Description  Week 3 

 Stantec Submits Admin Draft Modified Initial Study  Week 5 

 City Reviews Admin Draft Modified Initial Study  Weeks 6-8 

 Stantec Revised and Submits Screencheck Modified Initial Study to City  Weeks 9 

 City Reviews Screencheck Modified Initial Study  Weeks 10-11 

 Stantec Revises and prepares Modified Initial Study for Public Review  Week 12 

 Modified Initial Study Distributed for Public Review  Weeks 13-17 

 Stantec Finalizes Modified Initial Study, Prepares/Submits MMRP  Week 18 

*Schedule is based on assumption that Stantec receives the following at the Project Kick-off in Week
1: Project information; all information needed for the air quality and greenhouse gas assessment and
VMT assessment; site plans; and technical studies (including Phase I Assessment, Geotechnical
Report, etc.).

Item 8 
Attachment 2

66



Page 17 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

  

 

FEE SCHEDULE 
The cost estimate for providing the Modified Initial Study in accordance with CEQA for the Project is shown 
below. The Total Cost included below covers the SOW described herein, as well as all production, travel, 
and associated expenses.  

TASK BUDGET PROJECT 
BUDGET 

Professional Labor  

Task 1: Project Initiation and Project Description $2,065 

Task 2: Field Reconnaissance and Technical Studies  

                Project Site Visit $1,114 

Task 3: Prepare Administrative, Screencheck, & Public Draft Modified Initial    
             Study 

$11,066 

             Air Quality/GHG and HRA Assessment $7,476 

             Energy Assessment $5,442 

             VMT Assessment $10,888 

Task 4: Modified Initial Study, MMRP, & RTC $4,100 

Task 5: Project Management, Meetings, and Hearings $5,940 

                                                                                   Stantec Labor Sub Total $48,091 

                                                                                                      Direct Costs $2,500 

  

                                                                                        Stantec Total Costs $50,591 
  

  

Item 8 
Attachment 2

67



Page 18 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

The assumptions used in determining the above project schedule and fee are provided below: 

General Assumptions 

• No stand-alone technical studies are needed beyond the analysis in the CEQA document.
• This scope of word does not include peer-review of the technical documents and assumes that all

City/Applicant-provided technical documents are adequate for use under CEQA and the CEQA
approach),

• The City to provide all project-related materials, including information to support a preliminary
Project Description, site plans, technical studies (including Biological Resources Technical Report
and Wetlands Delineation, Geotechnical Report, etc.) at or prior to the project initiation meeting.

• At any stage of the project process, Agency/Public/Stakeholder comments calling for analysis of
additional facilities/scenarios/alternatives (beyond those listed in this proposal) will be completed
only upon approval of an appropriate contract addendum.

• This scope of work assumes that Stantec will respond to 10 individual comments received on the
Public Modified Initial Study and that any comments received on information provided in City-
provided technical document will be responded to by the City.

• The City will prepare all public notices, newspaper notices, NOA, citizen mailings, and all statutorily
required notifications as required by CEQA.

• Stantec assumes that any environmental permitting for the Project will occur prior to construction
and any permitting requirements for the Project are not included in the scope for the development
of the Modified Initial Study.

• Stantec assumes that National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) Section 106 compliance is not
required for the Project.

• The City is available to consult with Native American Tribe representatives in accordance with the
recently passed AB 52.

• The City will be responsible for drafting and mailing tribal consultation letters per AB 52.
• Stantec assumes that the scope of work, cost, and schedule will be included as part of the

agreement between the City and Stantec.

Air Quality Scope Assumptions 

• The analysis will be wholly contained within the air quality and greenhouse gas sections of the
CEQA document with supporting documentation and modeling provided as an appendix, including
emissions modeling methodology and assumptions, as well as model output.

• Stantec will provide the client with the modeling assumptions for review and comment prior to
initiating the comprehensive modeling. The schedule clock will be paused during the review period
and will begin upon receipt of acceptance.

• CalEEMod will be used to estimate criteria air pollutant and GHG emissions.
• If CalEEMod is updated and the update precipitates revised modeling a budget augment will be

warranted.

Item 8 
Attachment 2

68



Page 19 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

• The criteria air pollutant/greenhouse gas modeling includes one round of comprehensive modeling.
Based on the Project Description, this scope includes 8 hours of modeling. If the level of effort
exceeds the estimated number of hours a budget augment may be requested.

• A qualitative assessment of CO hotspots will be provided. If it is later determined that a quantitative
assessment of CO is necessary, a budget augment will be requested.

• Major changes to the project features, design, schedule or other parameters that precipitate
revisions to the emissions modeling may also warrant a budget augment.

• Changes to the project that occur after completing the analysis that require re-modeling will be
considered additional work that is not covered by this scope of work.

• A qualitative HRA for construction and operations is proposed, no dispersion modeling is included
in this scope of work.

• The Project is not considered a source of substantial odors. A qualitative assessment of odors will
be provided, which documents the distance to any odor sources relative to the BAAQMD’s
guidance.
Data Needs. The following data would assist in preparation of the analyses. If data is not available,
Stantec will use default modeling assumptions and may propose timing and phasing assumptions
for approval.

• The timing of construction, the type and number of construction equipment anticipated, and
the amount of import or export of soil during construction.

• Sustainability project design features that would reduce greenhouse gas emissions (i.e.,
energy efficiency features beyond what is required by law, use of drought tolerant plants,
water reduction features, waste reduction features, etc.).

• Traffic Study with daily, Saturday, and Sunday Trip Generation rates; if a traffic study is not
prepared, default ITE rates may be used.

Schedule. Stantec will provide the methodology and modeling assumptions to the City for review 
within one week of receipt of all information needed to complete the analysis. Upon approval of the 
methodology and assumptions, the air quality/greenhouse gas emissions assessment will be 
provided to the City within four weeks. Upon receipt of comments on the Administrative Draft CEQA 
document, the revised assessment will be provided within 5 business days. 

Transportation Assumptions 
• The VMT analysis will be based on travel demand model data to be derived using a readily

available version of the City of Fairfield travel demand model as described in the City’s July 2020
methodology memorandum.

Production Assumptions 
• Draft Project Description: electronic copy (Microsoft Word).
• Air Quality, Greenhouse Gas Emissions Analysis supporting documentation and modeling:

appendix to Modified Initial Study.
• Transportation Assessment with VMT Analysis supporting documentation and modeling: appendix

to Modified Initial Study.
• Administrative Draft Modified Initial Study: electronic copy (Microsoft Word).
• Screencheck Modified Initial Study: electronic copy (Microsoft Word).

Item 8 
Attachment 2

69



Page 20 of 20  

Reference:   CEQA Proposal for Blossom Avenue Apartments – Suisun City, California 

• Public Draft Modified Initial Study to the State Clearinghouse (SCH): electronic submittal
• Public Draft Modified Initial Study to the City: five (5) hardcopies and one electronic copy (PDF).
• Written responses to comments for City Staff Report (Microsoft Word).
• Mitigation Measure Reporting Program (PDF)

Meeting Assumptions 
• Early Consultation Meeting—Stantec’s Principal in Charge, Trevor Macenski, and Project Manager,

Anna Radonich, will attend one (1) one-hour virtual project kick-off meeting with City staff and
project team to review the Project Description, discuss critical project items and identify any known
data or information gaps required to prepare the Modified Initial Study.

• Modified Initial Study Review Meeting— Stantec will review City comments before coordinating a
review meeting to address any comments on the Administrative Draft Modified Initial Study. It is
assumed that both Trevor and Anna will attend one one-hour virtual meeting to review comments
on the Administrative Draft Initial Study.

• Public Hearings— Trevor and Anna will attend up to two 2-hour public hearings for the Project
(assumed to likely be one Planning Commission hearing and one City Council hearing).

• Additional meetings not discussed in the scope may be attended at a rate of $2,500 per meeting,
for both Trevor and Anna to attend, with prior approval from the City.

As we are all aware, we are all working in unprecedented times as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The 

situation is a very fluid one. Our proposal is based on what we understand as of today but may change as 

conditions change. We would be pleased to have a further discussion with you to share our respective 

plans and efforts to help manage and mitigate the impact of this evolving situation on your contract. 

Cheers, 

Trevor Macenski 
Senior Principal – US Geographic 
Technical Leader for Impact Assessment, 
Permitting, and Compliance 
916.508.4170 
trevor.macenski@stantec.com  

Anna Radonich 
Senior Planner 
925.285.6541 
anna.radonich@stantec.com 

Item 8 
Attachment 2

70

mailto:trevor.macenski@stantec.com
mailto:anna.radonich@stantec.com


______________________________________________________________________________ 
PREPARED BY: Michelle Pellegrino, Consultant 
REVIEWED & APPROVED BY: Greg Folsom, City Manager 

 AGENDA TRANSMITTAL 

MEETING DATE: November 17, 2020 

CITY AGENDA ITEM: Approve the First Amendment to the Suisun City Police Officers’ 
Association (SCPOA) Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) Effective December 28, 2018 
through December 31, 2020; Approve the Second Amendment to the Suisun City Employees 
Association (SCEA) MOU effective December 28, 2018 through December 31, 2020; Approve 
the Third Amendment to the Suisun City Management and Professional Employees Association 
(SCMPEA) MOU Effective December 28, 2018 through December 31, 2020 

a. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-__ :- Approving a First Amendment to the
Suisun City Police Officers’ Association (SCPOA) Memorandum of Understanding
(MOU) Effective December 28, 2018 through December 31, 2020, to Add Critical Staffing
Retention and Recruiting Pay to the MOU

b. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-___:- Approving a Second Amendment to the
Suisun City Employees Association (SCEA) MOU effective December 28, 2018 through
December 31, 2020, to Add Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay to the MOU

c. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-___:- Approving a Third Amendment to the
Suisun City Management and Professional Employees Association (SCMPEA) MOU
Effective December 28, 2018 through December 31, 2020, to Add Critical Staffing
Retention and Recruiting Pay and Fire Duty Chief Standby Pay to the MOU

FISCAL IMPACT: The fiscal impact of adding Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay to 
the SCPOA, SCEA, and SCMPEA MOUs is expected to be an increase of approximately $229,000 
during the current fiscal year. The fiscal impact of adding Fire Duty Chief Pay to the SCMPEA 
MOUs is expected to be an increase of approximately $91,000 during the current fiscal year. These 
costs of the Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay will be absorbed by realized savings in 
current vacant Police Officer positions.   

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPACT: 
Provide Good Governance 

• Section 4.8 – Continuously improve the City’s governance process.

BACKGROUND: 
On March 5, 2019, the City Council approved a Memorandum of Understanding between the City 
of Suisun City (City) and the Suisun City Police Officers’ Association (SCPOA), effective 
December 28, 2018 through December 31, 2020 (SCPOA MOU 2018-20) with the adoption of 
Resolution No. 2019-17. 
On February 5, 2019, the City Council approved a Memorandum of Understanding between the 
City of Suisun City (City) and the Suisun City Employees’ Association (SCEA), effective 
December 28, 2018 through December 31, 2020 (SCEA MOU 2018-20) with the adoption of 
Resolution No. 2019-03. Subsequently, City Council approved a First Amendment to the SCEA 

Item 9

71



MOU 2018-20 on January 14, 2020 with the adoption of Resolution No. 2020-04, which amended 
the night-time differential compensation, flexible benefit option, uniforms and uniform allowance, 
and vacation leave provisions. 
On February 5, 2019, the City Council approved a Memorandum of Understanding between the 
City of Suisun City (City) and the Suisun City Management and Professional Employees 
Association (SCMPEA), effective December 28, 2018 through December 31, 2020 (SCMPEA 
MOU 2018-20) with the adoption of Resolution No. 2019-04. Subsequently, City Council 
approved a First Amendment to the SCMPEA MOU 2018-20 on January 14, 2020 with the 
adoption of Resolution No. 2020-05, which amended the flexible benefit option, executive leave 
hours, and vacation leave provisions.  Then on May 5, 2020, City Council approved a Second 
Amendment to the SCMPEA MOU 2018-20 with the adoption of Resolution No. 2020-56, which 
amended the certification and education incentive pay and executive leave provisions. 

STAFF REPORT: The City and authorized labor relations representatives for SCPOA, SCEA, 
and SCMPEA have met and conferred in good faith pursuant to the requirements of the Meyers-
Milias-Brown Act, codified as Gov’t Code Sections 3500-3511 and reached a Tentative 
Agreement on Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay for all three groups and Fire Duty 
Chief Standby Pay for SCMPEA. The following Amendments are attached as Exhibits to this item: 

A First Amendment (attached as Exhibit “A” to the proposed resolution) to add the following 
Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay provision to the SCPOA MOU 2018-20, which was 
ratified by the SCPOA membership and then signed by the parties. 

ARTICLE VIII - COMPENSATION 

. . . 

11. Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay

The City is experiencing a critical staffing issue resulting from difficulty recruiting and 
retaining Police Officers and Police Sergeants.  To address this critical staffing issue and 
to mitigate the resulting negative impacts upon impacted SCPOA members, the City 
desires to provide a special compensation in the form of retention and recruitment pay to 
stabilize specific public safety recruitment and retention as outlined below: 

A. Effective retroactive to July 1, 2020, represented employees in the classifications
of Police Officer and Police Sergeant who are still on payroll as of the date this First
Amendment is approved by City Council shall receive an additional 6% of base hourly
non-pensionable compensation for hours worked from July 1, 2020 through the end of the
term of the SCPOA MOU 2018-20.  This benefit shall sunset and shall not continue after
expiration of the SCPOA MOU

A Second Amendment (attached as Exhibit “A” to the proposed resolution) to add the following 
Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay provision to the SCEA MOU 2018-20, which was 
ratified by the SCEA membership and then signed by the parties. 

Item 9

72



ARTICLE VIII - COMPENSATION 

. . . 

4. Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay

The City is experiencing a critical staffing issue resulting from difficulty recruiting and 
retaining Police Officers and Dispatchers.  To address this critical staffing issue and to 
mitigate the resulting negative impacts upon impacted SCEA members, the City desires to 
provide a special compensation in the form of retention and recruitment pay to stabilize 
specific public safety recruitment and retention as outlined below: 

A. Effective retroactive to July 1, 2020, represented employees in the classifications
of Public Safety Dispatcher and Senior Public Safety Dispatcher who are still on
payroll as of the date this Second Amendment is approved by City Council shall
receive an additional 6% of base hourly non-pensionable compensation for hours
worked from July 1, 2020 through the end of the term of the SCEA MOU 2018-20.
This benefit shall sunset and shall not continue after expiration of the SCEA MOU
2018-20 unless specifically negotiated and confirmed in writing by the parties.

A Third Amendment (attached as Exhibit “A” to the proposed resolution) to add the following 
Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay and Fire Duty Chief Standby Pay provisions to the 
SCMPEA MOU 2018-20, which was ratified by the SCMPEA membership and then signed by the 
parties. 

ARTICLE VII - COMPENSATION 

. . . 

4. Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay

The City is experiencing a critical staffing issue resulting from difficulty recruiting and 
retaining Police Officers and Dispatchers, classifications that are supervised by SCMPEA 
represented classifications of Police Commander and Dispatch & Records Supervisor.  To 
address this critical staffing issue and to mitigate the resulting negative impacts upon 
impacted SCMPEA members, the City desires to provide a special compensation in the 
form of retention and recruitment pay to stabilize specific public safety recruitment and 
retention, and extend a similar benefit to the impacted supervising SCMPEA members as 
outlined below: 

A. Effective retroactive to July 1, 2020, Police Commanders still on payroll as of the
date this Third Amendment is approved by City Council shall receive an additional
6% of base hourly non-pensionable compensation for hours worked from July 1,
2020 through the end of the term of the SCMPEA MOU 2018-20.  This benefit
shall sunset and shall not continue after expiration of the SCMPEA MOU 2018-20
unless specifically negotiated and confirmed in writing by the parties.

Item 9

73



B. Effective retroactive to July 1, 2020, Dispatcher & Records Supervisors who are
still on payroll as of the date this Third Amendment is approved by City Council
shall receive an additional 6% of base hourly non-pensionable compensation for
hours worked from July 1, 2020 through the end of the term of the SCMPEA MOU
2018-20.  This benefit shall sunset and shall not continue after expiration of the
SCMPEA MOU 2018-20 unless specifically negotiated and confirmed in writing
by the parties.

5. Fire Duty Chief Standby Pay

Due to the City's inability to afford full-time staff to serve as a Fire Duty Chief for each 
24-hour shift, Fire Division Chiefs may be assigned to serve as Fire Duty Chief on a
standby basis in addition to regular hours worked, typically overnight and on regularly
scheduled days off. Effective retroactive to July 1, 2020,  Fire Division Chiefs assigned to
serve as Duty Chief shall receive non-pensionable Fire Duty Chief Standby Pay per
assigned shift as follows: $200 per weekday evening shift (5:01 p.m. to 8:29 a.m.), $200
per weekend day shift (8:30 a.m. to 8:29 p.m.), and $200 per weekend evening shift (8:30
p.m. to 8:29 a.m.). It is expected that such assignment would be made on monthly basis
taking the form of a rotation between participants to reduce the burden on any single
individual and to distribute evenly the assignment to the maximum extent possible. The
Fire Chief may share in this assignment rotation. For example, if three Employees were to
share Fire Duty Chief responsibilities, each would be assigned 10 days spread over a 30-
day month, adjusted appropriately for months of greater or lesser days.  Employees must
be scheduled for Fire Duty Chief Standby in such a manner as to ensure at least two-
consecutive days off (e.g., no regular or standby work assignment) each week of a month
to the maximum extent possible.  The Fire Chief shall have the sole ability to schedule the
Fire Duty Chief assignments based on staffing, budget, and operational discretion as he/she
sees fit, but shall not assign him/herself any greater participation than assigned to any single
Fire Division Chief to the maximum extent possible and/or mutually agreed upon allotment
between the Chief Officers.

RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the City Council adopt the following: 

A. Resolution No. 2020-__: Approving a First Amendment to the Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) between the City of Suisun City and the Suisun City Police
Officers’ Association (SCPOA) effective December 28, 2018 through December 31, 2020,
to Add Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay to the MOU

B. Resolution No. 2020-__: Approving a Second Amendment to the Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) between the City of Suisun City and the Suisun City Employees
Association (SCEA) effective December 28, 2018 through December 31, 2020, to Add
Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay to the MOU

C. Resolution No. 2020-__: Approving a Third Amendment to the Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) between the City of Suisun City and the Suisun City Management
and Professional Employees Association (SCMPEA) effective December 28, 2018 through
December 31, 2020, to Add Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay and Fire Duty
Chief Standby Pay to the MOU

Item 9

74



ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution No. 2020-__: Approving a First Amendment to the Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) between the City of Suisun City and the Suisun City Police
Officers’ Association (SCPOA) effective December 28, 2018 through December 31, 2020,
to Add Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay to the MOU

2. Resolution No. 2020-__: Approving a Second Amendment to the Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) between the City of Suisun City and the Suisun City Employees
Association (SCEA) effective December 28, 2018 through December 31, 2020, to Add
Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay to the MOU

3. Resolution No. 2020-__: Approving a Third Amendment to the Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) between the City of Suisun City and the Suisun City Management
and Professional Employees Association (SCMPEA) effective December 28, 2018 through
December 31, 2020, to Add Critical Staffing Retention and Recruiting Pay and Fire Duty
Chief Standby Pay to the MOU

Item 9

75



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

76



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-___ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
APPROVING A FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE MEMORANDUM OF 

UNDERSTANDING (MOU) BETWEEN THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY AND THE 
SUISUN CITY POLICE OFFICERS’ ASSOCIATION (SCPOA) EFFECTIVE 

DECEMBER 28, 2018 THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2020, TO ADD CRITICAL 
STAFFING RETENTION AND RECRUITING PAY TO THE MOU 

WHEREAS, on March 5, 2019, the City Council of the City of Suisun City approved 
the SCPOA MOU 2018-20 with the adoption of Resolution No. 2019-17; and 

WHEREAS, in Fiscal Year 2020-21, the City will experience a shortfall of $5.1 million 
in General Fund operating budget. In addition to the already existing and long-term structural 
budget shortfall, measures implemented by local, state, and federal governmental authorities to 
protect public health in response to COVID-19 have imposed additional financial impact on the 
City’s revenues; and 

WHEREAS, as an additional step to address this shortfall, the City is transferring funds 
from Measure S to balance the FY 2020/21 General Fund operating budget; and 

WHEREAS, the City and SCPOA’s authorized labor relations representatives met and 
conferred in good faith pursuant to the requirements of the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act 
(MMBA), Gov’t Code Sections 3500-3511, regarding creating an additional compensation 
benefit for critical staffing retention and recruiting pay for police officers and police sergeants; 
and 

WHEREAS, the City and SCPOA now desire to further amend the SCPOA MOU 2018-
20 by means of this First Amendment in order to provide for an additional compensation benefit 
for critical staffing retention and recruiting pay for police officers and police sergeants, which 
First Amendment was ratified by the SCPOA membership and then signed by the parties below 
as a joint recommendation to City Council, subject to City Council approval and adoption of 
this First Amendment; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of 
Suisun City as follows: 

Section 1. The recitals set forth above are true and correct and incorporated herein 
by this reference. 

Section 2. The First Amendment to the SCPOA MOU 2018-20 between the City 
and SCPOA attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is hereby accepted, approved, and adopted. 

Section 3. Authorize the Finance Director to transfer funds from Measure S to the 
FY 2020/21 General Fund operating budget. 

Item 9 
Attachment 1

77



Resolution No. 2020- 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 2 of 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 4. Effective Date. This resolution is effective upon its adoption. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of said City Council of the City of 
Suisun City duly held on Tuesday, the 17th day of November 2020, by the following vote: 

AYES: Councilmembers: 
NOES: Councilmembers: 
ABSENT: Councilmembers: 
ABSTAIN: Councilmembers: 

WITNESS my hand and the seal of the City of Suisun City this 17th day of November 
2020. 

Donna Pock, CMC 
Deputy City Clerk 

Item 9 
Attachment 1

78



Item 9 
Attchment 1 - Exhibit A

79



Item 9 
Attchment 1 - Exhibit A

80



Item 9 
Attchment 1 - Exhibit A

81



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

82



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-___ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
APPROVING A SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE MEMORANDUM OF 

UNDERSTANDING (MOU) BETWEEN THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY AND THE 
SUISUN CITY EMPLOYEES’ ASSOCIATION (SCEA) EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 28, 

2018 THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2020, TO ADD CRITICAL STAFFING 
RETENTION AND RECRUITING PAY TO THE MOU 

WHEREAS, on February 5, 2019, the City Council of the City of Suisun City approved 
the SCEA MOU 2018-20 with the adoption of Resolution No. 2019-03; and 

WHEREAS, on January 14, 2020, the City Council approved and adopted Resolution 
No. 2020-04, approving a First Amendment to the SCEA MOU 2019-20, to Amend the Night 
Time Hours Differential, Flexible Benefits Options, Uniforms and Uniforms Allowance, and 
Vacation Accrual Provisions of the SCEA MOU 2019-20; and 

WHEREAS, the City and SCPOA’s authorized labor relations representatives met and 
conferred in good faith pursuant to the requirements of the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act 
(MMBA), Gov’t Code Sections 3500-3511, regarding creating an additional compensation 
benefit for critical staffing retention and recruiting pay for police officers and police sergeants; 
and 

WHEREAS, the City and SCPOA now desire to further amend the SCPOA MOU 2018-
20 by means of this First Amendment in order to provide for an additional compensation benefit 
for critical staffing retention and recruiting pay for police officers and police sergeants, which 
First Amendment was ratified by the SCPOA membership and then signed by the parties below 
as a joint recommendation to City Council, subject to City Council approval and adoption of 
this First Amendment; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of 
Suisun City as follows: 

Section 1. The recitals set forth above are true and correct and incorporated herein 
by this reference. 

Section 2. The Second Amendment to the SCEA MOU 2018-20 between the City 
and SCEA attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is hereby accepted, approved, and adopted.

Section 3. Authorize the Finance Director to transfer funds from Measure S to the 
FY 2020/21 General Fund operating budget. 

Section 4. Effective Date. This resolution is effective upon its adoption. 

Item 9 
Attachment 2

83



 

Resolution No. 2020- 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 2 of 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of said City Council of the City of 
Suisun City duly held on Tuesday, the 17th day of November 2020, by the following vote: 
 
AYES: Councilmembers:    
NOES: Councilmembers:    
ABSENT: Councilmembers:    
ABSTAIN: Councilmembers:    
  
 WITNESS my hand and the seal of the City of Suisun City this 17th day of November 
2020. 

 
   
 Donna Pock, CMC 
 Deputy City Clerk 
  

Item 9 
Attachment 2

84



Item 9 
Attachment 2 - Exhibit A

85



Item 9 
Attachment 2 - Exhibit A

86



Item 9 
Attachment 2 - Exhibit A

87



88



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-___ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
APPROVING A FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE MEMORANDUM OF 

UNDERSTANDING (MOU) BETWEEN THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY AND THE 
SUISUN CITY MANAGEMENT AND PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES’ 

ASSOCIATION (SCMPEA) EFFECTIVE DECEMBER 28, 2018 THROUGH 
DECEMBER 31, 2020, TO ADD CRITICAL STAFFING RETENTION AND 

RECRUITING PAY AND FIRE DUTY CHIEF STANDBY PAY TO THE MOU 

WHEREAS, on February 5, 2019, the City Council of the City of Suisun City approved 
the SCMPEA MOU 2018-20 with the adoption of Resolution No. 2019-04; and 

WHEREAS, on January 14, 2020, the City Council approved and adopted Resolution 
No. 2020-05, approving a First Amendment to the SCMPEA MOU 2018-20, to Amend the 
Flexible Benefits Options, Executive Leave Hours, and Vacation Accrual Provisions of the 
MOU; and 

WHEREAS, on May 5, 2020, the City Council approved and adopted Resolution No. 
2020-56, approving a Second Amendment to the SCMPEA MOU 2018-20, to increase 
Certification Pay for Police Commanders, and in order to provide further opportunity to cash 
out additional Executive Leave; and 

WHEREAS, the City and SCPOA’s authorized labor relations representatives met and 
conferred in good faith pursuant to the requirements of the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act 
(MMBA), Gov’t Code Sections 3500-3511, regarding creating an additional compensation 
benefit for critical staffing retention and recruiting pay for police officers and police sergeants; 
and 

WHEREAS, the City and SCPOA now desire to further amend the SCPOA MOU 2018-
20 by means of this First Amendment in order to provide for an additional compensation benefit 
for critical staffing retention and recruiting pay for police officers and police sergeants, which 
First Amendment was ratified by the SCPOA membership and then signed by the parties below 
as a joint recommendation to City Council, subject to City Council approval and adoption of 
this First Amendment; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of 
Suisun City as follows: 

Section 1. The recitals set forth above are true and correct and incorporated herein 
by this reference. 

Section 2. The Third Amendment to the SCMPEA MOU 2018-20 between the City 
and SCMPEA attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is hereby accepted, approved, and adopted. 

Item 9 
Attachment 3

89



Resolution No. 2020- 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 2 of 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 3. Authorize the Finance Director to transfer funds from Measure S to the 
FY 2020/21 General Fund operating budget. 

Section 4. Effective Date. This resolution is effective upon its adoption. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of said City Council of the City of 
Suisun City duly held on Tuesday, the 17th day of November 2020, by the following vote: 

AYES: Councilmembers: 
NOES: Councilmembers: 
ABSENT: Councilmembers: 
ABSTAIN: Councilmembers: 

WITNESS my hand and the seal of the City of Suisun City this 17th day of November 
2020. 

Donna Pock, CMC 
Deputy City Clerk 

Item 9 
Attachment 3

90



Item 9 
Attachment 3 - Exhibit A

91



Item 9 
Attachment 3 - Exhibit A

92



Item 9 
Attachment 3 - Exhibit A

93



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

94



PREPARED BY:  Michelle Pellegrino, Consultant 
REVIEWED & APPROVED BY: Greg Folsom, City Manager 

AGENDA TRANSMITTAL 

MEETING DATE:  November 17, 2020 

CITY AGENDA ITEM:  Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-__: Amending Salary 
Resolutions 2019-87, 2019-93, 2019-106 and 2020-24 and Adopting a Corrected Salary Schedule 
dating back to December 27, 2019. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  There is no financial impact for this agenda item, financial impacts were 
previously approved within the agenda item relating to each change. 

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPACT: 
Provide Good Governance: 

• Section 4.7 – Improve productivity, efficiency, effectiveness, customer service and citizen
satisfaction in all areas of the municipal organization.

• Section 4.8 – Continuously improve the City’s governance process.

BACKGROUND: On July 30, 2019, City Council approved new salary ranges for Police Chief 
and Fire Chief that included a 3.9% Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) that was to be applied to 
the previous approved salary ranges.  However, there was an error in the calculation of the 3.9% 
COLA in the salary ranges made effective December 27, 2019.  This item is correcting this 
calculation error and correcting the previous erroneous salary schedules adopted in the July 30, 
2019 and three subsequent resolutions. 

STAFF REPORT: City staff is bringing a resolution to correct and amend the updated Salary 
Schedule relative to the salary ranges for classification of Fire Chief and the Police Chief which 
were made effective December 27, 2019.  On July 30, 2019, City Council approved the salary 
range for the Fire Chief and Police Chief to be between $10,695 and $13,000 per month, or $61.70 
to $75.00 per hour (Resolution #2019-87).  However, Attachment 2 of Resolution #2019-87 stated 
the automatic COLA adjustment of 3.9% that was to be effective December 27, 2019 and 
incorrectly listed the salary range to be between $10,005 and $13,507 per month, or $52.72 to 
$77.93 per hour which incorrectly lowered the starting salary range for both classifications instead 
of increasing it by 3.9%.  The December 27, 2019 salary range for the Fire Chief and Police Chief 
classification should have been $11,112 to $13,507 per month, or $64.11 to $77.93 per hour, which 
provides the City Council approved COLA increase to both the starting and ending point of the 
salary range.  This error has no impact to the pay that either the current Police Chief or Fire Chief 
received from December 27, 2019 to present.  This error in the two salaries ranges was 
subsequently repeated three additional times when City Council approved the following items: 

City Council Meeting 
Date 

Agenda Item 
# 

Agenda Item Topic Resolution 
# 

September 3, 2019 8 Adding New Fire Department Job 
Classifications, Salary Ranges, and 
Bargaining Unit Placement 

2019-93 

Item 10

95



October 22, 2019 10 Amending the Salary Schedule 
Adopted by Resolution No. 2019-93 
to Update Salary Ranges for Non-
Exempt Fire Department 
Classifications 

2019-106 

March 4, 2020 1 Create Finance Director Job 
Classification and Salary Range 

2020-24 

Since City of Suisun is a member of CalPERS, the City is required to provide a true and correct 
publicly available pay schedule pursuant to California Government Code 20636(b)(1).  Therefore, 
to ensure the correct salary range is documented and publicly available a Resolution amending 
Resolution No. 2019-87, Resolution No. 2019-93, Resolution No. 2019-106 and Resolution No. 
2020-24 and adopting the corrected Salary Schedule dating back to December 27, 2019 is attached. 

RECOMMENDATION:  It is recommended that the City Council: 
1. Adopt Resolution No. 2020- ____: Amending the City of Suisun City Salary Resolution

No. 2019-87, Resolution No. 2019-93, Resolution No. 2019-106 and Resolution No. 2020-
24 and to Adopt a Corrected Salary Schedule dating back to December 27, 2019.

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution No. 2020-__: Amending the City of Suisun City Salary Resolution No. 2019-
87, Resolution No. 2019-93, Resolution No. 2019-106 and Resolution No. 2020-24 and to
Adopt a Corrected Salary Schedule dating back to December 27, 2019

A. Salary Schedule

Item 10

96



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-___ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY
AMENDING THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY SALARY RESOLUTION NO. 2019-87, 

RESOLUTION NO. 2019-93, RESOLUTION NO. 2019-106 AND RESOLUTION NO. 
2020-24 AND TO ADOPT A CORRECTED SALARY SCHEDULE DATING BACK 

TO DECEMBER 27, 2019  

WHEREAS, Section 36506 of the California Government Code requires that the City 
Council of the City of Suisun City fix the compensation of all appointive officers and employees 
by resolution or ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, Suisun City Code Chapter 2.40 establishes a Personnel System that 
includes Classifications to group positions with similar duties and responsibilities into 
categories, and Pay Ranges to establish appropriate compensation for the various classes; and 

WHEREAS, the City Manager is designated as the Personnel Officer with the 
responsibility to prepare, maintain and propose revisions to a Classification Plan and a 
Compensation Plan to be effective upon approval by the City Council; and 

WHEREAS, changes to the City’s Salary Schedule were approved by City Council on 
July 30, 2019 (Resolution No. 2019-87), September 3, 2019 (Resolution No. 2019-93), October 
22, 2019 (Resolution No. 2019-106) and March 4, 2020 (Resolution No. 2020-24); and 

WHEREAS, there was an error in the calculation of the 3.9% Cost of Living 
Adjustment (COLA) that was applied to the salary ranges for the classification of Police Chief 
and Fire Chief  that were effective December 27, 2019 in Resolution No. 2019-87; and 

WHEREAS, attachment 2 of the approved Resolution No. 2019-87 stated the automatic 
COLA adjustment of 3.9% made to the salary ranges to be effective December 27, 2019 for the 
Police Chief and Fire Chief  positions to be between $10,005 and $13,507 per month, or $52.72 
to $77.93 per hour, which incorrectly lowered the starting salary range for both classifications 
instead of increasing it by 3.9%.   

WHEREAS, the December 27, 2019 salary range for the Fire Chief and Police Chief 
classifications should have been $11,112 to $13,507 per month, or $64.11 to $77.93 per hour, 
which correctly states the COLA increase to be applied to both the starting and ending point of 
the salary range for these positions; and 

WHEREAS, this error in the two salaries ranges was subsequently repeated three 
additional times when City Council approved Resolution No. 2019-93, Resolution No. 2019-
106, and Resolution No, 2020-24; and 

WHEREAS, the City Manager has recommended amending and correcting the Salary 
Schedule dating back to December 27, 2019 to address the above errors. 

Item 10 
Attachment 1

97



Resolution No. 2020- 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 2 of 2 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY, 
CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  The City Council hereby amends and corrects the Salary Schedule 
adopted by Salary Resolution No. 2019-87, Salary Resolution No. 2019-93, Salary Resolution 
No. 2019-106, and Salary Resolution No. 2020-24, and adopts the corrected and updated Salary 
Schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of said City Council of the City of 
Suisun City duly held on Tuesday, the 17th day of November 2020, by the following vote: 

AYES: Councilmembers: 
NOES: Councilmembers: 
ABSENT: Councilmembers: 
ABSTAIN: Councilmembers: 

WITNESS my hand and the seal of the City of Suisun City this 17th day of November 
2020. 

Donna Pock, CMC 
Deputy City Clerk 

Item 10 
Attachment 1

98



Item 10 
Attachment 1 - Exhibit A

99



Item 10 
Attachment 1 - Exhibit A

100



Item 10 
Attachment 1 - Exhibit A

101



Item 10 
Attachment 1 - Exhibit A

102



Item 10 
Attachment 1 - Exhibit A

103



Item 10 
Attachment 1 - Exhibit A

104



Item 10 
Attachment 1 - Exhibit A

105



Item 10 
Attachment 1 - Exhibit A

106



Item 10 
Attachment 1 - Exhibit A

107



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

108



PREPARED BY:  Elizabeth N. Luna, Accounting Services Manager 
REVIEWED BY: Lakhwinder Deol, Finance Director 
APPROVED BY: Greg Folsom, City Manager 

AGENDA TRANSMITTAL 

MEETING DATE:  November 17, 2020 

JOINT AGENDA ITEM:  Accept the Investment Report for the Quarter Ending September 30, 
2020. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  No fiscal impact; informational only. 

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPACT:  Ensure Fiscal Solvency; Provide Good Governance. 

BACKGROUND:  Each quarter it is necessary to produce an Investment Report showing how all 
City, Housing Authority, and Suisun-Solano Water Authority’s available cash is invested, in terms 
of the type of investment, what institution it is invested in, and current value and interest earnings. 

STAFF REPORT:  The total cash and investments (par amount) equaled to $38,699,873 for the 
period ending September 30, 2020. In summary, the investment portfolio consists of the following 
governmental funds: 

In terms of return on our investment managed by PFM Asset Management LLC, the current yield 
to maturity at cost 1.50% with an average life of 865 days. The average Local Agency Investment 
Fund return for the current quarter is 0.80%.   

According to PFM’s Quarterly Performance Report, the third quarter strategy encompassed the 
following: 

• Maintained a sharp focus on portfolio safety with robust due diligence on credit products
given the backdrop of a fragile economic environment.

• U.S. Treasury allocation was reduced further as financial markets stabilized and other
sectors presented better investment opportunities to enhance portfolio earnings. Increased
allocations to other investment-grade sectors boosted performance for the second
consecutive quarter.

• The portfolio’s duration was targeted to match its benchmark as few catalysts were present
to push yields meaningfully higher over the near term.

• Continued to increase allocation to the federal agency sector as yield spreads on new issue
bonds remained elevated from a historical perspective, especially for maturities of three
years and longer.

Suisun-Solano 2019 Series Bond Proceeds 6,779,757$     

Energy Conservation Project-ENGIE 381,292$    

Debt Service Reserves 4,102,084$     

General Fund 4,969,772$     

Trust/Fiduciary Funds 7,448,323$     

All Other Funds 15,018,645$   

Total 38,699,873$   

Item 11

109



PFM’ s outlook for major investment-grade sectors includes the following: 
• Agencies – The continued reach for yield and safety should pressure agency spreads back

to pre-COVID levels. Given this backdrop, PFM plan to continue to add to allocations at
current yield spreads, which remain historically wide. Value is concentrated in maturities
of three years and longer.

• Agency MBS – Given the high level of prepayments and potential for heightened market
volatility through the rest of the year, the sector is likely to trail Treasuries. Picking
amongst structures and the coupon stack is vital to performance. PFM is cautious in its
choice of sector and very selective, avoiding coupons on the cusp of potential refinancing.

As can be seen in the Pie Chart on the last page of the attached Investment Report, nearly 85% of 
the cash (other than cash in checking accounts) is invested in federally insured CD’s, US Treasuries 
or Agency Notes, LAIF, all of which generate higher yields.   

RECOMMENDATION:  It is recommended that the Council/Authority accept the Quarter Ending 
September 30, 2020 Financial Officer’s Investment Report. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Financial Officer’s Investment Report, for the Quarter Ending September 30, 2020.

Item 11

110



Item 11 
Attachment 1

111



Item 11 
Attachment 1

112



M I N U T E S 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
SUISUN CITY COUNCIL  

SUISUN CITY COUNCIL ACTING AS SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE 
REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY, 

AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 
TUESDAY, JULY 7, 2020 

6:30 P.M. 

SUISUN CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS -- 701 CIVIC CENTER BOULEVARD -- SUISUN CITY, CALIFORNIA 

NOTICE 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953, Subdivision (b), and Executive Order released on March 12, 2020, 
the following Council/Successor Agency/Housing Authority meeting includes teleconference participation by: 
Council/Board Members Anthony Adams, Jane Day, Michael A. Segala, and Mayor Pro Tem Wanda Williams. 
Teleconference locations are on file at City Hall, 701 Civic Center Blvd., Suisun City, CA 94585. 

DUE TO CORONAVIRUS COVID-19 RESIDENTS ARE ENCOURAGED  
TO ATTEND THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING VIA THE APPLICATION, ZOOM. 

ZOOM MEETING INFORMATION:  
WEBSITE: https://zoom.us/join 

MEETING ID: 870 4858 9571 
CALL IN PHONE NUMBER: (707) 438-1720 

TO VIEW TONIGHT’S MEETING ON SUISUN WEBSITE, LIVESTREAM 
(URL: https://www.suisun.com/government/meeting-video/)  

REMOTE PUBLIC COMMENT IS AVAILABLE FOR THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
BY EMAILING CLERK@SUISUN.COM (PRIOR TO 6pm) OR  

VIA WEBSITE OR PHONE APPLICATION, ZOOM 
ROLL CALL 
Mayor Wilson called the meeting to order at 6:33 PM with the following Council / Board Members 
present:  Adams, Day, Segala, Williams, Wilson. 
Pledge of Allegiance was led by Council Member Williams. 
Invocation was given by City Manager Folsom. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
(Request by citizens to discuss any matter under our jurisdiction other than an item posted on this agenda per 
California Government Code §54954.3. Comments are limited to no more than 3 minutes unless allowable by the 
Mayor/Chair. Speaker cards are available on the table near the entry of the meeting room and should be given to the 
City Clerk. By law, no prolonged discussion or action may be taken on any item raised during the public comment 
period, although informational answers to questions may be given and matters may be referred for placement on a 
future agenda.) 

Steve Olry complimented Fire Chief Vincent and Police Chief Roth for issuing 45 tickets on the 
4th of July for illegal fireworks; reported kids playing on playground equipment at Samuel Gepp 
Park and two basketball games going on. Mr. Olry stated on June 28 the Suisun City proposed 

Item 12

113

https://zoom.us/join
https://www.suisun.com/government/meeting-video/
mailto:CLERK@SUISUN.COM


July 7, 2020 City Council / Successor Agency / Housing Authority Page 2 

operating budget was $47.3 million the General Fund projects $15.9 million revenue, believes 
Suisun City is in a recession and believes the council does not use common sense because they are 
spending money in a declining economy. He stated the council was squandering money on studies; 
and he was not in favor of more taxes. 

George Guynn said ditto to what Steve Olry said; was surprised the City was still standing with all 
the illegal fireworks on the 4th; and stated on June 18 there was a memo from the State with regard 
to masks with eight exceptions and did not feel the mayor was following the rules. 

City Clerk Hobson summarized an email from David Casey who was also concerned about the 
fireworks and felt fireworks should not be sold in Suisun City. 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST NOTIFICATION - None 
(Any items on this agenda that might be a conflict of interest to any Councilmembers / Boardmembers should be 
identified at this time.)rucr 

REPORTS:  (Informational items only.) 
1. COVID-19 Update – (Folsom: gfolsom@suisun.com).

George Guynn said a lot more attention should be paid to the economy rather than civid.
2. July 4th Illegal Fireworks Update – (Vincent: jvincent@suisun.com).

Steve Olry stated if 950 more tickets were issued it would pay for a hook and ladder truck
and suggested the City may want to consider a hot-tip line next year.

PRESENTATIONS/APPOINTMENTS 
(Presentations, Awards, Proclamations, Appointments). 

City Council 
3. Presentation of Plaque to Allen Rainey, Retiring after 15 Years of Service with Suisun City

Public Works Department – (Medill: mmedill@suisun.com).
Public Works Director Medill presented the plaque and Public Works Supervisor Jim Herron
praised Rainey’s work ethics and presented a present from the Public Works employees.

4. Presentation of Proclamation Proclaiming July 2020, as “Parks Make Life Better Month!®.”
(Lofthus: klofthus@suisun.com).

CONSENT CALENDAR 
Consent calendar items requiring little or no discussion may be acted upon with one motion. 

City Council 
5. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-84: Authorizing the City Manager to Execute a

Contract with Matrix Consulting Group to conduct a Needs Assessment for the Suisun City
Police Department (SCPD) – (Roth: aaroth@suisun.com).

6. Resolutions Calling for, Requesting Consolidation of November 3, 2020 General Municipal
Election and Adopting Regulations Pertaining to Candidate Statements – (Folsom:
gfolsom@suisun.com).

Item 12

114

mailto:gfolsom@suisun.com
mailto:jvincent@suisun.com
mailto:mmedill@suisun.com
mailto:klofthus@suisun.com
mailto:aaroth@suisun.com
mailto:gfolsom@suisun.com


July 7, 2020 City Council / Successor Agency / Housing Authority Page 3 

a Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-85: Giving Notice and Calling for the Holding 
of a General Municipal Election to be Held on Tuesday, November 3, 2020, for the Election 
of Certain Officers as Required by the Provisions of the Laws of the State of California 
Relating to General Law Cities; and 

b Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-86: Requesting the Board of Supervisors of the 
County of Solano to Consolidate a General Municipal Election to be Held on Tuesday, 
November 3, 2020, with the Statewide General Election to be Held on the Date Pursuant 
to Section 10403 of the Elections Code; and 

c Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-87: Adopting Regulations for Candidates for 
Elective Office Pertaining to Candidates Statements Submitted to the Voters at an Election 
to be Held on Tuesday, November 3, 2020. 

7. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-88:  Updating Annual Work Plan of the Public
Safety & Emergency Management Citizen Advisory Committee – (Folsom:
gfolsom@suisun.com).
Council Member Adams asked to pull Item 5 and motioned to approve Items 6 and 7.
Motioned seconded by Council Member Williams. Motion carried unanimously by the
following roll call vote:
AYES:   Council Members Adams, Williams, Day, Segala, Wilson
ITEM 5
Motioned by Council Member Adams and seconded by Council Member Williams to
adopt Resolution No. 2020-84.

George Guynn suggested this should not be done with current deficit in the budget.

Motion carried by the following roll call vote:
AYES: Council Members: Adams, Segala, Williams, Wilson 
NOES: Council Member Day 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

GENERAL BUSINESS 

City Council 
8. Submission of a Transactions and Use Tax (“ Sales Tax”) Measure at the November 3, 2020,

Election, which includes:  (Folsom:  gfolsom@suisun.com).
a. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-89:  Calling and Giving Notice of the Holding

of a General Municipal Election to be held on November 3, 2020, for the Purpose of
Submitting to the Voters a Measure,  which adds Chapter 3.15 to Title 3 of the Suisun City
Municipal Code thereby Establishing an Additional Transaction and Use General Tax;
Requesting the County of Solano to Consolidate the City’s General Municipal Election to
be held on November 3, 2020, with the Statewide General Election to be held on that fate
Pursuant to Section 10403 of the Elections Code; and Approving the Ordinance Adding
Chapter 3.15 as Provided Above.

Item 12

115

mailto:gfolsom@suisun.com
mailto:gfolsom@suisun.com


July 7, 2020 City Council / Successor Agency / Housing Authority Page 4 

b. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-90:  Authorizing the Drafting of Arguments,
Setting Priorities for Filing Written Argument(s) and Directing the City Attorney to
Prepare an Impartial Analysis, Regarding a City Measure, Entitled The Suisun City
Essential Services and Public Safety Protection Measure, Submitted at the General
Municipal Election on November 3, 2020.

c. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-91: Providing for the Filing of Rebuttal
Argument Regarding a City Measure, Entitled Suisun City Essential Services and Public
Safety Protection Measure, Submitted at the General Municipal Election on November 3,
2020.

d Council Introduction and first reading, by title only, of the Proposed Sales Tax Ordinance, 
Imposing a Transactions and Use General Tax to be Administered by the California 
Department of Tax and Fee Administration. 

Barbara Fishing, member of the Measure S Committee, stated Suisun City would then have a 
1.75% tax and recommended the Council request the Measure S Committee to advocate for 
this tax measure because it is necessary to keep this city functioning. 
George Guynn stated if this measure passes Suisun City will have a higher sales tax than 
Fairfield and this would have a negative impact on getting new businesses to come to town 
and stated he would like the tax measure to require 2/3 vote to pass. He also stated that WalMart 
was  supposed to solve all our problems and then it was  Measure S was to solve everything. 
Mayor Wilson entertained a motion. 
Motioned by Council Member Williams. 
City Clerk Hobson asked if the council could vote on resolutions and then introduce the 
ordinance? Mayor Wilson said yes. City Attorney Taylor said he had a different view and 
recommended the council take a-d. and asked Council Member Williams to confirm her motion 
to include a-d. Council Member Williams said yes. 
Motion was seconded by Council Member Adams. 
After Council discussion, City Attorney cautioned if there were significant changes, it could 
have significant impacts.  
Council Member Adams stated the ordinance said fire three times before it says police, 
suggested “Maintain general City services such as police, fire and 911 emergency.” and then 
where it says neighborhood police patrols change to “neighborhood policing.” After City 
Manager Folsom explained 64% of the people polled were in favor of this specific language, 
Council Member Adams withdrew his changes. 
Motion failed by the following roll call vote: 
AYES:  Council Members Williams, Adams, Wilson 
NOES: Council Members Day, Segala 
(Note a 4/5 vote was needed) 
Mayor Wilson asked if there was a substitute motion and asked the City Attorney if the amount 
could be changed? City Attorney stated the amount could be reduced.   

Item 12

116



July 7, 2020 City Council / Successor Agency / Housing Authority Page 5 

Council Member Adams asked if there was another amount that the two councilmembers 
voting no would consider? 
Mayor Wilson asked if one of the dissenting voters would consider a lesser tax? Council 
Members Segala and Day said no. 
Mayor Wilson explained that reports would be given, and then public comment taken and there 
would be no reports or public comment during the second meeting.  

REPORTS:  (Informational items only.) 
9. a. Council/Boardmembers

Council Member Day complimented the Fire Department for their 4th of July activity and
suggested using the Scanner Group and Neighborhood Watch groups for assistance next year.

Council Member Adams expressed concern about the Fire Department when the budget comes
back, and more cuts will be needed; apologized to staff on behalf of council because more cuts
will be coming; and stated people should remember the vote tonight when voting on election
day.

Council Member Segala complimented staff for their work on the tax measure and stated he
continued to support our democracy and the democratic process.

Council Member Williams stated the democratic process was just eliminated tonight by not
passing this measure and now our citizens and our community are going to suffer without
giving them the opportunity to make the decision; stated Mr. Olry comes in faithfully to
complain about trash and now less will be done; and stated remember to think about this on
November 3rd.

b. Mayor/Chair
Mayor Wilson reported she would normally be reporting on upcoming events such as July 13 
meeting on homelessness, however, without resources nothing can be done. On Saturday, July 
18 the group led by Dave Anderson who lives in Old Town will be putting on anther jam 
session and cleaning up the community. Instead of Clean Teams being a want to they are now 
a have to. She stated she was disappointed and agreed with Council Member Williams that the 
democratic process was not served today and as Council Member Adams noted the republic 
processes of representative government is happening in full force. There is an ability with in 
the republic process to represent and at some point, we have to turn it over to the voters for the 
democratic part. Tonight, the Council decided for them. She echoed the comments made by 
Council Members Adams and Williams in regard to staff, stating you are already doing more 
with less and this evening you have been cut off even more. She stated a few weeks ago there 
were council members who voted for no cuts and no furloughs and then subsequently voted no 
to giving the people a chance to save services and save staff.  

10. City Manager/Executive Director/Staff
City Manager Folsom just stated he was very disappointed.

Item 12

117



July 7, 2020 City Council / Successor Agency / Housing Authority Page 6 
 
 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
(Additional time for request by citizens to discuss any matter under our jurisdiction other than an item posted on this 
agenda limited to no more than 3 minutes.) 
 
Barbara Fisching stated 54% of the people polled were in favor of this tax measure; stating you 
asked the people what they wanted and now the rug has been taken out from beneath them. It’s a 
sales tax; when you buy something, you will be taxed. You have to give the people who expressed 
the willingness to pay the extra sales tax the right to vote on it. 
 
Mayor Wilson asked City Attorney Taylor what would have to happen in order to bring this 
back before the time expires? City Attorney Taylor said if there was a change in the vote by 
either of the council members who voted no on the sales tax measure, they could do a motion 
to consider tonight or the matter could be brought back to council; but we are running out 
of time very quickly; it would have to be brought back next week. 
 
City Clerk Hobson summarized an email from Michael Zeiss stating he wanted to discuss the 
committee’s work plan on facial recognition; stated the Council agreed to develop such a policy 
and he would like to talk to someone about it. 
 
Alma Hernandez wanted to express how robbed she felt because the council had the opportunity 
to present to her and to every resident of the City an opportunity to say how they felt, and we could 
move forward in regard to this tax. She stated what she did not hear from the dissenting voters was 
an alternative solution. We would all hurt a little bit, but we would all rise up together. She stated 
we had celebrated a person who had served the City well and now that doesn’t even matter. She 
pleaded with the dissenting voters to look at all the implications of what this vote means and how 
it robs our community members to have a voice. 
 
Wayne Day stated they had been in business for over forty years and businesses have set-a-sides. 
In the last couple of years, I’ve watched this City spend this set-a-side. There was money put aside 
every year for dredging, that’s wiped out. There are people on the council who have talked about 
prior councils that didn’t do the right thing, however, when we first moved here this town was a 
slum and now you have a beautiful waterfront. Sometimes you have to tighten your belt for tough 
times and that’s what they did; but now you have squandered all that money. So, coming to the 
people with a tax is not the answer. 

ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, Mayor Wilson adjourned the meeting at 8:28 PM. 

 

________________________ 
Linda Hobson, CMC 
City Clerk 
 
 

Item 12

118



M I N U T E S 

SPECIAL MEETING OF THE SUISUN CITY COUNCIL 
TUESDAY, JULY 7, 2020 

6:30 P.M. 
(or immediately following the scheduled 6:30 pm regular meeting) 

SUISUN CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS -- 701 CIVIC CENTER BOULEVARD -- SUISUN CITY, CALIFORNIA 

NOTICE 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953, Subdivision (b), and Executive Order released on March 12, 2020, 
the following Council/Successor Agency/Housing Authority meeting includes teleconference participation by: 
Council/Board Members Anthony Adams, Jane Day, Michael A. Segala, and Mayor Pro Tem Wanda Williams. 
Teleconference locations are on file at City Hall, 701 Civic Center Blvd., Suisun City, CA 94585. 

DUE TO CORONAVIRUS COVID-19 RESIDENTS ARE ENCOURAGED  
TO ATTEND THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING VIA THE APPLICATION, ZOOM. 

ZOOM MEETING INFORMATION:  
WEBSITE: https://zoom.us/join 
MEETING ID: 895 2066 7801 

CALL IN PHONE NUMBER: (707) 438-1720 

TO VIEW TONIGHT’S MEETING ON SUISUN WEBSITE, LIVESTREAM 
(URL: https://www.suisun.com/government/meeting-video/)  

REMOTE PUBLIC COMMENT IS AVAILABLE FOR THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
BY EMAILING CLERK@SUISUN.COM (PRIOR TO 6pm) OR  

VIA WEBSITE OR PHONE APPLICATION, ZOOM 

ROLL CALL 
Mayor Wilson called the meeting to order at 8:35 PM with the following Council / Board Members 
present:  Adams, Day, Segala, Williams, Wilson. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
(Request by citizens to discuss any matter under our jurisdiction other than an item posted on this agenda per 
California Government Code §54954.3. Comments are limited to no more than 3 minutes unless allowable by the 
Mayor/Chair. Speaker cards are available on the table near the entry of the meeting room and should be given to the 
City Clerk. By law, no prolonged discussion or action may be taken on any item raised during the public comment 
period, although informational answers to questions may be given and matters may be referred for placement on a 
future agenda.) 

Mayor Wilson had explained in the previous meeting that there would be no further public 
comments in this meeting on items not on the agendas. 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST NOTIFICATION - None 
(Any items on this agenda that might be a conflict of interest to any Councilmembers / Boardmembers should be 
identified at this time.) 

Item 12

119

https://zoom.us/join
https://www.suisun.com/government/meeting-video/
mailto:CLERK@SUISUN.COM


July 7, 2020 City Council Page 2 

REPORTS:  (Informational items only.) 

PRESENTATIONS/APPOINTMENTS 
(Presentations, Awards, Proclamations, Appointments). 

GENERAL BUSINESS 
City Council 
1. Submission of a Measure to the City’s Voters that Proposes to Change the Elective Office of the

City Clerk to Appointive, which includes the adoption of the following resolutions: (Folsom:
gfolsom@suisun.com).
a. Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-93: Calling and Giving Notice of the Holding of a General

Municipal Election to be Held on November 3, 2020, for the Purpose of Submitting to the
Voters a Measure Changing the Office of the City Clerk from Elective to Appointive;
Requesting the County of Solano to Consolidate the Submission of this Measure at the
City’s General Municipal Election to be Held on November 3, 2020, with the Statewide
General Election to be Held on that Date Pursuant to Section 10403 of the Elections Code.

b. Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-94:  Authorizing the Drafting of Arguments, Setting
Priorities for Filing Written Argument(s) and Directing the City Attorney to Prepare an
Impartial Analysis, Regarding a City Measure Proposing to Change the Office of the City
Clerk from an Elective Office to an Appointive Office, Submitted at the General Municipal
Election on November 3, 2020.

c. Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-95:  Providing for the Filing of Rebuttal Argument
Regarding a City Measure, Changing the Office of the City Clerk from an Elective Office to
an Appointive Office Thereby Allowing the City Council to Appoint the City Clerk, 
Submitted at the General Municipal Election on November 3, 2020. 

City Attorney Taylor stated if this measure is passed, it would not take effect immediately 
that is consistent with State Law. The appointment would start after the election in 2024; 
the only exception to that would be if for some reason the position became vacant between 
2020 and 2024 the standard election rules would be followed just like when Council 
Member Adams was appointed to fill the council seat. The appointment of the city clerk 
would give the option to fill that position from existing staff and this would save money for 
the City. This would provide more flexibility in the requirements for specialization and 
training. Currently under the laws for elections there is a requirement of residency, but 
the City cannot impose the same amount of training and specialization… 
As a matter of formality, I am going to read the ordinance title for the other reading 
 “An Ordinance of the People of the City of Suisun City adding Chapter 2.10 to the Title 2 
of the Suisun City Municipal Code thereby, Making the Office of City Clerk Appointive.” 
For this item the way its set up under applicable law under Government Code it requires 
three votes of the Council to submit it to the voters. 
Council Member Segala asked about the term of the City Clerk. City Attorney Taylor said 
the City Clerk shall be appointed by the City Council. The next section is the Powers and 
Duties as may be assigned by the City Council from time to time and the duration would 
be up to the City Council if this is approved by the voters. 

Item 12

120

mailto:gfolsom@suisun.com


July 7, 2020 City Council Page 3 

George Guynn stated having an elected city clerk works better; reported the City of Dixon was 
having a lot of trouble with an appointed clerk; with an elected city clerk, you have independence 
and a balance of power with what is recorded in the minutes and suggested keeping the position 
elected. 
City Clerk Hobson noted the ordinance was not on the agenda. City Attorney Taylor stated 
it would suffice to have the ordinance as an attachment to one of the resolutions and for 
transparency he had read the title of the ordinance for the first reading. 
Steve Olry agreed with Mr. Guynn, because nepotism and favorites could be appointed; and 
stated an elected city clerk works independently. 
Council Member Adams stated appointing one would give them the ability to have someone 
with a higher skill set and one that could be vetted. 
Council Member Segala stated he had researched pros and cons between elected and appointed. 
He read as an appointed City Clerk you’re about one more employee of the City Council; as 
an elected City Clerk you are not accountable to the City Council nor the City Manager but 
directly to the electorate. Being directly responsible to the people is the biggest plus. 
Council Member Williams stated she had looked at a lot of cities and saw there were appointed 
and elected clerks and thought it should be given over to the voters and allow them to be a part 
of this democratic process. 
Mayor Wilson stated the duties of the City Clerk has expanded through the years and the 
liability related to the duties has increased. By law the minimum requirement is being of voting 
age and registered to vote. Liability across the state where people have done things in the 
position that they shouldn’t have is great. The City bares the liability not the person. I look at 
this as an opportunity to insure the City Clerk has the skills and necessary certifications to do 
the job well. We are accountable to the people; and when we make poor decisions they hold 
us accountable. The City Clerk can have a direct lawsuit. We need to find ways to reduce cost; 
it may not be much; right now, the City Clerk costs the City $20,000 and a significant portion 
of that cost is born by staff; so, the $20,000 is extra. It is the cost of medical benefits which 
includes $100 cash payout for cash allowance. With the savings associated with it and the 
additional benefits of having skilled City Clerk is why I’ll be supporting this to go to the voters. 
City Clerk Hobson suggested voting on resolutions and then the ordinance separately as 
we always do. City Attorney Taylor recommended the council vote on all three together. 
Motioned by Council Member Adams and seconded by Mayor Wilson to adopt 
Resolution Nos. 2020-93, 2020-94 and 2020-95. Motion carried by the following roll call 
vote: 
AYES: Council Members Adams, Williams, Wilson 
NOES: Council Members Day, Segala 

2. Submission of a Measure to the City’s Voters that Proposes Setting Term Limits for the Mayor
and Members of the City Council, which includes the adoption of the following resolutions:
(Folsom:  gfolsom@suisun.com).
a. Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-96: Calling and Giving Notice of the Holding of a General

Municipal Election to be Held on November 3, 2020, for the Purpose of Submitting to the
Voters a Measure,  Establishing Term Limits for Offices of the Mayor and Members of the

Item 12

121

mailto:gfolsom@suisun.com


July 7, 2020 City Council Page 4 

City Council; Requesting the County of Solano to Consolidate the Submission of this 
Measure at the City’s General Municipal Election to be Held on November 3, 2020, with 
the Statewide General Election to be Held on that Date Pursuant to Section 10403 of the 
Elections Code; and 

b. Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-97: Authorizing the Drafting of Arguments, Setting
Priorities for Filing Written Argument(s) and Directing the City Attorney to Prepare an
Impartial Analysis, Regarding a City Measure Regarding City Council Term Limits,
Submitted at the General Municipal Election on November 3, 2020; and

c. Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-98: Providing for the Filing o Rebuttal Argument
Regarding a City Measure Regarding City Council Term Limits, Submitted at the General
Municipal Election on November 3, 2020.
City Attorney Taylor stated what is before you this evening is the potential submittal
to the voters of a measure that would impose term limits and these term limits that
are proposed here are lifetime term limits… the item before you is proposed four
terms for both Mayor and Council and this would be lifetime. This term limit does
not start until after the November 2020 for those Council Members running and that
would be if the voters approved it. For those members whose terms end in 2022 it
wouldn’t start until their next term and it would be four terms after that. It applies
to the Mayor and the Council Members. The more difficult part is set forth in the
ordinance a combination. If you had the situation the way this is drafted and this is
subject to Council’s discussion and changes that Council proposes. On pages 31 and
32 we give an example of a situation where you have somebody that served on Council
for three terms after 2020 election, and they then decide to run for Mayor, if they had
already served three terms during that period they would only be eligible to serve one
term as Mayor. The way this is structured it may be modified. The other caveat is
how do we handle a situation of an appointment in the future. So let’s say two years
from now if this measure was to pass with term limits, if they were appoint to fill a
vacant Council seat, would that appointed time count towards the four maximum
terms or would it not count? The way that we’ve done that is following the Elections
Code to say if you ended up being appointed more than half the term it would count.
City Attorney Taylor read the Ordinance title “An Ordinance of the People of the
City of Suisun City Setting Term Limits for Offices of Mayor and Members of the
City Council by Adding Section 2.04.060 “Term Limits” to Chapter 2.04 of the Suisun
City Municipal Code.” He stated this requires three votes to submit it to the voters.
Mayor Wilson proposed four terms as Council and up to two terms subsequently
following as Mayor.
George Guynn stated this change was not necessary, if the people wanted a change they
would vote the council member out.
Steve Olry thought the voters should take care of this and said the first term is like an
apprenticeship, second term a council member gets warmed up, and then good decisions
can be made with experience.
Council Member Day felt experience was important to make good decisions.

Item 12

122



July 7, 2020 City Council Page 5 
 
 

 

Council Member Adams stated when the people were polled 82% of the polled people in 
the US was in favor of term limits. How does someone compete against someone who has 
been on Council for 20-30 years? We have a couple people on the Council that have been 
here a long time and they just voted to take away the vote of the people for democracy; 
they also voted to not cut staff, so experience does not always matter, sometimes wisdom 
and judgement matter more.  
Council Member Segala stated he liked the Mayor’s idea of four and two. He stated it does 
take a while to understand the process. 
Council Member Williams stated she liked Mayor Wilson’s recommendation of four terms 
and two terms. She stated the State Assembly has term limits; on an average most cities 
have term limits. She stated she was in favor of giving the voters their right to decide if 
they would like to impose term limits.  
Mayor Wilson stated she had ran on this position and many people had said yes; she hopes 
they will do the same in the fall. There’s no other way to say it; I think everything done in 
secret should come to light; it’s something I live by.  I have seen, while serving on this 
Council during the first six years, Council Members delay votes until election year; I have 
seen Council Members say yes on non-election years and then say no on election years, 
violating their own principles just because it serves them well in the election. I have seen 
people on this Council, some are here and some are not, make those types of decisions and 
that’s why there is an advantage serving on this Council. This gives us an opportunity to 
ensure that when a Council Member serves on this elected body that they are focused on 
doing what they can in the limited time they have. It ensures that while they serve on this 
body knowing they have a limited time that they are looking for whose next. Who is the 
person who will carry the things that I think are important for this community and that 
represents the people who sent me here. That’s what term limits does; it does not allow 
people to play games; and opens it up for someone else to come in. It allows people to 
serve faithfully and it allows someone to serve sixteen years, that means a person who was  
born that year will be sixteen and old enough to drive. That’s a long time. Most people 
don’t even stay at their job sixteen years. This will give the opportunity for leadership and 
force people to create opportunities for others. I have seen the government work 
systematically against people in the community and varying shades of color and for me it’s 
not just about bringing fresh ideas, not just leveling the playing field, but it’s about equity 
and that’s why I support it. 
City Attorney 
Mayor Wilson stated the following:  I am going to entertain a motion for this item to 
include that a person serving four terms as a council member could serve a 
subsequent two terms as mayor; with that I’ll entertain a second. Council Member 
Segala said second.  
City Attorney Taylor proposed the following changes to the ordinance: 
 
Section 2.04.060 Term Limits 
A. Except as provided below, no person shall be elected or appointed to more than 

four (4) terms as an elected mayor or member of the city council in the City of 
Suisun City. For the purpose of calculating the number of terms, the terms served 

Item 12

123



July 7, 2020 City Council Page 6 

by a person elected or appointed to an elected office of the City Council in the City 
of Suisun City shall be aggregated with terms served that person in any other 
elected office of the City Council of Suisun City. For example, if a single person 
serves three (3) terms as mayor, that same person can only serve one (1) more 
term either as mayor or a city council member. 
Except that a council member with four (4) terms can serve up to two (2) terms as 
mayor. 

Mayor Wilson maintained her motion and Council Member Segala maintained 
his second. Motion carried unanimously by the following roll call vote: 
Ayes: Council Members Segala, Adams, Day, Williams, Wilson 

Mayor Wilson stated for the public record; if any member with a dissenting vote on any item 
in the regular and general meeting wish to change their vote, they can do so by sending a 
letter to the Agenda Committee which is the Mayor and City Manager; and the item they 
dissented on will be reconsidered. 

REPORTS:  (Informational items only.) 
3. a. Council/Boardmembers

b. Mayor/Chair
4. City Manager/Executive Director/Staff

The reports were given in the preceding meeting.

PUBLIC COMMENT - None 
(Additional time for request by citizens to discuss any matter under our jurisdiction other than an item posted on this 
agenda limited to no more than 3 minutes.) 

ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, Mayor Wilson adjourned the meeting at 9:22 PM. 

________________________ 
Linda Hobson, CMC 
City Clerk 

Item 12

124



M I N U T E S 

SPECIAL MEETING OF THE SUISUN CITY COUNCIL 
ACTING AS SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 

TUESDAY, OCTOBER 6, 2020 
6:00 P.M. 

SUISUN CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS -- 701 CIVIC CENTER BOULEVARD -- SUISUN CITY, CALIFORNIA 

NOTICE 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953, Subdivision (b), and Executive Order released on March 12, 2020, 
the following Council/Successor Agency meeting includes teleconference participation by: 
Council/Board Members Anthony Adams, Jane Day, Michael A. Segala, and Mayor Pro Tem Wanda Williams. 
Teleconference locations are on file at City Hall, 701 Civic Center Blvd., Suisun City, CA 94585. 

PER GOVERNOR NEWSOM’S EXECUTIVE ORDER PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE 
SUCCESSOR AGENCY MEETING WILL BE VIA THE APPLICATION, ZOOM 

ZOOM MEETING INFORMATION:  

WEBSITE: https://zoom.us/join 
MEETING ID:  886 6503 2384 

CALL IN PHONE NUMBER: (707) 438-1720 

TO VIEW TONIGHT’S MEETING ON SUISUN WEBSITE, LIVESTREAM 
(URL: https://www.suisun.com/government/meeting-video/)  

REMOTE PUBLIC COMMENT IS AVAILABLE FOR THE SUCCESSOR AGENCY MEETING 
BY EMAILING CLERK@SUISUN.COM (PRIOR TO 4:30pm) OR  

VIA WEBSITE OR PHONE APPLICATION, ZOOM 

ROLL CALL 
Mayor Wilson called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM with the following Council / Board Members 
present:  Adams, Day, Segala, Williams, Wilson. 
PUBLIC COMMENT - None 
(Request by citizens to discuss any matter under our jurisdiction other than an item posted on this agenda per 
California Government Code §54954.3. Comments are limited to no more than 3 minutes unless allowable by the 
Mayor/Chair. Speaker cards are available on the table near the entry of the meeting room and should be given to the 
City Clerk. By law, no prolonged discussion or action may be taken on any item raised during the public comment 
period, although informational answers to questions may be given and matters may be referred for placement on a 
future agenda.) 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST NOTIFICATION  -  None 
CLOSED SESSION 
Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54950 the Suisun City Council Acting as 
Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency will hold a Closed Session for the purpose of: 
Successor Agency 
1. Conference with Legal Counsel - Significant Exposure to Litigation (1 potential case)

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(2) 

Item 12

125

https://zoom.us/join
https://www.suisun.com/government/meeting-video/
mailto:CLERK@SUISUN.COM


October 6, 2020 Successor Agency Page 2 

6:00 PM – Mayor Wilson recessed the meeting to Closed Session. 
CONVENE OPEN SESSION 
Announcement of Actions Taken, if any, in Closed Session. 

6:45 PM – Mayor Wilson reconvened the meeting and stated no action was taken 
in Closed Session. 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business, Mayor Wilson adjourned the meeting at 6:45 PM. 

________________________ 
Linda Hobson, CMC 
City Clerk 

Item 12

126



M I N U T E S 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
SUISUN CITY COUNCIL  

SUISUN CITY COUNCIL ACTING AS SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE 
REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY, 

AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 6, 2020 

6:30 P.M. 

SUISUN CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS -- 701 CIVIC CENTER BOULEVARD -- SUISUN CITY, CALIFORNIA 

NOTICE 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953, Subdivision (b), and Executive Order released on March 12, 2020, 
the following Council/Successor Agency/Housing Authority meeting includes teleconference participation by: 
Council/Board Members Anthony Adams, Jane Day, Michael A. Segala, and Mayor Pro Tem Wanda Williams. 
Teleconference locations are on file at City Hall, 701 Civic Center Blvd., Suisun City, CA 94585. 

PER CITY POLICY, MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ARE REQUIRED TO WEAR FACE MASKS WHILE IN CITY 
FACILITIES. IF YOU DO NOT HAVE A FACE MASK, ONE WILL BE PROVIDED FOR YOU.  

DUE TO CORONAVIRUS COVID-19 RESIDENTS ARE ENCOURAGED  
TO ATTEND THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING VIA THE APPLICATION, ZOOM. 

ZOOM MEETING INFORMATION:  
WEBSITE: https://zoom.us/join 
MEETING ID: 880 3965 4025 

CALL IN PHONE NUMBER: (707) 438-1720 

TO VIEW TONIGHT’S MEETING ON SUISUN WEBSITE, LIVESTREAM 
(URL: https://www.suisun.com/government/meeting-video/)  

REMOTE PUBLIC COMMENT IS AVAILABLE FOR THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
BY EMAILING CLERK@SUISUN.COM (PRIOR TO 6pm) OR  

VIA WEBSITE OR PHONE APPLICATION, ZOOM 

(If attending the meeting via phone press *9 to raise your hand and *6 to unmute/mute for public comment.) 

(Next Ord. No. – 775) 
 (Next City Council Res. No. 2020 – 124) 

Next Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency Res. No. SA2020 - 02) 
 (Next Housing Authority Res. No. HA2020 – 01) 

ROLL CALL 
Mayor Wilson called the meeting to order at 6:46 PM with the following Council / Board Members 
present:  Adams, Day Segala, Williams, Wilson. 
Pledge of Allegiance was led by Council Member  
Invocation was given by City Manager Folsom. 

Item 12

127

https://zoom.us/join
https://www.suisun.com/government/meeting-video/
mailto:CLERK@SUISUN.COM


October 6, 2020 City Council / Successor Agency / Housing Authority Page 2 
 
 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
(Request by citizens to discuss any matter under our jurisdiction other than an item posted on this agenda per 
California Government Code §54954.3. Comments are limited to no more than 3 minutes unless allowable by the 
Mayor/Chair. Speaker cards are available on the table near the entry of the meeting room and should be given to the 
City Clerk. By law, no prolonged discussion or action may be taken on any item raised during the public comment 
period, although informational answers to questions may be given and matters may be referred for placement on a 
future agenda.) 

Mike Hudson expressed concern about rough roads and trash near construction sites. 

Jeremy Sneider, Vice President of POA, discussed council members salary being highest in Solano 
County and police officer positions not being filled.  

Steve Olry discussed, weed abatement, failure to restrict people in parks, budget deficit and 
appointments to commissions. 

Victor Bogalas concerned about being homeless and where to park his motorhome. 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST NOTIFICATION  - None 
(Any items on this agenda that might be a conflict of interest to any Councilmembers / Boardmembers should be 
identified at this time.) 

REPORTS:  (Informational items only.) 
1. COVID-19 Update – (Folsom: gfolsom@suisun.com).  

PRESENTATIONS/APPOINTMENTS 
(Presentations, Awards, Proclamations, Appointments). 

2. Mayoral Appointments: 
Appointment to Recreation, Parks, Marina and Arts Commission (One appointment to term 
expiring January 2021, one appointment to term expiring January 2023) – (Wilson: 
lwilson@suisun.com).  
Mayor Wilson announced Tyler Wilson, her son, and Dave Anderson were applicants for 
the two appointments. She also announced she was implementing a new recruiting 
process for doing new appointments. On December 8, 5:30-6:30 she will be hosting an 
open house so that people interested in serving on a commission can ask questions and 
learn what it means to serve on a committee. December 22 is the deadline for applicants 
and the appointments will be made in January. She then recused herself at 7:16 PM. 
 
Council Member Adams motioned to confirm the appointment of Tyler Wilson for the 
term expiring January 2021 and Dave Anderson for the term expiring January 2023 to 
the Recreation, Parks, Marina and Arts Commission; motion seconded by Vice Mayor 
Williams.  Motion carried by the following roll call vote: 
AYES:  Council Members: Adams, Day, Williams 
ABSTAINED: Council Member Segala 
ABSENT:  Mayor Wilson (Conflict of Interest) 
 
Deputy Clerk Pock administered the Oath of Office for Tyler Wilson and Dave 
Anderson. 

Item 12

128

mailto:gfolsom@suisun.com
mailto:lwilson@suisun.com


October 6, 2020 City Council / Successor Agency / Housing Authority Page 3 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
Consent calendar items requiring little or no discussion may be acted upon with one motion. 

City Council 
3. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020 - 124:  Amending the Council Norms and Procedures

to Address the Handling of Emailed Comments – (Anthony Taylor, City Attorney).
4. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020 - __:  Approving the Parcel Map for Parcel 4 (APN:

0173-830-040), Accepting Offers of Dedication and Authorizing the Public Works Director and
City Clerk to Sign the Parcel Map – (Medill:  mmedill@suisun.com).

Housing Authority 
5. Housing Authority Adoption of Resolution No. HA 2020-01:  Authorizing the Executive

Director to Execute a Due Diligence and Exclusive Negotiation Agreement Regarding
Approximately the Property known as Almond Gardens Located at 709 Almond Street -  (Folsom:
gfolsom@suisun.com).

Joint City Council / Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency/Housing Authority 
6. Council/Agency/Authority Approval of the Minutes of the Regular and/or Special Meetings of

the Suisun City Council, Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency, and Housing
Authority held on September 15, 2020 – (Hobson: clerk@suisun.com).
Council Member Williams asked that Items 3, 4 and 5 be pulled from Consent
Calendar.
Motioned by Council Member Williams and seconded by Council Member Adams to
approve Consent Calendar Items 6. Motion carried unanimously by the following roll
call vote:
AYES: Council Members: Adams, Day, Segala, Williams, Wilson

Item 3
Motioned by Council Member Williams and seconded by Council Member Segala to
adopt Resolution No. 2020-124 amending it to read:

File the full document and ask the community member to pinpoint the key points they
would like summarized and have it read during the meeting.

Motion carried unanimously by the following roll call vote:
AYES: Council Members: Adams, Segala, Day, Williams
NOES: Mayor Wilson

Item 4

Motioned by Council Member Adams and seconded by Mayor Wilson to adopt
Resolution No. 2020-__. Motion failed by the following roll call vote:
AYES: Council Members: Adams, Wilson
NOES: Council Members Day, Segala, Williams

Item 12

129

mailto:mmedill@suisun.com
mailto:gfolsom@suisun.com
mailto:clerk@suisun.com


October 6, 2020 City Council / Successor Agency / Housing Authority Page 4 

Item 5 

Laura Cole-Row  
Motioned by Council Member Day and seconded by Council Member Williams to adopt 
Resolution No. HA2020-01. Motion carried unanimously by the following roll call vote: 
AYES: Council Members: Adams, Segala, Day, Williams, Wilson 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

GENERAL BUSINESS 
City Council 
7. A. Consideration of the Following for the Historic Waterfront Business Improvement

District: (Folsom:  gfolsom@suisun.com). 
a. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-126: Accepting the 2020 Annual Report,

and Approving the Proposed Calendar Year 2021 Operating Budget for the Suisun
City Historic Waterfront Business Improvement District.

b. Council Adoption of Resolutions No. 2020-127: Declaring its Intention to Levy
and Collect Assessments within the Suisun City Historic Waterfront Business
Improvement District for Calendar/Fiscal Years 2020 and 2021 and Announcing
That the Associated Public Hearing Will Be Held on October 20, 2020.

Mike Hudson suggested waiving fees for 2020 and the Council should oversee the BID. 
Mike Zeiss compliment the BID for clarification and expressed concern if lowering the 
assessments if would jeopardize the cleanup of the downtown. 
Motioned by Council Member Segala and seconded by Council Member Day to adopt 
Resolutions No. 2020-126 and No. 2020-127. Motion carried unanimously by the 
following roll call vote: 

  AYES:  Council Members Adams, Day, Segala, Williams, Wilson 
B. Consideration of the Following for the Historic Waterfront Business Improvement

District: (Folsom:  gfolsom@suisun.com).
a. Council Adoption of Resolutions No. 2020-128: Declaring its Intention to Levy

and Collect Assessments within the Suisun City Historic Waterfront Business
Improvement District for Calendar/Fiscal Year 2021 and Announcing That the
Associated Public Hearing Will Be Held on December 15, 2020.

Motioned by Council Member Adams and seconded by Council Member Williams 
to adopt Resolution No. 2020-128. Motion carried unanimously by the following 
roll call vote: 
AYES: Council Members Adams, Day, Segala, Williams, Wilson 

8:26 PM – Mayor Wilson recessed the meeting. 
8:38 PM - Mayor Wilson reconvened the meeting. 

Item 12

130

mailto:gfolsom@suisun.com
mailto:gfolsom@suisun.com


October 6, 2020 City Council / Successor Agency / Housing Authority Page 5 

8. Council Discussion and Direction:  FY 2020-21 Budget Update:  Presentation of the Financial
Position of the City through FY 2020-21 Budget Update - (Deol: ldeol@suisun.com).
Tom Alder expressed concern about public safety, cuts in police, code enforcement, parks,
recreation, no cuts are being made in fire, and $1.8 million being taken from Measure S.
Mike Hudson suggested some of the figures given tonight are inaccurate; expressed concern
about using Measure S to make payroll, police personnel shortage, and stated with this budget
update a new sales tax was not needed.
George Guynn discussed council salaries being higher than Fairfield, meetings taking longer
than Fairfield’s, lack of road work, and legal fees not being shown.
Alma Hernandez stated Measure S money was having to be used this year because of the shortfall
and stated working through this year collectively was important; and it’s important for the
community to understand why the City is having to use Measure S funds this year; and it’s
important for the community to see what programs had to be cut so that when a tax measure is
brought up again the community will understand the need.

9:50 PM – Council Member Day left meeting. 
Ruth Forney stated new ideas and projects should not be put into the current budget and wished 
that people did not compare the police department with the fire department because they are 
equally important to our city. 
Mayor Wilson and City Manager Folsom clarified there would be no police cuts, youth and 
senior programs were cut due to Covid 19, sales tax increased because people are having to shop 
online, police and fire make up 95% of budget, sales tax increased because people are shopping 
online rather than going to other cities and new tax was needed to address shortfalls in road 
repairs and dredging.  
City Attorney Taylor compared legal fees between August 2018-August 2019 and August 2019-
August 2020 and the fees had dropped $31,000. 
City Attorney Taylor recommended the City Council reconsider the vote on Item 4 and 
stated the developer has already moved forward and had a vested interest in the project 
and the city could be found liable.  He stated the Council could approve the item, or deny 
it with certain legal findings such as danger to public safety, or continue the item. 
Motioned by Council Member Adams and seconded by Council Member Williams to 
adopt Resolution No. 2020-125. Motion carried unanimously by the following roll call 
vote: 
AYES: Council Members Adams, Williams, Wilson 
NOES: Council Member Segala 
ABSENT:  Council Member Day 

REPORTS:  (Informational items only.) 
9. a. Council/Boardmembers

Council Member Adams reported a homeless were obstructing the Central County Bikeway. 

Item 12

131

mailto:ldeol@suisun.com


October 6, 2020 City Council / Successor Agency / Housing Authority Page 6 

Council Member Segala reported the bikeway should not be a home for the homeless, fences 
should be mended, and expressed concern about fire department inspection of Virgil’s Fishing 
Derby being shut down by fire department and suggested the fire depart help by telling them 
what would make it work. 

Council Member Williams asked for and received a consensus regarding a moratorium on gas 
stations; encouraged Good Neighbor Policy to go forward; participated in Census Popup and 
food distribution; and reported she would be attending the League of California Cities 
conference.  

b. Mayor/Chair
Mayor Wilson reported census deadline was extended to October 31 and explained by 
completing the census would bring money to the City, two college graduates are taking over 
the Adopt a Street Program, and received consensus to have staff work on the donation bin,  
City Manager/Executive Director/Staff 

City Manager Folsom reported there would be a Zoom workshop regarding McCoy Creek 
Trail, there is ballot drop off box was in city hall, and city hall would be closed Monday for 
Columbus Day. 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
(Additional time for request by citizens to discuss any matter under our jurisdiction other than an item posted on this 
agenda limited to no more than 3 minutes.) 

Mayor Wilson explained this public comment was created for people who could not make the first 
public comment. 

Mike Hudson stated Measure S was never intended to be a paycheck protection, expressed concern 
about bike path and breached fences, and suggested weed abatement in various parts of the city. 

ADJOURNMENT 
There being no further business, Mayor Wilson adjourned the meeting at 10:30 PM. 

________________________ 
Linda Hobson, CMC 
City Clerk 

Item 12

132



PREPARED BY: Kris Lofthus, Recreation, Parks, and Marina Director 
APPROVED BY: Greg Folsom, City Manager 

AGENDA TRANSMITTAL 

MEETING DATE:  November 17, 2020 

CITY AGENDA ITEM: Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-____: Authorizing the City 
Manager to Utilize Prop 68 Per Capita Funds to Rehabilitate Heritage Park and Replace the Play 
Structure at Montebello Vista Park.  

FISCAL IMPACT: Utilization of up to $14,723 of Park Development Funds.  After this 
expenditure, there would be an account balance of $156,962.  The City is not required to provide a 
match for the Heritage Park Project, but is required to provide a 20% match for the Montebello Vista 
Project.   

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPACT:  Provide Good Governance and Enhance Environment 

BACKGROUND: This item was presented to the City Council on September 15, 2020 and it was 
recommended that the scope of work be revised and to use the funds to upgrade current assets.  
The revised plan was presented to the Recreation, Parks, Marina, and Arts Commission on 
November 3, 2020 and was unanimously supported.   

Heritage Park is the central park complex for Suisun City and is the home of the Joseph Nelson 
Community Center.  The current park has a variety of amenities that includes a play space for all 
play structure, a challenge course, 1 full-court basketball court, an exterior restroom facility, 1 
general field of play, and 1 softball field with no outfield fence, but does have lighting.  The 
Recreation, Parks, and Marina Department (RPM) is always searching new ways of creating more 
opportunities for recreation and sports programming, as well as revenue generating programs.  
With upgrades, Heritage Park has the potential to become a minor sports complex.  The current 
play field is hazardous with a number of large trip hazards, unlevel ground, irrigation issues, and 
is in generally poor condition for use as a sports field. 

Part of the city’s aging infrastructure are the play structures located within the park system.  A 
number of playgrounds have reached or are about to reach their expected useful life.  The city 
has received current safety inspection reports for the play structures and though many are aging, 
they are still safe to operate with minor maintenance issues being addressed.  Unfortunately, the 
play structure at Montebello Vista Park was found to be hazardous and has been fenced off to 
protect the community until a replacement can be installed. 

STAFF REPORT: Proposition 68 Per Capita Funds are available for local park rehabilitation, 
creation, and improvements to local governments on a per capita basis. Grant recipients are 
encouraged to utilize awards to rehabilitate existing infrastructure and to address deficiencies in 
neighborhoods lacking access to the outdoors. The City of Suisun City has been awarded $177,952 

Item 14

133



in per capita funding.  It is the intent of RPM to submit plans to fund the renovation of Heritage Park 
and replace the play structure at Montebello Vista Park.    

At Heritage Park, one light pole was relocated 75 feet to the north to open the grass play area and 
provide a larger open space for field sports.  By moving the light pole, RPM will be able to 
accommodate two full size soccer fields.  This light relocation was completed as part of the Engie 
Light Upgrade Project.  It is recommended that the infield dirt area be improved to a grass surface. 
In order to do this, additional irrigation would need to be added.  The current softball field gets 
minimal use and we have four fields at the Lambrecht Sports Complex to accommodate softball / 
baseball play.  The external restrooms are in desperate need of a remodel and with proper 
restrooms, use of the fields would increase.  The purchase of a concession trailer will assist with 
revenue generation by providing food services at Heritage Park during league games and 
tournaments.  The base line concession trailer has a delivered purchase price of $21,000 and will 
be the last purchase of this project.  If contingency funds are not expended, an upgraded concession 
trailer would be purchased. 

Estimated revenue generation is as follows: 
• Heritage Park Sports Fields - $40,000 annually
• Park Rental Increase Due to Restroom Upgrade - $5,000 annually
• Concessions for Sports Fields - $10,000 annually

Total Estimated Revenue - $55,000/year 

The play structure located at Montebello Vista Park will be removed and a new safe play structure 
will be installed.  RPM is applying for Proposition 68 Round 4 funds to renovate the entirety of 
Montebello Vista Park, but those are competitive funds with no guarantee of receiving any funding 
for the project.  Current health and safety issues with the current play structure must be addressed 
prior to those funds being available.  This singular item will be removed from the proposed grant 
application for Proposition 68 Round 4 Funding.  RPM has been awarded discount pricing from 
GameTime in the amount of $31,333.85 as part of a national grant program.  The matching portion 
of this project will utilize Park Development funds in the amount of $14,723 as this is an expansion 
of the current play structure to accommodate more users.  Determination of required match is based 
on the location of the project site using the Community Fact Finder, an online tool utilized by the 
State of California.  

RECOMMENDATION:  Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2020-____: Authorizing the City 
Manager to Utilize Prop 68 Per Capita Funds to Rehabilitate Heritage Park and Replace the Play 
Structure at Montebello Vista Park. 

ATTACHMENTS:  
1. Resolution No. 2020-____: Authorizing the City Manager to Utilize Prop 68 Per Capita

Funds to Rehabilitate Heritage Park and Replace the Play Structure at Montebello Vista
Park

2. Budget Estimates
3. PowerPoint Presentation

Item 14

134



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020- 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO UTILIZE PROP 68 PER CAPITA 
FUNDS TO REHABILITATE HERITAGE PARK AND REPLACE THE PLAY 

STRUCTURE AT MONTEBELLO VISTA PARK 

WHEREAS, the State Department of Parks and Recreation has been delegated the 
responsibility by the Legislature of the State of California for the administration of the Statewide 
Park Development and Community Revitalization Grant Program, setting up necessary procedures 
governing the application; and 

WHEREAS, said procedures established by the State Department of Parks and Recreation 
require the Applicant to certify by resolution the approval of the application before submission of 
said application to the State; and 

WHEREAS, successful Applicants will enter into a contract with the State of California 
to complete the Grant Scope project; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council hereby approves the 
filing of an application for the Montebello Vista Park Project; AND 

1. Certifies that said Applicant has or will have available, prior to commencement of any
work on the project included in this application, the sufficient funds to complete the
project; and

2. Certifies that if the project is awarded, the Applicant has or will have sufficient funds to
operate and maintain the project; and

3. Certifies that the Applicant has reviewed, understands, and agrees to the General
Provisions contained in the contract shown in the Grant Administration Guide; and

4. Delegates the authority to the City Manager to conduct all negotiations, sign and submit
all documents, including, but not limited to applications, agreements, amendments, and
payment requests, which may be necessary for the completion of the Grant Scope; and

5. Agrees to comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, ordinances, rules,
regulations and guidelines; and

6. Will consider promoting inclusion per Public Resources Code §80001(b)(8 A-G).
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of

Suisun City held on Tuesday the 17th day of November 2020 by the following vote: 
AYES: Council Members: 
NOES: Council Members: 
ABSENT: Council Members: 
ABSTAIN: Council Members: 

WITNESS my hand and the seal of said City this 17th day of November 2020. 

Donna Pock, CMC 
Deputy City Clerk 

Item 14 
Attachment 1

135



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

136



Prop 68 Per Capita Park Project Budget
Attachment 2

HERITAGE PARK SPORTS FIELDS

Rental Fencing $2,500 
Turf Aeration $3,000 Rental Aerator + Staff Time
Soil Analysis $1,500 Field Sample and Lab Work

Soil Amendment $7,000 Fertilizer + Rental + Staff Time
Rototill and Grade Infield $3,000 Soil + Rental + Staff Time

Top Dress Soil in Low Areas $5,500 Soil + Rental + Staff Time
Irrigation Modifications to Infield $5,000 Irrigation Materials + Staff Time

Irrigation System Repairs $3,500 Irrigation Materials + Staff Time
Over seed Turf $12,000 Seed all 3.5 acres

Concession Trailer Purchase $21,000 Portable Concession Trailer
Demolish Backstop and Fencing $1,540 Staff/Volunteers

15% Contingency $9,831 
Total $75,371 

HERITAGE PARK RESTROOMS

Partition Replacement $4,100 
Fixtures $3,000 

Floor Sealant $1,000 
Upgraded Lighting $1,000 

Pass Key Locks $2,800 
15% Contingency $1,785 

Total $13,685 

Heritage Park Total $89,056 

MONTEBELLO VISTA PARK PLAY 
STRUCTURE

2 Bay Prime Time Swings $3,055 
Custom Power Scape Unit $62,362 

Pour in Place Fall Protection $34,562 
Grant Price Reduction ($31,334)

Tax $2,854 
Freight $4,139 

Installation $35,476 
Total $111,114 

Matching Funds - Park Development Fund 
20% of MBV Park  Play Structure Project

Required Grant Match $22,223
Removal $2,000 Staff Time, Volunteers, Equipment

Item 14 
Attachment 2

137



Staff Time $5,500 Project Administration

Park Development Fund Cost $14,723

Authorized Grant Amount $177,952

Heritage Park Total Project Cost $89,056
MBV Total Project Cost $111,114
Total Matching Funds MBV Project $22,223

Balance $5

Item 14 
Attachment 2

138



Pr
op

os
iti

on
 6

8 
Pe

r 
C

ap
ita

 P
ro

gr
am

 G
ra

nt

Item 14 
Attachment 3

139



Fu
nd

s 
ar

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

fo
r l

oc
al

 p
ar

k 
re

ha
bi

lit
at

io
n,

 
cr

ea
tio

n,
 a

nd
 im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 to

 lo
ca

l g
ov

er
nm

en
ts

 o
n 

a 
pe

r c
ap

ita
 b

as
is

.
Su

is
un

 C
ity

 w
ill 

re
ce

iv
e 

$1
77

,9
52

 
H

er
ita

ge
 P

ar
k 

–
N

o 
m

at
ch

in
g 

fu
nd

s
M

on
te

be
llo

 V
is

ta
 P

ar
k 

–
20

%
 m

at
ch

in
g 

fu
nd

s

Item 14 
Attachment 3

140



H
ER

IT
A

G
E 

PA
R

K
 R

EN
O

VA
TI

O
N

•
In

st
al

la
tio

n 
of

 2
00

’ o
f I

rri
ga

tio
n 

pi
pe

 &
 s

pr
in

kl
er

s
•

R
em

ov
in

g 
di

rt 
in

fie
ld

 a
nd

 re
pl

ac
in

g 
it 

w
ith

 g
ra

ss
•

R
em

ov
al

 o
f b

ac
ks

to
p,

 fe
nc

in
g,

 a
nd

 b
le

ac
he

rs
•

R
em

od
el

 o
f c

ur
re

nt
 re

st
ro

om
 fa

ci
lit

ie
s

•
C

re
at

in
g 

2 
fu

ll 
fie

ld
 s

oc
ce

r f
ie

ld
s

•
Pu

rc
ha

se
 c

on
ce

ss
io

n 
tra

ile
r

•
Es

tim
at

ed
 A

nn
ua

l R
ev

en
ue

 -
$5

5,
00

0

Item 14 
Attachment 3

141



Item 14 
Attachment 3

142



M
on

te
be

llo
 V

is
ta

 P
ar

k 
Pl

ay
 S

tr
uc

tu
re

•
Pl

ay
 S

tru
ct

ur
e 

w
as

 e
va

lu
at

ed
 in

 O
ct

ob
er

 2
02

0 
by

 a
 C

er
tif

ie
d

Pl
ay

gr
ou

nd
 S

af
et

y 
In

sp
ec

to
r (

C
PS

I) 
th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
C

ity
 R

is
k

M
an

ag
m

en
t P

oo
l

•
C

ur
re

nt
ly

 fe
nc

ed
 o

ff 
du

e 
to

 h
el

at
h 

an
d 

sa
fe

ty
 h

az
ar

d
•

M
us

t b
e 

re
m

ov
ed

 a
nd

 a
 n

ew
 s

tru
ct

ur
e 

in
st

al
le

d

•
O

rig
in

al
ly

 p
la

nn
ed

 a
s 

pa
rt 

of
 th

e 
Pr

op
os

iti
on

 6
8 

R
ou

nd
 4

su
bm

is
si

on
, b

ut
 th

os
e 

fu
nd

s 
ar

e 
no

t g
ua

ra
nt

ee
d

•
D

is
co

un
t o

f $
31

,3
44

 a
s 

pa
rt 

of
 a

 N
at

io
na

l G
ra

nt
 P

ro
gr

am
.

Th
is

 g
ra

nt
 c

an
no

t c
ou

nt
 a

s 
th

e 
m

at
ch

in
g 

re
qu

ire
m

en
t

Item 14 
Attachment 3

143



Item 14 
Attachment 3

144



Item 14 
Attachment 3

145



Pr
op

os
iti

on
 6

8 
Pe

r C
ap

ita
 B

ud
ge

t

H
E

R
IT

A
G

E
 P

A
R

K
 S

PO
R

TS
 F

IE
L

D
S

R
en

ta
l F

en
ci

ng
$2

,5
00

 
Tu

rf
 A

er
at

io
n

$3
,0

00
 

R
en

ta
l A

er
at

or
 +

 S
ta

ff
 T

im
e

So
il 

A
na

ly
sis

$1
,5

00
 

Fi
el

d 
Sa

m
pl

e 
an

d 
La

b 
W

or
k

So
il 

A
m

en
dm

en
t

$7
,0

00
 

Fe
rti

liz
er

 +
 R

en
ta

l +
 S

ta
ff

 T
im

e
R

ot
ot

ill
 a

nd
 G

ra
de

 In
fie

ld
$3

,0
00

 
So

il 
+ 

R
en

ta
l +

 S
ta

ff
 T

im
e

To
p 

D
re

ss
 S

oi
l i

n 
Lo

w
 A

re
as

$5
,5

00
 

So
il 

+ 
R

en
ta

l +
 S

ta
ff

 T
im

e
Ir

rig
at

io
n 

M
od

ifi
ca

tio
ns

 to
 In

fie
ld

$5
,0

00
 

Ir
rig

at
io

n 
M

at
er

ia
ls 

+ 
St

af
f T

im
e

Ir
rig

at
io

n 
Sy

st
em

 R
ep

ai
rs

$3
,5

00
 

Ir
rig

at
io

n 
M

at
er

ia
ls 

+ 
St

af
f T

im
e

O
ve

r s
ee

d 
Tu

rf
$1

2,
00

0 
Se

ed
 a

ll 
3.

5 
ac

re
s

C
on

ce
ss

io
n 

Tr
ai

le
r P

ur
ch

as
e

$2
1,

00
0 

Po
rta

bl
e 

C
on

ce
ss

io
n 

Tr
ai

le
r

D
em

ol
ish

 B
ac

ks
to

p 
an

d 
Fe

nc
in

g
$1

,5
40

 
St

af
f/V

ol
un

te
er

s
15

%
 C

on
tin

ge
nc

y
$9

,8
31

 
To

ta
l 

$7
5,

37
1 

Item 14 
Attachment 3

146



Pr
op

os
iti

on
 6

8 
Pe

r C
ap

ita
 B

ud
ge

t C
on

t.

H
E

R
IT

A
G

E
 P

A
R

K
 R

E
ST

R
O

O
M

S

Pa
rti

tio
n 

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
$4

,1
00

 
Fi

xt
ur

es
$3

,0
00

 
Fl

oo
r S

ea
la

nt
$1

,0
00

 
U

pg
ra

de
d 

Li
gh

tin
g

$1
,0

00
 

Pa
ss

 K
ey

 L
oc

ks
$2

,8
00

 
15

%
 C

on
tin

ge
nc

y
$1

,7
85

 
To

ta
l

$1
3,

68
5 

H
er

ita
ge

 P
ar

k 
To

ta
l

$8
9,

05
6 

Item 14 
Attachment 3

147



Pr
op

os
iti

on
 6

8 
Pe

r C
ap

ita
 B

ud
ge

t C
on

t.
M

O
N

TE
B

E
L

L
O

 V
IS

TA
 P

A
R

K
 P

L
A

Y
 

ST
R

U
C

TU
R

E

2 
B

ay
 P

rim
e 

Ti
m

e 
Sw

in
gs

$3
,0

55
 

C
us

to
m

 P
ow

er
 S

ca
pe

 U
ni

t
$6

2,
36

2 
Po

ur
 in

 P
la

ce
 F

al
l P

ro
te

ct
io

n
$3

4,
56

2 
G

ra
nt

 P
ric

e 
R

ed
uc

tio
n

($
31

,3
34

)
Ta

x
$2

,8
54

 
Fr

ei
gh

t
$4

,1
39

 
In

st
al

la
tio

n
$3

5,
47

6 
To

ta
l

$1
11

,1
14

 

M
at

ch
in

g 
Fu

nd
s -

 P
ar

k 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t F

un
d 

20
%

 o
f M

B
V

 P
ar

k 
 P

la
y 

St
ru

ct
ur

e 
Pr

oj
ec

t

R
eq

ui
re

d 
G

ra
nt

 M
at

ch
$2

2,
22

3
R

em
ov

al
 

$2
,0

00
St

af
f T

im
e,

 V
ol

un
te

er
s, 

Eq
ui

pm
en

t
St

af
f T

im
e 

$5
,5

00
Pr

oj
ec

t A
dm

in
ist

ra
tio

n

Pa
rk

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t F
un

d 
C

os
t

$1
4,

72
3

Item 14 
Attachment 3

148



Pr
op

os
iti

on
 6

8 
Pe

r C
ap

ita
 B

ud
ge

t C
on

t.

A
ut

ho
ri

ze
d 

G
ra

nt
 A

m
ou

nt
$1

77
,9

52

H
er

ita
ge

 P
ar

k 
To

ta
l P

ro
je

ct
 C

os
t

$8
9,

05
6

M
B

V
 T

ot
al

 P
ro

je
ct

 C
os

t
$1

11
,1

14
To

ta
l M

at
ch

in
g 

Fu
nd

s M
B

V
 P

ro
je

ct
$2

2,
22

3

B
al

an
ce

$5

Item 14 
Attachment 3

149



Q
u
e
st

io
n
s 

o
r 

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

?

Item 14 
Attachment 3

150



PREPARED BY:  John Kearns, Senior Planner 
REVIEWD/APPROVED BY: Greg Folsom, City Manager 

AGENDA TRANSMITTAL 

MEETING DATE: November 17, 2020 

CITY AGENDA ITEM: Discussion and Direction Regarding Selection of Up to Two Storefront 
Retailers in Response to the Request for Applications (RFA). 

FISCAL IMPACT: The ultimate selection of an identified retailer will generate cannabis tax 
and sales tax revenues to the City. Revenues are dependent on the operations and the full scope of 
their business plan. When the Commercial Cannabis Business Permit is brought through the 
entitlement process, a more specific revenue figure will be provided. 

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPACT: Develop sustainable economy; Ensure fiscal solvency. 

BACKGROUND: The City has discussed cannabis regulations, appropriate tax rates, and user 
fees on several occasions over the past three plus years. Below is a condensed timeline which 
shows key discussions and milestones since beginning the discussion in March 2017: 

• March 21, 2017 – First City Council Briefing and Policy Discussion
• June 7, 2017 – Cannabis Policy Community Meeting
• May 29, 2018 - City Council adopted Ordinance No. 750, adding Chapter 18.49

(“Cannabis Regulatory Program”) to the Suisun City Code (SCC).
• November 26, 2019 – City Council set applicable tax rates for cannabis related activities

with the passage of Resolution 2019-120.
• December 3, 2019 – City Council directed staff to prepare amendments to Chapter 18.49

that would expand opportunities for retail storefronts and various text amendments.
• December 17, 2019 – City Council amended Master Fee Schedule which included cannabis

application fee and Commercial Cannabis Business Permit fee increases.
• January 9, 2020 to May 7, 2020 – Request for Applications (RFA) period for up to three

retail storefronts.
• January 28, 2020 – Staff holds a cannabis applicant workshop at Suisun City Hall.
• March 17, 2020 – City Council adopts Ordinance No. 768 which increased the number of

retail storefront locations from one to three and expanded the eligible zoning districts.
• June 16, 2020 – City Council provides staff direction on first round of RFA process.
• September 22, 2020 – Cannabis Ad Hoc holds interviews for RFA respondents.

The City’s Request for Applications (RFA) process was open from July 15, 2020 to September 1, 
2020. Throughout the open period, staff responded to questions, maintained the cannabis page on 
the website, and sent direct emails to the interest list. Staff hand-delivery of each of the proposals. 

After opening and closing the RFA period and holding applicant interviews, it is now time to have 
the discussion with the entire City Council and receive direction on how staff should move 
forward. 

Item 15

151



STAFF REPORT: As a result of the RFA, the City received four applications. Below is a brief 
description of each of the applications, as well as information on the RFA process and the Ad Hoc 
meeting (including recommendation). 

Brief Description of the Applications Received 

Railroad Clinica Center (Blossom/Railroad) 

The applicants are Juan Garcia-Flores, Ana Garcia, and Jaime Corona (landowner). The proposed 
location is on a vacant parcel at the southwest corner of Blossom and Railroad Avenue (1348 
Blossom Avenue). If granted the Commercial Cannabis Business Permit, they would undertake 
constructing a new building (3,000 square feet). This applicant applied to the first RFA earlier this 
year and made some modifications to that plan as a result of the feedback from the Ad Hoc 
Committee. Some of the modifications include updates to the pro-forma and the air quality plan. 
The applicants have two existing cannabis licenses (Vallejo and Pacifica). 

Cannabissary (Humphrey/Railroad) 

The applicant (and landowner) is Dr. Verna Schuetter. She owns five vacant parcels at the 
southwest corner of Humphrey Drive and Railroad Avenue. The proposal is for an approximate 
2,500 square retail cannabis building with future Cannabis Business Zone expansion. This 
applicant applied to the first RFA earlier this year and modified the current application to address 
some of the concerns received through the initial RFA. Some of the modifications include more 
effort going into the pro-forma and development timeline, as well as bringing experienced people 
from the cannabis industry onto her team. The applicant does not have any existing cannabis 
licenses; however, she is a resident of Suisun City. 

Element 7 (300 Railroad Avenue) 

The applicant is the Element 7. The proposed location is at 300 Railroad Avenue (at the north east 
corner of Sunset Avenue and Railroad Avenue). The proposal is to initially operate from the 
existing building while ultimately constructing a new building on-site from their ultimate buildout. 
The location is somewhat isolated in that existing roadways and the railroad tracks separate the 
parcel from any other plot of land. According to their application, they have been issued cannabis 
permits in eight communities with operations in Walnut Creek, and South San Francisco opening 
by the end of this calendar year. Two members of the leadership team are existing Suisun City 
business owners. 

Eagle Eye Suisun (Sunset Shopping Center) 

The applicant is the Vallejo Holistic Health Center (VHHC). The proposed location is at 141 
Sunset Avenue Suite G (location faces Merganser Drive). The proposal is to locate in an existing 
2,400 square foot suite at the Sunset Shopping Center. The location was proposed by another 
applicant through the first round of RFA’s. One of the identified issues with the location at that 
time was the apparent limitation in parking. To address this issue, the applicant and property owner 
have agreed to allow up to 30 parking spaces in the rear of the shopping center.   They hold seven 
cannabis licenses throughout California including Vallejo, Napa, Cloverdale, and San Francisco. 
The applicant is not an existing Suisun City resident or business owner. 

Item 15

152



Selection of “Recommended Operator” Process and Next Steps 
According to Section 18.49.160(B) “Commercial Cannabis Retailer (Storefront and Non-
Storefront): Establishment, Operating Standards and Restrictions –Storefront 
Retailers/Dispensaries: Request for Applications (RFA) Process,” there are necessary steps in 
which the City must take in order to complete the RFA process. This includes a discussion before 
the entire City Council regarding a recommended operator(s).  

Following the steps leading to the present (i.e. RFA period, application review, Ad Hoc 
interviews), the full City Council is now being asked to provide staff direction on one or more 
recommended operators. As stated previously, once a recommended operator(s) has been 
identified, staff will work with the operators and go through the entitlement process for a 
Commercial Cannabis Business Permit (CCBP). This will include public hearings before both 
the Planning Commission and City Council. Much like a conditional use permit, staff will 
distribute the application(s) to all city departments and work on developing a set of conditions of 
approval specific to the location. It is important to recognize that the CCBP is discretionary.  

Ad Hoc Recommendation 
At the conclusion of the Ad Hoc meeting, the Ad Hoc agreed on a recommendation that the 
Element 7 (300 Railroad Avenue) location was the top application with the Cannabissary 
application as number two. The Element 7 application and subsequent presentation illustrated the 
location as one located at a major intersection and plan would include getting under operation 
quickly while permitting of the new construction was taking place. Additionally, the applicant 
team has a strong experience in Norther California including two locations beginning to operate 
by the end of this calendar year. Lastly, the location of the future facility has direct access to 
Railroad Avenue and is in close proximity to the City of Fairfield. If the City Council were to 
direct staff to work through two Commercial Cannabis Permits, the Ad Hoc would recommend 
that Cannabissary be the second. The application displays a great deal of thought not only in the 
short-term, but also in the ultimate buildout of the site. It also would develop vacant land and be 
operated by a Suisun City resident. 

Document Redactions 
It should be noted that the packets do not include every document submitted by the applicants, 
and some documents have been redacted, as some documents (or parts thereof) are confidential. 
We used the California Public Records Act as a guide to determine which documents to withhold 
or redact, as follows: 

• Valid government-issued form of photo identification (i.e. driver’s licenses)
o Driver’s license information, including personal contact information such as home

addresses, birthdays, telephone numbers, have been redacted pursuant to Gov.
Code §§5254.1(b), 6255, and the state and federal constitutions, in order to
protect the privacy of those individuals.

• Live Scans reports
o Personal contact information from the Live Scan application has been redacted

pursuant to Gov. Code §6255, and the state and federal constitutions, in order to
protect the privacy of those individuals.

Item 15

153



 
 

• Site Plans prepared by licensed civil engineer or architect  
o Architectural works are protected by federal copyright law (17 U.S.C. §§ 101, 

102.). Official plans maintained by the City may be inspected, but cannot be 
copied without the City first requesting the written permission of the licensed or 
registered professional who signed the document and the original or current 
property owner (Health & Safety Code § 19851.).  

• Safety and Security Plans 
o Records “to the extent that disclosure of a particular item of information would 

endanger the safety of a person involved in an investigation or would endanger 
the successful completion of the investigation or a related investigation,” have 
been withheld pursuant to Gov. Code, § 6254 (f).  

o Gov. Code §6255 based on a finding that the public interest of privacy and safety 
clearly outweighs the  public interest serviced by the disclosure of the record.  

o Gov. Code, §6254.7(d), Civ. Code, §3426.1 et seq. and Evidence Code §1060 et 
seq., as incorporated through Gov. Code §6254(k) to the extent that they contain 
proprietary information.  

• Transportation Plans 
o Records “to the extent that disclosure of a particular item of information would 

endanger the safety of a person involved in an investigation or would endanger 
the successful completion of the investigation or a related investigation,” have 
been withheld pursuant to Gov. Code, § 6254 (f).  

o Gov. Code §6255 based on a finding that the public interest of privacy and safety 
clearly outweighs the  public interest serviced by the disclosure of the record.  

o Gov. Code, §6254.7(d), Civ. Code, §3426.1 et seq. and Evidence Code §1060 et 
seq., as incorporated through Gov. Code §6254(k) to the extent that they contain 
proprietary information.  

• Business Plan 
o Records to the extent that they contain proprietary information and/or trade 

secrets pursuant Gov. Code, §6254.7(d), Civ. Code, §3426.1 et seq. and Evidence 
Code §1060 et seq., as incorporated through Gov. Code §6254(k).  

o Gov. Code §6255 based on a finding that the public interest of privacy and safety 
clearly outweighs the public interest serviced by the disclosure of the record.  

• Operations Plan  
o Records to the extent that they contain proprietary information and/or trade 

secrets pursuant Gov. Code, §6254.7(d), Civ. Code, §3426.1 et seq. and Evidence 
Code §1060 et seq., as incorporated through Gov. Code §6254(k).  

o Gov. Code §6255 based on a finding that the public interest of privacy and safety 
clearly outweighs the  public interest serviced by the disclosure of the record.  

• Criminal History Check  
o Records “to the extent that disclosure of a particular item of information would 

endanger the safety of a person involved in an investigation or would endanger 
the successful completion of the investigation or a related investigation,” have 
been withheld pursuant to Gov. Code, § 6254 (f).  

o Gov. Code §6255 based on a finding that the public interest of privacy clearly 
outweighs the public interest serviced by the disclosure of the record.  

• Social security numbers (in certain documents) 
o Social security numbers from records have been redacted. Gov't Code § 6254.29. 

Item 15

154



• Utility Customer Information
o Utility customer’s name, credit history, utility usage data, home address, or

telephone number are exempt from disclosure pursuant to Gov. Code § 6254.16.
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
CEQA ANALYSIS: This discussion and direction item is not considered a project per state law. A 
CEQA analysis will need to be completed with the future processing of any CCBP. 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the City Council direct staff to work with a 
recommended operator(s) and begin processing a CCBP application. 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Retail Storefront Applications (Redacted). – Due to the size of this attachment it is not
included in the packet. However, it can be found online at
https://www.suisun.com/government/city-council/city-council/; or in the City Clerk’s
Office. 

2. PowerPoint Presentation.

Item 15

155

https://www.suisun.com/government/city-council/city-council/


THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

156



D
is

cu
ss

io
n

 a
n

d
 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

: C
an

n
ab

is
 

S
to

re
fr

o
n

t R
et

ai
le

rs
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 1
7,

 2
02

0

Item 15 
Attachment 2

157

http://www.suisun.com/


B
ac

kg
ro

un
d

•I
n

it
ia

ti
o

n
 o

f C
an

n
ab

is
 D

is
cu

ss
io

n
 in

 S
u

is
u

n
 C

it
y.

•O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
. 7

50
 –

C
an

n
ab

is
 R

eg
u

la
to

ry
P

ro
g

ra
m

 C
re

at
io

n
.

•R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 2

0
19

-1
20

 –
S

et
ti

n
g

 C
an

n
ab

is
 T

ax
R

at
es

 in
 S

u
is

u
n

 C
it

y.

•O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
. 7

6
8

 –
E

xp
an

d
ed

 Z
o

n
in

g
.

Item 15 
Attachment 2

158

http://www.suisun.com/


R
eq

ue
st

 fo
r 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
s 

(R
FA

)  
P

ro
ce

ss

•R
FA

 P
er

io
d

 f
o

r C
an

n
ab

is
 R

et
ai

le
r 

O
p

en
 f

ro
m

 
Ju

ly
 1

5,
 2

02
0

 –
S

ep
te

m
b

e
r 

1,
 2

02
0

.

•F
o

u
r A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

s 
su

b
m

it
te

d
 b

y 
cl

o
se

 o
f 

R
FA

.

•C
an

n
ab

is
 A

d
 H

o
c 

h
el

d
 In

te
rv

ie
w

s 
o

n
 

S
ep

te
m

b
e

r 
22

, 2
02

0
.

Item 15 
Attachment 2

159

http://www.suisun.com/


A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
s 

R
ec

ei
ve

d

•R
ai

lr
o

ad
 C

lin
ic

a
C

en
te

r 
(s

o
u

th
w

es
t 

co
rn

er
 o

f 
B

lo
ss

o
m

 a
n

d
 R

ai
lr

o
ad

 A
ve

n
u

e)
. 

•C
an

n
ab

is
sa

ry
(w

es
t 

si
d

e
 o

f 
H

u
m

p
h

re
y 

D
ri

ve
 

an
d

 s
o

u
th

 o
f 

R
ai

lr
o

ad
 A

ve
n

u
e)

.

•E
le

m
e

n
t 

7 
(3

0
0

 R
ai

lr
o

ad
 A

ve
n

u
e)

.

•E
ag

le
 E

ye
 S

u
is

u
n

 –
14

1 
S

u
n

se
t 

A
ve

n
u

e.

Item 15 
Attachment 2

160

http://www.suisun.com/


R
ai

lr
o

ad
 

C
lin

ic
a

C
en

te
r

•T
h

e 
ap

p
lic

an
ts

 a
re

 J
u

an
 G

ar
ci

a-
F

lo
re

s,
 A

n
a

G
ar

ci
a,

 a
n

d
 J

ai
m

e 
C

o
ro

n
a 

(l
an

d
o

w
n

er
).

•T
h

e 
p

ro
p

o
se

d
 lo

ca
ti

o
n

 is
 o

n
 a

 v
ac

an
t 

p
ar

ce
l a

t
th

e 
so

u
th

w
es

t 
co

rn
er

 o
f 

B
lo

ss
o

m
 a

n
d

 R
ai

lr
o

ad
A

ve
n

u
e 

(1
34

8
 B

lo
ss

o
m

 A
ve

n
u

e)
.

•I
f 

g
ra

n
te

d
 t

h
e 

C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l C

an
n

ab
is

 B
u

si
n

es
s

P
er

m
it

, t
h

ey
 w

o
u

ld
 u

n
d

er
ta

ke
 c

o
n

st
ru

ct
in

g
 a

n
ew

 b
u

ild
in

g
 (

3,
0

0
0

 s
q

u
ar

e 
fe

et
).

•T
h

e 
ap

p
lic

an
ts

 h
av

e 
tw

o
 e

xi
st

in
g

 c
an

n
ab

is
lic

e
n

se
s 

(V
al

le
jo

 a
n

d
 P

ac
if

ic
a)

.

•T
h

is
 a

p
p

lic
an

t 
ap

p
lie

d
 t

o
 t

h
e 

fi
rs

t 
R

FA
 e

ar
lie

r
th

is
  y

ea
r.

•
So

m
e 

o
f 

th
e 

m
o

d
if

ic
at

io
n

s 
in

cl
u

d
e 

u
p

d
at

es
 t

o
th

e 
p

ro
-f

o
rm

a 
an

d
 t

h
e 

ai
r 

q
u

al
it

y 
p

la
n

.

Item 15 
Attachment 2

161

http://www.suisun.com/


C
an

n
ab

is
sa

ry

•T
h

e 
ap

p
lic

an
t 

(a
n

d
 la

n
d

o
w

n
er

) 
is

 D
r.

 V
er

n
a 

S
ch

u
et

te
r.

 

•S
h

e 
o

w
n

s 
fi

ve
 v

ac
an

t 
p

ar
ce

ls
 a

t 
th

e 
so

u
th

w
es

t 
co

rn
er

 o
f 

H
u

m
p

h
re

y 
D

ri
ve

 a
n

d
 R

ai
lr

o
ad

 
A

ve
n

u
e.

 

•T
h

e 
p

ro
p

o
sa

l i
s 

fo
r 

an
 a

p
p

ro
xi

m
at

e 
2

,5
0

0
 

sq
u

ar
e 

fo
o

t 
b

u
ild

in
g

 w
it

h
 f

u
tu

re
 e

xp
an

si
o

n
 

p
o

ss
ib

le
. 

•T
h

is
 a

p
p

lic
an

t 
ap

p
lie

d
 t

o
 t

h
e 

fi
rs

t 
R

FA
. 

•S
o

m
e 

o
f 

th
e 

m
o

d
if

ic
at

io
n

s 
in

cl
u

d
e 

m
o

re
 e

ff
o

rt
 

go
in

g 
in

to
 t

h
e 

p
ro

-f
o

rm
a 

an
d

 d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

ti
m

el
in

e,
 a

s 
w

el
l a

s 
b

ri
n

gi
n

g 
ex

p
er

ie
n

ce
d

 p
eo

p
le

 
fr

o
m

 t
h

e 
ca

n
n

ab
is

 in
d

u
st

ry
 o

n
to

 h
er

 t
ea

m
. 

Item 15 
Attachment 2

162

http://www.suisun.com/


E
le

m
en

t 
7 

(3
00

 R
ai

lr
o

ad
 

A
ve

.)


Th

e
ap

p
lic

an
t

is
th

e
El

em
en

t
7.


Th

e
p

ro
p

o
se

d
lo

ca
ti

o
n

is
at

30
0

R
ai

lr
o

ad
A

ve
n

u
e

(a
t

th
e

n
o

rt
h

ea
st

co
rn

er
o

f
Su

n
se

t
A

ve
n

u
e

an
d

R
ai

lr
o

ad
A

ve
n

u
e)

.


Th

e
p

ro
p

o
sa

l
is

to
in

it
ia

lly
o

p
er

at
e

fr
o

m
th

e
ex

is
ti

n
g

b
u

ild
in

g
w

h
ile

u
lt

im
at

el
y

co
n

st
ru

ct
in

g
a

n
ew

b
u

ild
in

g
o

n
-s

it
e

fr
o

m
th

ei
r

u
lt

im
at

e
b

u
ild

o
u

t.


A

cc
o

rd
in

g
to

th
ei

r
ap

p
lic

at
io

n
,

th
ey

h
av

e
b

ee
n

is
su

ed
ca

n
n

ab
is

p
er

m
it

s
in

ei
gh

t
co

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
w

it
h

o
p

er
at

io
n

s
in

W
al

n
u

t
C

re
ek

,
an

d
So

u
th

Sa
n

Fr
an

ci
sc

o
o

p
en

in
g

b
y

th
e

en
d

o
f

th
is

ca
le

n
d

ar
ye

ar
..

Item 15 
Attachment 2

163

http://www.suisun.com/


E
ag

le
 E

ye
 

S
yu

is
un

(1
41

-
G

 S
un

se
t)


Th

e
ap

p
lic

an
t

is
th

e
V

al
le

jo
H

o
lis

ti
c

H
ea

lt
h

C
en

te
r

(V
H

H
C

).


Th

e
p

ro
p

o
se

d
lo

ca
ti

o
n

is
at

1
41

Su
n

se
t

A
ve

n
u

e
Su

it
e

G
(l

o
ca

ti
o

n
fa

ce
s

M
er

ga
n

se
r

D
ri

ve
).


Th

e
lo

ca
ti

o
n

w
as

p
ro

p
o

se
d

b
y

an
o

th
er

ap
p

lic
an

t
th

ro
u

gh
th

e
fi

rs
t

ro
u

n
d

o
f
R
FA
’s

.
O

n
e

o
f

th
e

id
en

ti
fi

ed
is

su
es

w
it

h
th

e
lo

ca
ti

o
n

at
th

at
ti

m
e

w
as

th
e

ap
p

ar
en

t
lim

it
at

io
n

in
p

ar
ki

n
g.

To
ad

d
re

ss
th

is
is

su
e,

th
e

ap
p

lic
an

t
an

d
p

ro
p

er
ty

o
w

n
er

h
av

e
ag

re
ed

to
al

lo
w

u
p

to
30

p
ar

ki
n

g
sp

ac
es

in
th

e
re

ar
o

f
th

e
sh

o
p

p
in

g
ce

n
te

r.


Th

ey
h

o
ld

se
ve

n
ca

n
n

ab
is

lic
en

se
s

th
ro

u
gh

o
u

t
C

al
if

o
rn

ia
in

cl
u

d
in

g
V

al
le

jo
,N

ap
a,

C
lo

ve
rd

al
e,

an
d

Sa
n

Fr
an

ci
sc

o
.

Item 15 
Attachment 2

164

http://www.suisun.com/


S
el

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
ed

 
O

p
er

at
o

r


S

ec
ti

o
n

 1
8

.4
9

.1
6

0
(B

) “
C

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l C
an

n
ab

is
 

R
et

ai
le

r 
(S

to
re

fr
o

n
t 

an
d

 N
o

n
-S

to
re

fr
o

n
t)

: 
E

st
ab

lis
h

m
en

t,
 O

p
er

at
in

g
 S

ta
n

d
ar

d
s 

an
d

 
R

es
tr

ic
ti

o
n

s 
–S

to
re

fr
o

n
t 

R
et

ai
le

rs
/D

is
p

en
sa

ri
es

: R
eq

u
e

st
 f

o
r 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
s 

(R
FA

) 
P

ro
ce

ss
.”


T

h
e 

fu
ll 

C
it

y 
C

o
u

n
ci

l i
s 

n
o

w
 b

ei
n

g
 a

sk
ed

 t
o

 
p

ro
vi

d
e 

st
af

f 
d

ir
ec

ti
o

n
 o

n
 a

 r
ec

o
m

m
en

d
ed

 
o

p
er

at
o

r.
 


O

n
ce

 a
 r

ec
o

m
m

en
d

ed
 o

p
er

at
o

r(
s)

 h
as

 b
ee

n
 

id
en

ti
fi

ed
, s

ta
ff

 w
ill

 w
o

rk
 w

it
h

 t
h

e 
o

p
er

at
o

r(
s)

 
an

d
 g

o
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e 

en
ti

tl
em

e
n

t 
p

ro
ce

ss
 f

o
r 

a 
C

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l C
an

n
ab

is
 B

u
si

n
es

s 
P

er
m

it
 (C

C
B

P
).

 


T

h
e 

C
C

B
P

 is
 a

 d
is

cr
e

ti
o

n
ar

y 
ac

ti
o

n
.

Item 15 
Attachment 2

165

http://www.suisun.com/


A
d

 H
o

c 
R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n


A

t
th

e
co

n
cl

u
si

o
n

o
f

th
e

A
d

H
o

c
m

ee
ti

n
g,

th
e

A
d

H
o

c
ag

re
e

d
o

n
a

re
co

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
th

at
th

e
El

e
m

e
n

t
7

(3
0

0
R

ai
lr

o
ad

A
ve

n
u

e
)

lo
ca

ti
o

n
w

as
th

e
to

p
ap

p
lic

at
io

n
w

it
h

th
e

C
an

n
ab

is
sa

ry
ap

p
lic

at
io

n
as

n
u

m
b

e
r

tw
o

.


Th
e

El
em

e
n

t
7

ap
p

lic
at

io
n

ill
u

st
ra

te
d

th
e

lo
ca

ti
o

n
as

o
n

e
lo

ca
te

d
at

a
m

aj
o

r
in

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

an
d

p
la

n
w

o
u

ld
in

cl
u

d
e

ge
tt

in
g

u
n

d
er

o
p

er
at

io
n

q
u

ic
kl

y
w

h
ile

p
er

m
it

ti
n

g
o

f
th

e
n

ew
co

n
st

ru
ct

io
n

w
as

ta
ki

n
g

p
la

ce
.


If

th
e

C
it

y
C

o
u

n
ci

l
w

er
e

to
d

ir
ec

t
st

af
f

to
w

o
rk

th
ro

u
gh

tw
o

C
o

m
m

er
ci

al
C

an
n

ab
is

Pe
rm

it
s,

th
e

A
d

H
o

c
w

o
u

ld
re

co
m

m
en

d
th

at
C

an
n

ab
is

sa
ry

b
e

th
e

se
co

n
d

.
Th

e
ap

p
lic

at
io

n
d

is
p

la
ys

a
gr

ea
t

d
ea

l
o

f
th

o
u

gh
t

n
o

t
o

n
ly

in
th

e
sh

o
rt

-t
er

m
,b

u
t

al
so

in
th

e
u

lt
im

at
e

b
u

ild
o

u
t

o
f

th
e

si
te

.

Item 15 
Attachment 2

166

http://www.suisun.com/


S
ta

ff
 

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

It
 is

 r
ec

o
m

m
e

n
d

ed
 t

h
at

 t
h

e 
C

it
y 

C
o

u
n

ci
l d

ir
ec

t 
st

af
f 

to
 w

o
rk

 w
it

h
 a

 r
e

co
m

m
en

d
e

d
 o

p
er

at
o

r(
s)

 
an

d
 b

eg
in

 p
ro

ce
ss

in
g

 a
 C

C
B

P
 a

p
p

lic
at

io
n

.

Item 15 
Attachment 2

167

http://www.suisun.com/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

168



PREPARED BY: Elena Q. Gerli, City Attorney’s Office 
APPROVED BY: Greg Folsom, City Manager 

AGENDA TRANSMITTAL 

MEETING DATE: November 17, 2020 

AGENDA ITEM: Agency Adoption of Resolution No. SA2020 - __: Authorizing the Executive 
Director to execute a Settlement Agreement between the Successor Agency and Developer Main 
Street West Partners LLC, and an 18-month extension to the Disposition And Development 
Agreement (DDA) between the Developer and Successor Agency, and directing the Executive 
Director to forward the executed Settlement Agreement and the DDA Extension to the Solano 
Consolidated Oversight Board for approval

FISCAL IMPACT: Any sale of property, payment of fees, or other revenues from the Main 
Street West DDA will be distributed to the affected taxing entities. Assignment of the remaining 
parcels to successor developer so that they can be developed will support the economic 
development of the City. 

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPACT: Good Governance. 

BACKGROUND: 
MSW DDA 
In mid-2005, Main Street West Partners, LLC was selected as the master developer of the Main 
Street West Project, which initially consisted of 13 former Redevelopment Agency-owned 
properties in the Waterfront District amounting to approximately 8.4 acres for development of 
residential, commercial, and mixed-use projects. A Disposition and Development Agreement 
(DDA) was executed in April 2006.  
In July 2006, the Agency approved the First Amendment to the DDA, which added a 7.44-acre 
property (the former Crystal Middle School site) to the Project (Parcel 14). In September 2007, the 
Second Amendment to the DDA was approved, which updated the Schedule of Performance. In 
January 2009, the Third Amendment to the DDA was approved, which allowed the 
Redevelopment Agency to acquire property from MSW Partners, provide an advance of Developer 
Reinvestment funds in the form of a loan to Developer and amend the Schedule of Performance, 
and add Parcel 15.  

In April 2016, the Fourth Amendment to the DDA was approved by the Department of Finance 
following a settlement in the case of Main Street West Partners, LLC v. Successor Agency of the 
Redevelopment Agency of the City of Suisun City, et al., Sacramento Superior Court, Case No. 34-
2014-00164737, between Developer and the Successor Agency of the Redevelopment Agency of 
the City of Suisun City. The Fourth Amendment provided for an updated Schedule of 
Performance, a reduced Developer Reinvestment fee per residential unit, a contingent Downtown 
Economic Development Impact Fee was added, successor developer provisions were added, and 
the loan limit was lowered and the repayment provisions were revised. Copies of the DDA and its 
amendments, as well as the DOF settlement agreement, are attached. 

Item 16

169



 

 
Out of the 15 parcels that are the subject of the DDA, Parcels 1, 2, 6, and 12 have been developed 
and/or assigned, and Parcel 14 will be assigned by MSW to a successor developer no later than 
November 18, 2020. Parcel 14 will proceed in accordance with the DDA, separate from the 
Settlement Agreement. 
 
Successor Agency and Developer each allege that the other has materially breached the DDA. 
Developer has threatened litigation against the Successor Agency to recoup its costs and lost 
profits, however, are agreeable to assign the DDA in conjunction with a settlement. The Parties 
have been engaged in good faith settlement negotiations. The Successor Agency‘s priority is to 
have the remaining parcels sold or assigned to successor developers so that development can go 
forward. Assignment of the remaining parcels to one or more successor developers so that they can 
be developed will support the economic development of the City. Developer’s priority is to 
partially recoup a small part of its losses and to end their obligations under the DDA.  
 
 
STAFF REPORT:  
MSW and successor agency have been engaged in good faith settlement negotiations and now 
proposed to settle any potential litigation on the following terms, subject to Oversight Board 
approval. The Oversight Board’s authority flows from Section 34181(e) of the Health & Safety 
Code. 
 
(1) The Settlement Agreement will take effect only upon approval by the Solano Consolidated 

Oversight Board (“Oversight Board”) and, as applicable, the California Department of 
Finance (“DOF”). The DOF has 5 days after Oversight Board action to provide notice of 
review, and in the event of review, the DOF has 40 days to take action (either approve or 
remand to the Oversight Board). If the DOF remands the agreement, it will be null and void 
and the Developer and Successor Agency can renegotiate in good faith based on Oversight 
Board direction. 

 
(2) Subject to approval by the Oversight Board, the loan to MSW to be forgiven, principal and 

interest. 
 
(3) The Developer Reinvestment fee will be waived. 
 
(4) Subject to approval by the Oversight Board, Successor Agency shall pay Developer a 

brokerage fee in the amount of $200,000 (two hundred thousand dollars) for the sale and 
assignment of Parcels 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 13, and 15. Compensation shall be made on a 
pro rata basis upon sale and assignment of each of the Properties, but in no event no later 
than two (2) years following the Effective Date. If Successor Agency does not sell the 
Parcels within two years from the Effective Date, then Successor Agency shall advance the 
difference between amounts already received by Developer from the sale of the properties 
and $200,000. Successor Agency shall be reimbursed for any advance made under this 
section from the sale and assignment of any parcel that occurs after the two-year deadline. 

Item 16

170



 

The parcels will be assigned by the Successor Agency to successor developers so that the 
development can proceed. 

 
(5) Currently, Successor Agency is holding two $30,000 deposits in escrow with Placer Title, 

for each of Parcels 10 and 13. Upon execution of the Agreement, these deposits will be 
released back to MSW. MSW will release all architectural plans, drawings, CEQA studies, 
engineering drawings, and reports to the Successor Agency, for all properties except Parcel 
14.  

 
(6) As approved by Successor Agency Resolution No. 2020-01, Successor Agency invoked the 

Force Majeure clause by submitting a letter to Developer on April 13, 2020, in accordance 
with Section 3.02(A) of part Two of the DDA (Force Majeure). Subject to approval by the 
Oversight Board, MSW and Successor Agency shall execute an extension for the DDA for 
a period of 18 months past the expiration date of April 29, 2021, through October 29, 2022.  

 
(7) All provisions and obligations of the parties under the DDA to terminate when the sale and 

assignment of all parcels is completed. 
 
(8) The Successor Agency will indemnify MSW against any claims or damages arising out of 

any action or inaction by the State of California or other governing body that may 
negatively affect the terms of this Agreement. Successor Agency shall have no 
indemnification obligations to the Indemnified Parties prior to the Effective Date. MSW‘s 
indemnification of Successor Agency for each Property under the DDA shall terminate 
only upon the successful sale and/or assignment of that Properties.  

 
The legal consequences of approving this settlement agreement include a mutual release of all 
claims by all parties and each party bears its own attorneys’ fees and costs. MSW and the 
Successor Agency will not be able to make any claims arising from the prior dispute involving the 
DDA against each other. However, either party can recover attorney fees as may be necessary for 
the enforcement of the Settlement Agreement. The City Attorney has reviewed the settlement 
agreement and found that these are standard settlement terms in this type of matter. 
 
As a final point, it should be noted that irrespective of the outcome of Oversight Board or Finance 
review, the redevelopment dissolution statutes “do not lend themselves to an interpretation under 
which municipalities, although among the local agencies intended to benefit from dissolution of 
[redevelopment agencies], would have their liabilities expanded beyond the assets transferred to 
them when acting as successor agencies.” Macy v. City of Fontana (2016) 244 Cal.App.4th 1421, 
1423. In practical terms, this means that the City’s General Fund is not likely to be adversely 
affected by the Settlement Agreement. However, the assets of the taxing entities may be impacted 
by a lawsuit — entering into the settlement eliminates this risk. 
 
Thus, staff recommends adopting the attached resolution authorizing the Executive Director to 
execute the Settlement Agreement and forward the executed Settlement Agreement to the Solano 
County Oversight Board for approval; and directing Mayor Wilson, as a Member of the Oversight 
Board, to vote to approve the Settlement Agreement. The Oversight Board meets as needed 
dependent on submitted agenda items. 

Item 16

171



 

 
RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that: 
 

1. Adopt Agency Resolution No. SA2020 - __: Authorizing the Executive Director to execute 
a Settlement Agreement between the Successor Agency and Developer Main Street West 
Partners LLC, and an 18-month extension to the Disposition And Development Agreement 
(DDA) between the Developer and Successor Agency, directing the Executive Director to 
forward the executed Settlement Agreement and the DDA Extension to the Solano 
Consolidated Oversight Board for approval, directing Mayor Wilson to vote to approve the 
Settlement Agreement in her capacity as member of the Solano Consolidated Oversight 
Board. 

 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

1. Draft Settlement Agreement & General Release of All Claims between the Successor 
Agency and Main Street West Partners LLC. 

2. Agency Resolution No. SA2020 - __: A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
ACTING AS SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE 
CITY OF SUISUN CITY AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO 
EXECUTE A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE SUCCESSOR AGENCY 
AND DEVELOPER MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS LLC, AUTHORIZING THE 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE AN 18-MONTH EXTENSION TO THE 
DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (DDA) BETWEEN THE 
DEVELOPER AND SUCCESSOR AGENCY, AND DIRECTING THE EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR TO FORWARD THE EXECUTED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND 
DDA EXTENSION TO THE SOLANO CONSOLIDATED OVERSIGHT BOARD FOR 
APPROVAL, AND DIRECTING MAYOR WILSON, IN HER CAPACITY AS 
MEMBER OF THE SOLANO CONSOLIDATED OVERSIGHT BOARD, TO VOTE TO 
APPROVE THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT  

3. Disposition and Development Agreement and First through Fourth Amendments. 
4. DOF settlement agreement Main Street West Partners, LLC v. Successor Agency of the 

Redevelopment Agency of the City of Suisun City, et al.,  
 

 
 

 

Item 16

172



01107.0012/676952.1  -1- 
 

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT & GENERAL RELEASE OF ALL CLAIMS 

This SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND RELEASE (“Agreement”) is entered into by 
and between the SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE 
CITY OF SUISUN CITY (“Successor Agency”), and MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS, LLC, 
a limited liability company organized under the laws of the State of California (“Developer”). 
Successor Agency and Developer may be referred to, individually or collectively, as “Party” or 
“Parties.” 

RECITALS 

A. On April 17, 2006, the Redevelopment Agency of the City of Suisun City (“RDA”) 
and Developer entered into a Disposition and Development Agreement (“DDA”) regarding the 
following RDA-owned properties: 

 
PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION SITE SIZE 

PROPERTY ID APN ACRES SF 

Parcels 1 & 2 32-141-15 0.59 25,700 

Parcel 3 32-142-30 0.17 7,459 

Parcel 5 (701 Main) 32-130-01 0.10 4,425 

Parcel 7 32-142-28 0.15 6,372 

Parcel 8 32-142-25 0.10 4,300 

Parcel 9 32-142-24 0.11 4,900 

Parcel 4 32-130-06 0.05 2,131 

Parcel 6 32-082-05 0.16 7,183 

Parcel 10 32-042-30, 36, 44, 46, 48, 
50, 52, 54, 56, 58, 60, 68 

1.56 67,854 

Parcel 11 32.061-39 0.16 7,150 

Parcel 12 32-061-26 through 36 1.65 71,870 

Parcel 13 32-091-17 through 20 3.49 151,862 

The parcels were to be built out with single family homes, a residential development, mixed 
use structures (commercial, office, residential), and commercial structures. RDA required as a part 
of the DDA that commercial properties were to be improved first with residential properties to 
follow. RDA acknowledged that the Developer would have significantly increased costs related to 
development of the commercial properties and would have to wait for residential development to 

Item 16 
Attachment 1

173



01107.0012/676952.1  -2- 
 

recoup costs and losses on the commercial properties. In addition, RDA committed to providing 
certain public improvements, and Developer committed to payment of a Lighthouse Development 
Fee of $1.0029/sq. ft., and a reinvestment by Developer of $35,000 from each residential unit into 
the enhancement of certain commercial portions of the project (“Developer Reinvestment”).  

B. On July 18, 2006, the DDA was amended (“First Amendment”) to add the former 
Crystal Middle School site, APN 32-152-18 (Parcel 14). Parcel 14 is 7.44 acres in size (324,086 
square feet. 

C. On September 18, 2007, the DDA was amended again (“Second Amendment”) 
primarily to update Developer‘s schedule of performance.  

D. On February 19, 2009, in response to changed conditions due to the Great 
Recession, the DDA was amended again (“Third Amendment”). The Third Amendment provided 
that the RDA would reacquire parcels 3, 5, 7, 8, and 9, as well as 711 and 713 Main Street (Parcel 
15, APN 32-130-03 & 04; 3,049 sq. ft.) from Developer for $717,257, Developer’s cost to acquire. 
Developer was to buy the properties back at a later date, in accordance with the updated schedule. 
To assist Developer in leasing space during the Great Recession, the RDA further agreed to loan 
Developer $500,000, secured by a personal note, at a 6% interest rate (“RDA Loan”). Those funds 
were for rent abatement, tenant improvements and other benefits for tenants to encourage rental of 
commercial space. The Third Amendment also included a repayment schedule. 

E. On April 29, 2016, the DDA was amended (“Fourth Amendment”) as follows: 
the Successor Agency entered into the Fourth Amendment as successor-in-interest to the RDA; an 
updated schedule of performance; the reinvestment fee of $35,000 per residential unit was 
decreased to $5,500 per unit; a contingent Downtown Economic Development Impact Fee was 
added ($4,800 per single family home for the creation of a Downtown Economic Development 
Fund) in the event that utility connection credits of an equal amount were available to the 
Developer; successor developer provisions were added; the RDA loan limit was lowered to 
$440,927.40 (from $500,000); and the RDA loan repayment provisions were revised. The RDA’s 
commitment to construct certain public improvements was removed and Developer agreed to 
undertake such improvements. 

F. Going forward, references to the DDA shall include the First through Fourth 
Amendments. 

G. As of the date of this Agreement, Parcels 1, 2, 6, and 12 have been developed and/or 
assigned to a successor developer. All other parcels remain subject to the provisions of the DDA. 

H. A dispute has arisen, and both Parties are alleging material breaches by the other 
Party. 

I. Successor Agency and Developer each allege that the other has materially breached 
the DDA. Developer has threatened litigation against the Successor Agency to recoup its costs and 
lost profits, however, are agreeable to assign the DDA in conjunction with a settlement. The Parties 
have been engaged in good faith settlement negotiations. The Successor Agency‘s priority is to 
have the remaining parcels sold or assigned to successor developers so that development can go 
forward. Assignment of the remaining parcels to one or more successor developers so that they can 

Item 16 
Attachment 1

174



01107.0012/676952.1  -3- 
 

be developed will support the economic development of the City. Developer’s priority is to partially 
recoup a small part of its losses and to end their obligations under the DDA. The Parties therefore 
now wish to resolve the dispute and settle all potential litigation arising therefrom.  

NOW, THEREFORE, for full and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, and based upon the foregoing recitals and the terms, 
conditions, covenants, and agreements contained herein, all Parties hereto agree as follows: 

AGREEMENT 

1. Validity and Effective Date.  

(a) Except for Section 8, below, this Agreement shall take effect only upon 
approval by the Solano Consolidated Oversight Board (“Oversight Board”).  

(b) In accordance with Section 34179(h) of the Health & Safety Code, the 
“Effective Date” shall be  (5) five business days after submission to the Department of Finance 
(“DOF”) by the Oversight Board of the approved Agreement, provided the DOF does not request 
a review of the Agreement within that period of time. The Effective Date shall be filled out once 
it is determined based on Oversight Board/DOF action, and shall be inserted herein below. 

(c) In the event the DOF indicates it is reviewing the Agreement or returns the 
Agreement to the Oversight Board for further action, this Agreement shall be null and void and 
the Parties may, in good faith, renegotiate the terms of settlement pursuant to DOF/Oversight 
Board direction.  

2. Dispute. Successor Agency and Developer each allege that the other has materially 
breached the DDA (the “Dispute”) as follows: 

(a) Successor Agency alleges that Developer has breached its contract 
obligations by failing to diligently pursue development of the remaining parcels, in accordance 
with the DDA’s schedule of performance. The Successor Agency has considered filing suit for 
specific performance, or to compel Developer to sell the remaining parcels to successor 
developers. Assignment of the remaining parcels to one or more successor developers so that they 
can be developed will support the economic development of the City. 

(b) Developer alleges that the Successor Agency breached its contract 
obligations by obstructing Developer and by unilaterally refusing to allow Parcel 13 to proceed 
as a residential development in violation of the DDA, thereby causing Developer to lose millions 
of dollars in anticipated revenues. Developer alleges the actions and inactions of the Successor 
Agency have created an intolerable situation and Developer is unable to finance their obligations 
under the DDA. Developer has asserted they are prepared to file suit against the Successor Agency 
to recoup their costs to date and significant lost profits. 

3. Applicable Parcels.  

(a) The Parties acknowledge that the following parcels are currently subject to 
the provisions of the DDA. The properties may be referred to individually as “Parcel” and 

Item 16 
Attachment 1

175



01107.0012/676952.1  -4- 
 

collectively as “Properties.” Parcels 1, 2, 6, and 12 have been developed and/or assigned and are, 
therefore, not subject to the DDA or to this Agreement. The provisions of this Agreement shall 
apply to all the Properties. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, assignment 
and sale of Parcel 14 to a “Qualified Successor Developer,” as defined in Part One, Section 6.04 
of the DDA, shall proceed except as set forth herein. In the event that the currently identified 
Qualified Successor Developer does not complete the purchase transaction, Developer is entitled 
to all rights available under the DDA regarding Parcel 14, including but not limited to the right of 
sale/assignment of Parcel 14 to another Qualified Successor Developer, or directly acquiring 
Parcel 14. Pursuant to the DDA and further documentation between Successor Agency and 
Developer, Fair Market Value for Parcel 14 has been determined on the basis of that certain 
appraisal from Garland & Associates dated August 16, 2016. 

4. RDA Loan: Subject to approval by the Oversight Board, the RDA Loan shall be 
deemed paid in full, including all principal and past interest owed. This RDA Loan shall not be 
assigned to any successor developer. The original note shall be returned to counsel for the 
developer marked “Paid in Full” or “Void” within 5 (five)) days of the Effective Date. 

5. Developer Reinvestment. The Developer Reinvestment fee shall be waived in its 
entirety, and shall not be assigned to any successor developer. 

6. Economic Impact Fee/Lighthouse Dev. Fee. The Parties agree that pursuant to the 
Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement (a) the Downtown Economic Impact Fee of 
$4,800 per unit with respect to the Property and (b) the Lighthouse Development Fee of $1.0029 
per square foot of land area will be assigned to a Qualified Successor Developer.  

7. Disposition Fee: Subject to approval by the Oversight Board, Successor Agency 
shall pay Developer a disposition fee in the amount of $200,000 (two hundred thousand dollars) 
for the sale and assignment of Parcels 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 13, and 15. Compensation shall be 
made on a pro rata basis upon sale and assignment of each of the Properties, but in no event later 
than two (2) years following the Effective Date. If Successor Agency does not sell the Parcels 
within two years from the Effective Date, then Successor Agency shall advance the difference 
between amounts already received by Developer from the sale of the properties and $200,000. 
Successor Agency shall be reimbursed for any advance made under this section from the sale and 
assignment of any Parcel that occurs after the two-year deadline, provided that Developer shall 
have no obligation to Successor Agency hereunder. 

8. Escrow Deposits; Plans and Studies. Upon execution of the Agreement, and 
without the necessity of any approvals, Successor Agency shall, within 5 (five) days of the date 
the Agreement is fully executed, release back to Developer the $30,000 per parcel escrow deposits 
made by Developer for the purchase of Parcel 10 and Parcel 13, currently on deposit with Placer 
Title Co. Upon execution of the Agreement, Developer shall provide copies of all architectural 
plans, drawings, CEQA studies, engineering drawings, and reports to the Successor Agency, for 
all Properties except Parcel 14. Alternatively, the parties may enter into a separate letter agreement 
through their attorneys to achieve this result in advance of execution of the Agreement. 

Item 16 
Attachment 1

176



01107.0012/676952.1  -5- 
 

9. DDA Extension. Subject to approval by the Oversight Board in accordance with 
Section 3.02(A) of part Two of the DDA (Force Majeure), Developer and Successor Agency shall 
execute an extension for the DDA for a period of 18 months past the expiration date of April 29, 
2021, through October 29, 2022. Successor Agency invoked the Force Majeure clause by 
submitting a letter to Developer on April 13, 2020. 

10. Parties’ Obligations Under the DDA. All rights, duties, and obligations of the 
Parties to each other under the DDA shall terminate upon the Effective Date, with the exception 
of Parcel 14 only and all duties and obligations regarding Parcel 14 shall terminate upon transfer 
of Parcel 14 by Developer. Nothing herein shall impact the ability of the Successor Agency to 
assign the remaining Properties until the termination of the DDA pursuant to Section 9, above. 

11. Indemnification. 

(a) Developer Indemnity. Successor Agency agrees to indemnify, defend and 
hold harmless Developer, its managers, employees and agents (“Indemnified Parties”) against, 
and will hold and save them and each of them harmless from, any and all actions, either judicial, 
administrative, arbitration or regulatory claims, damages to persons or property, attorney’s fees 
and costs, losses, costs, penalties, obligations, errors, omissions or liabilities whether actual or 
threatened that may be asserted or claimed by any person, firm or entity arising out any action (or 
inaction, such as failure to approve an amendment to the DDA reflecting the terms of this 
Agreement) by the State of California or other governing body that concerns the DDA. The 
indemnity obligation shall be binding on successors and assigns of Successor Agency and shall 
survive termination of this Agreement. Successor Agency shall have no indemnification 
obligations to the Indemnified Parties prior to the Effective Date. 

(b) Successor Agency Indemnity under the DDA. Developer’s indemnification 
of Successor Agency for each Property under the DDA shall terminate upon the Effective Date, 
with the exception of Parcel 14 only and all duties and obligations regarding Parcel 14 shall 
terminate upon transfer of Parcel 14 by Developer. 

12. Release. 

(a) General Release. For valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree to release and forever discharge the the 
other Party, including the City of Suisun City, and their elected or appointed public officials, 
officers, employees and agents, and their managers and owners or partners, including their 
respective attorneys, subsidiaries, divisions or affiliated corporations or organizations, agents, 
successors or assigns, predecessors, whether previously or hereafter affiliated in any manner, and 
all persons acting by, through, under or in concert with them, or any of them (collectively, 
“Releasees”), of and from any and all manner of action or actions, cause or causes of action, in 
law or in equity, suits, debts, liens, contracts, agreements, promises, liability, claims, demands, 
damages, loss, costs or expenses, of any nature whatsoever, known or unknown, fixed or 
contingent, past, present and future (collectively, “Claims“), by reason of any act, omission, 
matter, cause, or thing whatsoever from the beginning of time to the date hereof including, without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, any Claims constituting, arising out of, based upon, or 

Item 16 
Attachment 1

177



01107.0012/676952.1  -6- 
 

relating to the Dispute or the DDA. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the specific rights of the 
Parties under this Agreement and as set forth herein shall survive and be enforceable. 

(b) Discovery of Different or Additional Facts. The Parties acknowledge that 
they may hereafter discover facts different from or in addition to those that they now know or 
believe to be true with respect to any Claims that are the subject of the Release set forth herein, 
and expressly agree to assume the risk of the possible discovery of additional or different facts, 
and the Parties agree that this Agreement shall be and remain effective in all respects regardless 
of such additional or different facts. 

(c) Release of Unknown Claims. The Release set forth herein is a release of 
all claims, demands, causes of action, obligations, damages, and liabilities of any nature 
whatsoever that are described in the Release and is intended to encompass all known and 
unknown, foreseen and unforeseen claims which either Party has or may have against the other 
Party, except for any claims which may arise from the terms of this Agreement.  

(d) Waiver of Civil Code Section 1542. Further, the Parties expressly agrees 
to waive and relinquish all rights and benefits it may have against the the other Party herein based 
on Section 1542 of the Civil Code of the State of California. That section reads as follows: 

§1542. [General release; extent] 

A general release does not extend to claims that the creditor or releasing party does 
not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release, 
and that if known by him or her, would have materially affected his or her 
settlement with the debtor or released party. 

(e) No Other Pending Actions. Developer represents that it has not filed any 
complaints or charges against the Successor Agency with any local, state or federal Successor 
Agency or court; and that if any such Successor Agency or court assumes jurisdiction of any 
complaint or charge against the Successor Agency on behalf of Developer, whenever filed, 
Developer will request such Successor Agency or court to withdraw and dismiss the matter 
forthwith. 

(f) Non-Admission of Liability. The Parties acknowledge and agree that this 
Agreement is a settlement of disputed claims. Neither the fact that the Parties have settled nor the 
terms of this Agreement shall be construed in any manner as an admission of any liability by 
either Party. 

(g) No Assignment of Claims. The Parties each warrant that they have made 
no assignment, and will make no assignment, of any claim, cause of action, right of action or any 
right of any kind whatsoever, embodied in any of the claims and allegations referred to herein, 
and that no other person or entity of any kind had or has any interest in any of the demands, 
obligations, actions, causes of action, debts, liabilities, rights, contracts, damages, attorneys' fees, 
costs, expenses, losses or claims referred to herein. 

13. Further Assurance. The Parties covenant that they will do whatever is reasonably 
necessary help perfect the title on any Parcel should the need arise to effect this Agreement in a 

Item 16 
Attachment 1

178



01107.0012/676952.1  -7- 
 

timely fashion. This could involve executing additional legal documents or correcting mistakes 
found in previous documents. 

14. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement, and all the terms and provisions hereof, 
shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective heirs, legal 
representatives, successors and assigns. 

15. Authority. Each of the signatories below represent that he/she has the authority to 
execute this Agreement.  

16. Knowing and Voluntary. This Agreement is an important legal document and in 
all respects has been voluntarily and knowingly executed by the Parties hereto. The Parties 
specifically represent that prior to signing this Agreement they have been provided a reasonable 
period of time within which to consider whether to accept this Agreement. The Parties further 
represent that they have each carefully read and fully understand all of the provisions of this 
Agreement, and that they are voluntarily, knowingly, and without coercion entering into this 
Agreement based upon their own judgment. The Parties further specifically represent that prior to 
signing this Agreement they have conferred with their counsel to the extent desired concerning 
the legal effect of this Agreement. 

17. Assistance of Counsel. The Parties each specifically represent that they have 
consulted to their satisfaction with and received independent advice from their respective counsel 
prior to executing this Agreement concerning the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of 
which shall be considered an original but all of which shall constitute one agreement. 

19. Singular and Plural. Whenever required by the context, as used in this Agreement 
the singular shall include the plural, and the masculine gender shall include the feminine and the 
neuter, and the feminine gender shall include the masculine and the neuter. 

20. Enforcement Costs. Should any legal action be required to enforce the terms of 
this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to all attorneys’ fees and costs, all expert 
witness or consultant fees and costs, all Alternative Dispute Resolution fees and costs, in addition 
to any other relief to which that party may be entitled. 

21. Injunctive Relief for Breach. The Parties acknowledge and agree that any material 
violation of this Agreement is likely to result in immediate and irreparable harm for which 
monetary damages are likely to be inadequate. Accordingly, the Parties consent to injunctive and 
other appropriate equitable relief upon the institution of proceedings therefor by any other party 
in order to protect the rights of the Parties under this Agreement. Such relief shall be in addition 
to any other relief to which the Parties may be entitled at law or in equity. 

22. Severability. Should any portion, word, clause, phrase, sentence or paragraph of 
this Agreement be declared void or unenforceable, such portion shall be considered independent 
and severable from the remainder, the validity of which shall remain unaffected. 

Item 16 
Attachment 1

179



01107.0012/676952.1  -8- 
 

23. Headings. Headings at the beginning of each numbered section of this Agreement 
are solely for the convenience of the Parties and are not a substantive part of this Agreement. 

24. Ambiguity. The Parties acknowledge that this Agreement was jointly prepared by 
them, by and through their respective legal counsel, and any uncertainty or ambiguity existing 
herein shall not be interpreted against any of the Parties, but otherwise shall be interpreted 
according to the application of the rules on interpretation of contracts. 

25. Waiver. Failure to insist on compliance with any term, covenant or condition 
contained in this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of that term, covenant or condition, nor 
shall any waiver or relinquishment of any right or power contained in this Agreement at any one 
time or more times be deemed a waiver or relinquishment of any right or power at any other time 
or times. 

26. Governing Law. This Agreement is made and entered into in the State of 
California, and shall in all respects be interpreted, enforced and governed under the laws of said 
State without giving effect to conflicts of laws principles. 

27. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 
Parties who have executed it and supersedes any and all other agreements, understandings, 
negotiations, or discussions, either oral or in writing, express or implied between the Parties to 
this Agreement. The Parties to this Agreement each acknowledge that no representations, 
inducements, promises, agreements, or warranties, oral or otherwise, have been made by them, or 
anyone acting on their behalf, which are not embodied in this Agreement, that they have not 
executed this Agreement in reliance on any such representation, inducement, promise, agreement 
or warranty, and that no representation, inducement, promise, agreement or warranty not 
contained in this Agreement, including, but not limited to, any purported supplements, 
modifications, waivers, or terminations of this Agreement shall be valid or binding, unless 
executed in writing by all of the Parties to this Agreement. 

28. Modifications. Any alteration, change, or modification of or to this Agreement 
shall be made by written instrument executed by each party hereto in order to become effective. 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
  

Item 16 
Attachment 1

180



01107.0012/676952.1  -9- 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement, consisting of a 
total of 9 pages, and agree to all of the above terms and conditions, as of the Effective Date set 
forth below. 
 

SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE 
REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE 
CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
 
 
By:_____________________________ 
 Successor Agency Executive Director 
 
Date:____________________________ 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:_____________________________ 

Successor Agency Secretary 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
By:_____________________________ 

Successor Agency Counsel 
 
 

MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS, LLC, a 
California limited liability company 
 
 
By:____________________________ 

Michael E. Rice, President 
 
Date:___________________________ 
 
 
By:____________________________ 

Frank J. Marinello, Vice President 
 
Date:___________________________ 

 
Effective Date: _______________________ 

Item 16 
Attachment 1

181



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

182



 

01107.0012/675168.1  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

RESOLUTION NO. SA 2020- 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL ACTING AS SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO 
THE REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE A SETTLEMENT 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE SUCCESSOR AGENCY AND DEVELOPER MAIN 
STREET WEST PARTNERS LLC, AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

TO EXECUTE AN 18-MONTH EXTENSION TO THE DISPOSITION AND 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (DDA) BETWEEN THE DEVELOPER AND 

SUCCESSOR AGENCY, AND DIRECTING THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO 
FORWARD THE EXECUTED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND DDA 

EXTENSION TO THE SOLANO CONSOLIDATED OVERSIGHT BOARD FOR 
APPROVAL, AND DIRECTING MAYOR WILSON, IN HER CAPACITY AS 

MEMBER OF THE SOLANO CONSOLIDATED OVERSIGHT BOARD, TO VOTE 
TO APPROVE THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT  

 
WHEREAS, On April 17, 2006, the Redevelopment Agency of the City of Suisun 

City (“RDA”) and Main Street West Partners LLC (“Developer“) entered into a Disposition 

and Development Agreement (“DDA”) regarding the following RDA-owned properties: 

PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION SITE SIZE 

Developer 
PROPERTY ID 

APN ACRES SF 

Parcels 1 & 2 32-141-15 0.59 25,700 

Parcel 3 32-142-30 0.17 7,459 

Parcel 5 (701 Main) 32-130-01 0.10 4,425 

Parcel 7 32-142-28 0.15 6,372 

Parcel 8 32-142-25 0.10 4,300 

Parcel 9 32-142-24 0.11 4,900 

Parcel 4 32-130-06 0.05 2,131 

Parcel 6 32-082-05 0.16 7,183 

Parcel 10 32-042-30, 36, 44, 46, 48, 
50, 52, 54, 56, 58, 60, 68 

1.56 67,854 

Parcel 11 32.061-39 0.16 7,150 

Parcel 12 32-061-26 through 36 1.65 71,870 

Item 16 
Attachment 2

183



 

01107.0012/675168.1 Resolution No. SA 2020- 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 2 of 7 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Parcel 13 32-091-17 through 20 3.49 151,862 

WHEREAS, the parcels were to be built out with single family homes, a residential 

development, mixed use structures (commercial, office, residential), and commercial 

structures. RDA required as a part of the DDA that commercial properties were to be 

improved first with residential properties to follow. In addition, RDA committed to providing 

certain public improvements, and Developer committed to payment of a Lighthouse 

Development Fee per parcel, and a Developer Reinvestment fee from each residential unit 

into the enhancement of certain commercial portions of the project. 

WHEREAS, on July 18, 2006, the DDA was amended (“First Amendment”) to add 

the former Crystal Middle School site, APN 32-152-18 (Parcel 14). Parcel 14 is 7.44 acres in 

size (324,086 square feet). 

WHEREAS, on September 18, 2007, the DDA was amended (“Second Amendment”) 

to update Developer‘s schedule of performance.  

WHEREAS, on February 19, 2009, in response to changed conditions due to the Great 

Recession, the DDA was amended again (“Third Amendment”). The Third Amendment 

provided that the RDA would acquire parcels 3, 5, 7, 8, and 9, as well as 711 and 713 Main 

Street (Parcel 15, APN 32-130-03 & 04; 3,049 sq. ft.) from Developer for $717.257. 

Developer’s cost to acquire. Developer was to buy the properties back at a later date, in 

accordance with the updated performance schedule. To assist Developer in leasing space 

during the Great Recession, the RDA further agreed to loan Developer $500,000, secured by a 

personal note, at a 6% interest rate (“RDA Loan”). Those funds were for rent abatement, 

tenant improvements and other benefits for tenants to encourage rental of commercial space. 

The Third Amendment also included a repayment schedule. The Third Amendment also 

included a repayment schedule. 

WHEREAS, on April 29, 2016, the DDA was amended (“Fourth Amendment”) 

following settlement approved by the Department of Finance in the case of Main Street West 

Partners, LLC v. Successor Agency of the Redevelopment Agency of the City of Suisun City, et 

Item 16 
Attachment 2

184



 

01107.0012/675168.1 Resolution No. SA 2020- 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 3 of 7 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

al., Sacramento Superior Court, Case No. 34-2014-00164737as follows: the Successor 

Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of Suisun City (“Successor Agency”) 

entered into the Fourth Amendment as successor-in-interest to the RDA; an updated schedule 

of performance; the Developer Reinvestment fee per residential unit was renegotiated; a 

contingent Downtown Economic Development Impact Fee was added in the event that utility 

connection credits of an equal amount were available to the Developer; successor developer 

provisions were added; the RDA Loan limit was lowered; and the RDA Loan repayment 

provisions were revised. The RDA’s commitment to construct certain public improvements 

was removed and Developer agreed to undertake such improvements. 

WHEREAS, Parcels 1, 2, 6, and 12 have been developed and/or assigned to a 

successor developer. All other parcels remain subject to the provisions of the DDA. 

WHEREAS, Successor Agency and Developer each allege that the other has 

materially breached the DDA (the “Dispute”). Developer has threatened litigation against the 

Successor Agency to recoup its costs and lost profits, however, are agreeable to assign the 

DDA in conjunction with a settlement. The Parties have been engaged in good faith 

settlement negotiations. The Successor Agency‘s priority is to have the remaining parcels sold 

or assigned to successor developers so that development can go forward. Assignment of the 

remaining parcels to one or more successor developers so that they can be developed will 

support the economic development of the City. Developer’s priority is to partially recoup a 

small part of its losses and to end their obligations under the DDA.  

WHEREAS, Developer and Successor Agency have been engaged in good faith 

settlement negotiations, and now wish to resolve the Dispute and settle all potential litigation 

arising therefrom in accordance with the terms and conditions articulated in the Settlement 

Agreement and General Release of All Claims (“Settlement Agreement”) attached hereto. 

Assignment of the remaining parcels to successor developer so that they can be developed 

will support the economic development of the City. 

Item 16 
Attachment 2

185



 

01107.0012/675168.1 Resolution No. SA 2020- 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 4 of 7 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

WHEREAS, on April 13, 2020, Successor Agency sent a letter to Developer, invoking 

Force Majeure in accordance with Section 3.02(A) of part Two of the DDA. Developer and 

Successor Agency now wish to extend the DDA at the current terms and conditions in order 

to have sufficient time to implement the provisions of the Settlement Agreement. 

WHEREAS, the Successor Agency Board wishes for Mayor Wilson, the City of 

Suisun City’s representative on the Solano Consolidated Oversight Board, to vote to approve 

the Settlement Agreement when it comes before the Oversight Board for consideration. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL ACTING AS SUCCESSOR 

AGENCY TO THE REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 

DOES RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The above recitals are true and correct, and are incorporated herein by 

reference. 

Section 2. The Settlement Agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as 

Attachment “A” is hereby approved. The Executive Director of the Successor Agency is 

hereby authorized on behalf of the Successor Agency to execute the Settlement Agreement, 

subject to necessary approvals from the Solano Consolidated Oversight Board, and to make 

revisions to the Settlement Agreement that do not materially or substantially increase the 

Agency’s obligations thereunder, to sign all documents, to make all approvals and take all 

actions necessary or appropriate to carry out and implement the Settlement Agreement. 

Section 3. In accordance with Section 3.02(A) of part Two of the DDA (Force 

Majeure), and subject to the approval of the Solano Consolidated Oversight Board, the 

Executive Director of the Successor Agency is hereby authorized on behalf of the Successor 

Agency to execute an extension to the DDA, subject to all current terms and conditions, for a 

period of 18 months past the expiration date of April 29, 2021, through October 29, 2022. As 

approved by Successor Agency Board Resolution 2020-01, Successor Agency sent a letter to 

Developer on April 13, 2020 letter to Developer invoking the Force Majeure clause. 

Item 16 
Attachment 2

186



 

01107.0012/675168.1 Resolution No. SA 2020- 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 5 of 7 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Section 4. Mayor Lori Wilson, as Member of the Solano Consolidated Oversight 

Board, to vote to approve the Settlement Agreement when it comes before the Board for 

consideration. 

[CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE] 

Item 16 
Attachment 2

187



 

01107.0012/675168.1 Resolution No. SA 2020- 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 6 of 7 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council Acting as 

Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of Suisun City duly held on 

Tuesday, the 17th day of November 2020, by the following vote: 

AYES: Boardmembers:    
NOES: Boardmembers:    
ABSENT: Boardmembers:    
ABSTAIN: Boardmembers:    

 WITNESS my hand and the seal of said City this 17th day of November 2020.  
 
 ________________________________ 
 Donna Pock, CMC 
 Deputy Secretary 

Item 16 
Attachment 2

188



 

01107.0012/675168.1 Resolution No. SA 2020- 
Adopted November 17, 2020 
Page 7 of 7 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

ATTACHMENT “A” 
 

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT & GENERAL RELEASE OF ALL CLAIMS 
 

Item 16 
Attachment 2

189



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

190



Item 16 
Attachment 3

191



Item 16 
Attachment 3

192



Item 16 
Attachment 3

193



Item 16 
Attachment 3

194



Item 16 
Attachment 3

195



Item 16 
Attachment 3

196



Item 16 
Attachment 3

197



Item 16 
Attachment 3

198



Item 16 
Attachment 3

199



Item 16 
Attachment 3

200



Item 16 
Attachment 3

201



Item 16 
Attachment 3

202



Item 16 
Attachment 3

203



Item 16 
Attachment 3

204



Item 16 
Attachment 3

205



Item 16 
Attachment 3

206



Item 16 
Attachment 3

207



Item 16 
Attachment 3

208



Item 16 
Attachment 3

209



Item 16 
Attachment 3

210



Item 16 
Attachment 3

211



Item 16 
Attachment 3

212



Item 16 
Attachment 3

213



Item 16 
Attachment 3

214



Item 16 
Attachment 3

215



Item 16 
Attachment 3

216



Item 16 
Attachment 3

217



Item 16 
Attachment 3

218



Item 16 
Attachment 3

219



Item 16 
Attachment 3

220



Item 16 
Attachment 3

221



Item 16 
Attachment 3

222



Item 16 
Attachment 3

223



Item 16 
Attachment 3

224



Item 16 
Attachment 3

225



Item 16 
Attachment 3

226



Item 16 
Attachment 3

227



Item 16 
Attachment 3

228



Item 16 
Attachment 3

229



Item 16 
Attachment 3

230



Item 16 
Attachment 3

231



Item 16 
Attachment 3

232



Item 16 
Attachment 3

233



Item 16 
Attachment 3

234



Item 16 
Attachment 3

235



Item 16 
Attachment 3

236



Item 16 
Attachment 3

237



Item 16 
Attachment 3

238



Item 16 
Attachment 3

239



Item 16 
Attachment 3

240



Item 16 
Attachment 3

241



Item 16 
Attachment 3

242



Item 16 
Attachment 3

243



Item 16 
Attachment 3

244



Item 16 
Attachment 3

245



Item 16 
Attachment 3

246



Item 16 
Attachment 3

247



Item 16 
Attachment 3

248



Item 16 
Attachment 3

249



Item 16 
Attachment 3

250



Item 16 
Attachment 3

251



Item 16 
Attachment 3

252



Item 16 
Attachment 3

253



Item 16 
Attachment 3

254



Item 16 
Attachment 3

255



Item 16 
Attachment 3

256



Item 16 
Attachment 3

257



Item 16 
Attachment 3

258



Item 16 
Attachment 3

259



Item 16 
Attachment 3

260



Item 16 
Attachment 3

261



Item 16 
Attachment 3

262



Item 16 
Attachment 3

263



Item 16 
Attachment 3

264



Item 16 
Attachment 3

265



Item 16 
Attachment 3

266



Item 16 
Attachment 3

267



Item 16 
Attachment 3

268



Item 16 
Attachment 3

269



Item 16 
Attachment 3

270



Item 16 
Attachment 3

271



Item 16 
Attachment 3

272



Item 16 
Attachment 3

273



Item 16 
Attachment 3

274



Item 16 
Attachment 3

275



Item 16 
Attachment 3

276



Item 16 
Attachment 3

277



Item 16 
Attachment 3

278



Item 16 
Attachment 3

279



Item 16 
Attachment 3

280



Item 16 
Attachment 3

281



Item 16 
Attachment 3

282



Item 16 
Attachment 3

283



Item 16 
Attachment 3

284



Item 16 
Attachment 3

285



Item 16 
Attachment 3

286



Item 16 
Attachment 3

287



Item 16 
Attachment 3

288



Item 16 
Attachment 3

289



Item 16 
Attachment 3

290



Item 16 
Attachment 3

291



Item 16 
Attachment 3

292



Item 16 
Attachment 3

293



Item 16 
Attachment 3

294



Item 16 
Attachment 3

295



Item 16 
Attachment 3

296



Item 16 
Attachment 3

297



Item 16 
Attachment 3

298



Item 16 
Attachment 3

299



Item 16 
Attachment 3

300



Item 16 
Attachment 3

301



Item 16 
Attachment 3

302



Item 16 
Attachment 3

303



Item 16 
Attachment 3

304



Item 16 
Attachment 3

305



Item 16 
Attachment 3

306



Item 16 
Attachment 3

307



Item 16 
Attachment 3

308



Item 16 
Attachment 3

309



Item 16 
Attachment 3

310



Item 16 
Attachment 3

311



Item 16 
Attachment 3

312



Item 16 
Attachment 3

313



Item 16 
Attachment 3

314



Item 16 
Attachment 3

315



Item 16 
Attachment 3

316



Item 16 
Attachment 3

317



Item 16 
Attachment 3

318



Item 16 
Attachment 3

319



Item 16 
Attachment 3

320



Item 16 
Attachment 3

321



Item 16 
Attachment 3

322



Item 16 
Attachment 3

323



Item 16 
Attachment 3

324



Item 16 
Attachment 3

325



Item 16 
Attachment 3

326



Item 16 
Attachment 3

327



Item 16 
Attachment 3

328



Item 16 
Attachment 3

329



Item 16 
Attachment 3

330



Item 16 
Attachment 3

331



Item 16 
Attachment 3

332



Item 16 
Attachment 3

333



Item 16 
Attachment 3

334



Item 16 
Attachment 3

335



Item 16 
Attachment 3

336



Item 16 
Attachment 3

337



Item 16 
Attachment 3

338



Item 16 
Attachment 3

339



Item 16 
Attachment 3

340



Item 16 
Attachment 3

341



Item 16 
Attachment 3

342



Item 16 
Attachment 3

343



Item 16 
Attachment 3

344



Item 16 
Attachment 3

345



Item 16 
Attachment 3

346



Item 16 
Attachment 3

347



Item 16 
Attachment 3

348



Item 16 
Attachment 3

349



Item 16 
Attachment 3

350



Item 16 
Attachment 3

351



Item 16 
Attachment 3

352



Item 16 
Attachment 3

353



Item 16 
Attachment 3

354



Item 16 
Attachment 3

355



Item 16 
Attachment 3

356



Item 16 
Attachment 3

357



Item 16 
Attachment 3

358



Item 16 
Attachment 3

359



Item 16 
Attachment 3

360



Item 16 
Attachment 3

361



Item 16 
Attachment 3

362



Item 16 
Attachment 3

363



Item 16 
Attachment 3

364



Item 16 
Attachment 3

365



Item 16 
Attachment 3

366



Item 16 
Attachment 3

367



Item 16 
Attachment 3

368



Item 16 
Attachment 3

369



Item 16 
Attachment 3

370



Item 16 
Attachment 3

371



Item 16 
Attachment 3

372



Item 16 
Attachment 3

373



Item 16 
Attachment 3

374



Item 16 
Attachment 3

375



Item 16 
Attachment 3

376



Item 16 
Attachment 3

377



Item 16 
Attachment 3

378



Item 16 
Attachment 3

379



Item 16 
Attachment 3

380



Item 16 
Attachment 3

381



Item 16 
Attachment 3

382



Item 16 
Attachment 3

383



Item 16 
Attachment 3

384



Item 16 
Attachment 3

385



Item 16 
Attachment 3

386



Item 16 
Attachment 3

387



Item 16 
Attachment 3

388



Item 16 
Attachment 3

389



Item 16 
Attachment 3

390



Item 16 
Attachment 3

391



Item 16 
Attachment 3

392



Item 16 
Attachment 3

393



Item 16 
Attachment 3

394



Item 16 
Attachment 3

395



Item 16 
Attachment 3

396



Item 16 
Attachment 3

397



Item 16 
Attachment 3

398



Item 16 
Attachment 3

399



Item 16 
Attachment 3

400



Item 16 
Attachment 3

401



Item 16 
Attachment 3

402



Item 16 
Attachment 3

403



Item 16 
Attachment 3

404



Item 16 
Attachment 3

405



Item 16 
Attachment 3

406



Item 16 
Attachment 3

407



Item 16 
Attachment 3

408



Item 16 
Attachment 3

409



Item 16 
Attachment 3

410



Item 16 
Attachment 3

411



Item 16 
Attachment 3

412



Item 16 
Attachment 3

413



Item 16 
Attachment 3

414



Item 16 
Attachment 3

415



Item 16 
Attachment 3

416



Item 16 
Attachment 3

417



Item 16 
Attachment 3

418



Item 16 
Attachment 3

419



Item 16 
Attachment 3

420



Item 16 
Attachment 3

421



Item 16 
Attachment 3

422



Item 16 
Attachment 3

423



Item 16 
Attachment 3

424



Item 16 
Attachment 3

425



Item 16 
Attachment 3

426



Item 16 
Attachment 3

427



Item 16 
Attachment 3

428



Item 16 
Attachment 3

429



Item 16 
Attachment 3

430



Item 16 
Attachment 3

431



Item 16 
Attachment 3

432



Item 16 
Attachment 3

433



Item 16 
Attachment 3

434



Item 16 
Attachment 3

435



Item 16 
Attachment 3

436



Item 16 
Attachment 3

437



Item 16 
Attachment 3

438



Item 16 
Attachment 3

439



Item 16 
Attachment 3

440



Item 16 
Attachment 3

441



Item 16 
Attachment 3

442



Item 16 
Attachment 3

443



Item 16 
Attachment 3

444



Item 16 
Attachment 3

445



Item 16 
Attachment 3

446



Item 16 
Attachment 3

447



Item 16 
Attachment 3

448



Item 16 
Attachment 3

449



Item 16 
Attachment 3

450



Item 16 
Attachment 3

451



Item 16 
Attachment 3

452



Item 16 
Attachment 3

453



Item 16 
Attachment 3

454



Item 16 
Attachment 3

455



Item 16 
Attachment 3

456



Item 16 
Attachment 3

457



Item 16 
Attachment 3

458



Item 16 
Attachment 3

459



Item 16 
Attachment 3

460



Item 16 
Attachment 3

461



Item 16 
Attachment 3

462



Item 16 
Attachment 3

463



Item 16 
Attachment 3

464



Item 16 
Attachment 3

465



Item 16 
Attachment 3

466



Item 16 
Attachment 3

467



Item 16 
Attachment 3

468



Item 16 
Attachment 3

469



Item 16 
Attachment 3

470



Item 16 
Attachment 3

471



Item 16 
Attachment 3

472



Item 16 
Attachment 3

473



Item 16 
Attachment 3

474



Item 16 
Attachment 3

475



Item 16 
Attachment 3

476



Item 16 
Attachment 3

477



Item 16 
Attachment 3

478



Item 16 
Attachment 3

479



Item 16 
Attachment 3

480



Item 16 
Attachment 3

481



Item 16 
Attachment 3

482



Item 16 
Attachment 3

483



Item 16 
Attachment 3

484



Item 16 
Attachment 3

485



Item 16 
Attachment 3

486



Item 16 
Attachment 3

487



Item 16 
Attachment 3

488



Item 16 
Attachment 3

489



Item 16 
Attachment 3

490



Item 16 
Attachment 3

491



Item 16 
Attachment 3

492



Item 16 
Attachment 3

493



Item 16 
Attachment 3

494



Item 16 
Attachment 3

495



Item 16 
Attachment 3

496



Item 16 
Attachment 3

497



Item 16 
Attachment 3

498



Item 16 
Attachment 3

499



Item 16 
Attachment 3

500



Item 16 
Attachment 3

501



Item 16 
Attachment 3

502



Item 16 
Attachment 3

503



Item 16 
Attachment 3

504



Item 16 
Attachment 3

505



Item 16 
Attachment 3

506



Item 16 
Attachment 3

507



Item 16 
Attachment 3

508



Item 16 
Attachment 3

509



Item 16 
Attachment 3

510



Item 16 
Attachment 3

511



Item 16 
Attachment 3

512



RESOLUTION OF THE REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF SUISUN 
CITY APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF THE FIRST 
AMENDMENT TO THE DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

(DDA) WITH MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS, LLC, FOR THE ADDITIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT OF A RESIDENTIAL PROJECT ON APPROXIMATELY 7.44- 

ACRES ON THE SITE THAT IS COMMONLY KNOWN AS THE “OLD CRYSTAL
MIDDLE SCHOOL.”

RESOLUTION NO. RA 2006-281

2

3

4

5

6
WHEREAS the Redevelopment Agency of the City of Suisun City has adopted the 

Amended and Restated Redevelopment Plan; and
WHEREAS the Agency executed a Disposition and Development Agreement (the 

“Agreement”) for the development of 8.4 acres of Agency owned properties located 
throughout the Downtown Waterfront Area of Suisun City; and

WHEREAS Recital No. 7 of the Agreement anticipated that the Agency and the 
Developer might enter into an Agreement with respect to the disposition and/or development 
of the old Crystal Middle School site; and

WHEREAS the parties desire that Developer acquire the old Crystal Middle School 
site from Agency and that it be planned and developed pursuant to the Agreement, and

WHEREAS, it is now being requested for the Agency to consider entering into the 
First Amendment to the Disposition and Development Agreement with Main Street West 
Partners, LLC, and

WHEREAS, The Agency and the City Council of the City of Suisun City conducted a 
public hearing on this transaction duly noticed and published as required by State of 
California Redevelopment Law.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Redevelopment Agency of the 
City of Suisun City hereby approves and authorizes the Executive Director or her designee to 
execute the First Amendment to the Disposition and Development Agreement between the 
Agency and Main Street West Partners, LLC; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Agency hereby authorizes the Executive 
Director or her designee to execute all documentation necessary for this transaction.

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Suisun City Redevelopment 
Agency held on the IS111 day of July 2006, by the following vote:

AYES:
NOES 
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22
BOARDMEMBERS Sanchez. Segala, Spering
BOARDMEMBERS 
BOARDMEMBERS 
BOARDMEMBERS

WITNESS my hand and seal of said Agency this 18th day of July 2006.

23 None
Dav. Derting 
None______24

25

26
Linda Hobson, Agency Secretary27

28

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 1

513



E
X

H
IB

IT
 A

SU
IS

U
N

 C
IT

Y 
D

O
W

N
TO

W
N

 M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

f

1
I

i 
i 1!

1U
<•

■
$

, 
t 

-"

f

-• 
. -

■^
;£ 

'
I

13
./

¥
 

-
14

sm
r'

n i !
ra

n *
m
 t

?
i

II"
.

t!
■S3

t!,!
 1

P
ft

''"
...

i 
f”

L
it
 

f
|

I
k

L-
a®

-
31

 ^
 

B
* 

'' '
"i

f

•-
. 

.'
 i

v
: 

il
l 

■ H it
«

1..
Il

I.
i

, 
i

" 
-f
..

t
 ■ 

| J
.; 

f M
., 

-
 

> 
■: 

*.
 

.»
.

?
L

j.

(•.
? 

'V
-' 

;*y
 

J.
1 

I

‘.
tr

i.
t.

t 
it

 J
 L

J
'-

.t
--

if
■.'

•, 
* 

«
‘S

i,r
t

i-
1

*«
 

' 
■SW

iaM
iW

*"
*

ri
'i
 . 

. 5
«

>

r,
,.-

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 1

514



FIRST AMENDMENT TO DISPOSITION 
AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

This First Amendment to Disposition and Development Agreement (this 
“Amendment”) modifies and amends the Disposition and Development Agreement 
for the Main Street West Project dated April 17, 2006 (the “Agreement”) between 
the REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY, 
CALIFORNIA as the “Agency” and MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS, LLC as 
the “Developer.”

WITNESSETH:

1. The Agreement provides for the acquisition, planning and 
development of certain real property described in Exhibits A and B to the 
Agreement.

Recital No. 7 of the Agreement anticipates that Agency and the 
Developer might enter into an Agreement with respect to the disposition and/or 
development of the old Crystal Middle School site.

2.

The parties desire that Developer acquire the old Crystal 
Middle School site from Agency and that it be planned and developed pursuant to 
the Agreement.

3.

The parties therefore agree as follows:

The definition of “Property or Properties” of the Agreement is 
hereby amended to add the following as the last row of the table used as part of the 
definition:

1.

SITE SIZEPROPERTY IDENTIFICATION

ACRES SFASSESSORS PARCEL #MSW PROPERTY ID
324,0860032-152-180 7.44Parcel 14

The first sentence of Section 1.02 is deleted in its entirety and2.
the following substituted therefore:

“The Property, in its entirety, consists of approximately 
15.84 acres of real property and currently consists of 
the 14 parcels (some of which are comprised as several 
smaller parcels) as set forth in Exhibit A attached 
hereto.”

The table in Section 3.01 of the Agreement is amended to add3.
an additional row as follows:

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 1

515



PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION SITE SIZE LIGHTHOUSE
DEVELOPMENTMSW PROPERTY PURCHASE

PRICE
MARKET
VALUE FEEID ASSESSORS PARCEL # ACRES SF

rSIISiaT1ket Value as 
ned.byMAI 
.but not less 
2,500,000 1thin

Parcel 14 $200,83432-152-18 7.44 324,086

Not less than 
$6,263,000

Not less than 
$6,835,686Totals $572,68615.84 694,863

4. Developer agrees to pay a $100,000 fee (in addition to the total 
purchase price) for costs incurred by the City of Suisun City associated with 
processing entitlements for the old Crystal Middle School site.

5. Exhibit A to the Agreement is hereby amended to add the legal 
description for the old Crystal School Site (Parcel 14) attached hereto as Exhibit I 
incorporated herein by this reference.

Exhibit B is amended to add the depiction of Parcel 14 
attached hereto as Exhibit II and incorporated herein by this reference.

6.

7. Exhibit C, the Schedule of Performance, is hereby amended to 
add the Schedule of Performance for Proposed Residential Property (Parcel 14) as 
described in Exhibit III attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.

The first sentence of the first paragraph of the “Proposed 
Residential Parcels 12 & 13” page of Exhibit C is amended to substitute “eighteen 
months” for “120 days.”

8.

Exhibit D to the Agreement is amended to add the following: 
“Parcel 14 consists of the old Crystal Middle School site and is slated for residential 
development. Prior to the commencement of construction, the Developer must 
demolish, at the Developer’s expense, the existing structures located on the site. If 
and to the extent Agency has demolished structures on Parcel 14 prior to its 
acquisition by Developer, Developer will reimburse Agency for the reasonable cost 
of such demolition at close of escrow.”

9.

9. Exhibit G to the Agreement is amended to add the Appraisal for 
Parcel 14 that is attached to this Amendment as Exhibit IV.

10. In the event of a conflict between the Agreement and this 
Amendment, this Amendment will control. Except to the extent inconsistent with 
this Amendment, the parties ratify and confirm all of the terms and conditions of 
the Agreement.

WHEREFORE, the parties have executed this Amendment effective 
July 2006 (“Effective Date of First Amendment”).

[Signatures on next page]

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 1

516



REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY

By:
Suzan^ Bragdon, Executive Director

ATTEST:

Linda Hobson, Agency Secretary
By:

D AS TO FOAPPRO

_______ \A>
Sky Wopdfuff, Agency Central Counsel

By:

MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS, LLC 
a California limited liability company

______ :By:
Michael E. Rice, President

By:
Frank J. Marinello, Vice-President

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 1

517



EXHIBIT I
Amended Legal Description 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR PARCEL 14

EXHIBIT "A” 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

THAT CERTAIN PARCEL OF LAND, BOUNDED ON THE WEST BY THE EAST LINE OF THE 
SOUTHERN PACIFIC RAILROAD COMPANY RIGHT OF WAY; ON THE NORTH BY THE SOOTH LINE 
OF CALIFORNIA STREET AND THE SOUTH LINE OF MORGAN STREET, AS SAID STREETS NOW 
EXIST; ON THE EAST BY THE WEST LINE OF WEST STREET AND THE WEST LINE OF SCHOOL 
STREET ALSO KNOWN AS WASHINGTON AVENUE, AS SAID STREETS NOW EXIST; AND ON THE 
SOUTH BY THE NORTHERLY LINE OF CORDELIA STREET AS SAID STREET NOW 
EXISTS*

ASSESSORS PARCEL NO.: 0032-152.180

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 1

518



EXHIBIT II 
Site Plan (Parcel 14)

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 1

519



Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 1

520



EXHIBIT III
Schedule of Performance (Parcel 14)

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 1

521



PROPOSED RESIDENTIAL PARCEL 14

1. No later than 120 days after the effective date of the First Amendment, 
Developer shall submit complete applications to the Planning 
Commission, the agency Board, and all appropriate and applicable 
regulatory agencies for review and approval. Approval by the Planning 
Commission/Agency Board shall satisfy the “Final Development Plan” 
requirement outlined in Part One article 1.03 of the DDA, subject to 
BCDC approval, if applicable.

No later than 120 days after Planning Commission and any applicable 
BCDC approval (whichever is later), Developer will submit to City and 
Agency (a) complete construction drawings for plan check (including the 
building permit application) and (b) the construction financing plan 
(“Construction Financing Plan”).

2.

Escrow closes on the property no later than the later of 45 days after 
Planning Commission and BCDC approval (if applicable) and April 1, 
2007.

3.

No later than 30 days after issuance of building permit, Developer is 
required to break ground (commencement of construction).

4.

Within 12 months of construction commencement, Developer shall have 
Model Homes final inspection completion such that a Certificate of 
Completion can be issued. Developer shall complete the construction of 
all additional homes on Parcel 14 by no later than 24 months after 
completion of the Model Homes.

5.

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 1

522



EXHIBIT IV 
Appraisal

(Insert Upon Completion)

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 1

523



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

524



SECOND AMENDMENT TO DISPOSITION 
AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

This Second Amendment to Disposition and Development Agreement, dated as of September 18, 
2007 (this "Amendment") modifies and amends the Disposition and Development Agreement for the Main 
Street West Project, dated April 17, 2006 (as amended on July 25, 2006, the “First Amendment", and 
together with this Amendment, the "Agreement") between the REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE 
CITY OF SUISUN CITY, as the “Agency" and MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS, LLC, as the 
“Developer." The Agency and the Developer are referred to herein as the "Parties." Capitalized terms 
used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Agreement.

RECITALS

A. The Agreement provides for the acquisition, planning and development of certain real 
property described in Exhibits A and B to the Agreement.

B. The First Amendment added the old Crystal Middle School site to the Main Street West 
Project, and provided for the acquisition, planning, and development of additional real property described in 
Exhibits I and II to the First Amendment.

C. The Parties desire to further amend the Agreement in order to provide for the release of 
the Deposit to the Agency, and to amend the Schedule of Performance.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby 
acknowledged, Agency and Developer hereby agree to amend the Agreement as follows :

Paragraph C of Section 3.02 of Part One of the Agreement is hereby amended toSection 1. 
read as follows:

Deposit. The Developer has heretofore deposited Twenty-Five Thousand 
Dollars ($25,000) with the Agency. Within five (5) days of the Effective Date, the 
Developer shall submit to the Escrow Agent (defined in Section 3.03 of this Part below) 
additional funds in the amount of Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars ($75,000), which 
together with the funds held by Agency totals One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000) 
(collectively, the “Deposit”).

C.

Upon request of the Agency, the Escrow Agent shall release the Deposit 
to the Agency. Upon an event of default by the Developer and/or termination of the 
Agreement by the Agency, the Agency may retain the Deposit in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 7.04 of this Agreement.

1.

Provided that Developer is not in default hereunder as described in 
Section 7.04 of this Agreement, the Escrow Agent shall apply the Deposit to the purchase 
price at close of escrow for the last parcel of the Property to be acquired by Developer in 
accordance with the Schedule of Performance.

2.

If Developer is in default with respect to any provision of this Agreement, 
the Agency may, but shall have no obligation to, use the Deposit or any portion of the

3.

1016243.1 1

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 2

525



Deposit to cure such default or to compensate the Agency for any damage or reasonable 
expense sustained by the Agency and resulting from such default, but only after providing 
the Developer with an opportunity to cure such default pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 7.04, Part One. The Agency shall provide the Developer with evidence of 
damages incurred as a result of a default by the Developer. If this Agreement has not 
been terminated as a result of such default, the Developer, on demand from the Agency, 
shall promptly restore such Deposit to the full amount required by this Section 3.02C.

4. If this Agreement is not otherwise terminated by the Agency and the 
Deposit shall not have been entirely applied to the Purchase Price of the Property or 
refunded to the Developer, including interest if any, the Escrow Agent shall with the written 
consent of the Agency refund the remaining balance of the Deposit to the Developer upon 
close of escrow for the last parcel of the Property acquired by the Developer in accordance 
with the Schedule of Performance.

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, except for 
application of the Deposit to the purchase price of the last parcel of Property to be 
acquired by the Developer, the Agency shall have no obligation to refund the Deposit to 
the Developer.

5.

Section 2. The Schedule of Performance attached as Exhibit C to the Agreement, is hereby 
amended in its entirety as set forth in Exhibit I attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.

Section 3. In the event of a conflict between the Agreement and this Amendment or the First 
Amendment, this Amendment will control. Except to the extent inconsistent with this Amendment, the 
Parties ratify and confirm all of the terms and conditions of the Agreement and the First Amendment.

WHEREFORE, the parties have executed this Amendment effective September 18,2007

MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS, LLC
a CaliforaiaJifniteB^ability company

REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY

By: Ur a a**
Michael EJRice, Presidentm, Executive Director

/ Frank J. Marinello, Vjjze-PresidentATTEST:

By:
Linda Hobson, Agency Secretary

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Sky Woodruff, Agency General Counsel
By:

1016243.1 2

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 2

526



EXHIBIT I
SCHEDULE OF PERFORMANCE

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 2

527



EXHIBIT C

SCHEDULE OF PERFORMANCE

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
PARCELS 1 & 2

Note: Since construction commenced on August 27, 2007, and since the Developer has 
acquired this site, the steps leading up to close of escrow and building permit 
issue/construction commencement are not included in this schedule.

1. Within twelve (12) months of construction commencement, Developer shall have 
attained project shell completion, ready for tenant improvements such that a 
Certificate of Completion can be issued.

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
PARCEL 3

Note: Since the Developer has acquired this site and construction documents have been 
submitted, the steps leading up to close of escrow and construction document submittal are 
not included in this schedule.

1. Upon 75% lease-up of the gross leasable area in Parcels 1 & 2 (demonstrated by 
signed leases), but in no event later than September 1, 2008, Developer required to 
commence with building construction.

2. Within twelve (12) months of construction commencement, Developer shall have 
attained project shell completion, ready for tenant improvements such that a 
Certificate of Completion can be issued.

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
PARCEL 4, 6, AND 11

No later than May 1, 2010, Developer shall submit complete applications to the 
Planning Commission, Agency Board and all appropriate and applicable regulatory 
agencies for review and approval. Approval by the Planning Commission/Agency 
Board shall satisfy the “Final Development Plan” requirement outlined in Part One 
Article 1.03 of the DDA.

1.

No later than 30 days after Planning Commission/Agency Board approval (whichever 
is later), Developer shall submit to the Agency its plans for financing the acquisition 
of the properties (“Acquisition Financing Plan”).

2.

No later than 120 days after Planning Commission and Agency Board approval 
(whichever is later), Developer will submit to City and Agency (a) complete 
construction drawings for all parcels for plan check (including the building permit 
application) and (b) the construction financing plan ("Construction Financing Plan”).

3.

Revised Schedule of Performance
Main Street West Project

Second Amendment to DDA dated 9-18-07

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 2

528



4. Escrow closes on the property no later than 45 days after Planning Commission 
approval.

5. Developer shall break ground on either parcel 4 or 6 (at Developer’s option) no later 
than 30 days after the lease or occupancy of at least seventy-five percent (75%) of 
the commercial and/or retail space in the building(s) constructed on parcels 1,2,3, 5, 
7, 8, and 9.Further, Developer shall break ground on the remaining parcel (either 
parcel 4 or 6), as the case may be, no later than 30 days following the lease or 
occupancy of at least 75% of the commercial and/or retail space in the building 
constructed on parcel 4 or 6. Developer shall break ground on parcel 11 no later 
than 30 days after the lease or occupancy of at least seventy five percent (75%) of 
the commercial and/or retail space in the building constructed on parcel 4 or 6.

6. Notwithstanding the time-line set forth in paragraphs 4 and 5 above, Developer shall 
have no obligation to acquire parcel 11 if, prior to the close of escrow appropriate 
parking for the proposed development of said parcel is unavailable on property 
immediately adjacent to parcel 11 on terms acceptable to Developer in its good faith 
discretion and Developer has, not less than 90 days prior to the date set forth in the 
Schedule of Performance for the close of escrow for acquisition of said parcel, 
notified the Agency in writing of its decision to not acquire parcel 11.

7. Within twelve (12) months of construction commencement, Developer shall have 
attained project shell completion, ready for tenant improvements such that a 
Certificate of Completion can be issued.

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
PARCEL 5

1. Within 60 days of the Effective Date of the Second Amendment to the DDA, 
Developer to submit written evidence to Agency that rehabilitation of the existing 
building is economically infeasible as defined in Section 3.04 of Part Two of the DDA. 
Agency to provide response and desired plan of action on this property upon formal 
claim of economic infeasibility.

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
PARCEL 7

Note: Since the Developer has acquired this site and since the construction documents have 
been submitted, the steps leading up to close of escrow and construction document 
submittal are not included in this schedule.

Upon 50% pre-leasing of of the gross leasable area (demonstrated by signed 
leases), but in no event later than April 1, 2008, Developer required to commence 
with building construction.

1.

Within twelve (12) months of construction commencement, Developer shall have 
attained project shell completion, ready for tenant improvements such that a 
Certificate of Completion can be issued.

2.

Revised Schedule of Performance
Main Street West Project

Second Amendment to DDA dated 9-18-07

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 2

529



COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
PARCELS 8 & 9

Note: Since the Developer has acquired these sites, the steps leading up to close of escrow 
are not included in this schedule.

a. Upon 50% lease-up of the gross leasable area contained within buildings 
constructed on Parcels 1, 2, 3, and 7, but in no event later than April 1, 2008, 
Developer shall submit complete applications to the Planning Commission, 
the Agency Board and all appropriate and applicable regulatory agencies for 
review and approval. Approval by the Planning Commission/Agency Board 
shall satisfy the “Final Development Plan" requirement outlined in Part One 
Article 1.03 of the DDA.

1. No later than 30 days after Planning Commission and Agency Board approval 
(whichever is later), Developer shall submit to the Agency its plans for financing the 
acquisition of the properties (“Acquisition Financing Plan").

2. No later than 120 Days after Planning Commission and/or BCDC approval, 
Developer will submit to the City and Agency (a) complete construction drawings for 
all parcels for plan check (including the building permit application) and (b) the 
construction financing plan (“Construction Financing Plan").

No later than 30 days after issuance of building permit, Developer required to break 
ground (commencement of construction).

3.

Within 12 Months of construction commencement, Developer shall have attained 
project shell completion, ready for tenant improvements such that a Certificate of 
Completion can be issued.

4.

Revised Schedule of Performance
Main Street West Project

Second Amendment to DDA dated 9-18-07

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 2

530



RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY 
PARCEL 10

1. Developer shall submit complete applications for Planning Commission/Agency 
Board review no later than October 1, 2007. The applications necessary to complete 
and submit prior to the aforementioned October 1, 2007 are as follows:

i. Site Plan/Architectural Review Application
ii. Tentative Subdivision Map Application

iii. General Plan Amendment Application
iv. Specific Plan Amendment Application
v. Zoning/PUD Application

Approval by the Planning Commission/Agency Board shall satisfy the “Final 
Development Plan” requirement outlined in Part One Article 1.03 of the DDA.

2. No later than 30 days after Planning Commission and Agency Board approval 
(whichever is later), Developer shall submit to the Agency its plans for financing the 
acquisition of the properties (“Acquisition Financing Plan”).

3. No later than 120 Days after Planning Commission approval, Developer will submit 
(a) complete construction drawings for parcel 10 to the City for plan check (including 
the building permit application) and (b) the construction financing plan (“Construction 
Financing Plan”).

4. Escrow closes on the parcel no later than 45 days after Planning Commission 
approval.

5. No later than 30 days after issuance of building permit, Developer required to break 
ground (commencement of construction).

6. Within 12 Months of construction commencement, Developer shall have Model 
Homes ready for final inspection such that a certificate of completion can be issued. 
Developer shall complete the construction of all additional homes on parcel 10 no 
later than 15 months after completion of the Model Homes.

Revised Schedule of Performance
Main Street West Project

Second Amendment to DDA dated 9-18-07

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 2

531



RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY 
PARCELS 12 & 13

1. Not later than September 1, 2009, Developer shall submit complete applications to 
all applicable regulatory agencies for review and approval as required to fully entitle 
the property for development. Approval by the Planning Commission/Agency Board 
shall satisfy the "Final Development Plan” requirement outlined in Part One Article 
1.03 of the DDA, subject to BCDC approval.

2. No later than 120 days after Planning Commission and BCDC approval (whichever is 
later), Developer will submit to City and Agency (a) complete construction drawings 
to for plan check (including the building permit application) and (b) the construction 
financing plan ("Construction Financing Plan”).

3. Escrow closes on property no later than 45 days after Planning Commission or 
BCDC approval.

4. No later than 30 days after issuance of building permit, Developer required to break 
ground (commencement of construction).

5. Within 12 months of construction commencement, Developer shall have Model 
Homes final inspection completion such that a Certificate of Completion can be 
issued. Developer shall complete the construction of all additional homes on parcel 
12 and 13 by no later than 24 months after completion of the Model Homes.

Revised Schedule of Performance
Main Street West Project

Second Amendment to DDA dated 9-18-07

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 2

532



PROPOSED RESIDENTIAL 
PARCEL 14

1. Developer shall Immediately commence in working with Community Development 
Department to cause Noise, Traffic, and Air Quality studies to be performed. Not 
later than February 4, 2008, Developer shall submit complete applications to all 
applicable regulatory agencies for review and approval as required to fully entitle the 
property for development. Approval by the Planning Commission/Agency Board 
shall satisfy the “Final Development Plan” requirement outlined in Part One Article 
1.03 of the DDA, subject to BCDC approval. The applications necessary to complete 
and submit prior to the aforementioned February 4, 2008 date include but are not 
limited to:

i. Site Plan/Architectural Review Application
ii. Tentative Subdivision Map Application

iii. General Plan Amendment Application
iv. Specific Plan Amendment Application
v. Zoning/PUD Application

No later than 120 days after applications are approved, Developer will submit to City 
and Agency (a) complete construction drawings to for plan check (including the 
building permit application) and (b) the construction financing plan (“Construction 
Financing Plan”).

Escrow closes on property no later than 45 days after Planning Commission 
approval.

No later than 30 days after issuance of building permit, Developer required to break 
ground (commencement of construction).

Within 12 months of construction commencement, Developer shall have Model 
Homes final inspection completion such that a Certificate of Completion can be 
issued. Developer shall complete the construction of all additional homes on parcel 
14 by no later than 24 months after completion of the Model Homes.

2.

3.

4.

5.

Revised Schedule of Performance
Main Street West Project

Second Amendment to DDA dated 9-18-07

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 2

533



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

534



THIRD AMENDMENT TO DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

This Third Amendment to Disposition and Development Agreement (this “Third 
Amendment") is entered into effective as of /f
by and between Main Street West Partners, LLC, a California limited liability company 
(“Developer”) and the Redevelopment Agency of the City of Suisun City, a public body 
corporate and politic (the "Agency"). Developer and Agency are hereinafter collectively 
referred to as the "Parties.”

2009 (“Effective Date”)

WHEREAS, the Parties entered into that certain Disposition and Development 
Agreement dated as of April 17, 2006 (the “Original DDA”) pursuant to which the 
Developer agreed to acquire certain real property for development of a commercial, 
residential and retail project (as more particularly described in the DDA, the “Project”);

WHEREAS, the Original DDA was amended by that certain First Amendment to 
Disposition and Development Agreement effective as of July 25, 2006 (the “First 
Amendment”) pursuant to which an additional parcel was added to the property to be 
developed, and the Schedule of Performance was amended;

WHEREAS, the Original DDA was further amended by that certain Second 
Amendment to Disposition and Development Agreement effective as of September 18, 
2007 (the “Second Amendment”) in order to further amend the Schedule of 
Performance and to provide for the release to the Agency of the Deposit under specified 
circumstances (the Original DDA as amended by the First Amendment and the Second 
Amended is hereafter referred to as the “DDA”). (Capitalized terms used without 
definition herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Original DDA, 
the First Amendment or the Second Amendment, as applicable.);.

WHEREAS, pursuant to the DDA, Developer has acquired certain real property 
from Agency and pursuant to Section 4.16 of the DDA, Developer has acquired parcels 
located at 711 and 713 Main Street, all for development of the Project in accordance 
with the DDA;

WHEREAS, Developer has dedicated substantial time and financial resources in 
connection with engineering, planning and permitting for development of the Project, 
and the Agency has determined that Developer remains most qualified to complete 
development of the Project in the manner anticipated by the DDA;

WHEREAS, due to the current economic climate, the Parties have determined 
that it will not be feasible to develop the Project within the timeframe set forth in the 
DDA;

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to modify the DDA in order to provide for an 
extension of time for development of the Project, including a delay in the schedule for 
Developer’s acquisition and development of certain parcels;

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the DDA to reflect the foregoing 
transactions, to modify the Schedule of Performance, and to provide for certain Agency 
financial assistance;

1181929-4 1

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

535



WHEREAS, pursuant to the Original DDA, the Agency and the City Council of 
the City of Suisun (“City Council”) approved the disposition of the Property to the 
Developer in accordance with Health and Safety Code Sections 33431 and 33433, and 
in connection with the approval of the Original DDA, the Agency and the City Council 
approved a summary report in accordance with Health and Safety Code Section 33433 
(the “Summary Report”); and

WHEREAS, this Third Amendment provides that Developer’s future reacguisition 
of each parcel purchased by the Agency pursuant to this Third Amendment, for 
development of the Project will be at the appraised fair market value of such property at 
the time of such acquisition.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants of the Parties and 
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows.

Definitions. The DDA as amended by this Third Amendment is hereafter 
referred to as the “Amended DDA”.

1.

Agency Acquisition. Agency agrees to purchase from Developer the real 
property located in the City of Suisun City identified in the following table and more 
particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto (all of the foregoing, a portion of the 
Property, and hereafter referred to collectively as the “Third Amendment Property”), 
for the aggregate purchase price of Seven Hundred Seventeen Thousand Two Hundred 
and Fifty-Seven Dollars ($717,257) as set forth below:

2.

SITE SIZEPROPERTY IDENTIFICATION
ASSESSORS PARCEL 
NUMBER

MSW 
IDENTIFICATION

PROPERTY PURCHASE
PRICEACRES SF
$105,466Parcel 3 32-142-30 0.17 7,459
$170,60732-130-01 0.10Parcel 5 4,425
$117,874Parcel 7 32-142-28 0.15 6,372
$ 67,00232-142-25 0.10Parcel 8 4,300
$ 76,308Parcel 9 32-142-24 0.11 4,900
$180,00032-130-030 and -040 .07711 and 713 Main Street 3,049

TOTAL $717,257

Conveyance of Property. The Agency will acquire the Third Amendment 
Property in its AS-IS condition as of the Effective Date. At the Closing, Developer will 
convey the Third Amendment Property to Agency pursuant to one or more grant deeds 
(the “Grant Deeds”).

3.

Closing. Within three (3) business days following the Effective Date, 
Agency shall open an escrow at Placer Title Company (“Title Company”) at its Oliver
j J8J929-4

4.

2

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

536



Road office in Fairfield, California and will deposit with Title Company a copy of this fully 
executed Third Amendment. Developer shall deposit the executed Grant Deeds into 
escrow within, ten (10) days following the Effective Date, together with the executed 
Note (defined in Section 7 below). Closing for the conveyance of the Third Amendment 
Property shall take place within the later of twenty-one (21) days following the Effective 
Date or the satisfaction of all of the following conditions precedent:

(a) Agency shall have completed such studies of the Third Amendment 
Property as Agency shall deem necessary, including without limitation, completion of a 
Phase I report and such other environmental evaluations and physical assessments as 
Agency shall require;

'(b) Agency's governing board shall have approved the transactions
described in this Third Amendment;

(c) Title Company shall be prepared to issue CLTA owner’s policies of 
title insurance showing title to the Third Amendment Property vested in Agency subject 
only to such exceptions reasonably approved by Agency, but in no event including any 
liens, mortgages or tax delinquencies, with the cost of the title policy to be paid by 
Agency;

Taxes, utilities and assessments shall be pro-rated between 
Agency and Developer as of the Closing Date;

(d)

Developer and Agency shall each pay one-half of the closing costs,(e)
transfer taxes and recording fees;

Schedule of Performance. The Schedule of Performance is hereby 
amended in its entirety as set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto.

5.

6. Developer's Acquisition. Pursuant to the Amended DDA, Developer shall 
develop the Project on the Property in accordance with the Schedule of Performance 
set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto. Developer shall be entitled to acquire each parcel 
of the Property within the timeframe set forth in Exhibit B in its AS-IS condition as of the 
date of such acquisition. Agency shall use its best efforts to maintain the Third 
Amendment Property in substantially the same condition as existed upon Agency's 
acquisition thereof pursuant to Section 2 above. Upon Developer’s acquisition of each 
parcel of the Third Amendment Property, Developer shall pay to Agency the fair market 
value of such parcel on the date of such acquisition as determined by an appraisal 
conducted by an MAI certified appraiser selected by Agency and Developer. Under no 
circumstances shall Developer’s reacquisition price for any parcel of Third Amendment 
Property be less than the Agency's acquisition price outlined in Section 2 above. 
Developer's right to acquire any parcel of the Property not acquired in accordance with 
the schedule set forth in Exhibit B shall terminate effective on the fifth (5th) anniversary 
of the Effective Date (the “Outside Acquisition Date”). If Developer has not acquired 
all of the Property by the Outside Acquisition Date, Agency shall be entitled to retain the 
Deposit, and all rights and obligations of the Parties under the Amended DDA shall 
terminate other than any such rights and obligations that expressly survive the

31181929-4

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

537



termination of the Amended DDA.
Agency Financial Assistance. Agency shall provide a loan to Developer 

in the maximum principal amount of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) (the 
“Loan”). The Loan shall be evidenced by a Secured Promissory Note (the “Note”). 
Repayment of the Note will be secured by a personal guaranty by Michael E. Rice and 
Frank J. Marinello, in form approved by Agency (the “Guaranty”). A Deed of Trust, 
Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement, and Fixture Filing (“Deed of Trust”) shall be 
recorded against Parcels 10, 12, 13, and 14 as identified in the DDA, upon Developer’s 
acquisition of each such parcel should there be an outstanding balance payable under 
the Note at such time. When such parcels are so encumbered such that the Note is 
fully secured, the Guaranty shall terminate.

7.

Use of Loan Proceeds. Provided all conditions to disbursement 
have been met, including without limitation compliance with the Agency conditions and 
criteria set forth in Exhibit C and such other reasonable requirements of Agency, 
including without limitation, the delivery to Agency of such documentation as to costs as 
Agency shall reasonable require, Developer shall be entitled to draw Loan proceeds 
solely for the following purposes: (i) granting to commercial tenants of the Project who 
have been approved by the Agency rent credits in the form of reduced or temporarily. 
abated rent (i.e., Loan proceeds may be deposited into an escrow account to be used to 
make up operating deficits caused by such reduced or abated rent), and (ii) paying for 
tenant improvements for commercial tenants of the Project when such tenant 
improvements exceed $30 per square foot.

7.1

7.2 Loan Terms. The Note shall bear interest at the rate of six percent 
(6%) interest per annum. Developer shall repay the Note in installments from the 
proceeds of the sale of residential units developed as part of the Project in the amount 
of Thirty-Five Thousand Dollars ($35,000) per residential unit. Such installments shall 
be paid to Agency from escrow for the closing of the sale of each such residential unit. 
Upon payment of such installments to Agency, the Deed of Trust shall be reconveyed 
as to the applicable residential unit(s). Repayments shall be credited first toward 
accrued interest and then toward principal. The entire outstanding balance of the Note 
together with all accrued interest shall be due and payable on the fifth (5th) anniversary 
of the Effective Date.

Deposit. The Parties acknowledge that pursuant to the DDA, Developer 
has paid the sum of One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000) (the “Deposit”) to the 
Agency. This sum shall continue to be retained by Agency for the purposes set forth in 
the DDA.

8.

Public Improvements. Section 4.02 C. of Part One of the Original DDA is 
hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:

C. The Parties agree that a parking study must be performed to 
identify potential solutions to a potential parking shortage. The Developer 
agrees to contribute the sum of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) toward 
such study when Developer obtains permanent financing for development 
of Parcels 1 and 2 (as identified in the.Original DDA) but in no event later 
than December 31,2009.

9.

411819294

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

538



Insurance. Section 3.08 A of Part Two of the Original DDA is hereby 
amended in its entirety to read as follows:

10.

Developer shall maintain in force during the construction of 
the Project, pursuant to this Agreement, public liability and property 
damage insurance, including personal injury, contractual, and owned and 
non-owned automobiles, with such coverage and limits as may be 
reasonably requested by Agency from time to time, but in no event for less 
than the sum of two million dollars ($2,000,000) combined single limit.

A.

11. Prevailing Wage. To the full extent required by all applicable state and 
federal laws, rules and regulations, if any, Developer and its contractors and agents 
shall comply with California Labor Code Section 1720 et seq, and the regulations 
adopted pursuant thereto (“Prevailing Wage Laws”) in connection with the Project, and 
shall be responsible for carrying out the requirements of such provisions. If applicable, 
Developer shall submit to Agency a plan for monitoring payment of prevailing wages 
and shall implement such plan at Developer’s expense.

12. Indemnity. Developer shall indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by 
Agency) and hold the Agency, the City of Suisun, and their respective elected and 
appointed officers, officials, employees, agents, consultants, and contractors 
(collectively, the ''Indemnitees”) harmless from and against all liability, loss, cost, 
expense (including without limitation attorneys’ fees and costs of litigation), claim, 
demand, action, suit, judicial or administrative proceeding, penalty, deficiency, fine, 
order, and damage (all of the foregoing collectively “Claims”) which directly or indirectly, 
in whole or in part, are caused by, arise in connection with, result from, relate to, or are 
alleged to be caused by, arise in connection with, result from, or relate to: (i) Agency’s 
or City’s approval of this Third Amendment, (ii) performance of this Third Amendment, 
and/or (iii) the payment or requirement of payment of prevailing wages (including 
without limitation, all claims that may be made by contractors, subcontractors or other 
third party claimants pursuant to Labor Code Sections 1726 and 1781). It is further 
agreed that Agency and City do not and shall not waive any rights against Developer 
which they may have by reason of this indemnity and hold harmless agreement 
because of the acceptance by Agency, or Developer’s deposit with Agency of any of the 
insurance policies described in the Amended DDA. The provisions of this' Section 9 
shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of the Amended DDA and the issuance 
of a Certificate of Completion for the Project and any part thereof. Developer’s 
indemnification obligations set forth in this Section shall not apply to Claims arising from 
the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Indemnitees.

Marketing. All commercial properties shall be marketed for lease/sale or 
build-to-suit at all times with a comprehensive marketing effort by a respected 
commercial real estate broker. This shall include installation of professionally designed 
signage located on each parcel as approved/permitted by the City of Suisun. Developer 
shall market all commercial and residential properties on a continuous basis with the

13.

51181929-4

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

539



goal that the eventual lease/sale of such properties shall be effectuated by not later than 
the times set forth in the Schedule of Performance.

PDA Remains Effective. Other than as provided in this Third Amendment, 
all provisions of the PDA shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect.

14.

Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of 
which shall constitute an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and 
the same instrument.

15.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Third Amendment as of 
the date first written above.

MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS, LLC
a California Med liability company

REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY

By: By:
i, PresidentMicnael^RiiSuzarfne Bragdod/Executive Director

v

Ci /<GBy: '0~L
/Frank J. Marinelfo, Vice-PresidentATTEST:

By:
Linda Hobson, Agency Secretary

roc*? 2> err?vri <2,zrv c
APPROVED AS TO FORM:

By:
Sky Woodruff, Agency General Counsel

61 181929-4

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

540



goal that the eventual lease/sale ot such properties snail oe errectuaieu uy nui iaiwi man 
the times set forth in the Schedule of Performance.

14. PDA Remains Effective. Other than as provided in this Third Amendment, 
all provisions of the PDA shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect.

15. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of 
which shall constitute an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and 
the same instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Third Amendment as of 
the date first written above.

MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS, LLC 
a California iiri®Tiability company

REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY

By:By:
Suzai^ie^Bragddn, Executive Director

//
Frank J. Marin^lto, Vice-PresidentATTEST:

By:
Linda Hobson, Agency Secretary

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

By: r-
Sky Vypodfuff, Agency General Counsel

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

541



Exhibit A

THIRD AMENDMENT PROPERTY
Parcel 3

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

LOT 4, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT II, RILED DECEMBER 5, 
1997 IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

APN: 0032-142-300

Parcel 5

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEING A PORTION OF LOT ONE (1) IN BLOCK TWO (2), AS THE SAME IS SHOWN ON THAT 
CERTAIN MAP ENTITLED: "PLAN OF SUISUN CITY, TOGETHER WITH JACKSON’S 
ADDITION", WHICH MAP WAS FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SOLANO 
COUNTY, CALIFORNIA ON AUGUST 29,1859 IN BOOK 1 OF MAPS, PAGE 105, DESCRIBED 
AS FOLLOW'S:

BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF MAIN AND SOLANO STREETS IN THE CITY OF 
SUISUN CITY, AS INDICATED BY THE BANK BUILDING ON SAID LOT; THENCE ALONG THE 
SOUTHERLY LINE OF SOLANO STREET, BEING THE NORTHERLY SIDE OF SAID BANK 
BUILDING, WESTERLY 94.65 FEET TO THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 1; THENCE ALONG THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 1 AND THE WEST LINE OF SAID BANK BUILDING, SOUTHERLY 
46.15 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF THE PROPERTY OF CHARLES W. KOCH; THENCE 
EASTERLY AT RIGHT ANGLES ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF THE LAND OF SAID CHARLES 
W. KOCH AND ALONG THE MIDDLE OF THE PRESENT PARTY WALL, 95 FEET TO A POINT ON 
THE WEST LINE OF MAIN STREET, AS INDICATED BY SAID BANK BUILDING; THENCE AT 
RIGHT ANGLES NORTHERLY ALONG MAIN STREET, 46 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

APN: 0032-230-010

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

542



Parcel 7

THE LAND .DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

PARCEL ONE:

LOT 10, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT H, PILED DECEMBER 5, 
1997, IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

PARCEL TWO:

NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENTS FOR PUBLIC ACCESS AND UTILITIES APPURTENANT TO PARCEL 
THREE ABOVE, OVER AND ACROSS PORTIONS OF LOTS 1 AND 2, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF 
SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT I, FILED SEPTEMBER 16,1996 IN BOOK 66 OF MAPS, PAGE 
42, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED LN GRANT DEEDS RECORDED OCTOBER 17,
1997 INSTRUMENT NO. 1996-00070099, AND OCTOBER 3, 1997 INSTRUMENT NO.
1997,00066247, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

APN: 0032-142-280

Parcel 8

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, ANDTS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

PARCEL ONE:

LOT 11, AS SHOW ON THE MAP OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT H, FILED DECEMBER 5, 
1997 IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS, PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

PARCEL TWO:

A NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT FOR PUBLIC ACCESS, PARKING AND PUBLIC SERVICE 
APPURTENANT TO PARCEL SEVEN ABO^, O^R AND ACROSS LOT D, AS SHOW ON THE MAP 

. OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT H, PILED DECEMBER 5, 1997 IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS,
PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

' APN: 0032-142-250

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

543



Parcel 9

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

PARCEL ONE:

LOT 12, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OP SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT II, FILED DECEMBER 5, 
1997, IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

PARCEL TWO:

A NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT FOR PUBLIC ACCESS, PARKING, AND PUBLIC SERVICE 
APPURTENANT TO PARCEL FIVE ABOVE, O'SER AND ACROSS LOT D, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP 
OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT H, FILED DECEMBER 5,1997 IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS,
PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

APN:0032-142-240

711 - 713 Main Street
THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

THAT PORTION OF LOTS 1 AND 2 IN BLOCK 2, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF THE CITY OF 
SUISUN CITY, FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SOLANO . COUNTY, 
CALIFORNIA, AUGUST 29, 1859, DESCRIBED AS: BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE 'W'EST 
SIDE OF THE PLAZA, ALSO KNOWN AS MAIN STREET, THAT IS 93.72 FEET NORTH FROM 
THE NORTH LINE OF CALIFORNIA STREET, SAID POINT BEING IN A LINE WITH THE NORTH 
FACE OF A BRICE WALL 17 INCHES THICK WHICH FORMS THE NORTH BOUNDARY OF THE 
LAND DESCRIBED IN DECREE QUIETING TITLE IN FAVOR OF T.O. DOVDELL, RECORDED 
FEBRUARY IS, 1923, IN BOOK 265 OF DEEDS, AT PAGE 88, INSTRUMENT NO. 646;
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE ‘WEST SIDE OF SAID STREET A DISTANCE OF 36.38 FEET TO A 
LINE BETWEEN TWO BRICK WALLS, ONE OF WH1CE IS THE BRICK WALL OF THE BUILDING 
LOCATED ON THE LAND HEREBY DESCRIBED AND THE SECOND OF WHICH IS THE BRICK 
WALL OF THE BUILDING LOCATED ON THE LAND DESCRIBED AS PARCEL NO. 3 IN DEED TO 
LEONORA KOCH, RECORDED DECEMBER 16, 1930, IN BOOK 65 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS,
PAGE 430, INSTRUMENT NO. 5010; THENCE WEST ALONG THE LINE BETWEEN SAID TWO 
BRICK WALLS A DISTANCE OF 100 FEET, MORE OR LESS,. TO THE 'WEST LINE OF SAID 
LOT 2; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID LINE A DISTANCE OF 30 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO 
THE NORTH LINE OF THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN SAID DECREE QUIETING TITLE IN 
FAVOR OF T.O. DOWELL, HEREINBEFORE REFERRED TO; THENCE ALONG THE NORTHERLY 
LINE OF THE LAND DESCRIBED IN SAID DECREE THE FOLLOWING THREE COURSES AND 
DISTANCES, TO-WIT: EAST APPROXIMATELY 1 FOOT TO AN ANGLE IN BOUNDARY OF SAID 
LAND; THENCE SOUTH 6.42 FEET; THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE BRICK 
WALT, OF THE BUILDING LOCATED ON SAID LAND DESCRIBED IN SAID DECREE QUIETING 
TITLE A DISTANCE OF 94.97 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

APN: 003M30-030 AND 0032-130-040

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

544



EXHIBIT B
SCHEDULE OF PERFORMANCE

ALL PARCELS

All commercial properties shall be marketed for lease/sale or build-to-suit at all times 
with a comprehensive marketing effort by a respected commercial real estate broker. 
This shall include installation of professionally designed signage located on each parcel 
as approved/permitted by the City of Suisun.

Developer shall market all commercial and residential properties on a continuous basis 
with the goal that the eventual lease/sale of such properties shall be effectuated by not 
later than the times set forth in this Schedule of Performance.

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
PARCELS 1 & 2

1. Within two (2) months of the effective date of the Third Amendment, Developer 
shall have attained project shell completion, ready for tenant improvements such 
that a Certificate of Completion can be issued.

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
PARCEL 3

Note: Developer has entitled this site and has submitted construction documents to the 
Building Department that will need to be revised due to updated building code requirements.

Subject to the availability of conventional financing on commercially reasonable 
terms, Developer shall be required to commence building construction on the 
date that is not later than within six (6) months following 75% lease-up or 
occupancy of the gross leasable area (demonstrated by signed leases) of the 
building constructed on Parcels 1 & 2. To document lack of availability of 
financing as a cause for delay, Developer shall submit to Agency third-party 
supporting documentation reasonably acceptable to Agency.

1.

Close of escrow shall occur concurrent with the issuance of a building permit issued 
by the Suisun City Building Department. At least 60 days prior to the close of 
escrow, Developer shall submit to the Agency its plans for financing the acquisition 
and construction of the property (‘Acquisition and/or Construction Financing Plan”).

2.

Within twelve (12) months of construction commencement, Developer shall have 
attained project shell completion, ready for tenant improvements such that a 
Certificate of Completion can be issued.

3.

1 ' C;.;/
iViUHi Ul Sr

" tw . 'u:.w :c- ’'.‘A-

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

545



COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
PARCEL 4, 6, AND 11

1. No later than May 1, 2011, Developer shall submit complete applications to the 
Planning Commission, Agency Board and all appropriate and applicable regulatory 
agencies for review and approval. Approval by the Planning Commission/Agency 
Board shall satisfy the “Final Development Plan” requirement outlined in Part One 
Article 1.03 of the DDA.

2. No later than 30 days after Planning Commission/Agency Board approval (whichever 
is later), Developer shall submit to the Agency its plans for financing the acquisition 
of each property (“Acquisition and/or Construction Financing Plan”).

3. No later than 120 days after Planning Commission and Agency Board approval 
(whichever is later), Developer will submit to City and Agency (a) complete 
construction drawings for all parcels, for plan check (including the building permit 
application) and (b) the construction financing plan ("Construction Financing Plan").

4. Close of escrow shall occur for each property concurrent with the issuance of a 
building permit issued by the Suisun City Building Department.

5. Developer shall break ground on either parcel 4 or 6 (at Developer’s option) no later 
than 30 days after the lease or occupancy of at least seventy-five percent (75%) of 
the commercial and/or retail space in the building(s) constructed on parcels 1,2, 3, 5, . 
7, 8, and 9. Further, Developer shall break ground on the remaining parcel (either 
parcel 4 or 6), as the case may be, no later than 30 days following the lease or 
occupancy of at least 75% of the commercial and/or retail space in the building 
constructed on parcel 4 or 6. Developer shall -break ground on parcel 11 no later 
than 30 days after the lease or occupancy of at least seventy five percent (75%) of 
the commercial and/or retail space in the building constructed on parcel 4 or 6.

6. Notwithstanding the time-line set forth in paragraphs 4 and 5 above, Developer shall 
have no obligation to acquire parcel 11 if, prior to the close of escrow appropriate 
parking for the proposed development of said parcel is unavailable on property 
immediately adjacent to parcel 11 on terms acceptable to Developer in its good faith 
discretion and Developer has, not less than 90 days prior to the date set forth in the 
Schedule of Performance for the close of escrow for acquisition of said parcel, 
notified the Agency in writing of its decision to not acquire parcel 11.

7. Within twelve (12) months of construction commencement, Developer shall have 
attained project shell completion, ready for tenant improvements such that a 
Certificate of Completion can be issued.

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
PARCELS

1. Agency will provide a response to Developer’s submittal of evidence regarding the 
economic infeasibility of the proposed redevelopment of this property and a desired 
plan of action on this property within one hundred eighty (180) days of the effective 
date of the Third Amendment. Agency reserves the right to exclude this property 
from the Main Street West Project.

2

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

546



COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
PARCEL 7

Note: Developer has entitled this site and has submitted construction documents to the 
Building Department that will need to be revised due to updated building code requirements.

1. Subject to the availability of conventional financing on commercially reasonable 
terms, Developer shall be required to commence building construction by not 
later than the date that is six (6) months following 75% lease-up or occupancy of 
the gross leasable area (demonstrated by signed leases) of the buildings 
constructed on Parcels 1, 2, and 3. To document lack of availability of financing 
as a cause for delay, Developer shall to submit third-party supporting 
documentation reasonably acceptable to Agency.

2. Close of escrow shall occur concurrent with the issuance of a building permit issued 
by the Suisun City Building Department. At least 60 days prior to the close of 
escrow, Developer shall submit to the Agency its plans for financing the acquisition 
and construction of the property ("Acquisition and Construction Financing Plan").

3. Within twelve (12) months of construction commencement, Developer shall have 
attained project shell completion, ready for tenant improvements such that a 
Certificate of Completion can be issued.

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
PARCELS 8 & 9

1. Upon 50% lease-up of the gross leasable area contained within buildings constructed 
on Parcels 1, 2, 3, and 7; but in no event later than April 30, 2010, Developer shall 
submit complete applications to the Planning Commission, the Agency Board and all 
appropriate and applicable regulatory agencies for review and approval. Approval by 
the Planning Commission/Agency Board shall satisfy the "Final Development Plan” 
requirement outlined in Part One Article 1.03 of the DDA.

2. No later than 30 days after Planning Commission and Agency Board approval 
(whichever is later),' Developer shall submit to the Agency its plans for financing the 
acquisition of the properties ("Acquisition Financing Plan”).

3. No later than 120 Days after Planning Commission and/or BCDC approval, 
Developer will submit to the City and Agency (a) complete construction drawings for 
all parcels for plan check (including the building permit application) and (b) the 
construction financing plan ("Construction Financing Plan").

4. Close of escrow shall occur concurrent with the issuance of a building permit issued 
by the Suisun City Building Department.

5. Subject to the availability of conventional financing on commercially reasonable 
terms, Developer shall be required to commence building construction by not 
later than the later of (i) thirty (30) days after issuance of building permit, or (ii) 
the date that is four (4) months following 75% lease-up or occupancy of the gross 
leasable area (demonstrated by signed leases) of the building constructed on

3

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

547



Parcels 1,2, 3 and 7, To document lack of availability of financing as a cause for 
delay, Developer shall submit third-party supporting documentation reasonably 
acceptable to Agency.

No later than 30 days after issuance of building permit, Developer required to break 
ground (commencement of construction).

6.

7. Within 12 Months of construction commencement, Developer shall have attained 
project shell completion, ready for tenant improvements such that a Certificate of 
Completion can be issued.

RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY 
PARCEL 10

Note: Developer has entitled this site through tentative subdivision map and received 
approval of the Final Development Plan.

No later than February 1, 2010, Developer will (a) submit complete construction 
drawings for parcel 10 to the City for plan check (including the building permit 
application); and (b) the construction financing plan (“Construction Financing Plan”).

1.

Subject to the availability of conventional financing on commercially reasonable 
terms, Developer shall be required to commence construction within ninety days of 
the later of (a) issuance of a building permit; or-(b) when all of the following have 
occurred: i) two consecutive months of an increase in median values for the 
94585 zip code as reported by Dataquick, and (ii) two consecutive months of 
declining inventory listed for sale in the 94585 zip code as reported by the 
Multiple Listing Service, and (iii) two consecutive months of a decline in average 
days on market for existing homes listed for sale as reported in the Multiple 
Listing Service. To document lack of availability of financing as a cause for 
delay, Developer shall submit third-party supporting documentation reasonably 
acceptable to Agency.

2.

Escrow closes on the parcel concurrent with the commencement of site work.3.

Within 12 Months of construction commencement, Developer shall have Model 
Homes ready for final inspection such that a certificate of completion can be issued. 
Developer shall complete the construction of all additional homes on parcel 10 no 
later than 15 months after completion of the Model Homes.

4.

RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY 
PARCELS 12 & 13

Not later than September 1, 2009, Developer shall submit complete applications to 
all applicable regulatory agencies for review and approval as required to fully entitle 
the property for development. Approval by the Planning Commission/Agency Board 
shall satisfy the “Final Development Plan” requirement outlined in Part One Article 
1.03 of the DDA, subject to BCDC approval.

1.

4

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

548



2. No later than 120 days after Planning Commission and BCDC approval (whichever is 
later), Developer will submit to City and Agency (a) complete construction drawings 
to for plan check (including the building permit application) and (b) the construction 
financing plan (“Construction Financing Plan").

3. Subject to the availability of conventional financing on commercially reasonable 
terms, Developer shall be required to commence construction within ninety days of 
the later of (i) issuance of a building permit or (ii) when all of the following have 
occurred: i) two consecutive months of an increase in median values for the 
94585 zip code as reported by Dataquick, and (ii) two consecutive months of 
declining inventory listed for sale in the 94585 zip code as reported by the 
Multiple Listing Service, and (iii) two consecutive months of a decline in average 
days on market for existing homes listed for sale as reported in the Multiple 
Listing Service.

4. Escrow closes on the parcel concurrent with the commencement of site work.

5. Within 12 months of construction commencement, Developer shall have Model 
Homes final inspection completion such that a Certificate of Completion , can be 
issued. Developer shall complete the construction of all additional homes on parcel 
12 and 13 by no later than 24 months after completion of the Model Homes.

PROPOSED RESIDENTIAL 
PARCEL 14

1. Not later than September 30, 2010 Developer shall provide written "evidence that 
Traffic, Air Quality, and any other studies required by the Community Development 
Director have commenced. Not later than February 1, 2011, Developer shall submit 
complete applications to all applicable regulatory agencies for review and approval 
as required to fully entitle the property for development. Approval by the Planning 
Commission/Agency Board shall satisfy the "Final Development Plan" requirement 
outlined in Part One Article 1.03 of the DDA, subject to BCDC approval. The 
applications necessary to complete and submit prior to the aforementioned February 
1,2010 date include but are not limited to:

i. Site Plan/Architectural Review Application
ii. Tentative Subdivision Map Application

iii. General Plan Amendment Application
iv. Specific Plan Amendment Application
v. Zoning/PUD Application

2. No later than 120 days after applications are approved, Developer will submit to City 
and Agency (a) complete construction drawings to for plan check (including the 
building permit application) and (b) the construction financing plan (“Construction 
Financing Plan”).

3. Subject to the availability of conventional financing on commercially reasonable 
terms, Developer shall be required to commence construction within ninety days of 
the later of (i) issuance of a building permit or (ii) when all of the following have 
occurred: i) two consecutive months of an increase in median values for the 
94585 zip code as reported by Dataquick, and (ii) two consecutive months of

5

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

549



declining inventory listed for sale in the 94585 zip code as reported by the 
multiple listing service, and (Hi) two consecutive months of a decline in average 
days on market for existing homes listed for saie as reported in the multiple 
listing service.

4. Escrow closes on the parcel concurrent with the commencement of site work.

Not later than September 1,2012, Developer required to commence with site work.5.

Within 12 months of construction commencement, Developer shall have Model 
Homes final inspection completion such that a Certificate of Completion can be 
issued. Developer shall complete the construction of all additional homes on parcel 
14 by no later than 24 months after completion of the Model Homes.

6.

1188373-2

6

t'fcK; VVV.Ov -o:-:

" h-'t -XV

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

550



Exhibit C

CONDITIONS TO DISBURSEMENT OF LOAN PROCEEDS

Agency’s obligation to disburse Loan proceeds is conditioned upon the satisfaction (or 
Agency’s waiver) of all of the following conditions. Capitalized terms used herein without 
definition shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Third Amendment to Disposition 
and Development Agreement of which this Exhibit C is a part. Loan proceeds shall be 
disbursed only for the purposes set forth in Section 7.1 of the Third Amendment. In Agency’s 
sole discretion, the proceeds of the Loan shall be deposited into an escrow account for 
disbursement, and if the proceeds are used for rent abatements, such proceeds will be 
disbursed ratably over the course of the applicable tenant lease(s).

(a) Developer’s delivery to Agency of each of the following documents, fully- 
executed and acknowledged as applicable: (i) the Third Amendment, (ii) the Note, (iii) the 
Guaranty, and (iv) the Deed of Trust (if applicable pursuant to Section 7 of the Third 
Amendment);

(b) If applicable pursuant to Section 7 of the Third Amendment, the recordation of 
the Deed of Trust in the Official Records of Solano County;

(c) Developer’s delivery to Agency, and Agency's reasonable approval of a 
budget for use of the Loan proceeds;

(d) If applicable, Developer’s delivery to Agency of evidence reasonably 
satisfactory to Agency that Developer has obtained all necessary permits (including without 
limitation, building permits), licenses, and approvals required to undertake the work to be funded 
with the Loan proceeds, or that the receipt of such permits is subject only to such conditions as 
Agency shall reasonably approve;

(e) If applicable, Agency shall have approved the final plans, specifications and 
other documentation reasonably as reasonably required for the work to be undertaken with the 
Loan proceeds;

(f) Owner’s delivery to the Agency of evidence of insurance coverage in 
accordance with the requirements set forth in the Amended DDA;

(g) Owner’s delivery to Agency of such documentation as Agency shall 
reasonably require regarding Owner’s organizational status and authority to execute and 
perform Owner’s obligations under the Amended DDA and the documents described in 
paragraph (a) above;

(h) Owner’s delivery to Agency of all of the following as applicable: (1) budget 
for work to be undertaken with the requested disbursement of Loan proceeds; (2) construction 
contract; (3) performance bonds or other assurance of completion reasonably acceptable to 
Agency; (4) evidence acceptable to Agency regarding tenant occupancy, including without 
limitation, copies of executed tenant leases; (5) copies of third-party invoices, (6) lien releases, 
and (7) such other documents as Agency may reasonably request.

1188767-1

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 3

551



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

552



FOURTH AMENDMENT TO DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
(MSW)

This Fourth Amendment to Disposition and Development Agreement (this 
“Fourth Amendment”) is entered into on this 29th day of April, 2016, by and between 
Main Street West Partners, LLC, a California limited liability company (“Developer”) 
and the Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of Suisun 
City, a public body corporate and politic (the “Agency”). Developer and Agency are 
hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Parties.”

RECITALS

The Developer and the former Redevelopment Agency of the City of 
Suisun City (“Former RDA”) entered into that certain Disposition and Development 
Agreement dated as of April 17, 2006 (“Original DDA”) pursuant to which the 
Developer has the right to acquire various parcels (therein defined collectively as the 
“Property” or “Properties”) for development of a commercial, residential and retail 
project, as more particularly described in the Original DDA (“Project”). Under the 
Original DDA, Developer agreed to allocate a portion of proceeds from residential sales 
in the Project towards the costs of the commercial component. Further, the Former 
RDA was to reimburse Developer for the cost to install improvements in the public right 
of way such as curbs, gutters, sidewalks, landscaping, public courtyards, and utilities.

The Original DDA was amended by that certain First Amendment to 
Disposition and Development Agreement effective as of July 25, 2006 (“First 
Amendment”) pursuant to which an additional parcel was added to the property to be 
developed for the Project and the Schedule of Performance was amended.

The Original DDA was further amended by that certain Second 
Amendment to Disposition and Development Agreement effective as of September 18, 
2007 (“Second Amendment”) in order to further amend the Schedule of Performance 
and to provide for the release to the Former RDA of the Deposit (as defined therein) 
under specified circumstances.

A.

B.

C.

The Original DDA was further amended by that certain Third Amendment 
to Disposition and Development Agreement effective as of February 19, 2009 (“Third 
Amendment”) pursuant to which (i) the Former RDA acquired property from Developer 
(which property was held and to be re-acquired at a later date by Developer), and 
(ii) the Former RDA provided an advance of developer reinvestment funds in the form of 
a loan to Developer, and (iii) the Parties amended the Schedule of Performance.

The Original DDA as amended by the First Amendment, Second 
Amendment and Third Amendment is hereafter referred to as the “DDA". The First 
Amendment, Second Amendment and Third Amendment are collectively referred to 
herein as the “DDA Amendments.” References to the “Agreement” shall mean (as 
appropriate) the Original DDA as amended by the DDA Amendments and this Fourth 
Amendment.

D.

E.

1

FINAL

FOURTH AMENDMENT TO DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
(MS\AJ) 

This Fourth Amendment to Disposition and Development Agreement (this 
"Fourth Amendment") is entered into on this 29th day of April, 2016, by and between 
Main Street West Partners, LLC, a California limited liability company ("Developer") 
and the Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of Suisun 
City, a public body corporate and politic (the "Agency"). Developer and Agency are 
hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Parties." 

RECITALS 

A. The Developer and the former Redevelopment Agency of the City of 
Suisun City ("Former RDA") entered into that certain Disposition and Development 
Agreement dated as of April 17, 2006 ("Original DDA") pursuant to which the 
Developer has the right to acquire various parcels (therein defined collectively as the 
"Property" or "Properties") for development of a commercial, residential and retail 
project, as more particularly described in the Original DOA ("Project"). Under the 
Original ODA, Developer agreed to allocate a portion of proceeds from residential sales 
in the Project towards the costs of the commercial component. Further, the Former 
RDA was to reimburse Developer for the cost to install improvements in the public right 
of way such as curbs, gutters, sidewalks, landscaping, public courtyards, and utilities. 

B. The Original DOA was amended by that certain First Amendment to 
Disposition and Development Agreement effective as of July 25, 2006 ("First 
Amendment") pursuant to which an additional parcel was added to the property to be 
developed for the Project and the Schedule of Performance was amended. 

C. The Original ODA was further amended by that certain Second 
Amendment to Disposition and Development Agreement effective as of September 18, 
2007 ("Second Amendment") in order to further amend the Schedule of Performance 
and to provide for the release to the Former RDA of the Deposit (as defined therein) 
under specified circumstances. 

D. The Original ODA was further amended by that certain Third Amendment 
to Disposition and Development Agreement effective as of February 19, 2009 ("Third 
Amendment") pursuant to which (i) the Former RDA acquired property from Developer 
(which property was held and to be re-acquired at a later date by Developer), and 
(ii) the Former RDA provided an advance of developer reinvestment funds in the form of 
a loan to Developer, and (iii) the Parties amended the Schedule of Performance. 

E. The Original DOA as amended by the First Amendment, Second 
Amendment and Third Amendment is hereafter referred to as the "DDA". The First 
Amendment, Second Amendment and Third Amendment are collectively referred to 
herein as the "DDA Amendments." References to the "Agreement" shall mean (as 
appropriate) the Original ODA as amended by the ODA Amendments and this Fourth 
Amendment. 

1 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

553



The Former RDA was dissolved by law and the present Successor 
Agency was formed pursuant to Health & Safety Code §34167.5, which made the 
Agency the successor-in-interest to all assets and obligations of the Former RDA. On 
December 29, 2011, the California State Supreme Court issued a ruling on the 
constitutional validity of two 2011 legislative budget trailer bills, ABX1 26 (Chapter 5, 
Statutes of 2011) and ABX1 27 (Chapter 6, Statutes of 2011), which resulted in the 
outright dissolution of all 425 redevelopment agencies in the State of California. As part 
of that dissolution process, former redevelopment lands and the pre-existing obligations 
of former redevelopment agencies inured to successor agencies by operation of law. 
For this reason, both the Property and all obligations and rights of the Former RDA as 
memorialized in the DDA are now held by the Agency, and all references to “Agency” 
made in the DDA shall be construed as applying to the Agency executing this Fourth 
Amendment.

F.

The DDA has been affirmed by the Agency pursuant to Health & Safety 
Code Section 34171(d) and it is on the Schedule of Enforceable Obligations of the 
Agency pursuant to Health & Safety Code Section 34177.

Developer anticipates selling the Residential Parcels to qualified 
residential building companies, referred to in this Fourth Amendment as “Qualified 
Successor Developer(s)’’ as defined below, which will ultimately develop, construct and 
sell to the public, homes on the Residential Parcels. Developer does not anticipate 
performing the actual development, construction or sale of the homes on the Residential 
Parcels. Accordingly, certain provisions of this Fourth Amendment need to be amended 
to reflect the new disposition strategy of Developer.

This Fourth Amendment is intended to be a necessary step in order for the 
Parties to gather financial resources for preliminary environmental and technical studies 
for the entitlement process, to seek needed preliminary approvals for development and 
to test feasibility of the Project among prospective developers. Nothing herein shall be 
deemed as a commitment for the development of any particular project. No project will 
be committed to or built until after all necessary environmental studies, public hearings 
and notice requirements are met.

NOW, THEREFORE, based upon the foregoing recitals and the terms, 
conditions, covenants, and agreements contained herein, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows:

G.

H.

J.

Section 1.

(a) The Recitals above are true and correct and incorporated herein by this 
reference. To the extent the Recitals in the Original DDA or any other terms 
contained in the Original DDA and the DDA Amendments are inconsistent with 
the Recitals set forth above or the other terms set forth in this Fourth 
Amendment, the terms of this Fourth Amendment shall control.

2

FINAL

F. The Former RDA was dissolved by law and the present Successor 
Agency was formed pursuant to Health & Safety Code §34167.5, which made the 
Agency the successor-in-interest to all assets and obligations of the Former RDA. On 
December 29, 2011, the California State Supreme Court issued a ruling on the 
constitutional validity of two 2011 legislative budget trailer bills, ABX1 26 (Chapter 5, 
Statutes of 2011) and ABX1 27 (Chapter 6, Statutes of 2011 ), which resulted in the 
outright dissolution of all 425 redevelopment agencies in the State of California. As part 
of that dissolution process, former redevelopment lands and the pre-existing obligations 
of former redevelopment agencies inured to successor agencies by operation of law. 
For this reason, both the Property and all obligations and rights of the Former RDA as 
memorialized in the DOA are now held by the Agency, and all references to "Agency" 
made in the DOA shall be construed as applying to the Agency executing this Fourth 
Amendment. 

G. The DOA has been affirmed by the Agency pursuant to Health & Safety 
Code Section 34171(d) and it is on the Schedule of Enforceable Obligations of the 
Agency pursuant to Health & Safety Code Section 34177. 

H. Developer anticipates selling the Residential Parcels to qualified 
residential building companies, referred to in this Fourth Amendment as "Qualified 
Successor Developer(s)" as defined below, which will ultimately develop, construct and 
sell to the public, homes on the Residential Parcels. Developer does not anticipate 
performing the actual development, construction or sale of the homes on the Residential 
Parcels. Accordingly, certain provisions of this Fourth Amendment need to be amended 
to reflect the new disposition strategy of Developer. 

J. This Fourth Amendment is intended to be a necessary step in order for the 
Parties to gather financial resources for preliminary environmental and technical studies 
for the entitlement process, to seek needed preliminary approvals for development and 
to test feasibility of the Project among prospective developers. Nothing herein shall be 
deemed as a commitment for the development of any particular project. No project will 
be committed to or built until after all necessary environmental studies, public hearings 
and notice requirements are met. 

NOW, THEREFORE, based upon the foregoing recitals and the terms, 
conditions, covenants, and agreements contained herein, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

Section 1. 

(a) The Recitals above are true and correct and incorporated herein by this 
reference. To the extent the Recitals in the Original ODA or any other terms 
contained in the Original ODA and the DOA Amendments are inconsistent with 
the Recitals set forth above or the other terms set forth in this Fourth 
Amendment, the terms of this Fourth Amendment shall control. 

2 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

554



(b) All capitalized and defined terms set forth herein shall bear the same meaning 
as set forth in the DDA unless specifically redefined in this Fourth Amendment.

Section 2. “Effective Date” shall mean the date on which this Fourth 
Amendment is approved by the California Department of Finance.

Section 3. Recital 7 and all DDA Amendments relating to that Recital, if any, 
is amended and restated to read as follows:

“The Agency and Developer have entered into the First Amendment to the DDA 
with respect to the disposition and/or development of the old Crystal Middle 
School site. Thus, the Developer agrees to provide for the reinvestment of not 
less than fifty percent (50%) of the profits distributed to Developer from the sale 
of one or more of the Residential Parcel(s), or Residential Lots located within the 
Residential Parcels, but in no event less than Five Thousand Five Hundred 
Dollars ($5,500) per Residential Lot, for reinvestment, as more fully provided in 
Section 4.14.”

Section 4. Definition of the term “Agency” as used in the DDA is amended and 
restated to read as follows, and for all purposes of the DDA, terms “Agency” or 
“Redevelopment Agency of the City of Suisun City" shall be construed as follows:

“The term ‘Agency’ shall mean the Successor Agency to the Redevelopment 
Agency of the City of Suisun City, a public body corporate and politic formed 
pursuant to Health & Safety Code §34167.5.”

Section 5. A “Qualified Successor Developer" shall have the meaning as 
provided in Section 6.04.

Section 6. All references to the “Redevelopment Plan” and obligations arising 
from said Plan set forth in the DDA are rescinded from the DDA.

Section 7. A “Residential Lot” shall mean a parcel upon which one single 
family detached home may be legally constructed upon recordation of a final subdivision 
map creating such lot.

Section 8. The “Residential Parcels” shall mean those portions of the Property 
on which Residential Lots may be developed, upon recordation of a final subdivision 
map creating such lots. There are a total of three (3) Residential Parcels on the 
Property: Parcels 10, 13 and 14.

Section 9. The “Project Description” as set forth in Exhibit “D” to the DDA is 
amended and replaced with that description set forth in Revised Exhibit D to this Fourth 
Amendment.

Definition of the term “Property” or “Properties” as used in the 
DDA is amended and restated to read as follows:

Section 10.

3

FINAL

(b) All capitalized and defined terms set forth herein shall bear the same meaning 
as set forth in the DOA unless specifically redefined in this Fourth Amendment. 

Section 2. "Effective Date" shall mean the date on which this Fourth 
Amendment is approved by the California Department of Finance. 

Section 3. Recital 7 and all DOA Amendments relating to that Recital , if any, 
is amended and restated to read as follows: 

"The Agency and Developer have entered into the First Amendment to the DOA 
with respect to the disposition and/or development of the old Crystal Middle 
School site. Thus, the Developer agrees to provide for the reinvestment of not 
less than fifty percent ( 50%) of the profits distributed to Developer from the sale 
of one or more of the Residential Parcel( s ), or Residential Lots located within the 
Residential Parcels, but in no event less than Five Thousand Five Hundred 
Dollars ($5,500) per Residential Lot, for reinvestment, as more fully provided in 
Section 4.14." 

Section 4. Definition of the term "Agency" as used in the DOA is amended and 
restated to read as follows, and for all purposes of the ODA, terms "Agency" or 
"Redevelopment Agency of the City of Suisun City" shall be construed as follows: 

"The term 1Agency' shall mean the Successor Agency to the Redevelopment 
Agency of the City of Suisun City, a public body corporate and politic formed 
pursuant to Health & Safety Code §34167.5." 

Section 5. A "Qualified Successor Developer" shall have the meaning as 
provided in Section 6.04. 

Section 6. All references to the "Redevelopment Plan" and obligations arising 
from said Plan set forth in the DOA are rescinded from the DOA. 

Section 7. A "Residential Lot" shall mean a parcel upon which one single 
family detached home may be legally constructed upon recordation of a final subdivision 
map creating such lot. 

Section 8. The "Residential Parcels" shall mean those portions of the Property 
on which Residential Lots may be developed, upon recordation of a final subdivision 
map creating such lots. There are a total of three (3) Residential Parcels on the 
Property: Parcels 10, 13 and 14. 

Section 9. The "Project Description" as set forth in Exhibit "D" to the ODA is 
amended and replaced with that description set forth in Revised Exhibit D to this Fourth 
Amendment. 

Section 10. Definition of the term "Property" or "Properties" as used in the 
DOA is amended and restated to read as follows: 

3 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

555



“The term ‘Property or Properties’ shall mean a component of, or ail of 
approximately 15.8 acres of real property located within the City of Suisun City, 
upon which the Project shall be developed. The following table sets forth the 
Properties subject to this Fourth Amendment:

PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION SITE SIZE
MSW PROPERTY ID ASSESSORS PARCEL # ACRES SF

Parcel 1 & 2 32-141-15 0.59 25,700
Parcel 3 32-142-30 0.17 7,459

0.10 4,425Parcel 5 32-130-01
Parcel 7 32-142-28 0.15 6,372
Parcel 8 32-142-25 0.10 4,300
Parcel 9 0.11 4,90032-142-24
Parcel 4 32-130-06 0.05 2,131
Parcel 6 32-082-05 0.16 7,183

32-042-
30,36,44,46,48,50,52,54, 

56,58,60 and 68
Parcel 10 1.56 67,854

0.16 7,150Parcel 11 32-061-39
Parcel 12 0032-061-26 through 36 1.65 71,870

0032-091-17 through 20 3.49Parcel 13 151,862
Parcel 14 0032-152-18 7,44 324,086
Parcel 15 0032-130-03 & 04 0.07 3,049

The Property Legal Description set forth in Exhibit “A” to the 
DDA is deleted in its entirety and replaced with that revised legal description set forth in 
Revised Exhibit A to this Fourth Amendment.

Section 11.

Section 12. The “Schedule of Performance” as set forth in Exhibit “C’’ to the 
DDA is deleted in its entirety and replaced with that schedule set forth in Revised 
Exhibit C to this Fourth Amendment.

The “Site Plan’’ as set forth in Exhibit “B" to the DDA is deleted in 
its entirety and replace with the plan set forth in Revised Exhibit B to this Fourth 
Amendment.

Section 13.

Section 14. Sections 2 through 6 of the Third Amendment and Section 2 of the 
First Amendment are struck in their entirety. All DDA provisions governing the 
Developer’s acquisition of Property are to be governed by Section 1.02 of Part One of 
the Original DDA [“Developer Acquisition of Property”], which is restated in its entirety to 
read as follows:

“The Property in its entirety consists of approximately 15.8 acres of real 
property and currently consists of the 15 parcels (some of which are 
comprised of several smaller parcels) as set forth on Revised Exhibit A 
attached hereto. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the 
contrary, (a) Developer shall have no obligation to acquire that portion of

4

FINAL

"The term 'Property or Properties' shall mean a component of, or all of 
approximately 15.8 acres of real property located within the City of Suisun City, 
upon which the Project shall be developed. The following table sets forth the 
Properties subject to this Fourth Amendment: 

PROPERTY IDENTIFICATION SITE SIZE 
MSW PROPERTY ID ASSESSORS PARCEL# ACRES SF 

Parcel 1 & 2 32-141-15 0.59 25,700 
Parcel 3 32-142-30 0.17 7,459 
Parcel 5 32-130-01 0.10 4,425 
Parcel 7 32-142-28 0.15 6,372 
Parcel 8 32-142-25 0.10 4,300 
Parcel 9 32-142-24 0.11 4,900 
Parcel 4 32-130-06 0.05 2,131 
Parcel 6 32-082-05 0.16 7,183 

32-042-
Parcel 10 30,36,44,46,48,50,52,54, 1.56 67,854 

56,58,60 and 68 
Parcel 11 32-061-39 0.16 7,150 
Parcel 12 0032-061-26 through 36 1.65 71,870 
Parcel 13 0032-091-17 through 20 3.49 151,862 
Parcel 14 0032-152-18 7.44 324,086 
Parcel 15 0032-130-03 & 04 0.07 3,049 

Section 11. The Property Legal Description set forth in Exhibit "A" to the 
DOA is deleted in its entirety and replaced with that revised legal description set forth in 
Revised Exhibit A to this Fourth Amendment. 

Section 12. The "Schedule of Performance" as set forth in Exhibit "C" to the 
DOA is deleted in its entirety and replaced with that schedule set forth in Revised 
Exhibit C to this Fourth Amendment. 

Section 13. The "Site Plan" as set forth in Exhibit "B" to the ODA is deleted in 
its entirety and replace with the plan set forth in Revised Exhibit B to this Fourth 
Amendment. 

Section 14. Sections 2 through 6 of the Third Amendment and Section 2 of the 
First Amendment are struck in their entirety. All ODA provisions governing the 
Developer's acquisition of Property are to be governed by Section 1.02 of Part One of 
the Original DOA ["Developer Acquisition of Property"], which is restated in its entirety to 
read as follows: 

FINAL 

"The Property in its entirety consists of approximately 15.8 acres of real 
property and currently consists of the 15 parcels ( some of which are 
comprised of several smaller parcels) as set forth on Revised Exhibit A 
attached hereto. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the 
contrary, (a) Developer shall have no obligation to acquire that portion of 

4 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

556



the Property identified as Parcel 11 if, prior to the close of escrow for the 
purchase of said parcel as set forth in the Schedule of Performance, 
appropriate parking for the proposed development of said parcel is 
unavailable on property immediately adjacent to Parcel 11 on terms 
acceptable to Developer in its good faith discretion and Developer has, not 
less than ninety (90) days prior to the date set forth in the Schedule of 
Performance for the close of escrow for acquisition of said parcel, notified 
the Agency in writing of its decision to not acquire Parcel 11.

Developer shall acquire the Property in accordance with the Schedule of 
Performance attached as Revised Exhibit C for the development and 
construction of the Project.”

Section 15. Section 1.03 of Part One of the Original DDA ["Final Development 
Plan”] is restated entirely to read as follows:

Within the timeframes set forth within the Schedule of 
Performance, Developer shall submit to the Agency for its approval a 
“Final Development Plan” for each portion of the Project, as designated in 
the Schedule of Performance. Each Final Development Plan shall include 
preliminary site layouts, road, parking, and pedestrian path locations, 
building elevations, landscaping amenities and general development 
standards for buildings and landscaping for each portion of the Project. 
The Final Development Plan will serve as a basis for the Developer's 
tentative map applications and planned community development 
applications and the application for the other governmental approvals for 
the Properties. If the Agency disapproves the Final Development Plan(s), 
it shall specify in writing the reasons for the disapproval. The statement 
from the Agency shall also contain the Agency’s opinion of the action the 
Developer must take to obtain the Agency’s approval. The Agency shall 
approve or disapprove the Final Development Plan(s) within twenty [20] 
days following receipt of such plans. If the Agency fails to provide the 
Developer with the written statement described above, the submittal shall 
be deemed approved. Within twenty (20) days following notification of 
disapproval of the Final Development Plan(s), the Developer shall revise 
the disapproved Final Development Plan(s) so as to mitigate the reasons 
for disapproval to the extent reasonably feasible and submit those revised 
Final Development Plan(s) to the Agency for approval. The process for 
revision and review of the Final Development Plan(s) shall continue until 
the Agency has approved the Final Development Plan(s), except that the 
Agency shall approve or disapprove any revised Final Development 
Plan(s) within twenty [20] days following receipt thereof. The Developer 
acknowledges that the execution of this Agreement by the Agency and the 
approval of the Final Development Plan(s) of the Agency under this 
Agreement, does not constitute approval by the City, in its typical 
regulatory and administrative capacity, of the Final Development Plan(s) 
and in no way limits the discretion of the City in reviewing and making

“A.

5

FINAL

the Property identified as Parcel 11 if, prior to the close of escrow for the 
purchase of said parcel as set forth in the Schedule of Performance, 
appropriate parking for the proposed development of said parcel is 
unavailable on property immediately adjacent to Parcel 11 on terms 
acceptable to Developer in its good faith discretion and Developer has, not 
less than ninety (90) days prior to the date set forth in the Schedule of 
Performance for the close of escrow for acquisition of said parcel, notified 
the Agency in writing of its decision to not acquire Parcel 11 . 

Developer shall acquire the Property in accordance with the Schedule of 
Performance attached as Revised Exhibit C for the development and 
construction of the Project." 

Section 15. Section 1.03 of Part One of the Original ODA ["Final Development 
Plan"] is restated entirely to read as follows: 

FINAL 

"A. Within the timeframes set forth within the Schedule of 
Performance, Developer shall submit to the Agency for its approval a 
"Final Development Plan" for each portion of the Project, as designated in 
the Schedule of Performance. Each Final Development Plan shall include 
preliminary site layouts, road, parking, and pedestrian path locations, 
building elevations, landscaping amenities and general development 
standards for buildings and landscaping for each portion of the Project. 
The Final Development Plan will serve as a basis for the Developer's 
tentative map applications and planned community development 
applications and the application for the other governmental approvals for 
the Properties. If the Agency disapproves the Final Development Plan(s), 
it shall specify in writing the reasons for the disapproval. The statement 
from the Agency shall also contain the Agency's opinion of the action the 
Developer must take to obtain the Agency's approval. The Agency shall 
approve or disapprove the Final Development Plan(s) within twenty [20] 
days following receipt of such plans. If the Agency fails to provide the 
Developer with the written statement described above, the submittal shall 
be deemed approved. Within twenty (20) days following notification of 
disapproval of the Final Development Plan(s), the Developer shall revise 
the disapproved Final Development Plan(s) so as to mitigate the reasons 
for disapproval to the extent reasonably feasible and submit those revised 
Final Development Plan( s) to the Agency for approval. The process for 
revision and review of the Final Development Plan( s) shall continue until 
the Agency has approved the Final Development Plan( s ), except that the 
Agency shall approve or disapprove any revised Final Development 
Plan( s) within twenty [20] days following receipt thereof. The Developer 
acknowledges that the execution of this Agreement by the Agency and the 
approval of the Final Development Plan( s) of the Agency under this 
Agreement, does not constitute approval by the City, in its typical 
regulatory and administrative capacity, of the Final Development Plan(s) 
and in no way limits the discretion of the City in reviewing and making 

5 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

557



decisions regarding any discretionary or other permits required for the 
Properties. Each Final Development Plan shall be consistent with the 
Project Description as attached hereto and incorporated as Revised 
Exhibit D herein by this reference. The Executive Director of the Agency 
or its designee may approve the Final Development Plan(s) on behalf of 
the Agency.

Upon approval, each Final Development Plan shall be 
incorporated into this Fourth Amendment as a part of Revised Exhibit D. 
after the Effective Date of this Fourth Amendment, as and when approved.

B.

Any subsequent material change, modification, revision or 
alteration of any approved Final Development Plan shall be submitted for 
approval by the Agency; and if such change, modifications, revisions or 
alterations are not approved, the approved Final Development Plan shall 
continue to control. Any proposed material change, modification, revision 
or alteration shall be approved or disapproved by the Agency pursuant to 
the timelines and general provisions as provided above with respect to the 
initial approval of the Final Development Plan(s). In accordance with Part 
Two, Section 3.23 of this Agreement, the Executive Director of the Agency 
or its designee may approve minor changes, modifications, revisions or 
alterations to the Final Development Plans.

C.

For the purpose of this Section 1.03, a material change, modification, 
revision or alteration to a Final Development Plan shall mean any increase 
(but not a decrease) of ten percent (10%) or greater in (a) the number of 
housing units approved; (b) size (measured by square feet); or (c) floor 
area ratio (FAR) to the approved project component.”

Section 1.10 of Part One of the Original DDA [“Preleasing"] isSection 16.
restated entirely to read as follows:

“Developer shall use commercially reasonable efforts with respect to 
marketing the Project to potential purchasers or lessees. Developer 
agrees to provide the Agency updates regarding the status of building 
sales or leasing with respect to the buildings to be constructed on the 
Property at the request of the Agency, such updates to be provided no 
more often than quarterly.”

Section 17. Section 1.02 of Part One of the Original DDA [“Developer 
Acquisition of Property”] is restated entirely to read as follows:

“Upon Developer's request, Agency shall hire a real estate appraiser to 
act on its behalf in determining the “Fair Market Value” (as defined below) 
for the Property. Developer shall deposit funds equal to the cost of the 
appraisal with the Agency within five (5) days of being notified of such cost 
as evidenced by an invoice or engagement letter or some other written

6

FINAL

decisions regarding any discretionary or other permits required for the 
Properties. Each Final Development Plan shall be consistent with the 
Project Description as attached hereto and incorporated as Revised 
Exhibit D herein by this reference. The Executive Director of the Agency 
or its designee may approve the Final Development Plan(s) on behalf of 
the Agency. 

B. Upon approval, each Final Development Plan shall be 
incorporated into this Fourth Amendment as a part of Revised Exhibit D, 
after the Effective Date of this Fourth Amendment, as and when approved. 

C. Any subsequent material change, modification, revision or 
alteration of any approved Final Development Plan shall be submitted for 
approval by the Agency; and if such change, modifications, revisions or 
alterations are not approved, the approved Final Development Plan shall 
continue to control. Any proposed material change, modification, revision 
or alteration shall be approved or disapproved by the Agency pursuant to 
the timelines and general provisions as provided above with respect to the 
initial approval of the Final Development Plan(s). In accordance with Part 
Two, Section 3.23 of this Agreement, the Executive Director of the Agency 
or its designee may approve minor changes, modifications, revisions or 
alterations to the Final Development Plans. 

For the purpose of this Section 1.03, a material change, modification, 
revision or alteration to a Final Development Plan shall mean any increase 
(but not a decrease) of ten percent ( 10%) or greater in (a) the number of 
housing units approved; (b) size (measured by square feet); or (c) floor 
area ratio (FAR) to the approved project component." 

Section 16. Section 1.1 O of Part One of the Original DOA ["Preleasing"] is 
restated entirely to read as follows: 

"Developer shall use commercially reasonable efforts with respect to 
marketing the Project to potential purchasers or lessees. Developer 
agrees to provide the Agency updates regarding the status of building 
sales or leasing with respect to the buildings to be constructed on the 
Property at the request of the Agency, such updates to be provided no 
more often than quarterly." 

Section 17. Section 1.02 of Part One of the Original DOA ["Developer 
Acquisition of Property"] is restated entirely to read as follows: 

FINAL 

"Upon Developer's request, Agency shall hire a real estate appraiser to 
act on its behalf in determining the "Fair Market Value" (as defined below) 
for the Property. Developer shall deposit funds equal to the cost of the 
appraisal with the Agency within five (5) days of being notified of such cost 
as evidenced by an invoice or engagement letter or some other written 

6 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

558



evidence of costs of appraisal. Such funds shall be used by the Agency to 
pay for the appraisals. Agency’s selection of such appraiser shall be 
subject to the prior written approval of Developer, which shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, except that such approval shall not be required if 
Agency hires the appraiser previously used to appraise the Property 
pursuant to the DDA (Ron Garland & Associates). The appraiser shall 
have at least five (5) years' experience in the area of the Property and 
shall be a person who would qualify as expert witnesses over objection to 
give opinion testimony on the issue of the Fair Market Value for the 
Property in a court of competent jurisdiction. The appraiser's 
determination of Fair Market Value shall be final. As used herein, the term 
"Fair Market Value" for the Property shall mean the amount that the 
Agency could obtain from an unaffiliated third party desiring to purchase 
the Property as of the date of this Fourth Amendment, taking into account 
the uses permitted for the Property and the entitlements that are vested in 
the Property as of the date of the appraisal. The appraisal will also take 
into account all improvements required to be made on public land or rights 
of way, including but not limited to, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, landscaping, 
public courtyards, and utilities (including without limitation utility 
relocations), in order to develop the Property, as provided in Section 4.02 
below, and all fees owing with respect to such Property upon its 
development, including without limitation the fees assessed pursuant to 
Sections 4.12, 4.14, and 4.18, in determining the Fair Market Value for the 
Property. Within thirty (30) days after the determination of the Fair Market 
Value of the Property, the Developer shall have the right, but not the 
obligation, to elect in writing to purchase the Property at Fair Market Value 
as determined by the appraisal on the following terms: Concurrent with 
the Developer’s election to purchase the Property, Developer shall deposit 
in the Escrow Account the sum of Thirty Thousand Dollars ($30,000) (the 
“Residential Deposit”) for each Residential Parcel that Developer elects to 
purchase as provided immediately above, up to a total of Ninety Thousand 
Dollars ($90,000) for all three Residential Parcels. The Residential Deposit 
will be held by Escrow Agent until the closing, with Thirty Thousand 
Dollars ($30,000) of such Deposit to be applied to the Purchase Price of 
each Residential Parcel.

Within thirty (30) days after the determination of the Fair Market Value of 
the Property, Developer shall deposit in the Escrow Account the sum of 
ten percent (10%) of the Fair Market Value (as determined by the 
appraisal) for each non-Residential Property that Developer elects to 
purchase (the “Non-Residential Deposit). The Non-Residential Deposit will 
be held by Escrow Agent until the closing, with each such Deposit to be 
applied to the Purchase Price of each Non-Residential Property. Subject 
to Section 7.02 of Part One of the Original DDA, the closing of the 
purchase and sale of each portion of the Non-Residential Parcel(s) shall

7

FINALFINAL 

evidence of costs of appraisal. Such funds shall be used by the Agency to 
pay for the appraisals. Agency's selection of such appraiser shall be 
subject to the prior written approval of Developer1 which shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, except that such approval shall not be required if 
Agency hires the appraiser previously used to appraise the Property 
pursuant to the DOA (Ron Garland & Associates). The appraiser shall 
have at least five (5) years' experience in the area of the Property and 
shall be a person who would qualify as expert witnesses over objection to 
give opinion testimony on the issue of the Fair Market Value for the 
Property in a court of competent jurisdiction. The appraiser's 
determination of Fair Market Value shall be final. As used herein, the term 
"Fair Market Value" for the Property shall mean the amount that the 
Agency could obtain from an unaffiliated third party desiring to purchase 
the Property as of the date of this Fourth Amendment, taking into account 
the uses permitted for the Property and the entitlements that are vested in 
the Property as of the date of the appraisal. The appraisal will also take 
into account all improvements required to be made on public land or rights 
of way, including but not limited to, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, landscaping, 
public courtyards, and utilities (including without limitation utility 
relocations), in order to develop the Property, as provided in Section 4.02 
below, and all fees owing with respect to such Property upon its 
development, including without limitation the fees assessed pursuant to 
Sections 4.12, 4.14, and 4.18, in determining the Fair Market Value for the 
Property. Within thirty (30) days after the determination of the Fair Market 
Value of the Property, the Developer shall have the right, but not the 
obligation, to elect in writing to purchase the Property at Fair Market Value 
as determined by the appraisal on the following terms: Concurrent with 
the Developer's election to purchase the Property, Developer shall deposit 
in the Escrow Account the sum of Thirty Thousand Dollars ($30,000) (the 
"Residential Deposit") for each Residential Parcel that Developer elects to 
purchase as provided immediately above, up to a total of Ninety Thousand 
Dollars ($90,000) for all three Residential Parcels. The Residential Deposit 
will be held by Escrow Agent until the closing, with Thirty Thousand 
Dollars ($30,000) of such Deposit to be applied to the Purchase Price of 
each Residential Parcel. 

Within thirty (30) days after the determination of the Fair Market Value of 
the Property, Developer shall deposit in the Escrow Account the sum of 
ten percent (10%) of the Fair Market Value (as determined by the 
appraisal) for each non-Residential Property that Developer elects to 
purchase (the "Non-Residential Deposit). The Non-Residential Deposit will 
be held by Escrow Agent until the closing, with each such Deposit to be 
applied to the Purchase Price of each Non-Residential Property. Subject 
to Section 7.02 of Part One of the Original DOA, the closing of the 
purchase and sale of each portion of the Non-Residential Parcel( s) shall 

7 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

559



occur in accordance with the timing set forth in the Schedule of 
Performance.

Subject to Section 7.02 of Part One of the Original DDA, the closing of the 
purchase and sale of each portion of the Residential Parcel(s) shall occur 
(i) no sooner than the date the appeal period has run without challenge on 
the tentative map approval with respect to each such parcel, and (ii) no 
later than the earlier of either (a) 90 days after a final map has recorded 
with respect to each such parcel, which shall be in general conformance 
with the Final Development Plan for such portion of the Property, or (b) the 
fifth (5th) anniversary of the Effective Date, but in any event with at least 
fifteen (15) days prior written notice to Agency. For purposes of the 
application of Section 7.04 of Part One of the Original DDA and for no 
other purpose, the Residential Deposit and Non-Residential Deposit shall 
be deemed part of the Deposit described in Section 3.02 and may be 
retained to the same extent as the Deposit following a default by 
Developer; provided that any default and the corresponding portion of the 
Deposit subject to retention shall be determined and applied on a “per 
parcel” basis as more fully set forth in Section 22 of this Fourth 
Amendment. All other terms shall be as provided in Section 3.03 
[Disposition of Property; Escrow]; provided that in the case of any conflict 
between such Section 3.03 and this Section 1.02, this Section 1.02 shall 
control.

Unless Developer has requested an extension of time as allowed pursuant 
to Section 3.04 of Part Two of the Original DDA [Enforced Delay; 
Economic Infeasibility; Extension for Performance] and such has been 
granted by the Agency or in the event the Developer elects to not 
purchase the Property, Developer shall have no rights in the Property and 
the Agency shall have the right to retain the Property to market for sale to 
other buyers or for future development subject to a court supervised 
process under Code of Civil Procedure Section 664.6. Upon request, 
Developer shall promptly execute, acknowledge and deliver to Agency 
documents reasonably required to confirm that Developer has no interest 
in the Property.”

Section 18. Section 3.01 of Part One of the Original DDA [‘‘Conveyance of the 
Property”] is deleted in its entirety.

Section 3.02(C) of Part One of the Original DDA [“Deposit”] isSection 19.
restated entirely to read as follows:

“C. Deposit. The Developer has heretofore deposited One Hundred 
Thousand Dollars ($100,000) with the Escrow Agent (“Deposit”). 
Provided that Developer is not in default hereunder as described in 
Section 7.04 of this Agreement, the Escrow Agent shall apply the Deposit 
in accordance with the following:

8

FINAL

occur in accordance with the timing set forth in the Schedule of 
Performance. 

Subject to Section 7 .02 of Part One of the Original DDA, the closing of the 
purchase and sale of each portion of the Residential Parcel( s) shall occur 
(i) no sooner than the date the appeal period has run without challenge on 
the tentative map approval with respect to each such parcel, and (ii) no 
later than the earlier of either (a) 90 days after a final map has recorded 
with respect to each such parcel, which shall be in general conformance 
with the Final Development Plan for such portion of the Property, or (b) the 
fifth (5th) anniversary of the Effective Date, but in any event with at least 
fifteen (15) days prior written notice to Agency. For purposes of the 
application of Section 7 .04 of Part One of the Original DDA and for no 
other purpose, the Residential Deposit and Non-Residential Deposit shall 
be deemed part of the Deposit described in Section 3.02 and may be 
retained to the same extent as the Deposit following a default by 
Developer; provided that any default and the corresponding portion of the 
Deposit subject to retention shall be determined and applied on a "per 
parcel" basis as more fully set forth in Section 22 of this Fourth 
Amendment. All other terms shall be as provided in Section 3.03 
[Disposition of Property; Escrow]; provided that in the case of any conflict 
between such Section 3.03 and this Section 1.02, this Section 1.02 shall 
control. 

Unless Developer has requested an extension of time as allowed pursuant 
to Section 3.04 of Part Two of the Original DOA [Enforced Delay; 
Economic Infeasibility; Extension for Performance] and such has been 
granted by the Agency or in the event the Developer elects to not 
purchase the Property, Developer shall have no rights in the Property and 
the Agency shall have the right to retain the Property to market for sale to 
other buyers or for future development subject to a court supervised 
process under Code of Civil Procedure Section 664.6. Upon request, 
Developer shall promptly execute, acknowledge and deliver to Agency 
documents reasonably required to confirm that Developer has no interest 
in the Property." 

Section 18. Section 3.01 of Part One of the Original ODA ["Conveyance of the 
Property"] is deleted in its entirety. 

Section 19. Section 3.02(C) of Part One of the Original ODA ["Deposit"] is 
restated entirely to read as follows: 

FINAL 

"C. Deposit. The Developer has heretofore deposited One Hundred 
Thousand Dollars ($100,000) with the Escrow Agent ("Deposit"). 
Provided that Developer is not in default hereunder as described in 
Section 7 .04 of this Agreement, the Escrow Agent shall apply the Deposit 
in accordance with the following: 

8 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

560



1. The Deposit shall be released to Developer in two Fifty 
Thousand Dollar ($50,000) increments.

i. The first $50,000 of the Deposit shall be released 
to Developer upon the first submittal of Tentative 
Subdivision Map applications for Parcels 13 and/or 
14 that are deemed to be complete by the City of 
Suisun City Community Development Department.

ii. The second $50,000 of the Deposit shall be 
released to Developer upon the first approval of 
Tentative Subdivision Map applications for Parcels 
13 and/or 14. Said Tentative Subdivision Map 
shall be deemed approved upon the expiration of 
any appeal periods that may occur upon final 
approval by the governing body.

2. Upon an event of default by Developer and/or earlier 
termination of the Agreement by Agency, the Agency may 
retain the Deposit in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 7.04 of this Agreement.

3. If Developer is in default with respect to any provision of 
this Agreement, the Agency may, but shall have no 
obligation to, use the Deposit or any portion thereof to cure 
such default or to compensate the Agency for any damage 
or reasonably expense sustained by the Agency as a result 
of the default, but only after providing Developer an 
opportunity to cure default pursuant to Section 7.04, Part 
One. The Agency shall provide the Developer, upon its 
written request, with evidence of damages incurred by 
Agency as a result of default.”

Section 20. Section 3.03(A) of Part One of the Original DDA [“Purchase”] is 
restated entirely to read as follows:

“The parties agree that Developer shall have the right to purchase the 
Property from the Agency in accordance with the terms of Section 1.02 
and this Section 3.03 of this Agreement.”

Section 21. The first sentence of Section 3.03(C) of Part One of the Original 
DDA [“Developer Obligations”] is restated entirely to read as follows:

“Prior to the close of escrow for each acquisition of a portion of the 
Property by the Developer, the Developer shall deposit with the Escrow 
Agent amounts sufficient to pay the purchase price for that portion of the

9

FINAL

1. The Deposit shall be released to Developer in two Fifty 
Thousand Dollar ($50!000) increments. 

i. The first $50,000 of the Deposit shall be released 
to Developer upon the first submittal of Tentative 
Subdivision Map applications for Parcels 13 and/or 
14 that are deemed to be complete by the City of 
Suisun City Community Development Department. 

ii. The second $50,000 of the Deposit shall be 
released to Developer upon the first approval of 
Tentative Subdivision Map applications for Parcels 
13 and/or 14. Said Tentative Subdivision Map 
shall be deemed approved upon the expiration of 
any appeal periods that may occur upon final 
approval by the governing body. 

2. Upon an event of default by Developer and/or earlier 
termination of the Agreement by Agency, the Agency may 
retain the Deposit in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 7 .04 of this Agreement. 

3. If Developer is in default with respect to any provision of 
this Agreement, the Agency may, but shall have no 
obligation to, use the Deposit or any portion thereof to cure 
such default or to compensate the Agency for any damage 
or reasonably expense sustained by the Agency as a result 
of the default, but only after providing Developer an 
opportunity to cure default pursuant to Section 7 .04, Part 
One. The Agency shall provide the Developer, upon its 
written request, with evidence of damages incurred by 
Agency as a result of default." 

Section 20. Section 3.03(A) of Part One of the Original DOA ["Purchase"] is 
restated entirely to read as follows: 

"The parties agree that Developer shall have the right to purchase the 
Property from the Agency in accordance with the terms of Section 1.02 
and this Section 3.03 of this Agreement." 

Section 21. The first sentence of Section 3.03(C) of Part One of the Original 
DOA ["Developer Obligations"] is restated entirely to read as follows: 

FINAL 

"Prior to the close of escrow for each acquisition of a portion of the 
Property by the Developer, the Developer shall deposit with the Escrow 
Agent amounts sufficient to pay the purchase price for that portion of the 

9 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

561



Property then being acquired (each a “Purchase Price”), provided, 
however, that with respect to the closing of each Residential Parcel, 
Developer shall have the right (i) to designate a Qualified Successor 
Developer to take title by grant deed directly from the Agency, and Agency 
shall deed the Residential Parcel to be conveyed directly to the Qualified 
Successor Developer and upon such conveyance such Residential Parcel 
shall no longer be subject to this Agreement and the Qualified Successor 
Developer shall have no rights or obligations under this Agreement, 
notwithstanding the fact that Developer shall receive a portion of the 
proceeds from the Escrow Account, and (ii) to cause such designated 
Qualified Successor Developer to deposit funds with Escrow Agent 
sufficient to pay the Purchase Price pursuant to a separate but concurrent 
escrow, in which case Developer shall not be required to submit additional 
funds with Escrow Agent. Upon request from Developer, Agency shall 
record an instrument at closing acknowledging the inapplicability and 
release of this Agreement to the Residential Parcel or portion thereof upon 
the deeding of title to the Qualified Successor Developer.”

Section 22. Section 3.03(G) of Part One of the Original DDA [“Failure to Close 
Escrow”] is restated entirely to read as follows:

“If escrow for any portion of the Property is not in condition to close before 
the time for conveyance established in this Agreement, either party who 
then shall have fully performed the acts to be performed before the 
conveyance of title with respect to such portion of the Property may, in 
writing, provide notice to the nonperforming party of such condition and a 
right to cure, including a right to cure any liens, encumbrances, conditions 
or other defects on the title not otherwise permitted, as described in this 
Agreement, in the manner set forth in Section 3.03(J). Should the 
nonperforming party fail to cure the condition preventing close of escrow 
for any part of the Property within the time period provided in Section 7.04 
of this Part, all obligations and liabilities of the Parties under this 
Agreement shall cease and terminate but only with respect to any parcel 
for which failure to perform in connection with any said parcel by 
Developer resulted in the failure to close escrow for any such parcel, it 
being the intent of the parties that Developer’s non-performance with 
respect to any individual parcels of the Property shall not impact its rights 
and responsibilities with respect to the other parcels of the Property. 
Nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to impair or affect the rights 
or obligations of the Agency or Developer under the Agreement or the 
rights of Developer to specific performance under the Agreement with 
respect to any portion of the Property, it being understood and agreed that 
Developer shall have the right of specific performance in the event Agency 
fails and refuses to convey any parcel of the Property notwithstanding 
Developer’s performance of the terms of the Agreement and the Schedule 
of Performance with respect to such parcel of the Property.”

10

FINAL

Property then being acquired (each a "Purchase Price") , provided , 
however, that with respect to the closing of each Residential Parcel, 
Developer shall have the right (i) to designate a Qualified Successor 
Developer to take title by grant deed directly from the Agency, and Agency 
shall deed the Residential Parcel to be conveyed directly to the Qualified 
Successor Developer and upon such conveyance such Residential Parcel 
shall no longer be subject to this Agreement and the Qualified Successor 
Developer shall have no rights or obligations under this Agreement, 
notwithstanding the fact that Developer shall receive a portion of the 
proceeds from the Escrow Account, and (ii) to cause such designated 
Qualified Successor Developer to deposit funds with Escrow Agent 
sufficient to pay the Purchase Price pursuant to a separate but concurrent 
escrow, in which case Developer shall not be required to submit additional 
funds with Escrow Agent. Upon request from Developer, Agency shall 
record an instrument at closing acknowledging the inapplicability and 
release of this Agreement to the Residential Parcel or portion thereof upon 
the deeding of title to the Qualified Successor Developer." 

Section 22. Section 3.03(G) of Part One of the Original DOA ["Failure to Close 
Escrow"] is restated entirely to read as follows: 

FINAL 

"If escrow for any portion of the Property is not in condition to close before 
the time for conveyance established in this Agreement, either party who 
then shall have fully performed the acts to be performed before the 
conveyance of title with respect to such portion of the Property may, in 
writing, provide notice to the nonperforming party of such condition and a 
right to cure, including a right to cure any liens, encumbrances, conditions 
or other defects on the title not otherwise permitted, as described in this 
Agreement, in the manner set forth in Section 3.03(J). Should the 
nonperforming party fail to cure the condition preventing close of escrow 
for any part of the Property within the time period provided in Section 7 .04 
of this Part, all obligations and liabilities of the Parties under this 
Agreement shall cease and terminate but only with respect to any parcel 
for which failure to perform in connection with any said parcel by 
Developer resulted in the failure to close escrow for any such parcel, it 
being the intent of the parties that Developer's non-performance with 
respect to any individual parcels of the Property shall not impact its rights 
and responsibilities with respect to the other parcels of the Property. 
Nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to impair or affect the rights 
or obligations of the Agency or Developer under the Agreement or the 
rights of Developer to specific performance under the Agreement with 
respect to any portion of the Property, it being understood and agreed that 
Developer shall have the right of specific performance in the event Agency 
fails and refuses to convey any parcel of the Property notwithstanding 
Developer's performance of the terms of the Agreement and the Schedule 
of Performance with respect to such parcel of the Property." 

10 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

562



Section 23. The first paragraph of Section 3.03(J) of Part One of the Original 
DDA ["Title Documents; Title Insurance”] is restated entirely to read as follows:

“Within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date of the Fourth Amendment, 
Agency shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Developer a 
preliminary title report (each a “Preliminary Report”) on the subject 
portion of the Property issued by Placer Title Company, or some other title 
insurance company satisfactory to the Agency and the Developer having 
equal or greater financial responsibility (“Title Company"), setting forth all 
liens, encumbrances, easements, restrictions, conditions, pending 
litigation, judgments, administrative proceedings, and other matters of 
record affecting Agency's title to the Property, together with copies of all 
documents relating to exceptions listed in the Preliminary Report ("Title 
Exceptions”) and complete and legible copies of all instruments referred 
to therein, as requested by the Developer. Developer shall approve or 
disapprove each Title Exception within thirty (30) days following the 
Developer’s receipt of the Preliminary Report. The Developer’s failure to 
object within such period shall be deemed to be a disapproval of the Title 
Exceptions."

Section 24. The second paragraph of Section 3.03(J) of Part One of the 
Original DDA [“Title Documents; Title Insurance’’] is restated entirely to read as follows:

“If the Developer objects or is deemed to have disapproved any Title 
Exception, Agency shall remove from title or otherwise agree to satisfy 
each such exception no later than fourteen (14) days after the Developer’s 
written objection to a Title Exception(s) and such satisfaction shall be in a 
form that is reasonably satisfactory to the Developer. Agency shall only 
be obligated to remove title exceptions that (a) are within Agency’s 
reasonable and direct control to remove, and (b) can be removed without 
the Agency incurring any expense in excess of Five Thousand Dollars 
($5,000) to accomplish such removal (“Maximum Agency Cost”). If a 
Title Exception can be removed by payment of more than the Maximum 
Agency Cost and Developer elects, in Developer’s sole discretion, to 
require removal of such Title Exception then Developer shall be 
responsible for payment of all sums in excess of the Maximum Agency 
Cost. If the Agency fails to remove or agree to satisfy any Title Exception 
to the satisfaction of the Developer within the above-stated fourteen (14) 
day period, the Developer shall have the option, in its sole discretion, to 
not close on that parcel of the Property to which such Title Exception 
relates or to accept title subject to such exception by providing written 
notice to Agency within 10 days after the expiration of the fourteen (14) 
day period described immediately above. In the event the Developer 
elects to terminate this Agreement with respect to such parcel of the 
Property, the Deposit, including interest thereon, and all other funds and 
documents deposited into the Escrow Account, by or on behalf of the 
Developer shall be returned to the Developer, and all rights and

11

FINAL

Section 23. The first paragraph of Section 3.03(J) of Part One of the Original 
DOA ["Title Documents; Title Insurance"] is restated entirely to read as follows: 

"Within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date of the Fourth Amendment, 
Agency shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Developer a 
preliminary title report (each a "Preliminary Report") on the subject 
portion of the Property issued by Placer Title Company, or some other title 
insurance company satisfactory to the Agency and the Developer having 
equal or greater financial responsibility ("Title Company"), setting forth all 
liens, encumbrances, easements, restrictions, conditions, pending 
litigation, judgments, administrative proceedings, and other matters of 
record affecting Agency's title to the Property, together with copies of all 
documents relating to exceptions listed in the Preliminary Report ("Title 
Exceptions") and complete and legible copies of all instruments referred 
to therein, as requested by the Developer. Developer shall approve or 
disapprove each Title Exception within thirty (30) days following the 
Developer's receipt of the Preliminary Report. The Developer's failure to 
object within such period shall be deemed to be a disapproval of the Title 
Exceptions." 

Section 24. The second paragraph of Section 3.03(J) of Part One of the 
Original DOA ["Title Documents; Title Insurance"] is restated entirely to read as follows: 

FINAL 

"If the Developer objects or is deemed to have disapproved any Title 
Exception, Agency shall remove from title or otherwise agree to satisfy 
each such exception no later than fourteen (14) days after the Developer's 
written objection to a Title Exception( s) and such satisfaction shall be in a 
form that is reasonably satisfactory to the Developer. Agency shall only 
be obligated to remove title exceptions that (a) are within Agency's 
reasonable and direct control to remove, and (b) can be removed without 
the Agency incurring any expense in excess of Five Thousand Dollars 
($5,000) to accomplish such removal ("Maximum Agency Cost"). If a 
Title Exception can be removed by payment of more than the Maximum 
Agency Cost and Developer elects, in Developer's sole discretion, to 
require removal of such Title Exception then Developer shall be 
responsible for payment of all sums in excess of the Maximum Agency 
Cost. If the Agency fails to remove or agree to satisfy any Title Exception 
to the satisfaction of the Developer within the above-stated fourteen ( 14) 
day period, the Developer shall have the option, in its sole discretion, to 
not close on that parcel of the Property to which such Title Exception 
relates or to accept title subject to such exception by providing written 
notice to Agency within 1 O days after the expiration of the fourteen ( 14) 
day period described immediately above. In the event the Developer 
elects to terminate this Agreement with respect to such parcel of the 
Property, the Deposit, including interest thereon, and all other funds and 
documents deposited into the Escrow Account, by or on behalf of the 
Developer shall be returned to the Developer, and all rights and 

11 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

563



obligations hereunder shall terminate with respect to such parcel of the 
Property subject to the referenced Title Exception. If Agency agrees to 
satisfy Developer’s objection to a Title Exception as provided above, then 
Agency shall cause the subject portion of the Property to be deeded to 
Developer at the closing of such portion of the Property subject only to the 
Developer approved Title Exceptions.”

Section 3.07 of Part One of the Original DDA [“Title Documents; 
Title Insurance”] is amended by the addition of a new Subsections “F” through “H” 
inclusive to read as follows:

Section 25.

“F. Third Party Litigation:

1. Non-liability of Agency. The Parties acknowledge that:

In the future there may be challenges to legality, validity and 
adequacy of the General Plan, the Project Development Approvals 
and/or this Agreement and amendments thereto; and

If successful, such challenges could delay or prevent the 
performance of this Agreement and the development of the Project.

i.

ii.

In addition to the other provisions of this Agreement, including without 
limitation any amendments thereto, the Agency shall have no liability 
under this Agreement for any failure of the Agency to perform under this 
Agreement or the inability of the Developer to develop the Property as 
contemplated by the Final Development Plan or this Agreement as the 
result of a judicial determination that the General Plan, the Land Use 
Regulations, the Development Approvals, this Agreement, or portions 
thereof, are invalid or inadequate or not in compliance with law.

1.1.2. Revision of Land Use Restrictions. If, for any reason, the General 
Plan, Land Use Regulations, Development Approvals, this Agreement or 
any part or amendment thereof is hereafter judicially determined, as 
provided above, to not be in compliance with the State or Federal 
Constitution, laws or regulations and, if such noncompliance can be cured 
by an appropriate amendment thereof otherwise conforming to the 
provisions of this Agreement, then this Agreement shall remain in full force 
and effect to the extent permitted by law. The Development Plan, 
Development Approvals and this Agreement shall be amended, as 
necessary, in order to comply with such judicial decision.

3. Participation in Litigation: Indemnity. The Developer shall indemnify the 
Agency and its elected boards, commissions, officers, agents and 
employees (collectively “Indemnified Parties”) and will hold and save 
them and each of them harmless from any and all actions, suites, claims, 
liabilities, losses, damages, penalties, obligations and expenses (including 
but not limited to attorneys’ fees and costs) against the Indemnified

12

FINAL

obligations hereunder shall terminate with respect to such parcel of the 
Property subject to the referenced Title Exception. If Agency agrees to 
satisfy Developer's objection to a Title Exception as provided above 1 then 
Agency shall cause the subject portion of the Property to be deeded to 
Developer at the closing of such portion of the Property subject only to the 
Developer approved Title Exceptions." 

Section 25. Section 3.07 of Part One of the Original DOA ["Title Documents; 
Title Insurance"] is amended by the addition of a new Subsections "F" through "H'1 

inclusive to read as follows: 

FINAL 

"F. Third Party Litigation: 

1. Non-liability of Agency. The Parties acknowledge that: 

i. In the future there may be challenges to legality, validity and 
adequacy of the General Plan, the Project Development Approvals 
and/or this Agreement and amendments thereto; and 

ii. If successful, such challenges could delay or prevent the 
performance of this Agreement and the development of the Project. 

In addition to the other provisions of this Agreement, including without 
limitation any amendments thereto, the Agency shall have no liability 
under this Agreement for any failure of the Agency to perform under this 
Agreement or the inability of the Developer to develop the Property as 
contemplated by the Final Development Plan or this Agreement as the 
result of a judicial determination that the General Plan, the Land Use 
Regulations, the Development Approvals, this Agreement, or portions 
thereof, are invalid or inadequate or not in compliance with law. 

1.1.2. Revision of Land Use Restrictions. If, for any reason, the General 
Plan, Land Use Regulations, Development Approvals, this Agreement or 
any part or amendment thereof is hereafter judicially determined, as 
provided above, to not be in compliance with the State or Federal 
Constitution, laws or regulations and, if such noncompliance can be cured 
by an appropriate amendment thereof otherwise conforming to the 
provisions of this Agreement, then this Agreement shall remain in full force 
and effect to the extent permitted by law. The Development Plan, 
Development Approvals and this Agreement shall be amended, as 
necessary, in order to comply with such judicial decision. 

3. Participation in Litigation: Indemnity. The Developer shall indemnify the 
Agency and its elected boards, commissions, officers, agents and 
employees (collectively "Indemnified Parties") and will hold and save 
them and each of them harmless from any and all actions, suites, claims, 
liabilities, losses, damages, penalties, obligations and expenses (including 
but not limited to attorneys' fees and costs) against the Indemnified 

12 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

564



Parties for any such Claims or Litigation and shall be responsible for any 
monetary judgment arising therefrom or any order affecting the Property. 
The Indemnified Parties shall provide the Developer with notice of the 
pendency of such action and shall request that the Developer defend such 
action. The Developer may utilize the Agency Attorney’s office or use legal 
counsel of its choosing, but shall reimburse the Agency for any necessary 
legal cost incurred by Agency. If the Developer fails to provide such 
reimbursement, the Agency may abandon the action and the Developer 
shall pay all costs resulting therefrom and Agency shall have no liability to 
the Developer. The Developer’s obligation to pay the cost of the action, 
including judgment, shall extend until judgment. After judgment in a trial 
court, the parties must mutually agree as to whether any appeal will be 
taken or defended. The Developer shall have the right, within the first thirty 
(30) days of the service of the complaint, in its sole and absolute 
discretion, to determine that it shall not defend any litigation attacking this 
Agreement or the Development Approvals. In such case, (a) the 
Developer shall be liable for any costs incurred by the Agency up to the 
date that Developer notifies Agency in writing of its election not to defend 
the litigation, but shall have no further obligation to the Agency beyond the 
payment of those costs, and (b) Agency shall have the right to settle the 
litigation on whatever terms the Agency determines, in its sole and 
absolute discretion, but Agency shall confer with Developer before acting 
and cannot bind Developer. In the event of an appeal, or a settlement 
offer, the parties shall confer in good faith as to how to proceed. 
Notwithstanding the Developer’s indemnity for Claims or Litigation, the 
Agency retains the right to settle any litigation brought against it in its sole 
and absolute discretion and the Developer shall remain liable except as 
follows: (i) the settlement would reduce the scope of the Project by ten 
percent (10%) or more, and (ii) the Developer opposes the settlement. In 
such case the Agency may still settle the litigation but shall then be 
responsible for its own litigation expense but shall bear no other liability to 
the Developer.

G. Hold Harmless: Developer’s Construction and Other Activities. The 
Developer shall defend, save and hold the Agency and its elected and 
appointed boards, commissions, officers, agents, and employees 
harmless from any and all Claims or Litigation that may arise, directly or 
indirectly, from the Developer’s or the Developer’s agents, contractors, 
subcontractors, agents, or employees’ operations under this Agreement, 
whether such operations be by the Developer or by any of the Developer’s 
agents, contractors or subcontractors or by any one or more persons 
directly or indirectly employed by or acting as agent for the Developer or 
any of the Developer’s agents, contractors or subcontractors. Nothing 
herein is intended to make the Developer liable for the acts of the 
Agency’s officers, employees, agents, contractors of subcontractors.

H. Definitions. The following definitions apply to the Section 3.07:

13

FINALFINAL 

Parties for any such Claims or Litigation and shall be responsible for any 
monetary judgment arising therefrom or any order affecting the Property. 
The Indemnified Parties shall provide the Developer with notice of the 
pendency of such action and shall request that the Developer defend such 
action. The Developer may utilize the Agency Attorney's office or use legal 
counsel of its choosing, but shall reimburse the Agency for any necessary 
legal cost incurred by Agency. If the Developer fails to provide such 
reimbursement, the Agency may abandon the action and the Developer 
shall pay all costs resulting therefrom and Agency shall have no liability to 
the Developer. The Developer's obligation to pay the cost of the action, 
including judgment, shall extend until judgment. After judgment in a trial 
court, the parties must mutually agree as to whether any appeal will be 
taken or defended. The Developer shall have the right, within the first thirty 
(30) days of the service of the complaint, in its sole and absolute 
discretion, to determine that it shall not defend any litigation attacking this 
Agreement or the Development Approvals. In such case, (a) the 
Developer shall be liable for any costs incurred by the Agency up to the 
date that Developer notifies Agency in writing of its election not to defend 
the litigation, but shall have no further obligation to the Agency beyond the 
payment of those costs, and (b) Agency shall have the right to settle the 
litigation on whatever terms the Agency determines, in its sole and 
absolute discretion, but Agency shall confer with Developer before acting 
and cannot bind Developer. In the event of an appeal, or a settlement 
offer, the parties shall confer in good faith as to how to proceed. 
Notwithstanding the Developer's indemnity for Claims or Litigation, the 
Agency retains the right to settle any litigation brought against it in its sole 
and absolute discretion and the Developer shall remain liable except as 
follows: (i) the settlement would reduce the scope of the Project by ten 
percent (10%) or more, and (ii) the Developer opposes the settlement. In 
such case the Agency may still settle the litigation but shall then be 
responsible for its own litigation expense but shall bear no other liability to 
the Developer. 

G. Hold Harmless; Developer's Construction and Other Activities. The 
Developer shall defend, save and hold the Agency and its elected and 
appointed boards, commissions, officers, agents, and employees 
harmless from any and all Claims or Litigation that may arise, directly or 
indirectly, from the Developer's or the Developer's agents, contractors, 
subcontractors, agents, or employees' operations under this Agreement, 
whether such operations be by the Developer or by any of the Developer's 
agents, contractors or subcontractors or by any one or more persons 
directly or indirectly employed by or acting as agent for the Developer or 
any of the Developer's agents, contractors or subcontractors. Nothing 
herein is intended to make the Developer liable for the acts of the 
Agency's officers, employees, agents, contractors of subcontractors. 

H. Definitions. The following definitions apply to the Section 3.07: 

13 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

565



i. “Claims or Litigation” means any challenge by adjacent owners or 
any other third parties (i) to the legality, validity or adequacy of the 
General Plan. Land Use Regulations, this Agreement, Development 
Approvals or other actions of the City pertaining to the Project, or 
(ii) seeking damages against the City as a consequence of the 
foregoing actions, for the taking or diminution in value of their 
property or for any other reason.

ii. “Development Approvals” means all site-specific (meaning 
specifically applicable to the Property only and not generally 
applicable to some or all other properties within the City) plans, 
maps, permits, and entitlements to use of every kind and nature. 
Development Approvals includes, but is not limited to, specific 
plans, site plans, tentative and final subdivision maps, vesting 
tentative maps, variances, zoning designations, planned unit 
developments, conditional use permits, grading, building and other 
similar permits, the site-specific provisions of general plans, 
environmental assessments, including environmental impact 
reports, and any amendments or modifications to those plans, 
maps, permits, assessments and entitlements. The term 
Development Approvals does not include rules, regulations, 
policies, and other enactments of general application within the 
City.

iii. "Land Use Regulations” means those ordinances, laws, statutes, 
rules, regulations, initiatives, policies, requirements, guidelines, 
constraints, codes or other actions of the City which affect, govern, 
or apply to the Property or the implementation of the Project and 
Final Development Plan. Land Use Regulations include the 
ordinances and regulations adopted by the City which govern 
permitted uses of land, density and intensity of use and the design 
of buildings, applicable to the Property, including, but not limited to, 
the General Plan, zoning ordinances, development moratoria, 
implementing growth management and phased development 
programs, ordinances establishing development exactions, 
subdivision and park codes, any other similar or related codes and 
building and improvements standards, mitigation measures 
required in order to lessen or compensate for the adverse impacts 
of a project on the environment and other public interests and 
concerns or similar matters. The term Land Use Regulations does 
not include, however, regulations relating to the conduct of 
business, professions, and occupations generally; taxes and 
assessments; regulations for the control and abatement of 
nuisances; building codes; encroachment and other permits and 
the conveyances of rights and interests which provide for the use of 
or entry upon public property; any exercise of the power of eminent 
domain; or similar matters.

14

FINALFINAL 

i. "Claims or Litigation" means any challenge by adjacent owners or 
any other third parties (i) to the legality, validity or adequacy of the 
General Plan, Land Use Regulations, this Agreement, Development 
Approvals or other actions of the City pertaining to the Project, or 
(ii) seeking damages against the City as a consequence of the 
foregoing actions, for the taking or diminution in value of their 
property or for any other reason. 

ii. "Development Approvals" means all site-specific (meaning 
specifically applicable to the Property only and not generally 
applicable to some or all other properties within the City) plans, 
maps, permits, and entitlements to use of every kind and nature. 
Development Approvals includes, but is not limited to, specific 
plans, site plans, tentative and final subdivision maps, vesting 
tentative maps, variances, zoning designations, planned unit 
developments, conditional use permits, grading, building and other 
similar permits, the site-specific provisions of general plans, 
environmental assessments, including environmental impact 
reports, and any amendments or modifications to those plans, 
maps, permits, assessments and entitlements. The term 
Development Approvals does not include rules, regulations, 
policies, and other enactments of general application within the 
City. 

iii. "Land Use Regulations" means those ordinances, laws, statutes, 
rules, regulations, initiatives, policies, requirements, guidelines, 
constraints, codes or other actions of the City which affect, govern, 
or apply to the Property or the implementation of the Project and 
Final Development Plan. Land Use Regulations include the 
ordinances and regulations adopted by the City which govern 
permitted uses of land, density and intensity of use and the design 
of buildings, applicable to the Property, including, but not limited to, 
the General Plan, zoning ordinances, development moratoria, 
implementing growth management and phased development 
programs, ordinances establishing development exactions, 
subdivision and park codes, any other similar or related codes and 
building and improvements standards, mitigation measures 
required in order to lessen or compensate for the adverse impacts 
of a project on the environment and other public interests and 
concerns or similar matters. The term Land Use Regulations does 
not include, however, regulations relating to the conduct of 
business, professions, and occupations generally; taxes and 
assessments; regulations for the control and abatement of 
nuisances; building codes; encroachment and other permits and 
the conveyances of rights and interests which provide for the use of 
or entry upon public property; any exercise of the power of eminent 
domain; or similar matters. 

14 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

566



I. Survival of Indemnity Obligations. All indemnity provisions set forth in 
this Agreement shall survive termination of this Agreement for any reason 
other than the Agency’s Default.”

Section 26. Section 4.02 of Part One of the Original DDA [“Public 
Improvements to be Funded By Agency; Parking”] is restated entirely to read as follows:

“A. As a condition of approval for the Project, Developer shall 
construct all improvements required on public land or rights of way, 
including but not limited to, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, landscaping, public 
courtyards, and utilities (including without limitation utility relocations). 
Developer shall perform such work in the same manner and subject to the 
same construction standards as would be applicable to the City or such 
other public agency should it have undertaken such construction work.

B. To the extent the Agency determines, in the discretion of the 
Executive Director, that off-site parking is required with respect to any 
component of the Project, the Parties agree to use commercially 
reasonable good faith efforts to confer in order to resolve any such parking 
requirements.

C. The Parties agree that a parking study must be performed to 
identify potential solutions to a potential parking shortage. The Developer 
agrees to pay the sum of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) toward the 
parking study concurrent with the sale of the first Residential Parcel or 
portion thereof, and shall be payable and disbursed to the Agency as part 
of the Developer’s escrow, but in no event later than 30 months from the 
Effective Date of this Fourth Amendment, whichever occurs sooner.”

Section 27. Section 4.12 of Part One of the Original DDA [“Lighthouse 
Development Fee ”] is restated entirely to read as follows:

“Concurrent with the payment of building permit fees to City of Suisun City 
for any component of the Project, Developer (or, with respect to the 
Residential Parcels, a Qualified Successor Developer, if applicable) shall 
pay the required “Lighthouse Development Fee” as required by Agency 
Resolution 2004-10. Lighthouse Development Fee for the Project has 
been set at $1.0029 per square foot of land area.
The amount due for Parcel 1 and Parcel 2 in the amount of Twenty-Five 
Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety Six Dollars and Seventeen ($25,996.17) 
(commonly referred to as “Harbor Square”) shall be due concurrent with 
the sale of the first residential component of the Project and shall be 
payable and disbursed to the Agency as part of the Developer's escrow, 
but in no event later than thirty (30) months from the Effective Date of this 
Fourth Amendment, whichever occurs sooner.”

15

FINAL

I. Survival of Indemnity Obligations. All indemnity provisions set forth in 
this Agreement shall survive termination of this Agreement for any reason 
other than the Agency's Default." 

Section 26. Section 4.02 of Part One of the Original DOA ["Public 
Improvements to be Funded By Agency; Parking"] is restated entirely to read as follows: 

"A. As a condition of approval for the Project, Developer shall -
construct aii improvements required on public land or rights of way, 
including but not limited to, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, landscaping, public 
courtyards, and utilities (including without limitation utility relocations). 
Developer shall perform such work in the same manner and subject to the 
same construction standards as would be applicable to the City or such 
other public agency should it have undertaken such construction work. 

B. To the extent the Agency determines, in the discretion of the 
Executive Director, that off-site parking is required with respect to any 
component of the Project, the Parties agree to use commercially 
reasonable good faith efforts to confer in order to resolve any such parking 
requirements. 

C. The Parties agree that a parking study must be performed to 
identify potential solutions to a potential parking shortage. The Developer 
agrees to pay the sum of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) toward the 
parking study concurrent with the sale of the first Residential Parcel or 
portion thereof, and shall be payable and disbursed to the Agency as part 
of the Developer's escrow, but in no event later than 30 months from the 
Effective Date of this Fourth Amendment, whichever occurs sooner." 

Section 27. Section 4.12 of Part One of the Original DOA ["Lighthouse 
Development Fee"] is restated entirely to read as follows: 

FINAL 

"Concurrent with the payment of building permit fees to City of Suisun City 
for any component of the Project, Developer ( or, with respect to the 
Residential Parcels, a Qualified Successor Developer, if applicable) shall 
pay the required "Lighthouse Development Fee" as required by Agency 
Resolution 2004-10. Lighthouse Development Fee for the Project has 
been set at $1.0029 per square foot of land area. 

The amount due for Parcel 1 and Parcel 2 in the amount of Twenty-Five 
Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety Six Dollars and Seventeen ($25,996.17) 
( commonly referred to as "Harbor Square") shall be due concurrent with 
the sale of the first residential component of the Project and shall be 
payable and disbursed to the Agency as part of the Developer's escrow, 
but in no event later than thirty (30) months from the Effective Date of this 
Fourth Amendment, whichever occurs sooner." 

15 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

567



Section 28. Section 4.14 of Part One of the Original DDA [“Developer 
Reinvestment”] is restated entirely to read as follows:

“The residential and commercial areas designated on the Site Plan are 
each a part of an integrated Project. Developer agrees to provide for the 
reinvestment of not less than Fifty Percent (50%) of the profits distributed 
to Developer from the sale of one or more of the Residential Parcel(s), or 
Residential Lots located within the Residential Parcels, but, in no event, 
less than Five Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($5,500) per Residential 
Lot, for reinvestment as provided below; provided that so long as the Loan 
(as defined in Section 7 of the Third Amendment) has a balance 
outstanding such profits shall be applied toward the Loan until the Loan is 
paid in full. To the extent that a Residential Parcel is sold “in bulk” prior to 
recordation of a final subdivision map then the amount due as provided 
immediately above shall be calculated based on the number of Residential 
Lots that is expected to be created upon the recordation of a final 
subdivision map that has been approved for such Residential Parcel. This 
payment shall be an obligation of Developer. Subject to payment of the 
Loan first as provided above, funds payable pursuant to this Section 4.14 
(“Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds”) shall be used for the 
enhancement of any of the Commercial Parcels of the Project (subject to 
the limitations below as to Parcels 1 & 2) for any of the following:

A combination of (A) granting tenants rent credits in the form 
of reduced or temporarily abated rent, or (B) construction of tenant 
improvements beyond the standard for new improvements in Solano 
County.

(0

The cost of construction of exterior or interior improvements 
(not including tenant improvements) to the commercial portion of the 
Project beyond the standards for new improvements in Solano County.

(ii)

The cost of any on-site or off-site infrastructure necessary to 
complete or cause any component of the commercial component to 
proceed with development.

(iii)

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Commercial 
Reinvestment Proceeds shall not be used for Harbor Square (Parcels 1 or 
2) except to the limited extent as set forth below. Harbor Square has been 
improved with a commercial building containing thirty-nine thousand 
(39,000) leasable square feet. After the sale of the first Residential Lot, the 
Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds will be available to the Developer at 
the rate of Fifteen Dollars ($15) per leasable square foot subject to the 
following limitations:

16

FINAL

Section 28. Section 4.14 of Part One of the Original DOA ["Developer 
Reinvestment"] is restated entirely to read as follows: 

FINAL 

"The residential and commercial areas designated on the Site Plan are 
each a part of an integrated Project. Developer agrees to provide for the 
reinvestment of not less than Fifty Percent (50%) of the profits distributed 
to Developer from the sale of one or more of the Residential Parcel{ s ), or 
Residential Lots located within the Residential Parcels, but, in no event, 
less than Five Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($5,500) per Residential 
Lot, for reinvestment as provided below; provided that so long as the Loan 
(as defined in Section 7 of the Third Amendment) has a balance 
outstanding such profits shall be applied toward the Loan until the Loan is 
paid in full. To the extent that a Residential Parcel is sold "in bulk" prior to 
recordation of a final subdivision map then the amount due as provided 
immediately above shall be calculated based on the number of Residential 
Lots that is expected to be created upon the recordation of a final 
subdivision map that has been approved for such Residential Parcel. This 
payment shall be an obligation of Developer. Subject to payment of the 
Loan first as provided above, funds payable pursuant to this Section 4.14 
("Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds") shall be used for the 
enhancement of any of the Commercial Parcels of the Project ( subject to 
the limitations below as to Parcels 1 & 2) for any of the following: 

(i) A combination of (A) granting tenants rent credits in the form 
of reduced or temporarily abated rent, or (B) construction of tenant 
improvements beyond the standard for new improvements in Solano 
County. 

(ii) The cost of construction of exterior or interior improvements 
(not including tenant improvements) to the commercial portion of the 
Project beyond the standards for new improvements in Solano County. 

(iii) The cost of any on-site or off-site infrastructure necessary to 
complete or cause any component of the commercial component to 
proceed with development. 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Commercial 
Reinvestment Proceeds shall not be used for Harbor Square (Parcels 1 or 
2) except to the limited extent as set forth below. Harbor Square has been 
improved with a commercial building containing thirty-nine thousand 
(39,000) leasable square feet. After the sale of the first Residential Lot, the 
Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds will be available to the Developer at 
the rate of Fifteen Dollars ($15) per leasable square foot subject to the 
following limitations: 

16 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

568



1. To assist in lease up of the building to the maximum of ninety 
percent (90%) of the building leasable space (which is equal to 
thirty-five thousand one hundred (35,100) square feet).

2. May not be used for advertising or marketing costs.
3. Can only be used for tenant improvements, rent abatement and 

architectural/design features in excess of the standard in the 
region.

4. Can only be used for initial leasing of space in the building to new 
tenants.

The Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds shall be verified by an audit 
report prepared by a third party auditor (mutually acceptable to Developer 
and Agency) at Developer’s sole cost, for the Agency’s review and 
acceptance. The Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds shall be held by 
Developer in a separate bank account (“DRP Account”) which shall not 
be commingled with any other Developer funds. Any use of the 
Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds shall be approved by the City in 
writing, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld provided the 
proceeds are used as outlined in this Agreement. Not later than March 
31st of each year until Developer Reinvestment Proceeds are exhausted, 
Developer shall provide Agency with an audited accounting of the 
Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds and the DRP Account which shall 
include the revenue and expense activity.

Upon termination of the DDA for any reason other than a default by 
Developer (as defined in Section 7.04), the remaining Commercial 
Reinvestment Proceeds may be utilized by Developer for the acquisition of 
either Parcel 3 and/or Parcel 7 provided such is completed within six (6) 
months of such termination. If (i) the DDA is terminated due to a default by 
Developer, or (ii) the DDA is terminated for any other reason but the 
remaining Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds are not utilized for the 
acquisition of Parcel 3 and/or Parcel 7 as specified above, then the 
remaining Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds shall be paid to the 
Agency.”

Section 29. Section 4.16 of Part One of the Original DDA [“Acquisition of 
Additional Property on West Side of Main Street’’] is restated entirely to read as follows:

“There shall be no further requirement to acquire additional properties 
located along the west side of Main Street. Developer has caused three 
additional properties (707 Main, 711 Main, and 713 Main) to be acquired. 
Developer shall have the right to move forward with all residential 
development contemplated as part of the Project."

Section 30. The following term is added to the Original DDA as Section 4.17
thereto:

17

FINAL

1. To assist in lease up of the building to the maximum of ninety 
percent (90%) of the building leasable space (which is equal to 
thirty-five thousand one hundred (35 1 100) square feet). 

2. May not be used for advertising or marketing costs. 

3. Can only be used for tenant improvements, rent abatement and 
architectural/design features in excess of the standard in the 
region. 

4. Can only be used for initial leasing of space in the building to new 
tenants. 

The Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds shall be verified by an audit 
report prepared by a third party auditor (mutually acceptable to Developer 
and Agency) at Developer's sole cost, for the Agency's review and 
acceptance. The Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds shall be held by 
Developer in a separate bank account ("DRP Account") which shall not 
be commingled with any other Developer funds. Any use of the 
Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds shall be approved by the City in 
writing, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld provided the 
proceeds are used as outlined in this Agreement. Not later than March 
31st of each year until Developer Reinvestment Proceeds are exhausted, 
Developer shall provide Agency with an audited accounting of the 
Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds and the DRP Account which shall 
include the revenue and expense activity. 

Upon termination of the DOA for any reason other than a default by 
Developer (as defined in Section 7.04), the remaining Commercial 
Reinvestment Proceeds may be utilized by Developer for the acquisition of 
either Parcel 3 and/or Parcel 7 provided such is completed within six (6) 
months of such termination. If (i) the DOA is terminated due to a default by 
Developer, or (ii) the DOA is terminated for any other reason but the 
remaining Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds are not utilized for the 
acquisition of Parcel 3 and/or Parcel 7 as specified above, then the 
remaining Commercial Reinvestment Proceeds shall be paid to the 
Agency." 

Section 29. Section 4.16 of Part One of the Original ODA ["Acquisition of 
Additional Property on West Side of Main Street"] is restated entirely to read as follows: 

"There shall be no further requirement to acquire additional properties 
located along the west side of Main Street. Developer has caused three 
additional properties (707 Main, 711 Main, and 713 Main) to be acquired. 
Developer shall have the right to move forward with all residential 
development contemplated as part of the Project." 

Section 30. The following term is added to the Original ODA as Section 4.17 
thereto: 

17 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

569



"West Side of Main Street. In the spirit of revitalizing the west side of Main 
Street, Developer and Agency shall work in conjunction with the City of 
Suisun City in a collaborative manner to explore alternative financing/grant 
opportunities with the goal of furthering required infrastructure and 
development and/or preservation opportunities along the west side of 
Main Street.”

Section 31. The following term is added to the Original DDA as Section 4.18
thereto:

“Downtown Economic Impact Fee. All single family homes associated 
with the Project will be assessed Four Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars 
($4,800) per unit that will be paid along with Building Permit Fees for the 
creation of a Downtown Economic Improvement Fund that will be utilized 
by the City to further the economic development activities in the vicinity of 
the Project; provided that such fees shall be conditioned upon, and shall 
only apply and be collected if the City of Suisun City provides Developer 
(or Qualified Successor Developer) with a water and/or sewer connection 
fee credit of at least $4,800 to be applied as a credit toward such fees on 
a per unit basis.”

A new Section 6.04 is added to Part One of the DDA, entitled
“Qualified Successor Developer", as follows:

Section 32.

“A. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this 
Agreement, Developer shall have the right to designate one or more 
entities to serve as a Qualified Successor Developer (as defined below), 
with respect to one or more Residential Parcels, at any time. In order to do 
so, Developer shall submit to Agency for review evidence that the 
proposed Qualified Successor Developer meets one of the criteria 
described immediately below. “Qualified Successor Developer” shall 
mean a party meeting one or more of the following criteria: (a) a 
development company or homebuilding company which has an active role 
in the California market and which is publicly traded on a United States or 
Canadian stock exchange; (b) a development company or homebuilding 
company which has an active role in the California market and which 
either alone or in combination with its members or partners (or their 
constituent members or partners) or guarantors, has a demonstrated net 
worth of not less than Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000); or (c) a person 
who demonstrates to the Agency's reasonable satisfaction that it has the 
experience and financially ability necessary to complete the development, 
build-out and sale to the public of the Residential Parcel(s) as to which 
Developer intends to designate it, the standard for which will be whether a 
reasonably prudent commercial lender would loan to such proposed 
Qualified Successor Developer funds sufficient to acquire the Residential 
Parcel(s) and such proposed Qualified Successor Developer has binding

18

FINAL

"West Side of Main Street. In the spirit of revitalizing the west side of Main 
Street, Developer and Agency shall work in conjunction with the City of 
Suisun City in a collaborative manner to explore alternative financing/grant 
opportunities with the goal of furthering required infrastructure and 
development and/or preservation opportunities along the west side of 
Main Street." 

Section 31. The following term is added to the Original DOA as Section 4.18 
thereto: 

"Downtown Economic Impact Fee. All single family homes associated 
with the Project will be assessed Four Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars 
($4,800) per unit that will be paid along with Building Permit Fees for the 
creation of a Downtown Economic Improvement Fund that will be utilized 
by the City to further the economic development activities in the vicinity of 
the Project; provided that such fees shall be conditioned upon, and shall 
only apply and be collected if the City of Suisun City provides Developer 
( or Qualified Successor Developer) with a water and/or sewer connection 
fee credit of at least $4,800 to be applied as a credit toward such fees on 
a per unit basis." 

Section 32. A new Section 6.04 is added to Part One of the ODA, entitled 
"Qualified Successor Developer", as follows: 

FINAL 

"A. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this 
Agreement, Developer shall have the right to designate one or more 
entities to serve as a Qualified Successor Developer (as defined below), 
with respect to one or more Residential Parcels, at any time. In order to do 
so, Developer shall submit to Agency for review evidence that the 
proposed Qualified Successor Developer meets one of the criteria 
described immediately below. "Qualified Successor Developer" shall 
mean a party meeting one or more of the following criteria: (a) a 
development company or homebuilding company which has an active role 
in the California market and which is publicly traded on a United States or 
Canadian stock exchange; (b) a development company or homebuilding 
company which has an active role in the California market and which 
either alone or in combination with its members or partners ( or their 
constituent members or partners) or guarantors, has a demonstrated net 
worth of not less than Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000); or (c) a person 
who demonstrates to the Agency's reasonable satisfaction that it has the 
experience and financially ability necessary to complete the development, 
build-out and sale to the public of the Residential Parcel(s) as to which 
Developer intends to designate it, the standard for which will be whether a 
reasonably prudent commercial lender would loan to such proposed 
Qualified Successor Developer funds sufficient to acquire the Residential 
Parcel(s) and such proposed Qualified Successor Developer has binding 

18 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

570



funding commitments and/or equity sufficient to complete the development 
and build-out of the subject Residential Parcel(s) in accordance with this 
Agreement. Agency’s approval of a proposed designation of a Qualified 
Successor Developer shall be indicated to Developer in writing, and shall 
be granted or denied by Agency within twenty (20) days after its receipt of 
Developer’s request for approval of such designation. If Agency fails to 
notify Developer of its approval or disapproval of such designation within 
twenty (20) days after the submittal of such evidence, then Agency shall 
be deemed to have rejected such designation.

B. Any permitted Qualified Successor Developer shall execute a 
written assignment and assumption agreement, in form and substance 
reasonably satisfactory to Agency, by which the Qualified Successor 
Developer shall agree to assume the obligations set forth in Section 34 of 
the Fourth Amendment. Developer shall thereafter be released from the 
terms of this Agreement with regard to the Residential Parcel that has 
been transferred to the Qualified Successor Developer. Agency shall 
execute the designation in favor of Qualified Successor Developer within 
five (5) business days of Developer's request for execution, provided that 
Agency has previously approved Qualified Successor Developer.

C. Any consent, determination, execution of documents, or 
decision of Agency to be given or made under this section shall be given 
or made in writing by the Agency's Executive Director."

Section 33. Sections 7 through 7.2 of the Third Amendment are amended in 
their entirety to read as follows:

“Agency provided a loan to Developer with a maximum principal amount of 
Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) (“Loan”). (As of August 21, 
2014, the outstanding principal balance (not including accrued interest) is 
Four Hundred Forty Thousand Nine Hundred Twenty-Seven Dollars and 
Forty Cents ($440,927.40). The Loan is evidenced by a Secured 
Promissory Note (“Note”) dated April 22, 2010. Repayment of the Note is 
secured by a personal guaranty by Michael E. Rice and Frank J. 
Marinello, in form approved by Agency (“Guaranty”). A Deed of Trust, 
Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement, and Fixture Filing (“Deed of 
Trust”) shall be recorded against the Residential Parcels upon 
Developer’s acquisition of each such parcel should there be an 
outstanding balance payable under the Note at such time and a lender's 
title policy shall be provided to Agency insuring the Agency’s Deed of 
Trust in first lien position against the property. When such parcels are so 
encumbered such that the Note is fully secured, the Guaranty shall 
terminate. Agency shall release the Deed of Trust on each of the 
Residential Parcels as each such Residential Parcel is Transferred to a 
Qualified Successor Developer regardless of the amount paid towards the 
outstanding principal balance of the Loan, if any. If the Loan is not repaid

19

FINAL

funding commitments and/or equity sufficient to complete the development 
and build-out of the subject Residential Parcel( s) in accordance with this 
Agreement. Agency's approval of a proposed designation of a Qualified 
Successor Developer shall be indicated to Developer in writing, and shall 
be granted or denied by Agency within twenty (20) days after its receipt of 
Developer's request for approval of such designation. If Agency fails to 
notify Developer of its approval or disapproval of such designation within 
twenty (20) days after the submittal of such evidence, then Agency shall 
be deemed to have rejected such designation. 

B. Any permitted Qualified Successor Developer shall execute a 
written assignment and assumption agreement, in form and substance 
reasonably satisfactory to Agency, by which the Qualified Successor 
Developer shall agree to assume the obligations set forth in Section 34 of 
the Fourth Amendment. Developer shall thereafter be released from the 
terms of this Agreement with regard to the Residential Parcel that has 
been transferred to the Qualified Successor Developer. Agency shall 
execute the designation in favor of Qualified Successor Developer within 
five (5) business days of Developer's request for execution, provided that 
Agency has previously approved Qualified Successor Developer. 

C. Any consent, determination, execution of documents, or 
decision of Agency to be given or made under this section shall be given 
or made in writing by the Agency's Executive Director." 

Section 33. Sections 7 through 7 .2 of the Third Amendment are amended in 
their entirety to read as follows: 

FINAL 

"Agency provided a loan to Developer with a maximum principal amount of 
Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) ("Loan"). (As of August 21, 
2014, the outstanding principal balance (not including accrued interest) is 
Four Hundred Forty Thousand Nine Hundred Twenty-Seven Dollars and 
Forty Cents ($440,927.40). The Loan is evidenced by a Secured 
Promissory Note ("Note") dated April 22, 2010. Repayment of the Note is 
secured by a personal guaranty by Michael E. Rice and Frank J. 
Marinello, in form approved by Agency ("Guaranty"). A Deed of Trust, 
Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement, and Fixture Filing ("Deed of 
Trust") shall be recorded against the Residential Parcels upon 
Developer's acquisition of each such parcel should there be an 
outstanding balance payable under the Note at such time and a lender's 
title policy shall be provided to Agency insuring the Agency's Deed of 
Trust in first lien position against the property. When such parcels are so 
encumbered such that the Note is fully secured, the Guaranty shall 
terminate. Agency shall release the Deed of Trust on each of the 
Residential Parcels as each such Residential Parcel is Transferred to a 
Qualified Successor Developer regardless of the amount paid towards the 
outstanding principal balance of the Loan, if any. If the Loan is not repaid 

19 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

571



in full upon the Transfer of the last Residential Parcel, then Michael E. 
Rice and Frank J. Marinello shall execute and deliver to the Agency a 
Guaranty of the remaining outstanding obligation.

7.1 Use of Loan Proceeds. Provided all conditions to 
disbursement have been met, including without limitation compliance with 
the Agency conditions and criteria set forth in Exhibit C (of the Third 
Amendment) and such other reasonable requirements of Agency, 
including without limitation, the delivery to Agency of such documentation 
as to costs as Agency shall reasonable require, Developer shall be 
entitled to draw Loan proceeds solely for the following purposes: (i) 
granting to commercial tenants of the Project who have been approved by 
the Agency rent credits in the form of reduced or temporarily abated rent 
(i.e., Loan proceeds may be deposited into an escrow account to be used 
to make up operating deficits caused by such reduced or abated rent), and 
(ii) paying for tenant improvements for commercial tenants of the Project 
when such tenant improvements exceed $30 per square foot.

7.2 Loan Terms. The Note shall continue to bear interest 
at the rate of six percent (6%) interest per annum. Developer shall make 
payments on the Note to the extent required by Section 4.14, and shall 
repay the Note in full no later than five (5) years from the effective date of 
this Fourth Amendment. Payments made pursuant to Section 4.14 shall 
be paid to Agency from escrow for the closing of the sale of the 
Residential Parcels. Repayment of the Loan shall be an obligation of 
Developer and repayments shall be credited first toward accrued interest 
and then toward principal.”

Section 34. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Original DDA or this 
Fourth Amendment, effective upon the Transfer of a Residential Parcel or portion 
thereof to a Qualified Successor Developer, the provisions of this DDA shall be of no 
force or effect with respect to such Residential Parcel or portion thereof and shall not be 
applicable to such Qualified Successor Developer with respect to its ownership of such 
Residential Parcel or portion thereof that has been Transferred to it, except for (i) the 
obligation to pay the Lighthouse Development Fee pursuant to Section 4.12 of the DDA 
(as established by Section 30 of this Fourth Amendment); (ii) the obligation to pay the 
Downtown Economic Impact Fee pursuant to Section 4.18 (as established by Section 
31 of this Fourth Amendment); and (iii) any rights and obligations (as determined by 
Developer) expressly assigned and assumed in the assignment agreement executed 
pursuant to Section 6.04(B) (as established by Section 32 of this Fourth Amendment).

Section 35. Section 9 of the First Amendment (i.e., that initial Section 
enumerated as Section 9 pertaining to demolition at Crystal Middle School site) is 
rescinded in its entirety.

20

FINAL

in full upon the Transfer of the last Residential Parcel, then Michael E. 
Rice and Frank J. Marinello shall execute and deliver to the Agency a 
Guaranty of the remaining outstanding obligation. 

7 .1 Use of Loan Proceeds. Provided all conditions to 
disbursement have been met, including without limitation compliance with 
the Agency conditions and criteria set forth in Exhibit C (of the Third 
Amendment) and such other reasonable requirements of Agency, 
including without limitation, the delivery to Agency of such documentation 
as to costs as Agency shall reasonable require, Developer shall be 
entitled to draw Loan proceeds solely for the following purposes: (i) 
granting to commercial tenants of the Project who have been approved by 
the Agency rent credits in the form of reduced or temporarily abated rent 
(i.e., Loan proceeds may be deposited into an escrow account to be used 
to make up operating deficits caused by such reduced or abated rent), and 
(ii) paying for tenant improvements for commercial tenants of the Project 
when such tenant improvements exceed $30 per square foot. 

7 .2 Loan Terms. The Note shall continue to bear interest 
at the rate of six percent (6%) interest per annum. Developer shall make 
payments on the Note to the extent required by Section 4.14, and shall 
repay the Note in full no later than five (5) years from the effective date of 
this Fourth Amendment. Payments made pursuant to Section 4.14 shall 
be paid to Agency from escrow for the closing of the sale of the 
Residential Parcels. Repayment of the Loan shall be an obligation of 
Developer and repayments shall be credited first toward accrued interest 
and then toward principal." 

Section 34. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Original DOA or this 
Fourth Amendment, effective upon the Transfer of a Residential Parcel or portion 
thereof to a Qualified Successor Developer, the provisions of this DOA shall be of no 
force or effect with respect to such Residential Parcel or portion thereof and shall not be 
applicable to such Qualified Successor Developer with respect to its ownership of such 
Residential Parcel or portion thereof that has been Transferred to it, except for (i) the 
obligation to pay the Lighthouse Development Fee pursuant to Section 4.12 of the DOA 
(as established by Section 30 of this Fourth Amendment); (ii) the obligation to pay the 
Downtown Economic Impact Fee pursuant to Section 4.18 (as established by Section 
31 of this Fourth Amendment); and (iii) any rights and obligations (as determined by 
Developer) expressly assigned and assumed in the assignment agreement executed 
pursuant to Section 6.04(8) (as established by Section 32 of this Fourth Amendment). 

Section 35. Section 9 of the First Amendment (i.e., that initial Section 
enumerated as Section 9 pertaining to demolition at Crystal Middle School site) is 
rescinded in its entirety. 

20 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

572



Section 36. Exhibit E to the Original DDA ["Form of Grant Deed”] is deleted in 
its entirety and replace with the Revised Grant Deed attached hereto as Revised Exhibit
E.

Section 37. The following exhibits are attached to this Fourth Amendment:

Exhibit
Revised Exhibit A 
Revised Exhibit B 
Revised Exhibit C 
Revised Exhibit D 
Revised Exhibit E

Title
Revised Legal Description of Property
Revised Site Plan
Revised Schedule of Performance
Revised Project Description/Scope of Development
Revised Grant Deed

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]

21

FINAL

Section 36. Exhibit E to the Original DOA ["Form of Grant Deed"] is deleted in 
its entirety and replace with the Revised Grant Deed attached hereto as Revised Exhibit 
E. 

FINAL 

Section 37. The following exhibits are attached to this Fourth Amendment: 

Exhibit 

Revised Exhibit A 

Revised Exhibit B 

Revised Exhibit C 

Revised Exhibit D 

Revised Exhibit E 

Title 

Revised Legal Description of Property 

Revised Site Plan 

Revised Schedule of Performance 

Revised Project Description/Scope of Development 

Revised Grant Deed 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 

21 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

573



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Fourth
Amendment as of the Effective Date.

DEVELOPER: AGENCY:

MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS, LLC, 
a California limited liability company

SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE 
SUISUN REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY

\

/fj) LL > ByBy: 11*.
Micfiael E. 
Managing

fee, President ' 
lember

^ ^ Suzanne Bragdon, 
Executive Director

By:
Frank J. Marinello 
Vice President/Member

ATTEST:

By:
Agency Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

ALESHIRE & WYNDER

By:
Anthony Taylor, Agency Counsel

22

FINAL

• 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Fourth 
Amendment as of the Effective Date. 

DEVELOPER: 

MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS, LLC, 
a California limited liability company 

By:---------
Frank J. Marinello 
Vice President/Member 

FINAL 

AGENCY: 

SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE 
SUISUN REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

CL. { 

) / / 

By. ...., · L 

.,.,,.._"' Suzanne Bragdon, 
~~ Executive Director ~ 

22 

ATTEST: 

By: ~ 
Agency Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

ALESHIRE & WYNDER 

By: _________ _ 
Anthony Taylor, Agency Counsel 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

574



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Fourth
Amendment as of the Effective Date.

DEVELOPER: AGENCY:

MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS, LLC, 
a California limited liability company

SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE 
SUISUN REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY

By: By:
Michael E. Rice, President 
Managing Member

Suzanne Bragdon, 
Executive Director

By:
Frank J. Marinello 
Vice President/Member

ATTEST:

By:
Agency Secretary

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

ALESHIRE & WYNDER

By:

22

FINAL

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Fourth 
Amendment as of the Effective Date. 

DEVELOPER: 

MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS, LLC, 
a California limited liability company 

By: __________ _ 
Michael E. Rice, President 
Managing Member 

By:-----------
Frank J. Marinello 
Vice President/Member 

FINAL 

22 

AGENCY: 

SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE 
SUISUN REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

By: ________ _ 

Suzanne Bragdon, 
Executive Director 

ATTEST: 

By: _________ _ 
Agency Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

ALESHIRE & WYNDER 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

575



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Fourth
Amendment as of the Effective Date.

DEVELOPER: AGENCY:

SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE 
SUISUN REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY

MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS, LLC. 
a California limited liability company

By: By:
Michael E. Rice, President 
Managing Member

Suzanne Bragdon, 
Executive Director

Br.^M£L__
Prank J. Marinelt 
Vice President/Member

A

ATTEST:

By:
Agency Secretary

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

ALESHIRE & WYNDER

By:
Anthony Taylor, Agency Counsel

22

FINAL

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Fourth 
Amendment as of the Effective Date. 

DEVELOPER: 

MAIN STREET WEST PARTNERS, LLC 1 

a California limited liability company 

FINAL 

22 

AGENCY: 

SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE 
SUISUN REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

By: _______ _ 
Suzanne Bragdon, 
Executive Director 

ATTEST: 

By: _________ _ 
Agency Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

ALESHIRE & WYNDER 

By: _________ _ 
Anthony Taylor, Agency Counsel 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

576



Revised Exhibit A Revised Legal Description of Property

Parrol 7

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

LOT 4, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT H, FILED DECEMBER 5, 
1997 IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

APN: 0032-142-300

Parcel 4
THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

PARCEL ONE:

COMMENCING AT A POINT WHICH IS 48 FEET 6 INCHES NORTH OF THE INTERSECTION OF 
THE WEST LINE OF MAIN STREET, WITH THE NORTH LINE OF CALIFORNIA STREET, AS 
THE SAME IS SHOWN ON THE OFFICIAL MAP OF THE TOWN OF SUISUN CITY, WHICH MAP IS 
NOW' ON FILE IN THE RECORDER’S OFFICE OF SOLANO COUNTY; THENCE FOLLOWING THE 
WEST LINE OF MAIN STREET, NORTH 20 FEET; THENCE WEST 100 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 
20 FEET; THENCE EAST 100 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING AND BEING A PORTION OF 
LOT 2, IN BLOCK 2, AS SHOWTS ON THE OFFICIAL MAP OF THE TOWN OF SUISUN CITY 
WHICH MAP WAS FILED IN THE SOLANO COUNTY RECORDER’S OFFICE ON AUGUST 29,1859 
IN BOOK 1 OF MAPS, PAGE 105.

PARCEL TWO:

ALL THAT PORTION OF SAID ALLEY AS ABANDONED AND VACATED BY RESOLUTION RECORDED 
MARCH 12,1941, INSTRUMENT NO. 2046, BOOK 225, PAGE 34, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS,
LYING TO THE WEST AND ADJACENT TO PARCEL ONE ABOVE.

APN: 0032-130-060

FINAL

Revised Exhibit A Revised Legal Description of Property 

Paree! 3 

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STA.TE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF_ 
. SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: -

LOT 4 AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT Il, F1LED DECEl\mER 5, 
1997 IN BOOK 67 OF M . .APS, AT PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS. . ' 

APN: 0032-142-300 

Parcel 4 
THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

PARCEL ONE: 

COMMENCL'lG AT A POINT WfDCH IS 48 FEET 6 INCHES NORTH OF THE INTERSECTION OF 
THE \VEST LINE OF MAIN STREET, WITH THE NORTH LINE OF CALIFORNIA STREET, AS 
THE SAME IS SHOWN ON THE OFFICIAL MAP OF THE TOWN OF SUISUN CITY, WHICH MAP IS 
NOW ON F1LE IN THE RECORDER'S OFFICE OF SOLANO COUNTY; THENCE l1'0LLOWING TIIE 
WEST LINE OF MAIN STREET, NORffl 20 FEET; TH&.1'lCE WEST 100 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 
20 FEET; THENCE EAST 100 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEG~1NG Ml> BEING A PORTION OF 
LOT 2, IN BLOCK 2, AS SHOWN ON THE OffiCIAL MAP OF THE TOWN OF SUISUN CITY 
WIUCH MAP WAS FILED IN THE SOLANO COUNTY RECORDER'S OFFICE ON AUGUST 29, 1859 
IN BOOK 1 OF MAPS, PAGE 105. 

PARCEi., TWO: 

ALL TIIAT PORTION OF SAID ALLEY AS ABANDONED A."'ID VACATED BY RESOLUTION RECORDED i 

MAR.CH 12, 1941, INSTRUMENT NO. 2046, BOOK 225, PAGE 34, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS, 
LYING TO THE WES'T Al\l> ADJACENf TO PARCEL ONE ABOVE. 

AP~: 0032-130-060 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

577



Parcel 5

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEING A PORTION OF LOT ONE (1) IN BLOCK TWO (2), AS THE SAME IS SHOWN ON THAT 
CERTAIN MAP ENTITLED: "PLAN OF SUISUN CITY, TOGETHER WITH JACKSON’S 
ADDITION", WHICH MAP WAS FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SOLANO 
COUNTY, CALIFORNIA ON AUGUST 29,1859 IN BOOK 1 OF MAPS, PAGE 105, DESCRIBED 
AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF MAIN AND SOLANO STREETS IN THE CITY OF 
SUISUN CITY, AS INDICATED BY THE BANK BUILDING ON SAID LOT; THENCE ALONG THE 
SOUTHERLY LINE OF SOLANO STREET, BEING THE NORTHERLY SIDE OF SAID BANK 
BUILDING, WESTERLY 94.65 FEET TO THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 1; THENCE ALONG THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 1 AND THE WEST LINE OF SAID BANK BUILDING, SOUTHERLY 
46.15 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF THE PROPERTY OF CHARLES W. KOCH; THENCE 
EASTERLY AT RIGHT ANGLES ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF THE LAND OF SAID CHARLES 
W. KOCH AND ALONG THE MIDDLE OF THE PRESENT PARTY WALL, 95 FEET TO A POINT ON 
THE WEST LINE OF MAIN STREET, AS INDICATED BY SAID BANK BUILDING; THENCE AT 
RIGHT ANGLES NORTHERLY ALONG MAIN STREET, 46 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

APN: 0032-130-010

FINAL

Parcel 5 

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEING A PORTION OF LOT ONE (1) IN BLOCK TWO (2), AS THE SAME IS SHOWN ON THAT 
CERTAIN MAP ENTITLED: "PLAN OF SUISUN CITY, TOGETHER VVITH JACKSON'S 
ADDITION", WIDCH MAP WAS FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SOLANO 
COUNTY, CALIFORWJ.A ON AUGUST 29, 1859 IN BOOK 1 QF :MAPS, PAGE 105, DESCRIBED 
AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER 0~ MAIN AND SOLANO STREETS IN THE crrv OF 
SUISUN CITY, AS INDICATED BY THE BANK BUILDING ON SAID LOT; THENCE ALONG THE 
SOUTHERLY LINE OF SOLANO STREET, BEING THE NORTHERLY SIDE OF SAID BANK 
BUILDING, WESTERLY 94.65 FEET TO THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 1; THENCE ALONG THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 1 AND THE WEST LINE OF SAID BANK BUILDING, SOUTHERLY 
46.15 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE OF THE PROPERTY OF CHARLES W. KOCH; THENCE 
EASTERLY AT ~GID' ANGLES ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF THE.LAND OF SAID CHARLES 
W. KOCH AND ALONG THE MIDDLE OF THE PRESENT PARTY WALL, 95 FEET TO A POINT ON 
THE WEST LINE OF MAIN STREET, AS INDICATED BY SAID BANK BUILpING; THENCE AT 
RIGHI' ANGLES NORTHERLY ALONG MAIN STREET, 46 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

APN: 0032--130-010 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

578



Parcel 6
THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE WESTERLY LINE OF MAIN STREET, ALSO KNOWN AS UNION 
AVENUE, BEARING SOUTH 89 DEGREES 45’ EAST, 12.00 FEET, AND SOUTH 00 DEGREES 
15’ WEST, 193.03 FEET FROM THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF BLOCK 27, AS THE SAME IS 
SHOWN ON THAT CERTAIN MAP ENTITLED: "PLAT OF SUISUN CITY, TOGETHER WITH 
JACKSON’S ADDITION AND A PORTION OF FAIRFIELD", FILED AUGUST 29, 1859 IN THE 
OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SOLANO COUNTY, CALIFORNIA IN BOOK 1 OF MAPS,
AT PAGE 105, SAID POINT OF BEGINNING BEING ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF THE 12 
FOOT WIDE ABANDONMENT OF MAIN STREET ADJOINING THE EAST BOUNDARY OF SAID BLOCK 
27, THENCE FROM SAID POINT OF BEGINNING SOUTH 00 DEGREES 15’ WEST ALONG THE 
EAST LINE OF SAID ABANDONMENT, A DISTANCE OF 79.06 FEET TO THE INTERSECTION 
THEREOF WITH THE EASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 8 IN BLOCK 27 AS 
HEREINBEFORE REFERRED TO; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 45’ WEST ALONG THE SOUTH 
LINE OF SAID LOT 8 AND THE EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF, A DISTANCE OF 142.80 
FEET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 8; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 15’ EAST, 
ALONG THE WEST LINE OF LOTS 8 AND 7, IN BLOCK 27, HEREINBEFORE REFERRED TO, A 
DISTANCE OF 79.89 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 25’ 06” EAST, 142.80 FEET TO 
THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

APN: 0032-082-050

Parcel 7

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: .

PARCEL ONE:

LOT 10, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT H, FILED DECEMBER 5, 
1997, IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

PARCEL TWO:

NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENTS FOR PUBLIC ACCESS AND UTILITIES APPURTENANT TO PARCEL 
THREE ABOVE, OVER AND ACROSS PORTIONS OF LOTS 1 AND 2, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF 
SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT I, FILED SEPTEMBER 16, 1996 IN BOOK 66 OF MAPS, PAGE 
42, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED IN GRANT DEEDS RECORDED OCTOBER 17,
1997 INSTRUMENT NO. 1996-00070099, AND OCTOBER 3, 1997 INSTRUMENT NO.
1997-00066247, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

APN: 0032-142-280

FINAL

Parcel 6 
THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STA TE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE WESTERLY LINE OF MAIN STREET, ALSO KNOWN AS UNION 
AVENUE, BEARING SOUTH 89 DEGREES 45' EAST, 12.00 FEET, AND SOUTH 00 DEGREES 
15' WEST, 193.03 FEET FROM THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF BLOCK 27, AS THE SAME IS 
SHOWN ON THAT CERTAIN MAP ENTITLED: "PLAT OF SUISUN CITY, TOGETHER WITH 
JACKSON'S ADDITION AND A PORTION OF FAIRFIELD", FILED AUGUST :29, 1859 IN THE 
OFFICE OF nm COUNTY RECORDER OF SOLANO COUNTY, CALIFORNIA IN BOOK l OF MAPS, 
AT PAGE 105, SAID POII\"T OF BEGINNING BEING ON THE EASTERLY LINE OF THE 12 
FOOT \\IDE ABANDONMENT OF MAIN STREET ADJOINING THE EAST BOUNDARY OF SAID BLOCK 
27, THENCE FROM SAID POINT OF BEGINNING SOUTH 00 DEGREES 15' WEST ALONG THE 
EAST LINE OF SAID ABANDONMENT, A DISTANCE OF 79.06 FEET ro·nm INTERSECTION 
THEREOF WITH THE EASTERLY EXTENSION OF THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 8 IN BLOCK 27 AS 
HEREINBEFORE REFERRED TO; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 45' WEST ALONG THE SOUTH 
LINE OF SAID LOT 8 AND THE EASTERLY EXTENSION TIIEREOF, A DISTANCE OF 142.80 
FEET TO nm SOUTHWES'T COR.~R OF SAID WT 8; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 1S' EAST, 
ALONG THE WF.ST LINE OF LOTS 8 AND 7, IN BLOCK 27, BEREINBEFORE REFERRED TO, A 
DISTANCE OF 79.89 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 25' 0611 EASTt 142.80 FEET TO 
THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

APN:0032-08.2-050 

Parcel 7 

THE LAND DESCRIBED-HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

PARCEL ONE: 

LOT 10, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT II, FaED DEQEMBER 5, . 
1997, IN ~OOK 67 OF MAPS, AT _PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS. 

PARCEL TWO: 

NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENTS FOR PUBLIC ACCESS AND UTILITIES APrURTENANT TO PARCEL 
THREE ABOVE, OVER AND ACROSS PORTIONS OF LOTS l A:ND 2, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF 
SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT I, FaED SEPTEiv.IBER 16, 1996 IN BOOK 66 OF MAPS, PAGE 
42, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED IN GRANT DEEDS RECORDED OCTOBER 17, 
1997 .INSTRUMENT NO. 1996-00070099, AND OCTOBER 3, 1997 INSTRUMENT NO. 
1997-.00066247, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS. 

APN: 0032-142-280 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

579



Parcel 8

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF
SOLANO, CITY OF SU1SUN CITY, ANDTS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

PARCEL ONE:

LOT 11, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT H, FILED DECEMBER 5, 
1997 IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS, PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

PARCEL TWO:

A NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT FOR PUBLIC ACCESS, PARKING AND PUBLIC SERVICE 
APPURTENANT TO PARCEL SEVEN ABOVE, OVER AND ACROSS LOT D, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP 
OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT H, FILED DECEMBER S, 1997 IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS,
PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

APN: 0032-142-250

FINAL

Parcel 8 

THE LAND DESCRIB~D HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, ANIY!S DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

PARCEL ONE: 

LOT 11, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT II, FILED DECEMBER 5, 
. 1997 IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS, PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS. 

( . ' 

PARCEL TWO:· 

A NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT FOR PUBLIC ACCESS, PARKING AND PUBLIC SERVICE 
APPURTENANT TO PARCEL SEVEN ABOVE, OVER AND ACROSS LOT D, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP 

. OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT II, FILED DECEMBER 5, 1997 IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS~ 
PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS. 

APN: 0032-142-250 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

580



Parcel 9

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALiFORNiA, COUNTY OF
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

PARCEL ONE:

LOT 12, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT H, FILED DECEMBER 5, 
1997, IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

PARCEL TWO:

A NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT FOR PUBLIC ACCESS, PARKING, AND PUBLIC SERVICE 
APPURTENANT TO PARCEL FIVE ABOVE, OVER AND ACROSS LOT D, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP 
OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT H, FILED DECEMBER 5, 1997 IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS,
PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

APN :0032-142-240

FINAL

Parcel 9 

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

PARCEL ONE! 

LOT 12, AS SHOWN ON. THE MAP OF smsUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT n, FILED DECE:MBER 5, 
1997, IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS. 

PARCELTWO: 

A NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT FOR PUBLIC ACCESS, PARKING, AND PUBLIC SE~VICE 
APPURTENANT TO PARCEL FIVE ABOVE, OVER AND ACROSS LOT D, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP 
OF SUISUN HARBOR PLAZA UNIT Il, FILED DECEMBER 5, 1997 IN BOOK 67 OF MAPS, 
PAGE 72, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS. 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

581



Parcel 10

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 
COUNTY OF SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
PARCEL ONE:

LOTS 14 THROUGH 23, BLOCK 110, AS SHOWN UPON THAT CERTAIN MAP 
ENTITLED: “MAP OF CHAPLIN ADDITION NOT”, FILED FOR RECORD IN THE 
OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SOLANO COUNTY ON DECEMBER 4, 1913 
IN BOOK 5 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 5, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

PARCEL TWO:

LOTS 24 AND 25, BLOCK 110, AS SHOWN UPON THAT CERTAIN MAP ENTITLED: 
“MAP OF CHAPLIN ADDITION NOT”, FILED FOR RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
COUNTY RECORDER OF SOLANO COUNTY ON DECEMBER 4, 1913 IN BOOK 5 OF 
MAPS, AT PAGE 5, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

EXCEPTING THEREFROM ALL THAT PORTION THEROF LYING WESTERLY OF THE 
FOLLOWING DESCRIBED LINE:

BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF HE EASTERLY LINE OF CEDAR STREET 
WITH THE NORTHERLY LINE OF THAT 20 FOOT WIDE ALLEY AS SAIF STREET AND 
ALLEY ARE SHOWN ON THE RECORD OF SURVEY MAP FILED FOR RECORD 
MARCH 9, 1979 IN BOOK 14 OF SURVEYS, PAGE 59, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS; 
THENCE (1) ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE, SOUTH 89 DEGREES 41 ’ 09” EAST, 
25.00 FEET; THENCE (2) SOUTH 2 DEGREES 25’ 44” WEST, 20.02 FEET TO THE 
SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID ALLEY; THENCE (3) SOUTH 10 DEGREES 09’ 33” EAST, 
116.95 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE FO FLORIDA STREET AS SHOWN ON SAID 
MAP; THENCE (4) SOUTH 0 DEGREES 18’ 51” WEST, 30 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO 
THE CENTER LINE OF FLORIDA STREET.

APNS: 0032-042-300, 0032-042-360, 0032-042-440, 0032-042-460, 0032-042-480, 0032-042- 
500, 0032-042-520, 0032-042-540, 0032-042-560, 0032-042-580, 0032-042-600, and 0032-042-
680

FINAL

Parcel 10 

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 
COUNTY OF SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
PARCEL ONE: 

LOTS 14 THROUGH 23, BLOCK 110, AS SHOWN UPON THAT CERTAIN MAP 
ENTITLED: "MAP OF CHAPLIN ADDITION NO.I", FILED FOR RECORD IN THE 
OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SOLANO COUNTY ON DECEMBER 4, 1913 
IN BOOK 5 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 5, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS. 

PARCEL TWO: 

LOTS 24 AND 25, BLOCK 110, AS SHOWN UPON THAT CERTAIN MAP ENTITLED: 
"MAP OF CHAPLIN ADDITION NO.I", FILED FOR RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE 
COUNTY RECORDER OF SOLANO COUNTY ON DECEMBER 4, 1913 IN BOOK 5 OF 
MAPS, AT PAGE 5, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS. 

EXCEPTING THEREFROM ALL THAT PORTION THEROF LYING WESTERLY OF THE 
FOLLOWING DESCRIBED LINE: 

BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF HE EASTERLY LINE OF CEDAR STREET 
WITH THE NORTHERLY LINE OF THAT 20 FOOT WIDE ALLEY AS SAIF STREET AND 
ALLEY ARE SHOWN ON THE RECORD OF SURVEY MAP FILED FOR RECORD 
MARCH 9, 1979 IN BOOK 14 OF SURVEYS, PAGE 59, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS; 
THENCE (1) ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE, SOUTH 89 DEGREES 41' 09" EAST, 
25.00 FEET; THENCE (2) SOUTH 2 DEGREES 25' 44" WEST, 20.02 FEET TO THE 
SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID ALLEY; THENCE (3) SOUTH 10 DEGREES 09' 33" EAST, 
116.95 FEET TO THE NORTHERLY LINE FO FLORIDA STREET AS SHOWN ON SAID 
MAP; THENCE (4) SOUTH O DEGREES 18' 51" WEST, 30 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO 
THE CENTER LINE OF FLORIDA STREET. 

APNS: 0032-042-300, 0032-042-360, 0032-042-440, 0032-042-460, 0032-042-480, 0032-042-
500, 0032-042-520, 0032-042-540, 0032-042-560, 0032-042-580, 0032-042-600, and 0032-042-
680 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

582



Parcel 11

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA. COUNTY OF
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

ALL THAT CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY SITUATE IN THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY, CALIFORNIA, 
BEING PORTIONS OF BLOCK 47, BLOCK 50 AND A 20’ PRIVATE ALLEY, ALL AS SHOWN ON 
THAT CERTAIN MAP ENTITLED: "MAP OF BLOCKS 46,47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52 AND 53 IN 
THE TOWN OF SUISUN CITY", FILED FOR RECORD IN BOOK 5 OF MAPS, PAGE 12, IN THE 
OFFICE OF THE SOLANO COUNTY RECORDER, AS DESCRIBED IN THE CERTIFICATE OF 
COMPLIANCE RECORDED NOVEMBER 5, 2001, INSTRUMENT NO. 2001-00129904, BEING MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT A POINT FROM WHICH THE LNTERSECTION OF THE EAST LINE OF PALM 
AVENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF FLORIDA STREET AS SHOWN ON SAID MAP BEARS NORTH 
84 DEGREES 26’ 50" EAST, 119.60 FEET,SAID POINT OF BEGINNING BEING FURTHER 
DESCRIBED AS A POINT LYING 12.00 FEET SOUTHERLY OF, WHEN MEASURED AT A RIGHT 
ANGLE THERETO, OF THE SOUTH LINE OF FLORIDA STREET AS SHOWN ON SAID MAP; 
THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 12’ 20" WEST, 65.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 47’
40" WEST, 110.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 12’ 20" EAST, 65.00 FEET TO A 
POINT, 12,00 FEET SOUTHERLY OF, WHEN MEASURED AT A RIGHT ANGLE THERETO, THE 
SOUTH LINE OF SAID FLORIDA STREET; THENCE LYING 12.00 FEET SOUTHERLY OF AND 
PARALLEL WITH SAID SOUTH LINE, SOUTH 89 DEGREES 47’ 40" EAST, 110.00 FEET TO 
THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

APN: 0032-061-390

FINAL

Parcel 11 

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA~ COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

ALL THAT CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY SITUATE IN THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY, CALIFORNIA, 
BEING PORTIONS OF BLOCK 47, BLOCK SO AND A 20' PIWl ATE ALl,EY, ALL AS SHO'\\'N ON 
THAT CERTAIN MAP ENTITLED: 11MAP OF BLOCKS 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52 AND S3 IN 
Tim TO'"''N OF SUISUN CITY'', FILED FOR RECORD IN BOOKS OF MAPS, PAGE 12, IN THE 
omcE Oli" THE SOLANO comrrY RECORDER, AS DESCRIBED IN THE CERTIFICATE OF 
COMPLIANCE RECORDED NOVEMBERS, 2001, INSTRUMENT NO. 2001-00129904, BEING MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT A POINT FROM WlDCB THE L"ITERSECTION OF THE EAST LINE OF PALM 
A VENUE WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF FLORIDA STREET AS SHOWN ON SAID MAP BEARS NORTH 
84 DEGREES 26' 5011 EAST, 119.60 FEET,SAID POINT OF BEGINNING BEING FURTHER 
DESCRIBED AS A POINT LYING 12.00 FEET SOUTHERLY OF, "WHEN MEASURED AT A RIGHT 
ANGLE THERETO, OF THE SOUTH LINE OF FLORIDA STREET AS SHO'WN ON SAID MAP; 
TlffiNCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 12' 20" ,,1EST, 65.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 47' 
40'' 'WEST, 110.00 FEET; THENCE NOR11100 DEGREES 12' 20n EASTt 65.00 FEET TO A 
POIN'r, 12,00 FEET SOUTHERLY OF, 'WHEN MEASURED AT A RIGHT ANGLE THERETO, THE 
SOUTH LINE OF SAID FLORIDA STREET; THENCE LYING 12.00 FEET SOUTHERLY OF AND 
PARALLEL WITH SAID SOUTH LINE, SOUTH 89 DEGREES 47' 4011 EAST, 110.00 FEET TO 
THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

APN: 0032.-061 .. 390 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

583



Parcel 12

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN ]S SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

PARCEL ONE:

LOTS 24 THROUGH 26, IN BLOCK 111, AS SHOWN UPON THAT CERTAIN MAP ENTITLED: "MAP 
OF CHAPUN ADDITION NO. 1", FILED FOR RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY 
RECORDER OF SOLANO COUNTY ON DECEMBER 4,1913 IN BOOK 5 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 5, 
TOGETHER WITH THE SOUTHERLY 10 FEET OF THE ALLEY AS VACATED IN THE ORDER OF 
VACATION, RECORDED MAY 18,1983, BOOK 1983, PAGE 36523, SERIES NO. 19422,
LYING NORTHERLY OF LOTS 24 THROUGH 26, IN BLOCK 111, OF CHAPLIN ADDITION NO.
1, FILED DECEMBER 4, 1913 IN BOOK 5 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 5, SOLANO COUNTY 
RECORDS.

APNS: 0032-061-260, 270, 280 AND 290

PARCEL TWO:

LOTS 1 THROUGH 4, IN BLOCK 112, AS SHOWN UPON THAT CERTAIN MAP ENTITLED: "MAP 
OF CHAPLIN ADDITION NO. 1", FILED FOR RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY 
RECORDER OF SOLANO COUNTY ON DECEMBER 4,1913 IN BOOK 5 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 5, 
TOGETHER WITH THE NORTHERLY 10 FEET OF THE ALLEY AS VACATED IN THE ORDER OF 
VACATION, RECORDED MAY 18, 1983, BOOK 1983, PAGE 36523, SERIES NO. 19422,
LYING SOUTHERLY OF LOTS 1 THROUGH 4, IN BLOCK 112, OF CHAPLIN ADDITION NO. 1, 
FILED DECEMBER 4,1913 IN BOOK 5 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 5, SOLANO COUNTY 
RECORDS.

APNS: 0032-061-300, 310 AND 320

PARCEL THREE:

LOTS 22 THROUGH 26, IN BLOCK 112, AS SHOWN UPON THAT CERTAIN MAP ENTITLED: 
"MAP OF CHAPLIN ADDITION NO. 1", PILED FOR RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY 
RECORDER OF SOLANO COUNTY ON DECEMBER 4,1913 IN BOOK 5 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 5, 
TOGETHER WITH THE SOUTHERLY 10 FEET OF THE ALLEY AS VACATED IN THE ORDER OF 
VACATION, RECORDED MAY 18, 1983, BOOK 1983, PAGE 36523, SERIES NO. 19422,
LYING NORTHERLY OF LOTS 22 THROUGH 26, IN BLOCK 112, OF CHAPLIN ADDITION NO.
1, FILED DECEMBER 4,1913 IN BOOK 5 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 5, SOLANO COUNTY 
RECORDS.

APNS: 0032-061-330, 340, 350 AND 360

FINAL

Parcel 12 

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN JS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO1 CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DE.5CRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

PARCEL ONE: 

LOTS 24 THROUGH 26, L.~ BLOCK 111, AS SHOWN UPON THAT CERTAIN MAP ENTITLED: trMAP 
OF CHAPLIN ADDITION NO. 111

, FILED FOR RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY 
RF..CORDER OF SOLANO COUl\"TY ON DECEMBER 4, 1913 IN BOOKS OF MAPS, AT PAGE 5, 
TOGETHER WITH THE SOUTHERLY 10 FEET OF THE ALLEY AS VACATED IN THE ORDER OF 
VACATION, RECORDED MAY 18, 1983, BOOK 1983, PAGE 36523, SERIES NO. 19422, 
LYING NORTHERLY OF LOTS 24 THROUGH 26, IN BWCK 111, OF CHAPLL.'1 ADDITION NO. 
1, FILED DECEMBER 4, 1913 IN BOOK 5 OF MAPS, AT PAGE 5, SOL~~O COUNTY 
RECORDS. 

APNS: 0032-061-:260, 270, 286 AND 290 

PARCEL TWO: 

LOTS 1 THROUGH 4, IN BLOCK 112, AS SHOWN UPON THAT CERTAIN MAP ENTITLED: 0MAP 
OF CHAPLIN ADDITION NO. 111

, FILED FOR RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY 
RECORDER OF SOL&~O COUSTY ON DECEMBER 4, 1913 IN BOOK 5 OF MAPSt AT PAGES, 
TOGETHER 'WITH THE NORTHERLY 10 FEET OF THE ALLEY AS VACATED IN THE ORDER OF 
, 1 ACATION, RECORDED MAY 18, 1983, BOOK 1983, PAGE 36523, SERIES NO .. 19422, 
LYING SOUTHERLY OF LOTS l THROUGH 4, IN BLOCK 112, OF CHAPLIN ADDITION NO. 1, 
FILED DECEMBER 4, 1913 IN BOOKS OF MAPSt AT PAGE 5, SOLANO COUI\"TY 
RECORDS. 

APNS: 0032..061-300, 310 AND. 320 

PARCEL THREE: 

LOTS 22 THROUGH 26, IN BLOCK 112, AS SHOWN UPON THAT CERTAIN MAP ENTITI,ED: 
"MAP OF CHAPLIN ADDITION NO. 111

, FILED FOR RECORD IN THE Oft1CE OF THE COUNTY 
RECORDER OF SOLAi~O COU!ffY ON DECErdBER 4, 1913 lN BOOKS OF MAPS, AT PAGES, 
TOGETHER \\Tm THR SOUTHERLY 10 FEET OF THE ALLEY AS VACATED IN THE ORDER OF 
VACATION, RECORDED MAY 18, 1983, BOOK 1983, PAGE 36513, SERIES NO. 19422, 
LYING NORTHERLY OF LOTS 22 THROUGH :26, IN BLOCK 112, OF CHAPLIN ADDITION NO. 
1, Fn.ED DECEI\iffiER 4, 1913 IN BOOK 5 OF MAPS, AT PAGES, SOLANO COUNTY 
RECORDS,. 

APNS: 0032-061-330, 340,350 AND 360 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

584



Parcel 13

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY , AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

PARCELS 1, 2, 3 AND 4, AS SHOWN ON THAT CERTAIN PARCEL MAP FILED DECEMBER 13, 
2001 IN BOOK 43 OF PARCEL MAPS, AT PAGE 3, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS.

APN: 0032-091-170,180, 190, 200

FINAL

Parcel 13 

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SlTl:A TED IN THE STA TE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY , AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

PARCELS 1, 2, 3 Al\'D 4, AS SHOWN ON THAT CERTAIN PARCEL MAP FILED DECEMBER 13, 
2001 IN BOOK 43 OF PARCEL MAPS, AT PAGE 3, SOLANO COUNTY RECORDS. 

APN: 0032-091-170, 180, 190, 200 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

585



Parcel 14

EXHIBIT "A" 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

THAT CERTAIN PARCEL OF LAND, BOUNDED ON THE WEST BY THE EAST LINE OF THE 
SOUTHERN PACmC RAILROAD COMPANY RIGHT OF WAY; ON THE NORTH BY THE SOUTH LLNE 
OF CALIFORNIA STREET AND THE SOUTH LINE OF MORGAN STREET, AS SAID STREETS NOW 
EXIST; ON THE EAST BY THE WEST LINE OF WEST STREET AND THE WEST LINE OF SCHOOL 
STREET ALSO KNOWN AS WASHINGTON AVENUE, AS SAID STREETS NOW EXIST; AND ON THE 
SOUTH BY THE NORTHERLY LINE OF CORDELIA STREET AS SAID STREET NOW'
EXISTS.

ASSESSORS PARCEL NO.: 0032-155-180

Parcel 15
THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

THAT PORTION OF LOTS 1 AND 2 IN BLOCK 2, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF THE CITY OF 
SUISUN CITY, FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SOLANO COUNTY, 
CALIFORNIA, AUGUST 29, 1859, DESCRIBED AS: BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE WEST 
SIDE OF THE PLAZA, ALSO KNOWN AS MAIN STREET, THAT IS 93.72 FEET NORTH FROM 
THE NORTH LINE OF CALIFORNIA STREET, SAID POINT BEING IN A LINE WITH THE NORTH 
FACE OF A BRICK WALL 17 INCHES THICK WHICH FORMS THE NORTH BOUNDARY OF THE 
LAND DESCRIBED IN DECREE QUIETING TITLE IN FAVOR OF T.O. DOWDELL, RECORDED 
FEBRUARY IS, 1923, IN BOOK 265 OF DEEDS, AT PAGE 88, INSTRUMENT NO. 646;
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WEST SIDE OF SAID STREET A DISTANCE OF 36.38 FEET TO A 
LINE BETWEEN TWO BRICK WALLS, ONE OF WHICH IS THE BRICK WALL OF THE BUILDING 
LOCATED ON THE LAND HEREBY DESCRIBED AND THE SECOND OF WHICH IS THE BRICK 
WALL OF THE BUILDING LOCATED ON THE LAND DESCRIBED AS PARCEL NO. 3 IN DEED TO 
LEONORA KOCH, RECORDED DECEMBER 16, 1930, IN BOOK 65 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS,
PAGE 430, INSTRUMENT NO. 5010; THENCE WEST ALONG THE LINE BETWEEN SAID TWO 
BRICK WALLS A DISTANCE OF 100 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE WEST LINE OF SAID 
LOT 2; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAD) LINE A DISTANCE OF 30 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO 
THE NORTH LINE OF THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN SAID DECREE QUIETING TITLE IN 
FAVOR OF T.O. DOWELL, HEREINBEFORE REFERRED TO; THENCE ALONG THE NORTHERLY 
LINE OF THE LAND DESCRIBED IN SAID DECREE THE FOLLOWING THREE COURSES AND 
DISTANCES, TO-WIT: EAST APPROXIMATELY 1 FOOT TO AN ANGLE IN BOUNDARY OF SAID 
LAND; THENCE SOUTH 6.42 FEET: THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE BRICK 
WALL OF THE BUILDING LOCATED ON SAID LAND DESCRIBED IN SAID DECREE QUIETING 
TITLE A DISTANCE OF 94.97 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

APN: 0032-130-030 AND 0032-130-040

FINAL

Parcel 14 

Parcel 15 

EXHIBIT ''A" 
LEGAL DESCRIPTIOS 

THE LANO OE$CRJBED HERElN IS SITUATED L~ TlIE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SCISUN crrY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

THAT CERTAIN PARCRI, OF LA..:'lD, BOU1''DED ON THE l''EST BY THE EAST LINE OF THE 
SOtTHERN PACIFlC RAil .. ROAD COl\1:PANY RIGHI' OF WAY; ON THE ~ORffl BY THE. SOU1'H LU~E 
Olt CALIFORNIA STREET A?\l> THE SOUTH LINE OF MORGAN STJmlt1', AS SAID STREETS NOW 
EXIST; ON THE RAST BY THE Wf.ST 1 ... 1!\lt: OF 'WFST STRE£1' AND 1111: l\i'EST LINE OF SCHOO[, 
STREE1' ALSO Ki.'lOWN.AS.W.4.SHlNGTON AVENUE, AS SAID STREETS NOW EXISl'; AND ON nm 
SOUJ'JI BY TJJE NORTHERLY LINE OJ" CORDELIA STREET AS SAID STREET NOW 
El.'lSTS. 

ASSF.SSORS PARCEL NO.: 0032•152-180 

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF 
SOLANO, CITY OF SUISUN CITY, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

THAT PORTION OF LOTS 1 AND 2 IN BLOCK 2, AS SHOWN ON THE MAP OF THE CITY OF 
SUISUN CITY, Fll.iED IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SOLANO·. COUNTY, 
CALIFORNIA, AUGUST 29, 1859, DESCRIBED AS: BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE WEST 
SIDE OF THE PLAZA, ALSO KNOWN AS MAIN STREET, THAT IS 93.72 FEET NORTH.FROM 
THE NORTH LINE OF CALIFORNIA STREET, SAID POIN1' BEING IN A LINE \VITH THE NORTH 
FACE OF A BRICK WALL 17 INCHES TlllCK WIDCH FORMS THE NORTH BOUNDARY OF THE 
LAND DESCRIBED IN DECREE QUIETING TITLE IN FAVOR OF T.O. DOWDELL, RECORDED 
FEBRUARY 1_5, 1923, IN BOOK 265 OF DEEDS, AT PAGE 88, INSTRUMENT NO. 646; 
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WEST SIDE OF SAID STREET A DISTANCE OF 36.38 FEET TO A 
LINE BETWEEN TWO BRICK WALLS, ONE OF WIIlCH IS THE BRICK WALL OF THE BUILDING 
LOCATED ON THE LAND HEREBY DESCRIBED AND THE SECOND OF wmcH IS THE BRICK 
WALL OF THE BUil.,DING LOCATED ON THE LAND DESCRIBED AS PARCEL NO. 3 IN DEED TO 
LEONORA KOCH, RECORDED DECEMBER 16, 1930, IN BOOK 65 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS, 
PAGE 430, INSTRUMENT NO. 5010; THENCE WEST ALONG THE LINE BETWEEN SAID TWO 
BRICK WALLS A DISTANCE OF 100 FEET, MORE OR LESS,. TO THE WEST LINE OF SAID 
LOT 2; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID LINE A DISTANCE OF 30 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO 
THE NORTH LINE OF THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN SAID DECREE QUIETING TITLE IN 
FAVOR OF T.O. DOWELL, HEREINBEFORE REFERRED TO; THENCE ALONG THE NORTHERLY 
LINE OF THE LAND DESCRIBED IN SAID DECREE THE FOLLOWING THREE COURSES AND 
DISTANCES, TO-WIT: EAST APPROXIMATELY 1 FOOT TO AN ANGLE IN BOUNDARY OF SAID 
LAND; THENCE SOUTH 6.42 FEET; THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE BRICK 
WALL OF THE BUILDING LOCATED ON SAID LAND DESCRIBED IN SAID DECREE QUIETING 
TITLE A DISTANCE OF ~4.97 FEET TO~ POINT OF BEGINNING. 

APN: 0032-130-030 AND 0032-130-040 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

586



Revised Exhibit B Revised Site Plan

MAIN STREET WEST DDA PARCELS

oo

FINAL

Revised Exhibit B Revised Site Plan 

MAIN STREET WEST DOA PARCELS 

FINAL 

13 

Hampton inn 
.._ &Suites 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

587



Revised Exhibit C Revised Schedule of Performance
SCHEDULE OF PERFORMANCE

All actions specified below shall be taken in accordance with the applicable sections of the DDA as amended 
(“Amended DDA ”). In the event of a conflict between this Schedule and the provision of the Amended DDA,

the provision of the Amended DDA shall control.

RESIDENTIAL PARCELS

PARCEL 10

Note: As of the Effective Date, Developer has partially entitled parcel 10 through tentative 
subdivision map. However, Developer expects to make minor modifications to the existing 
tentative map to accommodate current market conditions.

1. Developer shall submit all applications to City necessary to process amendments to 
existing tentative map within 150 days of the Effective Date.

2. Appraisal process shall commence upon Developer’s request, but in no event more than 
5 days after City approves such amendments and all appeal periods have run without 
challenge.

3. Within 5 days of being notified of such appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency 
all funds necessary to pay for the appraisal.

4. Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 
report upon receipt from Appraiser.

5. Within 30 days after receiving notification of the Fair Market Value, Developer shall have 
the right, but not the obligation, to elect in writing to purchase the property for the Fair 
Market Value.

6. Concurrent with Developer’s election to purchase the property, Developer shall deposit 
$30,000 in the Escrow Account. If Developer does not elect to purchase the parcel within 
said 30 days, Developer’s rights with respect to that parcel shall terminate.

7. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Developer shall submit Acquisition Financing Plan 
and the Final Development Plan to Agency.

8. The Close of escrow shall occur: (i) no sooner than the date the appeal period has run 
without challenge on the tentative map for Parcel 10, and (ii) no later than the first to 
occur of: (a) 90 days after a final map has recorded, or the fifth (5th) anniversary of the 
Effective Date.

PARCEL 13

1. Developer shall submit all applications to City necessary to process entitlements 
including a subdivision map within 150 days of the Effective Date.

2. Appraisal process shall commence upon Developer’s request.
3. Within 5 days of being notified of such appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency 

all funds necessary to pay for the appraisal.

FINAL

Revised Exhibit C Revised Schedule of Performance 
SCHEDULE OF PERFORMANCE 

All actions specified below shall be taken in accordance with the applicable sections of the DDA as amended 
("Amended DDA '?- In the event of a conflict between this Schedule and the provision of the Amended DDA, 

the provision of the Amended DDA shall control. 

RESIDENTIAL PARCELS 

PARCEL10 

Note: As of the Effective Date, Developer has partially entitled parcel 10 through tentative 
subdivision map. However, Developer expects to make minor modifications to the existing 
tentative map to accommodate current market conditions. 

1. Developer shall submit all applications to City necessary to process amendments to 
existing tentative map within 150 days of the Effective Date. 

2. Appraisal process shall commence upon Developer's request, but in no event more than 
5 days after City approves such amendments and all appeal periods have run without 
challenge. 

3. Within 5 days of being notified of such appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency 
all funds necessary to pay for the appraisal. 

4. Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 
report upon receipt from Appraiser. 

5. Within 30 days after receiving notification of the Fair Market Value, Developer shall have 
the right, but not the obligation, to elect in writing to purchase the property for the Fair 
Market Value. 

6. Concurrent with Developer's election to purchase the property, Developer shall deposit 
$30,000 in the Escrow Account. If Developer does not elect to purchase the parcel within 
said 30 days, Developer's rights with respect to that parcel shall terminate. 

7. Within 90 days of the Effective Date, Developer shall submit Acquisition Financing Plan 
and the Final Development Plan to Agency. 

8. The Close of escrow shall occur: (i) no sooner than the date the appeal period has run 
without challenge on the tentative map for Parcel 10, and (ii) no later than the first to 
occur of: (a) 90 days after a final map has recorded, or the fifth (5th) anniversary of the 
Effective Date. 

PARCEL13 

1. Developer shall submit all applications to City necessary to process entitlements 
including a subdivision map within 150 days of the Effective Date. 

2. Appraisal process shall commence upon Developer's request. 

3. Within 5 days of being notified of such appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency 
all funds necessary to pay for the appraisal. 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

588



4. Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 
report upon receipt from Appraiser.

5. Within 30 days after notification of the Fair Market Value, Developer shaii have the right, 
but not the obligation, to elect in writing to purchase the property for the Fair Market 
Value.

6. Concurrent with Developer's election to purchase the property, Developer shall deposit 
$30,000 in the Escrow Account. If Developer does not elect to purchase the parcel within 
said 30 days, Developer’s rights with respect to that parcel shall terminate.

7. Within 90 days of the Effective Date Developer shall submit Acquisition Financing Plan 
and a Draft Final Development Plan to Agency (subject to BCDC Approvals).

8. The Close of escrow shall occur (i) no sooner than the date the appeal period has run 
without challenge on the tentative map approval for Parcel 13, and (ii) no later than the 
first to occur of: (a) 90 days after a final map has recorded, or the fifth (5th) anniversary 
of the Effective Date.

PARCEL 14

1. Developer shall submit all applications to City necessary to process 
entitlements including a subdivision map within 180 days of the City approving the 
General Plan Update, and all appeal periods have run without challenge.

2. Appraisal process shall commence upon Developer’s request, but in no 
event more than 5 days after City approves general plan amendments and all appeal 
periods have run without challenge.

3. Within 5 days of being notified of such appraisal cost, Developer shall 
deliver to Agency all funds necessary to pay for the appraisal.

4. Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of 
the appraisal report upon receipt from Appraiser.

5. Within 30 days after receiving notification of the Fair Market Value, 
Developer shall have the right, but not the obligation, to elect in writing to purchase the 
property for the Fair Market Value.

6. Concurrent with Developer’s election to purchase the property, Developer 
shall deposit $30,000 in the Escrow Account. If Developer does not elect to purchase the 
parcel within said 30 days, Developer’s rights with respect to that parcel shall terminate.

7. Within 90 days of the Effective Date Developer shall submit Acquisition 
Financing Plan and a Draft Final Development Plan to Agency.

8. The Close of escrow shall occur (i) no sooner than the date the appeal 
period has run without challenge on the tentative map approval for Parcel 14, and (ii) no 
later than the first to occur of: (a) 90 days after a final map has recorded, or the fifth (5th) 
anniversary of the Effective Date.

FINAL

4. Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 
report upon receipt from Appraiser. 

5. 'v"v'ithin 30 days after notification of the Fair Market Value, Deveioper shaii have the right, 
but not the obligation, to elect in writing to purchase the property for the Fair Market 
Value. 

6. Concurrent with Developer's election to purchase the property, Developer shall deposit 
$30,000 in the Escrow Account. If Developer does not elect to purchase the parcel within 
said 30 days, Developer's rights with respect to that parcel shall terminate. 

7. Within 90 days of the Effective Date Developer shall submit Acquisition Financing Plan 
and a Draft Final Development Plan to Agency (subject to BCDC Approvals). 

8. The Close of escrow shall occur (i) no sooner than the date the appeal period has run 
without challenge on the tentative map approval for Parcel 13, and (ii) no later than the 
first to occur of: (a) 90 days after a final map has recorded, or the fifth (5th) anniversary 
of the Effective Date. 

FINAL 

PARCEL14 

1. Developer shall submit all applications to City necessary to process 
entitlements including a subdivision map within 180 days of the City approving the 
General Plan Update, and all appeal periods have run without challenge. 

2. Appraisal process shall commence upon Developer's request, but in no 
event more than 5 days after City approves general plan amendments and all appeal 
periods have run without challenge. 

3. Within 5 days of being notified of such appraisal cost, Developer shall 
deliver to Agency all funds necessary to pay for the appraisal. 

4. Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of 
the appraisal report upon receipt from Appraiser. 

5. Within 30 days after receiving notification of the Fair Market Value, 
Developer shall have the right, but not the obligation, to elect in writing to purchase the 
property for the Fair Market Value. 

6. Concurrent with Developer's election to purchase the property, Developer 
shall deposit $30,000 in the Escrow Account. If Developer does not elect to purchase the 
parcel within said 30 days, Developer's rights with respect to that parcel shall terminate. 

7. Within 90 days of the Effective Date Developer shall submit Acquisition 
Financing Plan and a Draft Final Development Plan to Agency. 

8. The Close of escrow shall occur (i) no sooner than the date the appeal 
period has run without challenge on the tentative map approval for Parcel 14, and (ii) no 
later than the first to occur of: (a) 90 days after a final map has recorded, or the fifth (5th) 
anniversary of the Effective Date. 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

589



COMMERCIAL PARCELS1

PARCELS 1 & 2

1. Development on Parcels 1 and 2 is complete, and the property has transferred to MSW 
Partners. However, the Certificate of Completion required pursuant to Section 4.10 of 
the original DDA has not been issued as the Lighthouse Development Fee has not yet 
been paid.

2. The Lighthouse Development Fee shall be due on the first to occur of: (i) 30 months 
from the Effective Date, or (ii) concurrently with the sale of the first Residential Parcel 
and shall be paid directly to the Agency from the sale escrow.

PARCEL 3

Note: Developer has entitled this site and has submitted construction documents to the Building 
Department that will need to be revised and approved by the Suisun City Building Department. 
The Final Development Plan for Parcel 3 has been approved. This parcel shall (i) be marketed 
for lease/sale or build-to-suit at all times with a comprehensive marketing effort by a respected 
commercial real estate broker; and (ii) include, at Developer's cost, installation and maintenance 
of professionally designed signage located prominently on the parcel as approved/permitted by 
the City of Suisun.

1. Agency shall initiate the Appraisal for Parcel 3 upon written Developer’s request, which 
request shall occur no later than 30 days after the first to occur of: (i) close of escrow for 
the second Residential Parcel or Developer’s termination of rights for such parcel), or (ii) 
3 years from the Effective Date. Failure to initial such request within the time period 
specified shall terminate Developer’s rights to acquire the parcel.

2. Within 5 days of being notified of such appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency 
all funds necessary to pay for the appraisal.

3. Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 
report upon receipt from Appraiser.

4. Within 60 days of notification of Fair Market Value, Developer shall deposit 10% of the 
Fair Market Value in the Escrow Account. If Developer does not elect to purchase the 
parcel within said 30 days, Developer’s rights with respect to that parcel shall terminate.

5. Close of escrow shall occur on the first to occur of: (i) one day following issuance of a 
building permit by the Suisun City Building Department, or (ii) the fifth (5th) anniversary 
of the Effective DateThe fifth (5th) anniversary of the Effective Date. At least 60 days 
prior to the close of escrow, Developer must submit to the Agency its plans for financing 
the acquisition and construction of the property ("Acquisition and/or Construction 
Financing Plan").

1 Note: In the event that Developer secures an end-user or other developer to purchase a Commercial Parcel and covenants 
to build and develop the Parcel consistent with the applicable project description, Agency will consider consenting to a Transfer 
to such entity under Section 6.03. If the Agency is willing to consent to the Transfer, then upon assignment and assumption of 
the obligations in a form reasonably acceptable to the Agency by the entity, Agency will release the Developer in writing from 
responsibility for the applicable Commercial Parcel under the DDA.

FINAL

COMMERCIAL PARCELS1 

PARCELS 1 &2 

1. Development on Parcels 1 and 2 is complete, and the property has transferred to MSW 
Partners. However, the Certificate of Completion required pursuant to Section 4.10 of 
the original DOA has not been issued as the Lighthouse Development Fee has not yet 
been paid. 

2. The Lighthouse Development Fee shall be due on the first to occur of: (i) 30 months 
from the Effective Date, or (ii) concurrently with the sale of the first Residential Parcel 
and shall be paid directly to the Agency from the sale escrow. 

PARCEL3 

Note: Developer has entitled this site and has submitted construction documents to the Building 
Department that will need to be revised and approved by the Suisun City Building Department. 
The Final Development Plan for Parcel 3 has been approved. This parcel shall (i) be marketed 
for lease/sale or build-to-suit at all times with a comprehensive marketing effort by a respected 
commercial real estate broker; and (ii) include, at Developer's cost, installation and maintenance 
of professionally designed signage located prominently on the parcel as approved/permitted by 
the City of Suisun. 

1 . Agency shall initiate the Appraisal for Parcel 3 upon written Developer's request, which 
request shall occur no later than 30 days after the first to occur of: (i) close of escrow for 
the second Residential Parcel or Developer's termination of rights for such parcel), or (ii) 
3 years from the Effective Date. Failure to initial such request within the time period 
specified shall terminate Developer's rights to acquire the parcel. 

2. Within 5 days of being notified of such appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency 
all funds necessary to pay for the appraisal. 

3. Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 
report upon receipt from Appraiser. 

4. Within 60 days of notification of Fair Market Value, Developer shall deposit 10% of the 
Fair Market Value in the Escrow Account. If Developer does not elect to purchase the 
parcel within said 30 days, Developer's rights with respect to that parcel shall terminate. 

5. Close of escrow shall occur on the first to occur of: (i) one day following issuance of a 
building permit by the Suisun City Building Department, or (ii) the fifth (5th) anniversary 
of the Effective DateThe fifth (5th) anniversary of the Effective Date. At least 60 days 
prior to the close of escrow, Developer must submit to the Agency its plans for financing 
the acquisition and construction of the property ("Acquisition and/or Construction 
Financing Plan"). 

1 
Note: In the event that Developer secures an end-user or other developer to purchase a Commercial Parcel and covenants 

to build and develop the Parcel consistent with the applicable project description, Agency will consider consenting to a Transfer 
to such entity under Section 6.03. If the Agency is willing to consent to the Transfer, then upon assignment and assumption of 
the obligations in a form reasonably acceptable to the Agency by the entity, Agency will release the Developer in writing from 
responsibility for the applicable Commercial Parcel under the DOA. 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

590



6. Developer most commence construction of the building within 6 months of the date of 
close of escrow for the final Residential Parcel.

7. Within 12 months of construction commencement, Developer must the shell completed 
and ready for tenant improvements as evidenced by a Certificate of Completion.

PARCEL 7

Note: Developer has entitled this site and has submitted construction documents to the Building 
Department that will need to be revised and approved by the Suisun City Building Department. 
The Final Development Plan for this parcel has been approved. This parcel shall be marketed 
for lease/sale or build-to-suit at all times with a comprehensive marketing effort by a respected 
commercial real estate broker. This shall include installation and maintenance of professionally 
designed signage located prominently on the parcel as approved/permitted by the City of 
Suisun.

1. Upon Developer’s request. Agency shall initiate Appraisal.
2. Within 5 days of being notified of the appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency all 

funds necessary to pay for the appraisal.
3. Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 

report upon receipt from Appraiser.
4. Within 60 days of notification of Fair Market Value, Developer shall deposit 10% of the 

Fair Market Value in the Escrow Account.
5. Close of escrow shall occur on the first to occur of: (i) one day following issuance of a 

building permit by the Suisun City Building Department, or (ii) the fifth (5th) anniversary 
of the Effective Date. At least 60 days prior to the close of escrow, Developer must 
submit to the Agency its plans for financing the acquisition and construction of the 
property (“Acquisition and/or Construction Financing Plan”).

6. If Developer acquires parcel, Developer must commence construction of the building (as 
evidenced by the issuance of a building permit from the City of Suisun City) within 18 
months of the date of the second Residential Parcel to close of escrow or termination of 
Developer’s rights to such parcel unless Developer provides evidence of economic 
infeasibility in accordance with the Amended DDA.

7. Within 12 months of construction commencement, Developer must the shell completed 
and ready for tenant improvements as evidenced by a Certificate of Completion.

PARCELS 8 & 9

This parcel shall be marketed for lease/sale or build-to-suit at all times with a comprehensive 
marketing effort by a respected commercial real estate broker. This shall include installation of 
professionally designed signage located prominently on the parcel as approved/permitted by the 
City of Suisun

1. Upon Developer's written request, Agency shall initiate Appraisal.
2. Within 5 days of being notified of the appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency all 

funds necessary to pay for the appraisal.

FINAL

6. Developer must commence construction of the building within 6 months of the date of 
close of escrow for the final Residential Parcel. 

7. Within 12 months of construction commencement, Deveioper must the shell completed 
and ready for tenant improvements as evidenced by a Certificate of Completion. 

PARCEL 7 

Note: Developer has entitled this site and has submitted construction documents to the Building 
Department that will need to be revised and approved by the Suisun City Building Department. 
The Final Development Plan for this parcel has been approved. This parcel shall be marketed 
for lease/sale or build-to-suit at all times with a comprehensive marketing effort by a respected 
commercial real estate broker. This shall include installation and maintenance of professionally 
designed signage located prominently on the parcel as approved/permitted by the City of 
Suisun. 

1. Upon Developer's request, Agency shall initiate Appraisal. 

2. Within 5 days of being notified of the appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency all 
funds necessary to pay for the appraisal. 

3. Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 
report upon receipt from Appraiser. 

4. Within 60 days of notification of Fair Market Value, Developer shall deposit 10% of the 
Fair Market Value in the Escrow Account. 

5. Close of escrow shall occur on the first to occur of: (i) one day following issuance of a 
building permit by the Suisun City Building Department, or (ii) the fifth (5th) anniversary 
of the Effective Date. At least 60 days prior to the close of escrow, Developer must 
submit to the Agency its plans for financing the acquisition and construction of the 
property ("Acquisition and/or Construction Financing Plan"). 

6. If Developer acquires parcel, Developer must commence construction of the building (as 
evidenced by the issuance of a building permit from the City of Suisun City) within 18 
months of the date of the second Residential Parcel to close of escrow or termination of 
Developer's rights to such parcel unless Developer provides evidence of economic 
infeasibility in accordance with the Amended DOA. 

7. Within 12 months of construction commencement, Developer must the shell completed 
and ready for tenant improvements as evidenced by a Certificate of Completion. 

PARCELS 8 & 9 

This parcel shall be marketed for lease/sale or build-to-suit at all times with a comprehensive 
marketing effort by a respected commercial real estate broker. This shall include installation of 
professionally designed signage located prominently on the parcel as approved/permitted by the 
City of Suisun. 

1. Upon Developer's written request, Agency shall initiate Appraisal. 

2. Within 5 days of being notified of the appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency all 
funds necessary to pay for the appraisal. 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

591



Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 
report upon receipt from Appraiser.
Within 60 days of notification of Fair Market Value, Developer shall deposit 10% of the 
Fair Market Value in the Escrow Account.
Developer shall submit Final Development Plan to Agency within 30 days of notification 
of the Fair Market Value.
Close of escrow shall occur on the first to occur of: (i) one day following issuance of a 
building permit by the Suisun City Building Department, or (ii) the fifth (5th) anniversary 
of the Effective Date. At least 60 days prior to the close of escrow, Developer must 
submit to the Agency its plans for financing the acquisition and construction of the 
property (“Acquisition and/or Construction Financing Plan”).
Within 12 months of construction commencement, Developer must the shell completed 
and ready for tenant improvements as evidenced by a Certificate of Completion.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

PARCEL 12

This parcel shall be marketed for a hotel with a comprehensive marketing effort by a respected 
commercial real estate broker which shall include installation of professionally designed signage 
located prominently on the parcel as approved/permitted by the City of Suisun.

1. Upon Developer’s written request, Agency shall initiate Appraisal.
Within 5 days of being notified of the appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency all 
funds necessary to pay for the appraisal.
Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 
report upon receipt from Appraiser.
Within 60 days of notification of Fair Market Value, Developer shall deposit 10% of the 
Fair Market Value in the Escrow Account.
Developer shall submit Final Development Plan to Agency within 30 days of notification 
of Fair Market Value.
Close of escrow shall occur concurrent with the issuance of a building permit issued by 
the Suisun City Building Department, but in no event later than the fifth (5th) anniversary 
of the Effective Date. At least 60 days prior to the close of escrow, Developer shall 
submit to the Agency its plans for financing the acquisition and construction of the 
property (“Acquisition and/or Construction Financing Plan”).
Within 12 months of construction commencement, Developer must the shell completed 
and ready for tenant improvements as evidenced by a Certificate of Completion.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

PARCEL 11

Prior to the third anniversary of the Effective Date (“Third Anniversary”), Developer shall 
determine if appropriate parking for the proposed development of said parcel is unavailable on 
property immediately adjacent to parcel 11 on terms acceptable to Developer in its good faith 
discretion. The Agency will work in concert with Developer to allow Developer to make such 
determination. If Developer has not notified Agency of an appropriate parking arrangement that 
is acceptable to the Developer by the Third Anniversary, in such event shall be excluded from

FINAL

3. Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 
report upon receipt from Appraiser. 

4. 'vVithin 60 days of noiification of Fair Market Vaiue, Deveioper shall deposit 10% of the 
Fair Market Value in the Escrow Account. 

5. Developer shall submit Final Development Plan to Agency within 30 days of notification 
of the Fair Market Value. 

6. Close of escrow shall occur on the first to occur of: (i) one day following issuance of a 
building permit by the Suisun City Building Department, or (ii) the fifth (5th) anniversary 
of the Effective Date. At least 60 days prior to the close of escrow, Developer must 
submit to the Agency its plans for financing the acquisition and construction of the 
property ("Acquisition and/or Construction Financing Plan"). 

7. Within 12 months of construction commencement, Developer must the shell completed 
and ready for tenant improvements as evidenced by a Certificate of Completion. 

PARCEL12 

This parcel shall be marketed for a hotel with a comprehensive marketing effort by a respected 
commercial real estate broker which shall include installation of professionally designed signage 
located prominently on the parcel as approved/permitted by the City of Suisun. 

1. Upon Developer's written request, Agency shall initiate Appraisal. 

2. Within 5 days of being notified of the appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency all 
funds necessary to pay for the appraisal. 

3. Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 
report upon receipt from Appraiser. 

4. Within 60 days of notification of Fair Market Value, Developer shall deposit 10% of the 
Fair Market Value in the Escrow Account. 

5. Developer shall submit Final Development Plan to Agency within 30 days of notification 
of Fair Market Value. 

6. Close of escrow shall occur concurrent with the issuance of a building permit issued by 
the Suisun City Building Department, but in no event later than the fifth (5th) anniversary 
of the Effective Date. At least 60 days prior to the close of escrow, Developer shall 
submit to the Agency its plans for financing the acquisition and construction of the 
property ("Acquisition and/or Construction Financing Plan"). 

7. Within 12 months of construction commencement, Developer must the shell completed 
and ready for tenant improvements as evidenced by a Certificate of Completion. 

PARCEL11 

Prior to the third anniversary of the Effective Date (''Third Anniversary"), Developer shall 
determine if appropriate parking for the proposed development of said parcel is unavailable on 
property immediately adjacent to parcel 11 on terms acceptable to Developer in its good faith 
discretion. The Agency will work in concert with Developer to allow Developer to make such 
determination. If Developer has not notified Agency of an appropriate parking arrangement that 
is acceptable to the Developer by the Third Anniversary, in such event shall be excluded from 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

592



the DDA, all rights and responsibilities associated with Parcel 11 shall revert to the Agency, and 
Developer shall have no right or obligation to acquire Parcel 11.

Upon Developer’s written request, Agency shall initiate Appraisal.
Within 5 days of being notified of the appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency all 
funds necessary to pay for the appraisal.
Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 
report upon receipt from Appraiser.
Within 60 days of notification of Fair Market Value, Developer shall deposit 10% of the 
Fair Market Value in the Escrow Account.
Developer shall submit Final Development Plan to Agency within 30 days of notification 
of Fair Market Value.
Close of escrow shall occur concurrent with the issuance of a building permit issued by 
the Suisun City Building Department, but in no event later than the fifth (5th) anniversary 
of the Effective Date. At least 60 days prior to the close of escrow, Developer shall 
submit to the Agency its plans for financing the acquisition and construction of the 
property (“Acquisition and/or Construction Financing Plan”).
Within 12 months of commencement of construction, Developer shall have completed 
the shell ready for tenant improvements as evidenced by a Certificate of Completion.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

PARCELS 4, 5,6 & 15

Prior to the third (3rd) anniversary of the Effective Date (“Third Anniversary”), Developer and 
Agency will work together to determine feasibility of new development given constraints 
associated with existing structures and potential flood plain issues, and shall explore alternative 
financing/grant opportunities with the goal of furthering required infrastructure and development 
and/or preservation opportunities along the west side of Main Street.

Notwithstanding the timeline set forth herein, Developer shall have no obligation to acquire 
parcels 4, 5, 6 and 15 if, prior to the Third Anniversary, a Final Development Plan has not been 
approved by the Agency and in such event, Parcels 4, 5, 6 and 15 shall be excluded from the 
DDA, all rights and responsibilities associated with said parcels shall revert to the Agency, and 
Developer shall have no right or obligation to acquire said Parcels.

If a Final Development Plan is approved before the Third Anniversary, then:

Upon Developer’s written request which must occur within 30 days of approval of the 
Final Development Plan, Agency shall initiate Appraisal.
Within 5 days of being notified of the appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency all 
funds necessary to pay for the appraisal.
Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 
report upon receipt from Appraiser.
Within 60 days of notification of Fair Market Value, Developer shall deposit 10% of the 
Fair Market Value in the Escrow Account.
Close of escrow shall occur concurrent with the issuance of a building permit issued by 
the Suisun City Building Department, but in no event later than the fifth (5th) anniversary

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

FINAL

the DOA, all rights and responsibilities associated with Parcel 11 shall revert to the Agency, and 
Developer shall have no right or obligation to acquire Parcel 11. 

1. Upon Developer's written request, Agency shall initiate Appraisal. 

2. Within 5 days of being notified of the appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency all 
funds necessary to pay for the appraisal. 

3. Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 
report upon receipt from Appraiser. 

4. Within 60 days of notification of Fair Market Value, Developer shall deposit 10% of the 
Fair Market Value in the Escrow Account. 

5. Developer shall submit Final Development Plan to Agency within 30 days of notification 
of Fair Market Value. 

6. Close of escrow shall occur concurrent with the issuance of a building permit issued by 
the Suisun City Building Department, but in no event later than the fifth (5th) anniversary 
of the Effective Date. At least 60 days prior to the close of escrow, Developer shall 
submit to the Agency its plans for financing the acquisition and construction of the 
property ("Acquisition and/or Construction Financing Plan"). 

7. Within 12 months of commencement of construction, Developer shall have completed 
the shell ready for tenant improvements as evidenced by a Certificate of Completion. 

PARCELS 4, 5, 6 & 15 

Prior to the third (3rd) anniversary of the Effective Date ("Third Anniversary"), Developer and 
Agency will work together to determine feasibility of new development given constraints 
associated with existing structures and potential flood plain issues, and shall explore alternative 
financing/grant opportunities with the goal of furthering required infrastructure and development 
and/or preservation opportunities along the west side of Main Street. 

Notwithstanding the timeline set forth herein, Developer shall have no obligation to acquire 
parcels 4, 5, 6 and 15 if, prior to the Third Anniversary, a Final Development Plan has not been 
approved by the Agency and in such event, Parcels 4, 5, 6 and 15 shall be excluded from the 
ODA, all rights and responsibilities associated with said parcels shall revert to the Agency, and 
Developer shall have no right or obligation to acquire said Parcels. 

If a Final Development Plan is approved before the Third Anniversary, then: 

1. Upon Developer's written request which must occur within 30 days of approval of the 
Final Development Plan, Agency shall initiate Appraisal. 

2. Within 5 days of being notified of the appraisal cost, Developer shall deliver to Agency all 
funds necessary to pay for the appraisal. 

3. Agency shall notify Developer of Fair Market Value and provide a copy of the appraisal 
report upon receipt from Appraiser. 

4. Within 60 days of notification of Fair Market Value, Developer shall deposit 10% of the 
Fair Market Value in the Escrow Account. 

5. Close of escrow shall occur concurrent with the issuance of a building permit issued by 
the Suisun City Building Department, but in no event later than the fifth (5th) anniversary 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

593



of the Effective Date. At least 60 days prior to the close of escrow, Developer shall 
submit to the Agency its plans for financing the acquisition and construction of the 
property (“Acquisition and/or Construction Financing Plan").

6. Within 12 months of commencement of construction, Developer shall have completed 
the shell ready for tenant improvements as evidenced by a Certificate of Completion.

FINAL

of the Effective Date. At least 60 days prior to the close of escrow, Developer shall 
submit to the Agency its plans for financing the acquisition and construction of the 
property ("Acquisition and/or Construction Financing Plan"). 

6. Within 12 months of commencement of construction, Developer shall have completed 
the shell ready for tenant improvements as evidenced by a Certificate of Completion. 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

594



Revised Exhibit D Revised Project Description/Scope of Development
PROJECT DESCRIPTION/SCOPE OF DEVELOPMENT

East Side of Main Street
Parcels 1 and 2 were combined and developed with a two-story, multi-tenant mixed-use 
project, with “active” ground floor retail uses, and office space on the second floor. 
Further, a public courtyard feature was an integral component of the development on 
parcels 1 and 2. This property is known as “Harbor Square.”

The design for parcel 3 (a vacant site) calls for a 2-story mixed use building that will also 
have "active" ground floor retail uses, and office or residential space on the second floor. 
Further, the building designed for parcel 3 is complimentary in terms of architecture and 
design to the development on parcels 1 and 2.

West Side of Main Street
The west side of Main Street consists of vacant parcels in addition to vacant dilapidated 
buildings. Parcels 4, 5, and 15 are located along the 700 block of Main Street and are to 
be developed consistent with the Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan.

Parcel 6 is a vacant lot located along the 300 block of Main Street, and should also be 
developed consistent with the Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan.

Waterfront Parcels
Parcels 7, 8, and 9 are vacant lots, and are slated for development with similar product 
relative to existing buildings in the immediate vicinity (such as the Miller-Sorg building, 
Athenian Grill, The Gallery Salon, and Babs), and consistent with the Downtown 
Waterfront Specific Plan.

Parcel 12 is a vacant lot, and is slated for non-residential development, consistent with the 
Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan.

One Harbor Center Pad Parcel
Parcel 11 is currently a vacant “pad” parcel to the One Harbor Center Office building. 
This parcel is slated for commercial development. However, this parcel is subject to 
terms of a parking agreement with One Harbor Center that restricts the development 
utility of this site. If appropriate parking for the proposed development of Parcel 11 is 
unavailable on property immediately adjacent to the parcel on terms acceptable to 
Developer in its good faith discretion, the Agreement provides that the Developer may 
waive its right to purchase Parcel 11, and the parcel would revert back to Agency 
ownership.

Residential Parcels
Parcel 10 is currently vacant land slated for residential development. The Agency 
assembled several smaller parcels (totaling approximately 6,500 square feet) that were 
controlled by the State of California Department of Water Resources (DWR), which are

FINAL

Revised Exhibit D Revised Project Description/Scope of Development 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION/SCOPE OF DEVELOPMENT 

East Side of Main Street 
Parcels 1 and 2 were combined and developed with a two-story, multi-tenant mixed-use 
project, with "active" ground floor retail uses, and office space on the second floor. 
Further, a public courtyard feature was an integral component of the development on 
parcels 1 and 2. This property is known as "Harbor Square." 

The design for parcel 3 (a vacant site) calls for a 2-story mixed use building that will also 
have "active" ground floor retail uses, and office or residential space on the second floor. 
Further, the building designed for parcel 3 is complimentary in terms of architecture and 
design to the development on parcels 1 and 2. 

West Side of Main Street 
The west side of Main Street consists of vacant parcels in addition to vacant dilapidated 
buildings. Parcels 4, 5, and 15 are located along the 700 block of Main Street and are to 
be developed consistent with the Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan. 

Parcel 6 is a vacant lot located along the 300 block of Main Street, and should also be 
developed consistent with the Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan. 

Waterfront Parcels 
Parcels 7, 8, and 9 are vacant lots, and are slated for development with similar product 
relative to existing buildings in the immediate vicinity (such as the Miller-Sorg building, 
Athenian Grill, The Gallery Salon, and Babs), and consistent with the Downtown 
Waterfront Specific Plan. 

Parcel 12 is a vacant lot, and is slated for non-residential development, consistent with the 
Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan. 

One Harbor Center Pad Parcel 
Parcel 11 is currently a vacant "pad" parcel to the One Harbor Center Office building. 
This parcel is slated for commercial development. However, this parcel is subject to 
terms of a parking agreement with One Harbor Center that restricts the development 
utility of this site. If appropriate parking for the proposed development of Parcel 11 is 
unavailable on property immediately adjacent to the parcel on terms acceptable to 
Developer in its good faith discretion, the Agreement provides that the Developer may 
waive its right to purchase Parcel 11 , and the parcel would revert back to Agency 
ownership. 

Residential Parcels 
Parcel 1 O is currently vacant land slated for residential development. The Agency 
assembled several smaller parcels (totaling approximately 6,500 square feet) that were 
controlled by the State of California Department of Water Resources (DWR), which are 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

595



now included as part of Parcel 10. A tentative subdivision map was approved for this site 
although revisions are anticipated.

Parcel 13 is slated for residential development consistent with the Downtown Waterfront 
Specific Plan. The existing parking lot serving the Marina may require relocation and will 
be incorporated into this development.

Parcel 14 is the former Crystal Middle School site. The former school improvements 
have been demolished. There is soils remediation required at the northern portion of 
the site along Morgan Street involving remnants of a former underground storage tank 
made of redwood. The site must be rezoned to allow for residential development.

FINAL

now included as part of Parcel 10. A tentative subdivision map was approved for this site, 
although revisions are anticipated. 

Parcel 13 is slated for residential development consistent with the Downtown Waterfront 
Specific Plan. The existing parking lot serving the Marina may require relocation and will 
be incorporated into this development. 

Parcel 14 is the former Crystal Middle School site. The former school improvements 
have been demolished. There is soils remediation required at the northern portion of 
the site along Morgan Street involving remnants of a former underground storage tank 
made of redwood. The site must be rezoned to allow for residential development. 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

596



Revised Exhibit E Revised Grant Deed
FORM OF GRANT DEED

Recording Requested By:
Successor Agency of Redevelopment 
Agency of the City of Suisun City

When Recorded Mail to and 
Mail Tax Statements to:

APN: [SPACE ABOVE FOR RECORDER'S USE ONLY]
Exempt from filing/recording fees per Govt. Code §27383 

Exempt from Documentary Transfer Tax per 
Revenue and Taxation Code §11922

GRANT DEED

For valuable consideration, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged. THE 
SUCCESSOR AGENCY OF THE REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF SUISUN 
CITY, a public body, corporate and politic, of the State of California, ("Grantor") acting to carry 
out the City of Suisun City Redevelopment Plan, ("Redevelopment Plan"), under the 
Community Redevelopment Law of California, hereby grants to 
("Grantee") that certain real property commonly known as 
City, State of California, (APN No.
hereto and incorporated herein by this reference ("Property").

City of Suisun 
), and legally described on Exhibit A attached

The Property is conveyed subject to the Redevelopment Plan and that certain 
Disposition and Development Agreement entered into by and between the Redevelopment 
Agency of the City of Suisun City and Main Street West Partners, LLC, a California limited 
liability company dated as of April 17, 2006, as amended by: (i) that certain First Amendment 
effective as of July 25, 2006; (ii) that certain Second Amendment effective as of September 18, 
2007; (iii) that certain Third Amendment effective as of February 19, 2009; and (iv) that certain 
Fourth Amendment effective as of April 29th, 2016. The Disposition and Development 
Agreement as amended is hereafter referred to as the "DDA," a copy of which is available in the 
City Clerk’s office of the City of Suisun City.

1.

As a covenant running with the Property, Grantee covenants and agrees for 
itself, its successors, its assigns and every successor in interest that during construction and 
thereafter, Grantee shall devote the Property to the uses specified in the Redevelopment Plan 
and the DDA.

2.

Except as otherwise permitted in the DDA, Grantee shall not sell, transfer, 
convey, assign or lease the whole or any part of the Property without the prior approval of 
Grantor, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld by Grantor. This prohibition shall not 
be deemed to prevent granting of easements or permits to facilitate the development of the 
Property.

3.

FINAL

Revised Exhibit E Revised Grant Deed 
FORM OF GRANT DEED 

Recording Requested By: 
Successor Agency of Redevelopment 
Agency of the City of Suisun City 

When Recorded Mail to and 
Mail Tax Statements to: 

APN: ------ [SPACE ABOVE FOR RECORDER'S USE ONLY] 
Exempt from filing/recording fees per Govt. Code §27383 

Exempt from Documentary Transfer Tax per 
Revenue and Taxation Code §11922 

GRANT DEED 

For valuable consideration, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, THE 
SUCCESSOR AGENCY OF THE REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF SUISUN 
CITY, a public body, corporate and politic, of the State of California, ("Grantor") acting to carry 
out the City of Suisun City Redevelopment Plan, ("Redevelopment Plan"), under the 
Community Redevelopment Law of California, hereby grants to __________ _ 
("Grantee") that certain real property commonly known as ________ , City of Suisun 
City, State of California, (APN No. ____ _,, and legally described on Exhibit A attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by this reference ("Property"). 

1. The Property is conveyed subject to the Redevelopment Plan and that certain 
Disposition and Development Agreement entered into by and between the Redevelopment 
Agency of the City of Suisun City and Main Street West Partners, LLC, a California limited 
liability company dated as of April 17, 2006, as amended by: (i) that certain First Amendment 
effective as of July 25, 2006; (ii) that certain Second Amendment effective as of September 18, 
2007; (iii) that certain Third Amendment effective as of February 19, 2009; and (iv) that certain 
Fourth Amendment effective as of April 29th

, 2016. The Disposition and Development 
Agreement as amended is hereafter referred to as the "ODA," a copy of which is available in the 
City Clerk's office of the City of Suisun City. 

2. As a covenant running with the Property, Grantee covenants and agrees for 
itself, its successors, its assigns and every successor in interest that during construction and 
thereafter, Grantee shall devote the Property to the uses specified in the Redevelopment Plan 
and the DOA. 

3. Except as otherwise permitted in the DOA, Grantee shall not sell, transfer, 
convey, assign or lease the whole or any part of the Property without the prior approval of 
Granter, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld by Granter. This prohibition shall not 
be deemed to prevent granting of easements or permits to facilitate the development of the 
Property. 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

597



Upon a default under the DDA, Grantor has the rights specified in the DDA 
including, but not limited to. Part One. Article Seven and Part One. Article Eight (which includes 
a right of reverter). As set forth in the DDA, such reversionary interest in the Property shall be 
subordinate and subject to, and be limited by and shall not defeat, render invalid, or limit as to a 
any mortgage, deed of trust or other security instrument permitted by the DDA.

4.

As a covenant running with the Property, Grantee covenants by and for itself, 
and any successors in interest, that there shall be no discrimination against or segregation of 
any person, or group of persons, on account of sex, race, color, creed, religion, marital status, 
national origin or ancestry in the sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure or 
enjoyment of the Property, nor shall Grantee itself or any person claiming under or through it 
establish or permit any such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference 
to the selection, location, number, use or occupancy of tenants, lessees, subtenants, 
sublessees, or vendees of the Property.

5.

All such deeds, leases or contracts shall contain or be subject to substantially the 
following nondiscrimination or nonsegregation clauses:

(a) In deeds: "Grantee herein covenants by and for itself, its successors and assigns, 
and all persons claiming under or through it, that there shall be no discrimination against 
or segregation of a person, or of a group of persons, on account of race, color, religion, 
creed, sex, marital status, ancestry, or national origin in the sale, lease, sublease, 
transfer, use, occupancy, tenure or enjoyment of the property herein conveyed nor shall 
the grantee or any person claiming under or through the grantee establish or permit any 
such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the 
selection, location, number, use or occupancy of tenants, lessees, subtenants, 
sublessees or vendees in the property herein conveyed. The foregoing covenant shall 
run with the land."

(b) In leases: "The lessee herein covenants by and for the lessee and lessee's heirs, 
personal representatives and assigns, and all persons claiming under the lessee or 
through the lessee, that this lease is made subject to the condition that there shall be no 
discrimination against or segregation of any person or of a group of persons on account 
of race, color, religion, creed, sex, marital status, ancestry, or national origin in the 
leasing, subleasing, transferring, use, occupancy, tenure or enjoyment of the land herein 
leased nor shall the lessee or any person claiming under or through the lessee establish 
or permit any such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference 
to the selection, location, number, use or occupancy of tenants, lessees, sublessees, 
subtenants, or vendees in the land herein leased."

(c) In contracts: "There shall be no discrimination against or segregation of any person 
or group of persons on account of race, color, religion, creed, sex, marital status, 
ancestry or national origin in the sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure 
or enjoyment of the property nor shall the transferee or any person claiming under or 
through the transferee establish or permit any such practice or practices of 
discrimination or segregation with reference to selection, location, number, use or 
occupancy of tenants, lessee, subtenants, sublessees or vendees of the land.”

No violation or breach of the covenants, conditions, restrictions, provisions of 
limitations contained in this Grant Deed shall defeat or render invalid or in any way impair the

6.

FINAL

4. Upon a default under the DOA, Grantor has the rights specified in the DOA 
including, but not limited to, Part One, Article Seven and Part One, Article Eight (which includes 
a right of reverter). As set forth in the DOA, such reversionary interest in the Property shall be 
subordinate and subject to, and be limited by and shall not defeat, render invalid, or limit as to a 
any mortgage, deed of trust or other security instrument permitted by the DOA. 

5. As a covenant running with the Property, Grantee covenants by and for itself, 
and any successors in interest, that there shall be no discrimination against or segregation of 
any person, or group of persons, on account of sex, race, color, creed, religion, marital status, 
national origin or ancestry in the sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure or 
enjoyment of the Property, nor shall Grantee itself or any person claiming under or through it 
establish or permit any such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference 
to the selection, location, number, use or occupancy of tenants, lessees, subtenants, 
sublessees, or vendees of the Property. 

All such deeds, leases or contracts shall contain or be subject to substantially the 
following nondiscrimination or nonsegregation clauses: 

(a) In deeds: "Grantee herein covenants by and for itself, its successors and assigns, 
and all persons claiming under or through it, that there shall be no discrimination against 
or segregation of a person, or of a group of persons, on account of race, color, religion, 
creed, sex, marital status, ancestry, or national origin in the sale, lease, sublease, 
transfer, use, occupancy, tenure or enjoyment of the property herein conveyed nor shall 
the grantee or any person claiming under or through the grantee establish or permit any 
such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the 
selection, location, number, use or occupancy of tenants, lessees, subtenants, 
sublessees or vendees in the property herein conveyed. The foregoing covenant shall 
run with the land." 

(b) In leases: "The lessee herein covenants by and for the lessee and lessee's heirs, 
personal representatives and assigns, and all persons claiming under the lessee or 
through the lessee, that this lease is made subject to the condition that there shall be no 
discrimination against or segregation of any person or of a group of persons on account 
of race, color, religion, creed, sex, marital status, ancestry, or national origin in the 
leasing, subleasing, transferring, use, occupancy, tenure or enjoyment of the land herein 
leased nor shall the lessee or any person claiming under or through the lessee establish 
or permit any such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference 
to the selection, location, number, use or occupancy of tenants, lessees, sublessees, 
subtenants, or vendees in the land herein leased." 

(c) In contracts: "There shall be no discrimination against or segregation of any person 
or group of persons on account of race, color, religion, creed, sex, marital status, 
ancestry or national origin in the sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure 
or enjoyment of the property nor shall the transferee or any person claiming under or 
through the transferee establish or permit any such practice or practices of 
discrimination or segregation with reference to selection, location, number, use or 
occupancy of tenants, lessee, subtenants, sublessees or vendees of the land." 

6. No violation or breach of the covenants, conditions, restrictions, provisions of 
limitations contained in this Grant Deed shall defeat or render invalid or in any way impair the 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

598



lien or charge of any mortgage, deed of trust or other financing or security instrument permitted 
by the DDA; provided, however, that any successor of Grantee to the Property shall be bound 
by such remaining covenants, conditions, restrictions, limitations and provisions, whether such 
successor's title was acquired by foreclosure, deed in lieu of foreclosure, trustee’s sale or 
otherwise.

The covenants contained in paragraphs 2, 3, 5 and 6 of this Grant Deed shall be 
binding for the benefit of Grantor and its successors and assigns and such covenants shall run 
in favor of Grantor and for the entire periods during which such covenants shall be in force and 
effect, without regard to whether Grantor is or remains an owner of any land of interest therein 
to which such covenants relate. Grantor, in the event of any breach of any such covenants shall 
have the right to exercise all of the rights and remedies, and to maintain any actions at law or 
suits in equity or other property proceedings to enforce the curing of such breach pursuant to 
the conditions and limitations of the DDA. The covenants contained in this Grant Deed shall be 
for the benefit of and shall be enforceable only by Grantor and its successors.

7.

In the event of any express conflict between this Grant Deed and the DDA, the 
provisions of the DDA shall control.

8.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor and Grantee have caused this instrument to be 
executed on their behalf by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, this 
_____ , 201_.

day of

GRANTEE HEREBY ACCEPTS THIS 
GRANT DEED:

GRANTOR:

SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE SUISUN 
REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY

By:
Suzanne Bragdon, 
Executive Director

ATTEST:

By:

Agency Secretary

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

ALESHIRE & WYNDER

By:.
Anthony Taylor, Agency Counsel

FINAL

lien or charge of any mortgage, deed of trust or other financing or security instrument permitted 
by the ODA; provided, however, that any successor of Grantee to the Property shall be bound 
by such remaining covenants, conditions, restrictions, limitations and provisions, whether such 
successor's title was acquired by foreclosure, deed in lieu of foreclosure, trustee's sale or 
otherwise. 

7. The covenants contained in paragraphs 2, 3, 5 and 6 of this Grant Deed shall be 
binding for the benefit of Granter and its successors and assigns and such covenants shall run 
in favor of Grantor and for the entire periods during which such covenants shall be in force and 
effect, without regard to whether Granter is or remains an owner of any land of interest therein 
to which such covenants relate. Granter, in the event of any breach of any such covenants shall 
have the right to exercise all of the rights and remedies, and to maintain any actions at law or 
suits in equity or other property proceedings to enforce the curing of such breach pursuant to 
the conditions and limitations of the DOA. The covenants contained in this Grant Deed shall be 
for the benefit of and shall be enforceable only by Granter and its successors. 

8. In the event of any express conflict between this Grant Deed and the DOA, the 
provisions of the DOA shall control. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Granter and Grantee have caused this instrument to be 
executed on their behalf by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized , this __ day of 
___ ,201_. 

GRANTEE HEREBY ACCEPTS THIS 
GRANT DEED: 

FINAL 

GRANTOR: 

SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE SUISUN 
REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

By:-------
Suzanne Bragdon, 
Executive Director 

ATTEST: 

By: _________ _ 

Agency Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

ALESHIRE & WYNDER 

By: ___________ _ 
Anthony Taylor, Agency Counsel 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

599



EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

(To be completed prior to execution)

FINAL

EXHIBIT A 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 

(To be completed prior to execution) 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

600



STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
) ss.

COUNTY OF }

On , 201_ before me, a notary 
whopublic, personally appeared 

proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are 
subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the 
same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the 
instrument the person(s) or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the 
instrument.

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct.

WITNESS my hand and official seal.

Notary Public

SEAL:

STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
) ss.

COUNTY OF )

On , 201 _ before me, a notary 
whopublic, personally appeared 

proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are 
subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the 
same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the 
instrument the person(s) or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the 
instrument.

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct.

FINAL

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF ___ _ 
) ss. 
) 

) 

On ________ , 201_ before me, ____________ , a notary 
public, personally appeared _____________________ who 
proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person( s) whose name( s) is/are 
subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the 
same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the 
instrument the person(s) or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the 
instrument. 

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

Notary Public 

SEAL: 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF ____ _ 
) ss. 
) 

On ________ , 201_ before me, ____________ , a notary 
public, personally appeared _____________________ who 
proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person( s) whose name( s) is/are 
subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the 
same in his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the 
instrument the person(s) or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the 
instrument. 

I certify under PENAL TY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

601



WITNESS my hand and official seal.

Notary Public

SEAL:

FINAL

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

Notary Public 

SEAL: 

FINAL 

Item 16 
Attachment 3 - Amendment 4

602



SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
Main Street West Partners, LLC v. Successor Agency of the Redevelopment Agency

of the City ofSuimn City, et al,
Sacramento County Superior Court, Case No. 34-2014-00164737

PARTIES

This Settlement Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by the following parties:
(1) Main Street West Partners, LLC (“Main Street”); (2) Successor Agency of the 
Redevelopment Agency of the City of Suisun City (“Successor Agency”); (3) the California 
Department of Finance and Michael Cohen, m Ms official capacity as California State Director 
of Finance (together, “Finance”) (ail parties collectively, the “Parties”).

RECITALS

A. The litigation resolved by this Agreement relates to the wind down of the Redevelopment 
Agency for the City of Suisun City (“XDA”) pursuant to Assembly Bill 26 of the 2011 -12 First 
Extraordinary Session of the California Legislature (“AB xl 26”) and Assembly Bill 1484 of the 
2011-12 Regular Session of tine California Legislature (“AJB 1484”) (AB xl 26 and AB 1484, 
collectively the “Dissolution Law”).

B. Main Street and the RDA entered into a Disposition and Development Agreement dated 
April 7, 2006 (“Original DDA”), regarding the development of a commercial and residential 
project in Suisun City (“Project”). The Original DDA was amended by a First Amendment to 
the Disposition and Development Agreement dated July 25,2006; a Second Amendment to the 
Disposition and Development Agreement dated September 18,2007; and a Third Amendment to 
the Disposition and Development Agreement dated February 19, 2009 (as amended, the 
“DDA”).

C. Following dissolution of the RDA, the Successor Agency became the successor-in- 
interest to all assets and obligations of the RDA, including the DDA.

D. The expiration date of the DDA was February 19,2014. On January 17,2014, the 
Oversight Board to the Successor Agency (“Oversight Board”) approved a 120-day extension to 
the expiration date of the DDA in Resolution No. OB 2014-01 (“First Extension”).

E. On January 21,2014, Finance initiated review of the First Extension pursuant to Health 
& Safety Code section 34179, subdivision (h).

F. On February 10,2014, Main Street filed a Complaint for Validation under Code of Civil 
Procedure Section 863 and for Declarator}7 Relief in Solano County Superior Court, entitled 
Main Street West Partners, LLC v. Successor Agency of the Redevelopment Agency of the City of 
Suisun City, et al., Solano County Superior Court Case No. FCS043017 (“Action”).

G. On February 28.2014, Finance approved the First Extension. The Oversight Board 
subsequently approved further extensions to the expiration date of the DDA in Resolution

Item 16 
Attachment 4

603



Nos. OB 2014-04 (“OB 2014-04”) and OB 2014-07 (“OB 2014-07”). Finance approved OB 
2014-04 and OB 2014-07.

On or about April 11. 2014, Finance appeared in the Action pursuant to Code of Civil 
Procedure section 863 and moved to transfer venue to Sacramento County Superior Court.

On or about May 22,2014, the Solano County Superior Court entered an order 
transferring the Action to Sacramento County Superior Court, which assigned it Case No. 34- 
2014-00364737. On or about October 1,2014, Main Street filed a First Amended Complaint for 
Declaratory Relief, Impairment of Contract, and Petition for Writ of Mandate in the Action.

On or about October 15,2014 the Oversight Board approved another extension to the 
expiration date of the DDA in Resolution No. OB 2014-11 (“OB 2014-11”) and approved a 
Fourth Amendment to the Disposition and Development Agreement (“Fourth Amendment”) in 
Resolution No. OB 2014-12 (“OB 2014-12”). On October 22,2014, Finance initiated review. 
On December 1,2014, Finance approved OB 2014-11 but did not approve OB 2014-12.

On or about January 8, 2015, the Oversight Board notified Finance of its Resolution 
Nos. OB 2015-01, which approved a further extension of the DDA, and OB 2015-02, which 
approved the Fourth Amendment Finance initiated review of OB 2015-01 and OB 2015-02 
pursuant to Health & Safety Code section 34179, subdivision (h), and, on February 18,2015, 
sent the Oversight Board a letter stating that it did not approve OB 2015-01 and OB 2015-02.

On April 10,2015, the Successor Agency requested that Finance reconsider its February 
18,2015, determination regarding OB 2015-01 and OB 2015-02, and provided further 
documentation and information in support of the request.

H.

L

J.

K.

L.

M. Finance has reviewed the request for reconsideration and the additional documentation 
and information provided in connection therewith.

N. Without admission of fault or wrongdoing, by entering into this Agreement the Parties 
have agreed to completely resolve any and all disputes between the Parties pertaining to the 
Action and the matters described in Recitals A through M of this Agreement.

AGREEMENT

Accordingly, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, the Parties agree
as follows:

1 • Principal Terms: The Parties agree to the following resolution of the litigation:

(a) To facilitate this Agreement, Main Street and the Successor Agency agree to use 
their best efforts to obtain Oversight Board approval for, and to execute, a further extension of 
the expiration date of the DDA from the expiration date provided for in Oversight Board 
Resolution OB 2014-11 to April 29,2016 (“Settlement Extension”).

-2-

Item 16 
Attachment 4

604



(b) If Main Street and the Successor Agency obtain Oversight Board approval of the
Settlement Extension, the Successor Agency will submit the Oversight Board action approving 
the Settlement Extension (“Oversight Board Action”) to Finance within three (3) business days. 
Finance will approve the Oversight Board Action no later than ten (10) business days after 
receipt of the Oversight Board Action.

(c) If Main Street and the Successor Agency obtain approval of the Settlement
Extension, as provided in paragraphs (l)(a) and (b). Finance will approve, upon reconsideration, 
Oversight Board Resolution OB 2015-02 on April 29,2016.

(d) If Finance approves the Oversight Board Action and OB 2015-02, as provided in 
paragraphs (l)(b) and (c), and so notifies Main Street in writing. Main Street shall, within five 
(5) business days of receipt of such notice, file with the Court a request for dismissal of the 
Action requesting that the Court dismiss the Action and all claims and causes of action pled 
therein with prejudice, and shall serve the same on all Parties (“Dismissal”).

Upon the entry of the Dismissal as provided in paragraph (l)(d), the Parties 
specifically and mutually release and discharge each other, including their respective officers, 
directors, commission members, trustees, agents, employees, representatives, attorneys, insurers, 
departments, divisions, sections, successors and assigns from all claims, obligations, damages, 
costs, expenses, liens, and attorney fees of any nature whatsoever, whether known or unknown, 
suspected or not suspected to exist, claimed or not claimed, disputed or undisputed, pertaining to 
the Action and to the matters described in Recitals A through N of this Agreement. The Parties 
do not specifically or mutually release and discharge each other, including their respective 
officers, directors, commission members, trustees, agents, employees, representatives, attorneys, 
insurers, departments, divisions, sections, successors and assigns, from future claims, 
obligations, damages, costs, expenses, liens, or attorney fees of any nature whatsoever, that may 
arise from acts or events in regard to the Project occurring after the date of this A greement, 
including but not limited to future extensions of and/or amendments to the DDA.

(e)

Claims Disputed: The Agreement does not constitute, nor shall it be construed as, an 
admission or concession by any of the Parties for any purpose. This Agreement is a compromise 
settlement of the Action, and by executing this Agreement, none of the Parties admits 
wrongdoing, liability, or fault in connection with, nor to the merit of, the Action, or the 
allegations asserted therein or in connection with Recitals A through N above.

Successors and Assigns: This Agreement shall be binding upon the Parties' respective 
officers, directors, commission members, trustees, agents, employees, representatives, attorneys, 
departments, divisions, sections, successors and assigns.

2.

3.

Assumption of Risk: The Parties each represent that they fully understand that if the 
facts pertaining in any way to the Action are later found to be different from the facts now 
believed to be true by any Party, each of them expressly accepts and assumes the risk of such 
possible differences in facts and agrees that this Agreement shall remain effective 
notwithstanding such differences in facts. The Parties also each represent that this Agreement

4.

* 3

Item 16 
Attachment 4

605



was entered into under the laws current as of the effective date, and agree that this Agreement 
shall remain effective notwithstanding any fixture changes in the law.

Independent Advice of Counsel: The Parties each represent that they know and 
■understand the contents of the Agreement and that this Agreement has been executed voluntarily. 
The Parties each further represent that they have had an opportunity to consult with an attorney 
of their choosing and that they have been fully advised by the attorney with respect to their rights 
and obligations and with respect to the execution of this Agreement.

5.

6. Entire Agreement: No promise, inducement, understanding, or agreement not expressed 
has been made by or on behalf of the Parties, and this Agreement contain the entire agreement 
between the Parties related to the Action.

7, No Assignment: Each Party represents that it has not assigned, transferred, or purported 
to assign or transfer to any person or entity any mate released herein.

Amendments in Writing: This Agreement may not be altered, amended, modified, or 
otherwise changed in any respect except by a writing duly executed by the Parties. The Parties 
agree that they will make no claim at any time or place that this Agreement has been orally 
altered or modified or otherwise changed by oral communication of any kind or character.

8.

9. Construction: The Parties agree that this Agreement is to be construed and interpreted 
without regard to the identity of the party drafting tins Agreement.

10. Additional Acts: The Parties agree io take such actions and to execute such documents as 
are necessary to carry out the terms and purposes of this Agreement.

11. Attorneys Fees: The Parties shall each bear their respective attorney fees and costs 
incurred in the Action.

12. Enforcement: If any Party to this Agreement files a lawsuit to enforce or interpret this 
Agreement, the prevailing Party in any such suit shall be entitled to reimbursement for 
reasonable attorney fees and costs.

13. Choice of Law and Jurisdiction: This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the
State of California. If any Party to this Agreement brings a lawsuit to enforce or interpret this 
Agreement, the lawsuit shall be filed in the Superior Court for the County of Sacramento, 
California.

14- Counterparts: This Agreement may be executed by facsimile and in one or more 
counterparts, each of which is deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute this 
Agreement.

15, Effective Date: The date on wMch the last counterpart of this Agreement is executed 
shall be the effective date of this Agreement.

-4-

Item 16 
Attachment 4

606



16. Authority to Bxecate: Each Party represents that they have the authority to enter into and 
perform the obligations necessary to provide the consideration described in this Agreement 
Each person signing this Agreement represents and warrants that they have toe authority to sign 
on behalf of the Party for which they sign.

This Agreement consists of Recital Paragraphs A - N and Paragraphs 1-16 above.

l/zAo? i

MAIN STREET WEST PARTN!ER^EDS:

. Ac g &1-
DATED:

By.
>Michael E. Rice

Its Managing Member

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND MICHAEL 
COHEN, DIRECTOR OF FINANCE

DATED:

By. ____•a -

Kari Krogseng

Its Chief Counsel

SUCCESSOR AGENCY OF THE 
REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF 
SUISUN CITY

DATED:

By.
Suzanne Bragdon

Its Executive Director

Approved as to Form and Content: 
MORRIS POLICH & PURDY LLP

iYL
Ji tote

Ati
Partners, LLCMain Street

///

-5-

Item 16 
Attachment 4

607



16. Authority to Execute: Each Party represents that they have the authority to enter into and
perform the obligations necessary to provide the consideration described in this Agreement,
Each person signing this Agreement represents and warrants that they have the authority to sign 
on behalf of the Party for which they sign.

This Agreement consists of Recital Paragraphs A - N and Paragraphs 1-16 above.

1/z/\Cq WEST PARTNER!DATED: MAINS'

By. l/<-
TMichael B. Rice

Its Managing Member

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND MICHAEL 
COHEN, DIRECTOR OF FINANCE

DATED:

By.
Kari Krogseng

Its Chief Counsel

SUCCESSOR AGENCY OF THE 
REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF 
SUISUNCITY

DATED:

By
Suzanne Bragdon

Its Executive Director

Approved as to Form and Content: 
MORRIS POLICE & PURDY LLP

Jeffrey H. Beiote 
Attorneys for Petitioner/Plaintiff 
Main Street West Partners, LLC

m

-5-

Item 16 
Attachment 4

608



Approved as to Form and Content: 
KAMALA D. HARRIS 
Attorney General of California

f
Byi
Aaron D. Jones, Deputy Attorney General 
Attorneys for Respondents/Defendants 
California Department of Finance and 
Michael Cohen

Approved as to Form and Content: 
ALESHIRE & WYNDER, LLP

Attorneys for Respohdent/Defenaant 
Successor Agency of the Redevelopment Agency of 
the City of Suisun City

-6-

Item 16 
Attachment 4

609


	5:15 pm Regular City Council Closed Session Meeting Agenda
	6:30 pm Regular City Council Meeting Agenda
	Item 5 - Ordinance 775 Main Street Waterfront Business Improvement District
	Item 6 - Ordinance 776 Community Facilities District No. 2
	Item 7 - Amending Administrative Directive 5, Purchasing Policy for Supplies, Equipment and Services
	Item 8 - Authorizing Professional Services Agreement for Environmental Review and Document for a Residential Project at the Northeast Corner of Blossom Avenue and Railroad Avenue
	Item 9 - MOU Amendments for SCPOA, SCEA and SCMPEA
	Item 10 - Amending Salary Schedule Resolution
	Item 11 - Investment Report Quarter Ending September 30, 2020
	Item 12 - Minutes of Meetings held on July 7, 2020 and October 6, 2020
	Item 14 - Prop 68 Per Capita Funds fo Rehabilitate Heritage Park and Replace Play Structure at Montebello Vista Park
	Item 15 - Discussion and Direction Regarding Selection of Up to Two Storefront Retailers in Response to Request for Applications
	Item 16 - Main Street West DDA



